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Part 1

Corporate company hame

Corporate name of | GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Investments

overseas company @

| (Ireland) (No 3) Limited

[Blefofrfzlels o]

UK establishment
number

< Filling in this form
Please complete in typescript or in
bold black capitals.

All fields are mandatory unless
specified or indicated by *

O This is the name of the company in
its home state.

Part 2 Statement of details of parent law and other

information for an overseas company

Legislation

Please give the legislation under which the accounts have been prepared and

O This means the relevant rules or

audited. legislation which regulates the
. preparation of accounts.
Legislation @ | International Financial Reporting Standards
m Accounting principles
Accounts Have the accounts been prepared in accordance with a set of generally accepted [© Please insert the name of the

accounting principles?
Please tick the appropriate box.
(] No. Go to Section A3.

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other
body which issued those principles below, and then go to Section A3.

Natf)"z Ogifgamsat'on | International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
or body

appropriate accounting organisation
or body.
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Audited accounts

Audited accounts

Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
auditing standards?

Please tick the appropriate box.
[J No. Go to Part 3 “Signature".

Yes. Please enter the name of the organisation or other body which issued
those standards below, and then go to Part 3 ‘Signature’.

Name of organisation
or body ©@

International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland)

Part3 Signature
l 1 am signing this form on behalf of the overseas company.
Signature Signature

X Dt X

This form may be signed by:
Director, Secretary, Permanent representative.

O Please insert the name of the
appropriate accounting
organisation or body.

01721 Version 6.0




0S AA01

Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

B Presenter information

n Important information

You do not have to give any contact information, but if
you do it will help Companies House if there is a query
on the form. The contact information you give will be
visible to searchers of the public record.
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Country
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’DX

Telephone

Checklist

We may return forms completed incorrectly or
with information missing.

Please make sure you have remembered the

following:

O The company name and, if appropriate, the
registered number, match the information held on
the public Register.

O You have completed all sections of the form,
if appropriate.

O You have signed the form.

Please note that all this information will appear
on the public record.

EWhere to send

You may return this form to any Companies
House address:

England and Wales:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
.Crown Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF14 3UZ.

DX 33050 Cardiff.

Scotland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Fourth floor, Edinburgh Quay 2,

139 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH3 9FF.
DX ED235 Edinburgh 1

Northern'lreland:

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Second Floor, The Linenhall, 32-38 Linenhall Street,
Belfast, Northern Ireland, BT2 8BG.

DX 481 N.R. Belfast 1.

ﬂ Further information

For further information, please see the guidance notes
on the website at www.gov.uk/companieshouse
or email enquiries@companieshouse.gov.uk

This form is available in an
alternative format. Please visit the
forms page on the website at
www.gov.uk/companieshouse

This has been provided free of charge by Companies House.
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Annual Report 2016

2016 saw good sales momentum
across Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines
and Consumer Healthcare

~and further pipeline progress



We are a global science-led . - ,
healthcare company.

Our three world-leading businesses . .
research and deliver innovative

medicines, vaccines and consumer

healthcare products. :

Front cover case study

Picture removed to At GSK, innovation underpins each of our three businesses . :
H We are using next generation technology return on R&0 investment and accelerate

meet Companles to develop new approaches to disease the development of new products that can

House requirements management and control. In addition to improve patients' lives.

our own research and development,
we gain insights thraugh our network of
collaborations with biotechs, other
- companies and academic institutions.

This enablas more efficient trial design
and greater use of software, analytics and
new technology, all of which is helping to

Arthur works at our Upper Providence R&0 1ab | increase our productivity, maximise our

k‘ N ) ‘ - 4_)

" Aatement 4 L Aaterments
c 12 9 forward

We have an active pipefine of innovalive
products acrass six core areas: respiratory,
HIV and infectious diseases, vaccines,
immuno-~inflammation, oncology and

rare diseases.

The Groug's reports fited with ar fumished to the US Securities and Exchangs Commission (SEC), including this document and written information released, or oral Statements
made, to Ihe public in the future by or on behal of the Graup, may cantain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking stataments give the Group's cument expeclahons or
forecasts of futura eventa. An investor can identily these statements by the fact that they do not relate slnct)/ to hnstom:al or current facts. They use words such as ‘anticipate’,
‘estimate’, ‘expect’, 'intend’, ‘will, ‘project’, ‘plan’, beliove’ and olher words and terms of similar ing in co! with any di ion of fulure operaling or inancial
performance I particutar, these includs statements relating to future actions, p cf rovals, future pen’armance or results of cument and
anticipaled products, sales efforts, expenses, the outoome of contingencias such as legal p:ooeetfms. and financial results. Other than in awordance wﬂh its lega! or regulatary
obligations (including under the UK Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority), the Group und gation to update
any forward-looking stataments, whether as a result of new infarmalion, tuture events or otherwisa.

The reader should, however, consult any add«uunzl dsclosufes that the Group may make in any documants which il publishes and/or files with the SEC., All readers, wherever
located, should take note of thess discl can ba given that any particular expectation will ba mel and shareholders and investors ase cautioned
not to place undus rebance on the forward-looking sla!emenls

Forward-looking ststements are subject to ions, inh riskg and 1 inties, many of which relate to factors that are beyond the Group's conlro) or precise
ially from those

estimate, The Group cautions investors that a number of important factars, including those in this document, could cause actual results to ditfer
or implied in any forward-loaking Statement. Such factors tnclude, but are not limited to, those discussed under ‘Principal risks and uncertainties' on pagas 253-262 of this - '
Annusl Repoﬂ. Any forward-looking statemants made by of on behall of the Group speak only as of the date they are made and are based upon tha knowledge ol and
itable 10 the Dy on the date of this Annual Repont,
Al expectations and targets regarding future perfarmance should algo be read together with 'Assumptions relaled to 2018-2020 outiook’ on the insda back cover of this
document.
A number of adjusted are used to report the performance of our business. These measures are defined on page 57 and a reconcifiation of care results to total resulta
is set out on page 66. ) . :
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2016 performance summary

£27.9bn

Group turnover
(up 179% AER; 6% CER;
5% pro-forma CER)®

£2.6bn

Total operating profit
(down 75% AER; 86% CER)*©

18.8p

Yotal eamings per share
(down B9% AER; 99% CER)*<

£6.5bn )

Net cash inflow from
operating activities

£3.9bn

Dividends declared
for 2016

£4 5bon

New Pharmaceutical
and Vaccine sales®
(up >100% AER; >100% CER)*

£7.8bn

Core operating profit
(up 36% AER; 14% CER;
17% pro-forma CER)?

1024p

Care earnings per share
(up 35% AER; 1206 CER)?

£3.1on

Free cash flow®

20-30

Assets with data expected
by end of 2018

Delivering sustainable performance

3rd in the
pharmaceutical sector

for Dow Jones Sustainability Index

@S,Kt in the Access

to Medicine Index
since launch in 2008

= =)

& . —

Footnotes

a AER growth rates represent growth at actual exchange rates. We use a number of adjusted, non-FRS,
measures ta report the performance of our business, as described on page 57, induding core results,
free cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates. These measures are used by managemenl for
planning and reponlng purposes and may not be directly ble with similarly d
used by other companies. Core results exclude a number of items and are pmented as managemant
beliaves that core resuits allow the kay trands and factors driving that perfarmance to be more easily
and deardy identilied by sharehalders. Non-IFRS fmay be considared in additon to, but not
as a substitto for or superior o, information presented in accordanca with IFRS. A reconciliation -
of tota! resuits to core results is sat out on page 66. ’

b New products delined as:
Phamacauticals: Rehar/Breo Eliipta, Incruse Elfipta, Anom Ellipta, Aruity Ellipta, Eperzan/Tanzeum,
Nucala, Tivicsy, Taumeq.
Vaccines: Menveo, Bersero, Shingrix (not yat approved).

¢ Primarily reftecting impact of £8.2 billion profitin 2015 from disposal of Oncology business.
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About us

At GSK, our mission

is to improve the -
quality of human life
by enabling people

to do more, feel better

‘and live longer. y

Footrate .

& We uss a number of edjusted, non{FRS, measures ta
report tho park of our busy 33 described on
page 57 including core resulls, free cash flow and CER
and pro-ionma growth rates. Non{FRS maasures may be
considered in addition to, bt not as a substitute for or
superior 10, @ hon presented in rdance with IFRS.

Three world-leading businesses . @

Our Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare
businesses generated combined turnover of £27.9 billion in 2016.
Each business benefits from our global commercial infrastructure,
integrated supply networks and innovative R&D. - B

W 6 2
99,300 150+ 87

Number of employees Number of markets Manufacturing sites

R&D innovation underpins each of our businesses ¢-

In 2016, we invested £3.6 billion in R&D across our three
businesses. External partnerships and collaborations
enable us to develop and access knowledge, and increase
our understanding in new areas of science.

We focus our research across six core areas and are using
next generation technology to develop new approaches
to disease management and control,

Respiratory diseases HIV/infectious diseases Vaccines

® Immuno-inflammation Oncology @ Rare diseases

Efficient global operating model 0
' =

We are focused on optimising our operations ihrough restructuring,
investment and modemisation to improve profitability and efficiency.

£14om 93% - 279%

Incremental annual Total operating profit Core operating profit
savings delivered in 2016  margin in 2016 margin in 2016*
(including £0.2 billion ' .

currency benefit)
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Pharmaceuticals q{%

Vaccines .

Consumer
Healthcare

Our Pharmaceuticals business
discovers, develops and
commercialises medicines to
treat a range of acute and chranic
diseases. We have a broad portfolio
of innovative and established
medicines in respiratory and HIV,

in which we are global leaders.

We focus our research across
respiratory, HIV and infectious
diseases, immuno-inflammation,
oncology and rare diseases.

Qur Vaccines business has the
broadest porttolio of any company,
with vaccinss for people of all

ages — from babies and adolescents
to aduits and older people. We
deliver over two miliion vaccine
doses per day to people living

in over 160 countries.

Randmnrennpagsszatoss

Read amcre on pages 20 1o 27

Top three categaries by sales £m Top three categories by sales £m
Respiratory 6,610 Infanrix/Pediarix 768
Hiv 3,556 Hepatitis 6§02
Established producls 2,541 Meaingitis 692
£16.1bn £4 6bn

Turnover Turnover L

% of Group turnover

58%

% of Group turnover

16% .

2bn

packs of medicines
produced in 2016

833m
vaccines delivered
in 2016

Our Consumer Healthcare business
develops and markets products

in Wellness, Oral health, Nutrition
and Skin health categories. Qur
seven global power brands — Otrivin,
Panadol, parodontax, Poligrip,
Sensodyne, Theraflu and Voltaren,
include some of the most trusted
and best-selling brands in the world.

Read more onpag;:sad 10 39

Sales by category - £m

Wall 3.726

Oral health 2,223

Nutrition 674

Skin health 570
£7.2bn

Turnover

% of Group turnover

26%

5bn

Consumer Healthcare products
produced in 2016

Pictures removed to meet Companies House requirements
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Chairman’s statement

Picture removed to meetw
Companies House
requirements

GSK made further
progress during 2016.
Operating performance
significantly improved
and there was continued
progress in the R&D

pipeline.
. S

J

Read more

Seepageso

Our Corporate Governance report sets out our
corporate governance practices and includes
the raports of our Board Committess, *

Seepagoii.zm

Our Remuneration report sets out our
remuneration arrangements for Executive and
Non-Executive Directors and includes our new
Remuneration policy for 2017,

Diversity statement

Our Board's Diversity policy, including gender,
sets out measurable objectives which our
Nominations Committee monitors and reports
progress towards their achievement.

Viability statement See page 56

Our Viability statement sets out our assessment
of the prospects of the Group over the next
three years.

Governance report

Remuneration

{am p! d to report that GSK made
further good progress during 2016.
Operaling performance significantly
improved in aur three businesses and there
was conlinued progress in the late and early
stage R&D pipeline. In every impartant area,
it has been a year of solid achievement.

2016 performance

Management continues to make strong
progress in driving the sales and cost
benefits from the integration of the Novartis
businesses in Vaccines and Cansumer
Healthcare. These businesses have been
transformed through the transaction and are
now true global leaders in their respective
markets, well positioned strategically and
improving financially.

tn Pharmaceuticals, new product safes

have shown very good momentum,
particularly in HIV and Respiratory. New
products now make up around a quarter of
total pharmaceutical sales. This is important
given the pricing pressure faced generally by
pharmaceutical companies and the potential
intraduction of generic competition to Advair
~ for many years the Group's biggest single
source of profits - in the US during 2017,

The Group's improved operational
performancae also contributed to markedly
increased cash generation. Operational
cash flow also benefited strongly from

the devatuation of Sterling following the
Brexit vote in June, although the value

of non-sterling fiabilities for debt funding
and contingent consideration, has also
increased.

Ordinary dividends of 80p per share have
been declared for 2016, the same leve! as
2015. The company expects to maintain the
same payment in 2017, in accordance with
the statements made in 2015. This level of
distribution still exceeds the free cash flow
generated by the business despite the
material improvement in cash generated.

in 2016 referred to above. Given that 2017
is the last year of the three year dividend
commitment made in 2015, the Board will
be considering the appropriate dividend
policy for 2018 and beyond during the
course of the year.

CEO successian

A key area of focus for the Board through
2016 has been to manage the CEQ
succession as Sir Andrew steps down
after 33 years with the company and into
atenth year as CEO. The Board conducted
a thorough, global search for a successor,
which included internal and external
candidates.

The Board was unanimous in its decision to
appoint Emma Walmsley, previously Head
of GSK's Consumer Healthcare business,
as the new CEO. Emma has very strong
leadership skills and a clear track record of
delivery on perfarmance. The Board believe
Emma will bring new thinking to how the
Group operates in today's healthcare
environment, whilst at the same time
hamessing the momentum evident in
current performance.

1 want to thank Sir Andrew again for his
dedicated service to GSK. Through his
commitment and leadership GSK has built
a balanced set of businesses with fine
prospects and delivered very significant
rewards ta shareholders with substantial
cash returns. He has also led efforts to
address the most pressing concems the
industry faces, ranging fram reforming our
commercial model, increasing transparency
of tria) results, and ensuring medicines are
priced more fairly and made more accessible
to patients worldwide. He will be much
missed within GSK and we wish him well in
his future endeavours.

Board changes during the year

We continue to refresh the Board. In 2016
we welcomed two new Non-Executive
Directors: Dr Jesse Goodman and

Dr Vivienne Cox. Jesse is Professor of
Medicine at Georgetown University and a
leader in public health, and Vivienne brings
many years experience in complex global
manufacturing organisations. Meanwhile,
Stacey Cartwright stepped down from the
Board at the end of December. My thanks go
to Stacey for nearly six years of dedicated
service to the Board.

As we enter a critical period of pipetine
activity, we have reflgcted this on the Board
with the creation of a new Board Science
Committee, chaired by Dr Goodman. In
addition, Dr Patrick Vallance, President R&D,
has joined the Board. Later this year, Moncef
Slaoui will step down from the Board after
28 years with the company. Moncefis a
scientist of global repute and has been a
remarkable presence at GSK, particularly

in the Vaccines business. We wish him,

too, well in the future.

in closing, | would fike to thank all GSK's
employees and partners lor their hard
work and dedication. The business has
outstanding people and they have made
2016 a very successful year. .

W [Aomph—

Philip Hampton
Chairman ’
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Picture removed to meet
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GSK performed strongly
in 2016, with good sales
growth across all three
businesses, excellent new
product momentum and
further pipeline progress.

\_ J

Foctnots

9 We use a8 umber of adjusted, nan-{FRS, measures to
report the p of o basiness, as on
page 57, including core residis, tree cash llow and CER
and pro-forma growth rates. Non~IFRS measures may be
considered in addition 10, but nat as a substine for or

superiar {0, information presented m ecoordance with IFRS,

The Group executed strongly in 2016,
delivering sales growth across all three
businesses, remaining disciplined on
costs and progressing our pipeline of
innovative products.

Trading performance

Group sales rose 17% at actual rates,

6% CER (5% pro-forma) to £27.9 billion,
despite the uncertainty and volatility
experienced globally in 2016. Total earnings
per sharg was 18.8p (down 89% at actual
rates, 99% CER), primanly reflecting
comparisons with the £38.2 billion profit

in 2015 from the disposal of the marketed
Oncolegy assets. Core earnings per share
was 102.4p* — a 12% CER increase — and
at the top end of our guidance for the year.

We saw growth across all three of

the Group's businesses in 2016, with

a particular contribution from new
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccine products.
Sales from this portfolio more than doubled
to £4.5 billion and in Pharmaceuticals;

new products accounted for 24% of sales. -

HIV products, Tivicay and Triumeq, continued
to be the standout products with sales of
£2.7 uiiiion, witiie our new respiratory
products - Relvar/Breo, Anoro, Incruse,
Arnuity and Nucala - also grew strongly

as did our meningitis vaccines, Bexsero and
Menveo. We expect the momentum in this
group of products to continue through 2017.

Our Consumer Mealthcare business
performed strongly, with sales up 19%

at actual rates, 9% CER (5% pro-forma)
to £7.2 billion, driven by power brands
such ag Sensadyne, Voltaren and Panadol!
as well as growth fram Flonase which

we switched from prescription to
over-the-counter.

Strong R&D innovatian pipeline

We filed four assets with regulators in
2016 which, if approved, have the potential
to drive further growth in the business,
including Shingrix, our candidate vaccine
for shingles and our once-daily Closed
Triple therapy for COPD. In addition, we
also started a number of phase lll trials for
assets in HIV, respiratory and anaemia.

Investiment in our R&D organisation
continues to deliver significant innovation.
For example, 2016 saw the Eurcpean
approval of Strimvelss, our first of its kind
gene therapy for children with the very rare
condition ADA-SCID. This remarkable
technology has the potential to be a platform
for a number of ather gene therapies.

‘The next two years will be an exciting time

for our R&D organisation, with key research
data on 20-30 assets due by the end ’
of 2018. .

Delivering performance responsibly

GSK has a strong commitment to operating
responsibly and playing our part in meeting
some of society's biggest healthcare
chalfenges.

In 2016, we took further industry-leading
steps by stopping all payments to healthcare
professionals 1o speak about our medicines
to other prescribers, and offered essential
vaccines at our lowest price to organisations
supporting refugees in acute need. We

also introduced a new approach to filing

and enforcing patents and IP basedona
country's economic maturity, and are working
with partncrs o help the world better propare

for future epidemics such as Ebola and Zika.

| was very pleased that our efforts to
operate as a values-based company
were recognised when we came first
in the Access to Medicine Index for the
fifth consecutive time.

Outlook

The progress in 2016 highlights the
investments we have made in the Group
over the last several years to build scale
and sustainability as well as develop new
products. | expect the Group to make
continued progress in 2017 and, as we
enter a new period of leadership for the
company, | believe GSK is well positioned
to deliver long-term performance for
shareholders.

Finally, as this is my last annual report
before | retire, 1 would like to thank all our
employees, partners and shareholders

for their support during my time as CEO.
GSK is a very special cumpany that touches
people’s ives across the world and which

I have been enormously privileged to lead.

¥

Sir Andrew Witty
Chief Executive Officer
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N

Our integrated approach

By understanding our operating énvironment and having a
clear strategy, against which we measure performance and ’
manage risks, we deliver long-term value for shdreholders and

society.

B The market in which we operate » ll Our business model }

We operate ina growing marketplace and our strategy
is designed to respond ta the challenges and opportunities

in our sector.

'

L]

Demographic
change

Changing political
landscape

Increasing payer
emphasis on cost,
value and access

Increased
expectations

.of businesses

Technological
and scientific
advances

9
R&D undemins our three businesses and we prioritise our investments
to where we see the mast potential 1o develop inrovative products for

unmet medical needs.

R&D é Pharmaceuticals
Vaccines
Consumer
| Healthcare
Commercialisation
Manufacturing and distribution
| aoanoa
L oQo

%\

x

v

Read more on page 8

Read'more on page 12
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A clear strategy for growth } How we measure success | How we manage risks
Our strategic priorities provide a framework We assess our performance against We manage a number of current and
to create long-term value for shareholders a set of financial and non-financial emerging risks. Below, our Principal Risks
and society. measures, many of which form the are mapped against the primary strategic
basis of our executive remuneration. prionity they are most likely to impact.
N -
- Turnover growth . Intellectual property
Grow — Growth of eamings per share ’ Commercialisation

Grow a balanced business and
product portfolio, centred on aur
three global businesses.

- New Pharmmaceuticals and Vaccines
De]ivel' product performance

Deliver mors products of value to
offer improved treatment for patients,
consumers and healthcare providers. ~

"L J
) ~ Operating profit and margin Financial contro! and reporting
Slmpllfy ~ Free cash flow Information protection
- Dividends declared
Simplify the way we operate to reduce - Net debt
caomplexity, increase efficiency and free :
" upresources to reinvest in the business
or retum to shareholders, wherever we
see the most attractive returns.
L .
A - Access to Medicine Index Patient safety
ReSPOT‘Slble business ~ Dow Jones Sustainability Index Anti-bribery and Corruption
L . Environment, Health and Safety
Being a responsible business, ’ and Sustainability

as how we deliver success is as
important as the results we achieve.

Readr;\n'm;npagem Readmmpagpls Readnmunpegew
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We operate in a growing marketplace and
our strategy is designed to respond to the
challenges and opportunities we face.

-The market in which we operate

1.4bn

By 2030, the world's
population of people
aged 60+ will be 1.4 billion*

75%

of the global population has
access to a mobile phone'!

90%

of global youth resides in
developing countries’

60%

of the world's population
will live tn urban areas
by 2030

Pictures removed to meet Companies House requirements

66%

of the global mtddle class

- will restde in Asia-Pacific

by 2030

kL Future State 2030; The global megatrends shaping g/ KPMG
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Our business model ’ A clear stiategy for growth } How vie manage risks

In 2016, the global
healthcare market
continued to grow
against a backdrop
of a challenging global

economic environment.

Global pharmaceutical sales were

£648 billion on a 12 month rolling

basis (September 2015-2016), up from
£605 billion during the equivalent period
(September 2014-2015). North America
remained the largest pharmaceuticals
market with a 50% share of global sales.
Europe represented 219, Asia Pacific
(including Japan) was 21% and emerging
markets was 8%.>

Global vaccine sales totalled ~£18 billion
in 2016 and are expected to grow 5%
annually by 2022.©

The consumer healthcare markets in which
GSK operates account for approximately

. $70 billion, and are projected to grow

3-4% annually over the next five years.?

Societal trends supported market growth,
but are also contributing to challenges in
the healthcare sector, particularly on price
and affordability.

Demographic change

The woild population continues to grow
and, according to the United Nations,

is predicted to reach 8.5 billion by 2030.

+ The proportion of elderly people is growing

and the number of people over the age

of 60 is expected to reach 1.4 billion by
2030.° At the same time, developing
countries are experiencing growth in their
middle classes, and by 2030 it is expected
that 609% of the world's population will be
middle class.'

In emerging markets, long-term economic
growth, increasing expectations of
healthcare provision, and changing diets
and lifestyles are increasing demand for
healthcare products, especially to treat
chronic canditions including respiratory
and cardiovascular disease. This demand
is expected to grow significantly faster in
these markets over the coming years than
in more mature aconomiss.

In developed economies, demand for
healthcare provision continues to remain
high, although the dynamics are becoming
more complex. Trends such as higher life
expectancy are contributing towards the
increasing proportion of elderly people,
and along with improvements in medical
technalogy, are putting pressure on
healthcare budgets.

The changing global political landscape
Shifting attitudes to globalisation and

free trade, wage stagnation for many and
concems about inequality are causing
significant volatility and uncertainty in
western markets.

2016 was characterised by political
uncertainty and this was exemplified

by the vote to leave the EU in the UK and
the result of the US Presidential Election.
Political uncertainty in Eurupu is expecied
to continue in 2017 with national elections
in France and Germany.

In the US there is also uncertainty as

to haw the new administration will shape
healthcare, particularly with respect to
repealing and replacing the Affordable
Care Act, prescription drug pricing and
regulation. This is coupled with questions
over the impact of the new administration's
economic, tax and trade policies.

In the UK, it remains unclear how Brexit
will affect the country's trading relationships,
corporate taxation policy, the movement

of people, and regulatory affairs.

Footnotes

a Word Poputation Ageing 2015 Highlights.
United Nations.

b IMS data (latest avaiabla a! tims of publishing}

¢ Intemal data and EvaluatePhama, World
Proview 2016,

d Inlemal torecasts basad on Nichates Hall
and Euromonitor.

e World Popuation Ageng 2015 Highlighta.
United Nations.

t  Future Stats 2030: The global megatrends
shaping govemment. KPMG.
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I, 1
)
OUI strategy to create Increasing payer emphasis on cost, Technological and scientific advances !
N value and access Key advances in the understanding of
a balanced business Demographic changes are contributing human biotogy and genomics are leading
: to increased demand for healthcare and ta fundamental changes in how we research
and pro duct P OIthIlO in turn putting pressure on government diseases, and the pharmaceutical industry’s
positi_ons us We]l for budgets and payers. This has led to *ability to develop treatments specifically
h h . continued focus on, and public debate to tackle them with innovative treatment
the c anges tn our about, the industry’s approach to drug approaches has increased substantially
marketplace. pricing across all key markets. in recent years. Alongside these scientific
In the US the ultimately unsuccesstul advances, digilal technology and data
Praposition 61 vote, which called for analylncs are enabling researchefs to 9xplore :
medicine price controls in California, and interpret Iargg ¢ volumes of biclogical
was the first of several drug pricing ballotl data from 99"0mlcs‘aqd dlsga:e.e biology
initiatives expected in the US. There has than ever before. This is providing
alsa been increasing use of healthcare opportunities to increase the speed and
technology assessments to consider sfficiency of drug discovery ::md the
value for money as well as medical efficacy, development of r_\ova! therapies that could
by government-appointed badies like the transform how diseases are managed.
UK’s National Institute for Health and Care 1 sing expectati of companies
Exceflence and Australia’s Pharmaceutical Beyond our sector-specific context, where
Benefits Advisory Committee. value, cost and affordability are so important,
As demand for healthcare in emerging soclety has inureasing wid changing
markets rises,.governments are continuing expectations of companies, particularly
to reform healthcare systems to support of large global companies. S!akeholds_rs
access. In China, the government continues - from emplfayees 10 consumers to pollcy.
to work to realise the goals set out in the makers and gnﬂyencgrs - expect cor.npanles
Healthy China 2030 plan, with significant to behave with integrity and faimess; operate
measures taken during the year to reduce "ans"are.'.“"; be connec!gd to ".‘e" lacal
pharmaceutical prices through the National commw?mes; and play their part in
Price Negotiations. addressing global challenges from heal_th i
epidemics to climate change. Responding
During the year, the UN's High-Level Panel to this requires strong partnership and
on Access to Medicines report, reiterated connectivity between public and private
the rights of countries to issue compulsory sector organisations.
licences to access cheaper supplies of
generic drugs.
We expect the political and public scrutiny
on pricing to continue.
- : —
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Our business madel N ’

A clear strategy for growth ’ How we measure success } Hovs we manage risks

’

i
Our strategic response
Three world—leading GSK is well positioned to take advantage of demographic-lod demand for new innovative
busi products with our three world-leading businesses in Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and
usinesses, Consumer Healthcare, and our global presence in more than 150 markets. For example,
underpinned in emerging markets, where significant demographic changes and societal trends are

increasing demand for healthcare, our Pharmaceuticals business sells 47% more volume
than our nearest competitor. In emerging markets, we seli 70%t of our vaccines, and the
region represents one-third of our Consumer Healthcare business.

by innovative R&D

o] Our strategy to create three balanced businesses helps mitigate risk because we can
access growth opportunities around the world and navigate changes both in our portfolio
and the challenges we face in today’s operating environment.

A global company As a global company, we understand the benefits of free trade and globalisation but also the

ith a siemifi t importance of companies like ours having a significant local presence in the communities in
W‘t h a signihcan which we operate. We have a large global footprint and can make an important contribution to
local presence the markets in which we operate in, for example, through the 1ax we pay and the jobs we create. )

Engaging with govemment, both directly and through industry trade bodies such as ABP! and
BIA, is an important way we can inform policy that will impact our sector. For example, through
the UK EU Life Sciences Steering Group, GSK is working closely with our peers and the UK
govemment to address the needs of our industry during the EU exit negotiations. Overall, we
continue to believe that Brexit will not cause a material impact on our financial position in the
long term, but may cause some disruption over the short-term.

Global and Our strategy to focus on pricing our products at a level that provides attractive volume expansion :
sustainable opportunities means we are able to access patients and consumers around the world. :
. . We understand payer and patient concerns about the affordability of heallthcare, and we are
pricing leading efforts to develop sustainable solutions. Our equitable pricing strategy for medicines
and vaccines is based on the country, disease area, product type and the patient'’s ability to pay.
In the US, we have launched our six newest products priced similar to or below those of the

medicines we aim to replace. We are also piongering eHorts to show the impact our medicines
can have in real-world clinical practice settings.

As aresearch-based company, we rely on the protection of patents, regulatory data exclusivity, -
. and other rights, to ensure a reasonable return on our investment. However, we recognisethe
o need for a flexible approach 1o patent protection. In 2016, we expanded our current approach

to filing and enforcing patents by opting not to file for patent protection in least-developed and

low-income countries and by granting licences to generic manufacturers to supply versions of

our medicines in lower middle income countries (other than G20 countries).

Leadmg responsib]'e ' Being a responsible business is fundamental to GSK. We understand that society requires
businesses to behave with integrity. How we operate is as important as the financial results

business approach we deliver: we lead industry efforts on access to medicines; clinical trial data transparency;
. and the fight against anti-microbial resistance. In evolving our commercial model to ensure
patients’ interests come first, we no longer pay healthcare professionals to speak on our behalf.
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R&D underpins our three businesses and we prioritise
our investments to where we see the most potential to
develop innovative products for unmet medical needs.

. Thr market in‘urhich
we Oprrate

- Our business mudel

l Our resources j | How we create value

4 Strong R&D

Across three world-

People and culture
Almost 100,000 employees
bring expertise and our values
to everything they do.

Financial capital
Earnings, cash flow and access
to capital markets allow us to
invest in our business.

Collaborations

and partnerships

1,500 R&D partnerships and
collaborations with-academic
institutions, biotechs, NGOs and
other companies bring important
insights to our innavation.

Suppliers
Suppliers provide essential
services and materials. -

T

innovation...

leading businesses...

Pharmaceuticals

.

\

J/

Vaccines

\.

N

®
¥

Consumer
Healthcare

-

J\

\'0

- Reinvestment
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J L The value we create .

With an efficient
global operating model.. For shareholders 9 9 o 1 20
— We aim to deliver sustainable / 0 / 0
eamings growth 2016 totat 2016 core
— Dividends EPS growth* EPS growth®
* Primarly reflacting comparson with £9.2bn profit 8Op
in 2015 from disposal of marksted Oncology assets 2016 dividend
Manufacturing )
For patients and consumers 8 33
. — Increased access to quality products m
: which enable people to do more, doses of vaccinos
feel better and live longer produced in 2016
Commercialisation For society

and distribution

- Healthier communities

¢]e) - Ecanomic contribution through jobs
and taxation

Eo.gbn

2016 tax charge

£210m

donated to local communities
thraugh product donations,
time and cash

For employees
— An environment where they feel valued

75 countries

As part of the global rall-out,
100,000 employees and family
members in 75 countries

now have access to our
ground-breaking preventive
healthcare programme

)

\ -/

Footnote

2 Wae use a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report Lhe performance af cur
business, as described an page 57, induding core resulls, ree cash flow and CER and
pro-forma growth rates. Non-IFRS measureg may bo congidered in addition to, but not
as 8 substilute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS
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Our strategic priorities provide a framework to : . ,
create long-term value for shareholders and society.

The market in which } Cur buginess mode! ’ A clear Stfategy for ngWth .
we operate
_‘}
Strategic priorities Progress in 2016 '
—y) - Global sales: £27.9 billion, up 17% 18.8 ‘
Grow ol A
- R; 99
~ _; product salas were £4.5 billion, (down 89% AER: 99% CER)
Grow a balanced business and up >100% AER; >100% CER 102 .4p
product porﬂo!iq, centred on our ~ Consumer Healthcare sales were Core earnings per share
three global businesses. £7.2 bitlion (up 19% AE.R; 9% CER,; (up 35% AER; 129 CER)*
. 5% pro-forma CER), with strong
. contributions from power brands 2 20/0
LL : - New Pharmaceutical and
K Vaccine product sales
) R
. ~ Four filings with regulators, including 4
DEI wer Shingrix candidate vaccine and
Closed Triple filings with regulators
N ~ S in 2016
- ﬁ - EU approval for Strimvelis, the .
Delivar more products of value to first gene therapy for rare disease
ofter improved treatment far patients, (ADA-SCID)
consumers and heatthcare providers. — 13% of Consumer Healthcare
innovation sales from products
launched in the fast three years
2
. )
. . - Improved core operating feverage .
Slmphfy across all three businesses 9.30/0

Simplify the way we operate to reduce
complexity, increase efficiency and free
up resaurces to reinvest in the business
or return to shareholders, wherever we
see the most attractive returns.

\..

=

— Incrementaf annual cost savings Total operating profit margin

of £1.4 billion delivered (including 2
£0.2 billion currency benefit) 7.9%
Core operating profit margin

(up 2.8 percentage points
pro-forma CER)*

— Continued to roll out new global
systems and standardisation
of our processes

-

Responsible business
"

Being a responsible business, as how
we deliver success is as important as
the results we achieve.

kL

- Expanded graduated approach 1
. topatents and [P to widen access ) st

to medicines in the Access to

. - Medicine Index

- Committed to supply essential

vaccines at the lowest price to civil 3

society organisations for refugees : rd
~ EMA approval for chiorhexedine, in our sector for Dow Jones

our antiseptic ge! for newbomn Sustainabifty Index

umbilical cord infections in
- developing countries

Foatnate

& Wea uss a number of edjusted, noiFRS, measures to repart tha pertormancs of our business,

23 described on page 67, including core results, free cash flow and CER end pro-forma growth ratea.
Non-{FRS measures may ba considered in adition to, but not as a substilute for of superiar to,

i an pr in socordance with IFRS.
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How we measure success } How we manage risks

Key challenges in 2016

- Continued pricing pressure

Picture removed

— Deliver our 2017 guidance

in the US and Europe to meet ~ Drive sales and market growth for respiratory,
- Volatility and slowing emerging HIV, meningitis vaccines, and power brands
market economies Com panies - Progress the four regulatory filings made in
2016 and launch successfully if approved
House
. t - Manage impact of possible generic competition
requirements 10 Advairin the US
~ Continued prioritisation of Picture removed - Deliver key data on 20-30 assets by the
the pipeline and appropriate end of 2018 and manage prioritisation of

deployment of resources

- Increasing global demand
for vaccines and complex

* manutacturing process
leading to supply pressures

to meet
Companies
House
requirements

capital allocation

- Continue to improve efficiency and capacity
of supply chain for new and existing products

- Integration of reporting
systems and processes
following Novartis transaction

Picture removed
to meet
Companies
House
requirements

- Continue to roll out new global systems and
standardisation processes

~ Continue to focus on improving cash conversion
and management of working capital

~ Continue to optmise capital expenditure

- Responding to stakeholder
concerns on affordability
and access

~ Continus to strengthen
values-based culture

Picture removed
to meet
Companies
House
requirements

- Ensure sustainable funding for biopreparedness
organisation to enhance preparedness against
future epidemics

-~ Embed flexible approach to 1P and patent protection

v
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We assess our performance against a set of financial
and non-financial metrics, many of which form the
basis of our executive remuneration.

,lehe market n which ' Our bustness madel } A clear steategy for growth )
* we operale . : . )

How we measure

SUccess

Group turnover Remi;wx;::
£ 2 ’7 9bn 2014 [ "] €230 .“(3)‘

* : 2015 N 7| £230en 6 1

2016 l —l £27.8bn 6 5

il

204 2015 2018
Growth CER%S Repartted Pro-foma | Reported Pro-forma}
Pharmaceuticals (5)° (7 () { 3, . 4l
Vaccines (1) 19 3 b, 14 12|
Consumer Healthcare (1)? 44 6 | 9 3
3 U
New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine product performance’ @ Growth CER%
2014 >100
£4 Spn .
* 2015 i >100

e

Operating profit and margin (&) B Ccoo

% £2.6bn e e | e

wis 43.\% S7eo |
Core® ) L _5.7]23%% © @
ore . :
£78bn 201 %27.% (54) -

i Growth
Earnings per share v cen%w
Total (49; (40;

(12) (1)e
18.8p >1é;) Sie”
(jore‘ 102. 4p (g:) ('.:;3"'
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How we manage risks

Free cash flow* ®

Grawth £9

£3 .11 R
* mn 2018 (oz)l 25°] ' “wa

oo - e e T

Dividends declared B Ovidonds

£3 9bn

Net debt
E 1 3 8 . 2014 I IAAJ
. bn 2015 [ “ﬁl
2016 RED

Access to Medicine Index ranking

Lst

We have been first since the
index began in 2008

Dow Jones Sustainability Index ranking

Brd

in the pharmaceutical industry
(2016: 95th percentile 2015: 89th percentile,

2014: 98th percentile)

Sea page 43 for more information See page 43 for more information

Key ® Tho remuneration of aur executives i linked 10 the key indicators marked. See page 119,

Footnotes
a  Excluding divestments completed n 2013
b New products defined ag:
P&wmaoeumzis Rehfarlaleo Elfipta, Ancro Elpta, Incruse Elfipta, Arnutiy Ellipts, Eperzan/Tenzeum, Nucals, Tivicay, Thumeq.
Shingrix (not ye! apg:

[+]

QOISududasapem!dmdmd

d  Wause anumber o) adiusted, noriFRS, maasures 1o report the dwhmas&asdswibedmpageS?MUdmgweMahesmshnowandCER
and pro-forma growth rates. NonFRS maasurss may be considered in addition to, but not as 8 substiute for o superier to, inf din rd; with IFRS.

e ﬁeawad\ﬁwuduﬂr\gpamnsfabgaloommswwmlmm&eOnodogstposalmdﬁepwdaseoﬂHNdhmlassa:stetmaredas
m!:mgﬁio'assalpwduaas
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We manage current and emerging risks that may
impact our strategic priorities through rigorous and
consistent risk management processes.

The market in which Our business medel - . ) A clear strategy tor growth } How wé measure success }
we operate .t

Our.principai risks are regularly reviewed Pn'ncfpal risk and description

by the Corporate Executive Team to assess

whether they are reflective of the most Patient safety

significant risks facing the organisation, Failure to appropriately collect, review, follow up, ar report adverse events from
based on evolving intemal and extamal all potential sources, and o act on any relevant findings in a timely manner.
factors. The table opposite liSts the s

principal risks thal were managed across Intellectual property

the Group in 2016. [t also includes our
definition of each risk and our assessment
of any change in the risk during the year,
both at a macro level and after GSK's
mitigating activities. Product quality
Failure to comply with cument Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP) orinadéquate
contrals and govemance of quality in the supply chain covering supplier standards,
manufacturing and distribution of praducts.

Failure to appropriately secure, mainlain and enforce intellectual property rights,

Financial controls and reporting
. Failure to comply with current tax faw or incuming significant losses due to treasury
activities; failure to report accurate financial information in compliance with accaunting
standards and applicable legislation; failure to maintain adequate governance and
. oversight over third-pai ly selationshipa.

Arﬁrbvbery and Corruphon

Failure of GSK employees, consultants and third parties to comply with gur
Anti-bribery and Corruption (ABAC) principles and standards, as well as all
applicable legislation.

Commercialisation

Faifure 10 execute business s(rateg;es or effectively manage competitive
opportunities and threats in accordance with the Ietter and spint of legal,
industry or the Group's requirements.

Research practices

Failure to adequately conduct ethical and sound pre-clinical and clinical research.
In addition, failure to engage in scientific activities that are consistent with the letter
and spint of the law and industry, or the Group's requiremants.

Environment, Health and Satety and Sustainability

. Arrows key
7 Failure to manage Environment, Health and Safety and Sustainability (EHS&S) risks
\I) Increased risk . in line with our ob)ectlves and polxcnes and with relavant laws and regulations.
-\ . . e e e e R b bt 4 SRRk R R bt et s eh st R e
'/C.’»‘ No change to risk . . lnformauan pmtecbon

The risk to GSK business activities il information becomes disclosed to those not

TN
{$ Decreased risk > e ¢ ? ;
coreasec ns authorised to see it, or il information or systems fail to be available or are comrupted.

Supply continuity and crisis management
- i X Failure to deliver a continuous supply of compliant finished product; inability to
@ For moro edentive infonmation on GSK risks, respond effectively to a crisis incident in a timely manner to recover and sustain

a0 m";*sa w?ﬁa{d milgeting actviies critical operations. This risk was previously called Crisis and continuity management.

See pago 56 for owr viahidly s1alement.

| B : -
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' Macro GSK exposure
2016 assessment envi post mitigat
........................ - Themacmenwronment has remained stable, with pahent sa.fé";'r'éaalatnon and standards remaining consistent. G\ , 3)
-
~ We have improved safety data management, patient communications and product labelling. These improvements
are being incorporated throughout the organisation, leaving the GSK exposure level unchanged.
...... - The macro risk is unchanged due to no significant changes that atfect ourablllty to secure, maintain and ., o~ -~
enforce patents. L ) s
~ The GSK exposure level is stable, based on the maturity of our risk management processes and general
ability to enforce and defend patents where appropriate.
..... "= The macro risk is higher, wilh increasing regulatory scrutiny of dat';i.;\.tegrity. supply continuity and dmé (—\ e
N . . A ) (&)
shortages, accompanied by new guidance and revised legislation. = =~
~ Despite the challenging macro environment, the GSK exposure level is unchanged, reflecling effective responses
to external regulatory reviews during 2016, a greater focus on data integrity and improved govemance.
"2 The macro environment has remained stable, due to no material change in fi nancial reporting requ:rements o r’—"») @
N

- The unchanged GSK expasure level is reflective of the significant IT systems and operating mode! changes
that are being imptemented throughout the organisation, as well as continued risk from third-party relationships.
While we expec! that these system and model changes will reduce risk in the future, the risk impact trom these E
changes is being mitigatad through strong risk management and governance, as well as the continued progress
of the gtobal Third Pany Ovarsight programme.

, with the regulatory environment and global attitude towards @
Anti-bribery and Corruption remaining within expectations. @

- The GSK exposure level is lower as our risk management practices have gained strength and are embadded
deeper across the organisation through our ABAC pragramme, which builds on the Group's values and
standards and has enabled us to manage the risk more effectively.

- The macro risk Ieval has increased due to greater industry pricing pressures and increased regulatory scrutiny @ @
in respect of sales and promotional activities. <

- The GSK exposure level is unchanged, as we implement industry-leading changes in our opereting madel and in
particular in the compensation mode! for sales representatives and our relationships with healthcare professionals.

~ The macro risk level

evated due to increased regulatory scrutiny of Good Clinical Practices. o ' @\ P @

- The GSK exposure level is unchanged based on mature internal controf processes and an enhanced govemance
programme, designed to promote best practice across the business units.

~The macro risk level is higher due to greater focus and increased ragulatery activity on environmenta! issues.

~ The GSK exposure level is unchanged due to our controls and governance being well established and capable
of allowing for the increased focus and regulatory activity. . . |

— The macro risk has increased as the threat has become more sophisticated and tafgeted witha hlgher /’f‘) ' Eﬁ
volume of incidents. /

- The GSK exposure level is unchanged while we see the effects of the substantial progress we have made
in upgrad'mg our leve! protection against cyber attacks and safeguarding our critical and sensitive data.

Z"Macro factors such as regulatory focus on contract manufacturers autside of the US and EU and mcreased
data integrity expectations, are increasing supply risk.

The GSK exposure leve! is stable, based on the significant improvements deliverad through our ongoing supply
remediation programmes and our increased monitoring and supervision of third parties. *
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As a leader in
respiratory, GSK has .
been at the forefront

of research in this area
for over 45 years.

Picture removed to meet Companies House requirements

Pharmaceuticals

Our Pharmaceuticals business discovers,
develops and commercialises medicines
to treat a broad range of the world’'s most
common acute and chronic diseases.
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Picture removed to meet Companies House requirements

Grow

|
£16.1bn

| 2016 Pharmaceutical
reported sales were up

Deliver

3

There were three filings
with regulators in 2016

Simplify

34.1%

QOperating profit margin
in 2016 was 34.1%,

&

Responsible \

business

6

We have launched our
last six new praducts in

14% AER and 3% CER* for Closed Triple, 3.7 percentage points the US priced similar to
(4% pro-forma CER). Benlysta subcutaneous’ higher than in.2015 and or below those we aim
Sales of new products and sirukumab. 1.2 percentage points higher to replace.
were 24% of on a CER pro-forma basis.
Pharmaceutical sales.

L* _J L \ .

Footrnate

8 Wa usa a number of adjusted, nonFRS,
core results, free cash fow and CERanq pro-lorma g:th rates. Non-IFRS

to repont the perf:

of our business, as dasaribed on page §7% including
be id

in addition to, but nat

as a substitute for ar superior to, int

n d with IFRS.

[~
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Pharmaceuticals

‘ We improve healthcare
: by preventing disease,
treating illness and
seeking long-lasting
solutions for chronic
and acute conditions
including rare diseases.

Overview

Qur Pharmaceuticals business has a
portfolio of innovative and established
medicines across a broad range of therapy
areas, including respiratory and HIV, in
which we are global leaders, as well as
immuno-inflammation, anti-infectives,
uralogy and rare diseases. Around a
quarter of Pharmaceutical sales come from
products launched over the past four years.

Respiratory

We have the industry's broadest range of
inhaled respiratory products. Our respiratory
portialio is the largest contributor to
Pharmaceutical sales and our expectation

is that by 2020, nine products will account
for approximately 90% of respiratory sales,
compared 1o four in 2015.

In the past four years, we have launched
a new generation of respiratory products
including Nucala (mepolizumab) and our
Ellipta portiolio.

Hilv

Qur global HIV business is managed
through ViV Healthcare, a company
78.3% owned by GSK, with Pfizer and
Shionogi the other shareholders.

ViiV Healthcare is growing rapidly, and
accaunts for over 20% of Pharmaceutical
sales. This was led by strong demand for
Tivicay (dolutegravir), an innavative integrase
strand transfer inhibitor, and Triumeq, a
single-pill treatment combining dolutegravir,
abacavir and lamivudine.

Specialty products

Qur Specialty products porttolio includes
medicines such as Benlysta, a treatment
for lupus disease, and Tanzeum/Eperzan,
for Type 2 diabetes.

Classic and Established products

Our Classic and Established products
include over 400 post-patent medicines
in the areas of anti-infectives, allergy,
neurosciences, demmatology, respiratory
and urology. Many of these medicines
continue to be the top-selling brand in
their therapy area. These products are

an importan! part of our emerging markets
business, where we sell 47% more volume
than our nearest competitor,

A leader in respiratory

Picture removed to
meet Companies
House requirements

As a leader in respiratory, GSK has been at the forefront
of research in this area for over 45 years.

Yoday we have over 13,500 patients in clinical
studies investigating chronic obstructive
pulmonary di (COPD) in almost 40
countries. We believe that insights from this
research, alongside our early phase scientific
discovery, will help us meet patient needs
well into the future.

Our new generation of inhaled respiratory
medicines are clear evidence of the benefits

of our research. This range — including

Anoro Ellipta, the world's leading long-acting
muscarinic antagonist/long-acting beta-agonist
against COPD by value - is giving physicians
the unprecedented choice to pravide the right
treatment to the right patient.

This year, we fited for reguiatory approval
for our Closed Triple therapy in the US and
Europe. If approved, this will be the first
COPD treatment to combine three vital
once-daily treatments in a single inhaler.

This will ensure patients get the full

benelfits, in ane inhalation, from all their .
treatments. Research shows that patients
taking the medicine experienced improved
lung function, a higher quality of ife and
fewer exacerbations compared to a leading
twice-daily treatment.

Looking beyond inhaled medicines, we
are now tackling the areas of highest
unmet need in respiratory diseasss.

In 2015 we launched Nucala, our first
injectable biologic treatment for severe .
eosinophilic asthma. Study results showed
that, for patients using Nucala, the risk of
experiencing an asthma attack requiring
emergency hospital care was half that

of those receiving the current standard
of care.
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Grow

Sales of our Respiratory
products returned to
growth of 2% in 2016.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-IFRS measure as described
on page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary

Reported Pharmaceutical sales were
£16,104 million, up 14% at actual rates
and 3% CER. Adjusting for the disposal

of the Oncology business to Novartis in
2015, pro-lorm._a turnover was up 4% CER.

Performance reflected a return to growth

of the respiratory business, which grew 2%.
Sales of new Respiratory products launched
over the last four years, including our Eflipta
based products Breo, Anoro, Arnuity and
Incruse as well as biologic Nucala, more
than doubled to £1,052 million. HIV sales
increased 37% to £3,556 million, with the
US up 46%. This was driven primarily by
strong performances from both Triumeq
and Tivicay, with sales of £1,735 million
and £953 million.

Sales of new Pharmaceutical products
were £3,861 million and now account
for 24% of total Pharmaceutical sales.

US Pharmaceutical sales were £4,705
million and declined 13% on a repeorted basis
(up 1% pro-forma). Respiratory sales grew
7%, and sales of new Respiratory products
were £654 million, exceeding the decline

in Advair.

In Europe, Phamaceutical reported sales

- declined 8% (5% pro-forma). Respiratory

sales declined by 10%, reflecting the
angoeing transition to the new Respiratory
portfolio and generic competition ta
Seratide. This was partly offset by growth
in the new Respiratory products, which
recorded sales of £225 million. Established
products were down 4% to £513 million.

International sales were £4,976 million,
down 5% (4% pro-forma). Sales in Emerging
Markets were impacted by the decline in the
China business, primarily as a result of the
ongoing reshaping programme and broader
Healthcare reforms, including pricé
reductions.

Worldwide HIV sales increased 37% to
£3,556 million, with the US up 46%,
Europe up 29% and International up 21%.
This growth was primarily driven by strong
performance from Triumeq and Tivicay.

In 20186, we continued to implement our new
commercial model. We stapped payments
to HCPs to speak on our behalf in January
and continued our drive to recruit HCPs
as internal medical experts. In addition, we
continued to roll out digital tools to further
our medical cducation afforts. Following
medical product information sessions with

GSK experts in over 60 countries, 92%

of more than 42,000 HCPs agreed that
the interaction helped them make a more
informed decision benefiting patient care.
Around 79%0 rated their experience as
superior to similar interactions with other
pharmmaceutical companies.

We are working han‘:! in early stage research to find a cure for HIV/AIDS

Picture removed to
meet Companies
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We have formed a unique partnership to accelerate the search

for an HIV cure.

More than 36 million men, women and children
around the world live with HIV. As a leading
research-based pharmaceutical and healthcare
company, we have a legacy of success in
developing treatments for HIV.

GSK has a strong pipeline of new medicines
and our HIV scientists continue to work
towards the goal of one day finding a cure
for the HIV/AIDS epidemic.

We continue to invest in the HIV Cure Center
and Qura Therapeutics, our unique joint-
ownership collaboration created in 2015 with
The University of North Carolina (UNC-Chapel
Hill), with a single focus on finding a cure for
HIV/AIDS.

This partnership is recruiting top talent
from arcund the world and redefining the
traditional way of conducting research

in HIV/AIDS. One of the approaches being
investigated is known as 'shock and kill'
which seeks to reveal the hidden virus
that persists in people with HIV infection
despite successful drug therapy, and |
augment the patient's immune system

to clear these last traces of the virus and
infected cells.
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Deliver

In 2016, we achieved

accelerated filing for the
first once-daily Closed Triple
therapy for COPD, received
approval in Europe for our
first gene therapy medicine
and obtained positive data to
support a new single tablet
two-drug HIV regimen.

Our Pharmaceuticals R&D organisation .
drives discavery and development in several
areas of research, including respiratory, HIV,
infectious diseases, immuno-inflammation,
oncology and rare diseases. ’

2016 progress .

We continued to see progress across all
stages of our R&D pipeline. In respiratory,
we fited our once-daily Closed Triple therapy
for COPD tor regulatory approval in both
Europe and the US, bringing forward

our original US filing date by 18 months.
We also announced positive results fram
the pioneering COPD Salford Lung Study.
The study showed that, compared to those
receiving usual standard of care, COPD
patiems using Relvar/Breo Elfipta achieved
a supenior reduction in exacerbations

in an everyday clinical practice setting.

We also strangthensd the prospects for
our next wave of respiratory medicines
with the in-licensing of a novel anti-IL33R
antibady lor severe asthma, and new data
supporting the progression of a potential
aral keatment, danirixin, into phase I{b
clinical development for potential use in
treating patients with COPD.

Our HIV pipeline contains a number of
promising medicines and regimens, with
innovative formulations, mode of action and
delivery methods. We announced positive
results from two phase lll studies evaluating
a two-drug regimen combining dolutegravir
and rilpiviring' (Edurant, a Janssen medicine).
By breaking the mould of canventional
three-drug treatments, this therapy could
reduce and sireamline HIV medication in
the future.

We have three further HIV programmes

in phase li: a new attachment inhibitor;
another two-drug regimen, combining
dolutegravir and lamivudine; and
cabotegravir, a once-monthly injectable
therapy, which combined with long-acting
nlpivirine could also make HIV treatment
simpler and easier to adhere to. tn addition,
we announced the start of a phase ll} study
to evaluate long-acting cabotegravir as an
injaction every two months, for prevention
in men who have sex with men at risk of HIV
infection. We also completed the acquisitions
of the BMS HIV pipeline and discovery
teams and programmes, which have now
been fully integrated into ViV Healthcare's
R&D organisation.

\
Timeline and development stages for a pharmaceutical product (industry average)
Drug ‘. Pre-clinical . Clinleal triats Licensing epproval
discovery . testing ;
‘ Phase | Phase Il Phase Wi
—_—>
5-10,000
® e il
10-20 Medicine available
- . s for patients
candidates 1 medicine
>
2-5 1-2
4.5 years : 5.5 years (7 years 8.5 years i 11 years 12.5 years
Source: ABPU
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: assets with data expected
by the end of 2018.

We continued to strengthen our emerging
immuno-inflammation portfolio, with
regulatory filings in Europe and the US;

a subcutaneous formulation of Benlysta,
our treatment for systemic lupus disease
currently available as an IV formulation; and
sirukumab, an investigational IL-6 treatment
for rheumatoid arthritis which we are
co-developing with Janssen. If approved,
both treatments will be self-administered
at home, making them a convenient
treatment option for patients.

In 2016, we also gained approval of
Strimvelis, the first corrective gens therapy
for children suffering from the very rare
disease ADA-SCID (adenosine deaminase
severe combined immunodeficiency) -

see case study below.

We started several phase [l studies
including: one to evaluate an anti-GM-CSF
(anti-granulocyte macrophage colony-
stimulating factor) monoclonal antibody for
inflammatory hand osteoarthritis; the other
assessing an oral RIP1 kinase inhibitor, for
rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis patients.

We also received positive phase |l data for
our fust-in-class antibacterial gepotidacin, in
treating gonorrhoea, for which the US Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) has granted
fast-track status on the basis of the seripus
unmet need for new medicines in this area.

In oncology, we have 11 assets in clinical
development and have seen encouraging
developments in our core areas of immuno-
oncology, cell therapy and epigenetics.
During the year, the FDA granted
breakthrough therapy status to the affinity
enhanced T-cell therapy, which targets the
antigen NY-ESO in synovial cancer that

wae are developing with Adaptimmune.

During 2016, we terminated the development
of losmapimod for COPD following analysis
of phase |l results, and halted development
of the HIV maturation inhibitor 3632795 in
tavour of other maturation inhibitors in our
pipeline that may have a better profile.

2017/2018 milestones

The coming two years will be significant
for the pharmaceutical pipeline, marking
the start of another intense period of R&0D
activity for the company, as we expect
important data on between 20 and 30
assets in areas including HIV, respiratary,
immuno-inflammation and oncology.

Approval of GSK's first gene therapy opens new chapter in treatment of rare diseases

Pictures removed to
meet Companies
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The application of groundbreaking technology has resulted
in the world’s first corrective gene therapy for children.

The European Commission’s appraval of
Strimvelis, a one-time treatment for ADA-SCID
(adenosine deaminase severe combined
immunodeficiency) is the first authorisation of
a corrective stem cell gene therapy for children
and a major milestone in our commitment to

developing innovative transformative medicines.

ADA-SCID, which is caused by a faulty gene
inherited from both parents, affects around

15 newborns in Europe each year. A child
born with ADA-SCID does not have a healthy,
fully-functioning immune system and, as a
consequence, is unable to fight off everyday
infections: The treatment involves cormrecting
this often fatal disorder using the patient's
own cells.

The development of Strimvelis follows a
coflaboration between GSK and the original
ltalian developers, the San Raffaele Telethan
Institute for Gene Therapy in Milan, Italy.

Warking together, we took an experimental
medicine procedure and developed
rigorous manufacturing and quality control
systems to ensure it could be evaluated

by regulators.

A 100% survival rate three years after
treatment was observed for all children

in the pivotal study. Every child receiving
Strimvelis who contributed to the
marketing authwrisalion data package is
alive today. Patients referred for treatment
will receive the gene therapy at Ospedale
San Raffaele.

We hope Strimvelis will be the first of
a number of innovative gene therapy
medicines that we will bring to patients
over the next few years.

Two further programmes using the same
platform, in metachromatic leukadystropy ]
and Wiskott-Atdrich syndrome, are both
in clinical trials.
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Deliver continued

1,500

Our range of pariners includes
academic inslitutions, public-private
partnerships, and phammaceutical and
biotechnology companies.

Pharmaceuticals R&D approach

We focus our investment on areas where
we believe there are the most attractive
apporiunities, having considered patignt
need, market opportunity and scientific
understanding. We concentrate on
mechanisms that might slow down or
reverse the course of diseases and present

opportunities to achieve remission or cure.

QOur early research etforts centre on around
30 discovery performance units. These
nimble units have their own budgets and
project accountability, so are different from
the traditional hierarchical R&D model.
They help us to maintain fiexibility, create
agility, and enable us to focus on the

most promising early opportunities.

As a treatment advances, Medicines
Development Teams of multi-disciplinary .
specialists ensure its progress from
investigational medicine and later stage
development to filing with regulatars and
ongoing evidence generation.

Strategic issues and overall budget
management are overseen by the R&D
management team. Robust governance
boards manage investment, technical,
scientific and commercial decisions
throughaut a molecule's lifecycle.

Collaboration with external partners
is an important part of our approach.
Wa partner with more than 1,500
organisations around the world, including
academic institutions, public-private
partnerships, and other pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies.

.

Collaborating with the Francis Crick Institute
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GSK joins forces with world—feading biomedical research centre.

A landmark collaboration between GSK

and the Francis Crick Institute aims to achieve
new breakthroughs in understanding and
treating diseases.

The open innovation collaboration combines
our pharmaceutical R&D expertise with the
Crick's deep knowledgs of disease biology.

Our mutual aim is 10 explore new avenues of
medical regearch and dnvg discovery across
a range of diseases, The collaboration takes
a ‘LinkLabs’ approach to working, with teams
of scientists from each organisation working
side-by-side in integrated teams st the
Crick's world-feading centre of biomedical
research in the heart of Londan and GSK's
global R&D hub in Stevenage. GSK and the
Crick believe this fluid interchange of skills
and ideas benefits both sides, introducing
new ways of working and stimulating the

development of novel approaches to
problems. By pooling our knowledge and
resources we hope the collaboration will
ultimately improve the success rate for
discovering new medicines.

in the spirit of open innovation, research
findings from the collaboration will be

shared extemally, via joint pubBication in
peer-reviewed journals. This will enable
important discoveries to be applied across
the research community, maximising the
potential to progress scientific understanding
and accelerate the develapment of
treatments for patients.

The Francis Crick Institute is a charity funded
by the Medical Research Council, Cancer
Research UK, the Wellcome Trust, University
College London, Impenal College London
and King's College London.
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Simplify

Our supply chain
transformation programime
has delivered significant
reductions in manufacturing
costs and streamlined our
external supply network.

.

In 2016, we continued to reshape our
Pharmaceuticals business and reduce
complexity in our supply chain while
maintaining our commitment to quality.

Cost savings generated in the
Pharmaceutical business have contributed -
to the delivery of £3 billion of annual savings
(including £0.2 biltion of currency benefit)
for the Group by the end of 2016. Operating
profit margin for Pharmaceuticals was
34.1%, 3.7 percentage points higher an a
CER basis than in 2015 and 1.2 percentage
points higher on a pro-forma CER basis.

In 2016, we completed our three-year
transformation programme to move

to an end-to-end supply chain. This has .
delivered improvements in customer service,
quality and productivity which, combined
with simplification of our portfolio, has
delivered a significant reduction in
manutacturing costs and streamlined our
external supply network by more than 40%.

As part of our commitment to creating

a world-class supply chain, in 2016 we
agreed a fiva-year global logistics contract
with an intemational freight campany.

This cuntiuct has been a key enabler

to reduce our site costs in the year.

Our enterprise resource planning (ERP)
system is enabling better sharing of data
to improve planning capabilities. By the end
of 2016, the system was live in 10 of our 40
Pharmaceuticals manufacturing sites.

Committed to quality

We are committed to meeting the highest
standards through stringent quality control
and quality assurance processes. Our
medicines and vaccines are manufactured
according to current Good Manufacturing
Practice (cGMP) regulations, and our
internal quality management system.

In 2016, our Pharmaceutical manufacturing
sites had 66 regulatory inspections;

six had findings which we are resolving.

In July, we received a Warning Letter from
the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
relating to an inspection carried out 12
months earlier at GSK's Worthing, UK,
primary manufacturing site. We responded
promply to the FDA to address the points
raised and advised them of a programme
of work which is now well advanced.

Responsible
business -
Picture removed to

meet Companies
House requirements

Leading the fight against antimicrobial resistance

We demonstrated our continuing commitment to tackling
antimicrobial resistance by signing up to a landmark

industry roadmap.

Resistance to antibiotics is becaming & major
pubtlic health crisis, with 700,000 people
dying every year from drug resistant infeclions.
The roadmap commits us, and other
participating pharmaceutical companies,

to achieving four significant targets by 2020.
These include reducing the environmental
impact of antibiotics production and ensuring
they are only used by patients who need them.
The roadmap builds on our January 2016
commitment to the Davos Declaration to
combat antibiotic resistance.

We have been active in discovering and
developing antibiotics for more than 70.years.
Today, our pharmaceuticals focus is on
developing new antibiotics and we have an
active pipeline of new medicines. In addition,
our Vaccines business researches and
develops new vaccines to prevent bacterial

. infections, so saving lives and reducing

dependence on antibiotics.

Our most advanced asset in the
antibiotics pipeline is gepotidacin,

which we developed in collaboration

with the US government’s Biomedical
Advanced Research Development
Authority (BARDA). Gepotidacin is

now moving towards phase |l studies,
following positive phase (I results in 2016.

The global health threat of antimicrobial
resistance requires a multi-stakehaolder
response, as saen in the industry
collaboration beyond last year's roadmap
and our work with BARDA. We also
partner with other governments and
companies to progress research and
development into new antibiotics.

We are a member of the Innovative
Medicines Initiative’s NewDrugs4BadBugs,
and are a long-term partner of the
Defence Threat Reduction Agency.

.
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Following impressive clinical
trial results, we have filed
our candidate shingles

- vaccine with regulators in
the US, Canada and Europe.

Picture removed to meet Companies House requirements

Vaccines

We have the broadest vaccines portfolio
of any company, with vaccines for people
of all ages - from babies and adolescents
to adults and older people. -
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Grow

£4.6bn

Vaccines sales were up
26% AER and 14% CER®
(129 pro-forma CER) in
2016 with growth across
the US, Europe and
International markets.

Deliver

14

In 2016, we filed our
candidate shingles
vaccine, Shingrix,

and have 14 candidate
vaccines in our pipeline
for a range of diseases.

Simplify

>30%
Operating profit margin
was 31.7% in 2016, 5.3
percentage points higher’
thanin 2015and 76
percentage points higher
on a CER pro-forma basis.

(.

3

Responsible \

business

We are working with
partners to help the world
be better prepared for
global health epidemics.
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Vaccines

Our Vaccines business is
one of the largest in the
world, delivering over
two million doses of
vaccines per day to
people in over 160
countries.

Our Vaccines business has a portfolio

of 41 paediatric, adolescent, adult, older
people and travel vaccines that offer
protection against 22 different diseases.
These include Bexsero, our meningitis 8
vaccine; Menveo for meningitis A, C, W and
Y; Flu; Hepatitis; Synflorix for pneumococcal
disease; Rotarix for rotavirus gastroenteritis;
and vaccines against diphtheria, tetanus and
whooping cough, namely, Infanrix/Pediarix
and Boostrix. .

Demand for vaccines continues to increase
as the world’s population grows and
changes. To meet this demand, we must
deliver reliable, high quality vaccines and
push the boundaries of science and
technology to develop innovative vaccines.

Behind our commercial portfolio is our -
robust research pipeline, which reflects
our expertise in virology and bacterial
infection, and across different technological
platforms. We have more than 2,000
scientists dedicated to discovering and
developing vaccines across our three
global R&D centres in the US and Eurape.
As well as our intemal research, we have
more than 180 R&D partnerships with
external scientists and leading academic
and public health institutians.

To help more people benefit from
vacgine protection, we use a ‘tiered
pricing’ approach, based on nations'
gross national income per head and
ability to pay. We are also one of the
largest contributors to Gavi, the Vaccine
Alliance, a public-private parinership
that aims to improve access to vaccines
in developing countries.

Candidate shingles vaccine filed
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Following impressive clinical trial results, we have filed our
candidate shingles vaccine Shingrix with regulators in the US,

Canada and Europe.

We are seeking approval for Shingrix, our
candidate vaccine, for use in preventing
shingles — a common but potentially serious
condition — and its complications in peaple
over 50. Shingfes sufferers develop a painfuf
itchy rash, with up to 30%b alsc getting
postherpetic neuralgia (PHN), an intense
pain that can last for at least three months.

More than one in three people over 50

are likely to have shingles in their lifetime.
individuals with compromised immune
systems, such as cancer patients undergoing
chemotherapy, are especially susceplible.

A study published in 2016 found Shingrix had
90% eHicacy for people over 70, maintained
for up to four years, while earlier research
showed 97% efficacy in those over 50.

This is the first time such high efficacy has
been demonstrated in a candidate vaccine
for older people, whose weakened immune
systems often leave them more susceptible
to disease. There is a possibility therefore
that the technology itis based on may
open up effective treatments for other
conditions affecting alder aduits.

In 2017, we expect the results of clinical
studies with Shingrix both in people at
high risk of shingles, due to the weakening
of their immune systems, and in patients
revaccinated with our candidate vaccine
who have previausly received the existing
vaccine.
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Grow

Vaccines sales grew 14%
on a reported basis (12%

pro-forma) to £4.6 billion,
from strong performance
from our meningitis and

flu vaccines.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-IFRS measure as described
on page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary

Vaccines sales grew 26% at actual rates,
14% CER and 12% pro-forma CER to
£4,692 million during 2016. Performance
was driven by sales of new products
including meningitis vaccines Bexsero and
Menveo which cantributed £592 million.
There was also strong demand for Fluanx
/Flulaval which had sales of £414 million.

US sales grew 13% (129 pro-forma) with
Bexsero, Menveo and Boostnx all seeing
market and share growth while /nfanrix

and Pediarix both benefited from competitor
supply issues in the market.

Menjugate and Baoostrix.

In Europe, sales grew 18% (16% pro-forma),
driven primarily by Bexsero sales through the
UK Government’s immunisation programme
and in private market channels in several
other countries. Boostrix sales in Eurape
benefited from higher demand and
competitor supply issues.

4

Sales in International markets grew 10%
(8% pro-forma), with growth primarily
. driven by Synflonix, due to market expansion

in Asia and certain African countries.
Menveo sales also contributed to growth
driven by a significant tender award in
Argentina. Vaccine sales increased in

Brazil due 1o strong demand for Bexsero,

UK Infants benefit from meningitis B vaccine
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The number of cases of meningitis B reported in the UK
fell significantly after babies were vaccinated with our Bexsero
meningococcal vaccine.

The UK became the first country in the world
to introduce a national infant immunisation
programme against meningitis B in late 2015,
with children being vaccinated at two and
four months and receiving a booster at
one-year-old.

Invasive meningococcal B disease is
the leading cause of meningitis in the

and adolescents. About one in ten of

Just ten months after the programme was
launched, Public Health England (PHE)
figures showed B3% percent eflectiveness
of Bexsero against meningitis B.

hearing loss.

Bexsero is the only meningococcal B

vaccine licensed in Europe, In the past

two years, the numbers of doses of

Bexrsero produced has grown from two
million to a cumutative total of ten millian.

industrialised world. k develops rapidly,
typically among previously healthy children

those who contract the disease die, with
a further 209 sulfering a major physical
or neurological disability, such as limb or
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Deliver
Our broad pipeline

includes vaccines targeting
shingles, meningitis, respiratory
syncytial virus, group B
streptococcus, and a new
vaccine concept for COPD.

Our Vaccines R&D work focuses on
discovering and developing vaccines to
help protect people against a broad range
of diseases and conditions across all age
groups. We have a pipeline of 14 candidate
vaccines in early, mid and late stage
development against a range of diseases.

In 2016, we received regulatary approval
to expand the indication for FluLavalin the
US to cover infants from six months of age,
rather than from three years. We obtained
approval in Europe for a label update for
Boostnx and Boastrx Polio with human
safety data to support use in pregnant
women. We also launched our Hibersix
vaccine in the US.

In 2016, we filed for regulatory approval
in North America and Europs for our
candidate vaccine for the prevention of
shingles and its complications, (See case
study on page 30.) In 2017, we plan to file
for its use in Japan.

We have a number of promising earlier
assets in our pipeline. For example, the
candidate vaccines in phase Il, are for
meningococcal A,B,C WY, respiratory
syncytial virus (RSV), group B streptococcus
and exacerbations in chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD).

Following the positive scientific opinion

from European regulators for our infant
malana vaccine Mosquinx, the World Health
Organization will start pilot implementation
of the vaccine in three sub-Saharan Africa
countries in 2018. With our partners at the
non-profit organisation PATH, we will donate
doses of Mosquirix for the pilots,

In a bid to assist with the Zika virus, we are
evaluating a new vaccine technology known
as SAM (self-amplifying mMRNA), with the
National Institutes of Health. We believe
this technology may potentially nduce
protective immunity against Zika.

investment and govermance

Our priorities are meeting patient needs
and addressing global health challenges
for which no vaccines yet exist, or where
significant improvements could be made.
Our vaccine R&D investment in 2016 was
£597 million, up 2% from £525 million

in 2015,

In R&D, we complemented our existing
global hubs, in Siena, ltaly and Wavre,
Belgium, with the opening of a third centre,
in Rockville, Maryland, close to our major
US public heaith stakeholders. Our three
global centres each have their own area of
expertise in vaccine discovery and specific
assets in development while also benefiting
from scientific exchange between the three
world-class teams.

Vaccines research development cycle (industry average)

~

1-10 years

Identity Produce Pre-clinical Phase Phase It Proof of Phase Il Fite Registration/
['Y tig: concept ' post-marketing
surveillance
Rescarch 4@_) .
(including immunology)
Pre-clinical develepment ;@_)
Clinical development £a)s
(including past-marketing surveillance) &7
Transfer process to manufacturing -@_’
>N
i . H rd
2-3 years 2-4 years >1 year
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Simplify

We have continued to
simplify our operating model
and realised significant savings.

In 2016, we continued to further simplify
our operating madel, strengthen our
manufacturing network, and reduce
supply costs.

During the year, we completed the majority
of the Novartis Vaccines business integration.
Cost savings generated in the Vaccines
business have contributed to the delivery

of £3 billion of annual savings for the Group
by the end of 2016 (including £0.2 billion
currency benefit). These savings, combined
with strong sales growth, delivered improved
operating leverage and a profit margin of
31.7%. This was 5.3 percentage points
higher than in 2015 and 7.6 percentage
points higher on a pro-forma CER basis.

Investing in our supply chain

We have 16 vaccine manufacturing sites

in 11 countries. This international presence
enables us to manufacture our vaccines

with greater capacity, efficiency and flexibility.
We aim to keep critical production steps
in-house wherever possible, and during

the year we invested in new praduction
facilities at our Marburg site in Germany.

This will enable us to produce all of the

aclive components of our Bexsero vaccine
in-house, and adds a new mumps production
line for our combined measles, mumps,
rubella and varicella vaccine.

Committed to quality

The discovery and development of new
vaccines is a complex process. Our vaccines
are manufactured to the highest quality
standards, according to current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) regulations.
In 2016, we had 45 regulatory inspections
and 38 had minor or no findings. In all

cases, we worked with regulators to
address their observations.

Responsible
business
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Preparing for public health emergencies

GSK is committed to helping whenever we can when

public health crises occur.

When Ebola broke out in West Africa, we
accelerated the development of our candidate
Ebola vaccine and, following the outhreak

of Zika, we employed our novel technology
platforms to start a vaccine discovery
programme with the US National Institutes

of Health.

However, responding after a life-threatening
disease surtaces is not enough. Vaccine
research and discovery is a lengthy process,
typically taking 10 to 15 years. To have the

" best chance to save lives, the global community

has to prepare itself in advance.

For this reason, we are proposing to create a
dedicated and permanent ‘biopreparedness
arganisation’ (BPQ) at our Global Vaccines
R&D Centre in Rockville. The planned facility
would design, develop and manufacture naw
vaccines against potential pubfic health threats,

with targeted pathogens selected and
priontised with guidance from independent
experts. It would have dedicated and
permanent R&D and pilot production
facilities, and the capacity to respond
rapidly to future global health emergencies.

The BPO would operate on a no-prafit,
nu-luss basis, with funding from both
govemments and non-govammental
organisations.

We also strongly support the Coalition for
Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI)
and its facus on vaccines development as
a solution to protecting against infectious
disease outbreaks. We stand ready to
partner with CEPI to advance epidemic
preparedness.
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Consumer Healthcare &

Our Consumer Healthcare business develops and
markets products in Wellness, Oral health, Nutrition
and Skin health. Our portfolio includes some of the
world's most trusted and best-selling brands, such
as Sensodyne, Voltaren and Panadol.
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A migraine is more than
just a headache. Excedrin
is helping people in the US
manage their symptoms.
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Grow .

\
£7.2bn

Sales increased 19%

—

Deliver

13%

of sales in 2016 were

Simplify j

15.5%

Operating profit margin

AER and 9% CER* (5% trom product innovations was 15.5% in 2016, 4.2 is helping raise awareness
pro-forma CER) in 2016, launched over past percentage points higher of dengue fever.
with growth broadly three years. than in 2015 and 3.7
balanced across the percentage points higher
US, Europe and on a CER pro-forma basis.
Intemational markets.
- . w . J L A N _J

Responsible (o )
business

Qur Panadol power brand

Footnote
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Consumer Healthcare

Our Consumer Healthcare
business is a world-
leading over-the-counter
and consumer healthcare
products company.

Our Consumer Healthcare business” is_

split almost equally between over-the-
counter {OTC) medicines and fast moving
cansumer goods (FMCG), across our four
categories of Wellness, QOral health, Nutrition
and Skin health.

Wellness
We are the global leader in Wellness, which
is our fargest category, and number one in

36 countries by retail sales. We have leading

global positions in respiratory, cotd and flu,
nasal decongestants, allergy, smoking
cessation, and pain management, where

we have two of the top four brands, Panado/
and Voltaren.

Oral heatth

We are a top three company, globally,

by sales in toothpaste and the number
one in specialist oral health, globally and
in 50 countrigs, with feading positions in
sensitivity, acid erosion, denture care and
gum health, In 2016, Sensodyne became
our first £1 billion consumer healthcare
brand, making it the third-largest product
by sales in the whote GSK portfolia.

Nutrition

Qur Nutrition business includes Horlicks,
the long established wheat, mitkk and malted
barley drink.

Skin heatth

We are in the top three, by sales, globally
in medicated skin health which treats

such conditions as cold sores and dry

and sensitive skin. Our Abreva and Zovirax
brands hold leading positions in some

of the world's largest markets.

Power brands

We prioritise seven global power brands

~ Otrivin, Panadol, parodontax, Poligrip,
Sensodyne, Theraflu and Voltaren — and

12 regional core brands, including Flonase,
Horlicks and Tums. These brands, including
Physiogel, benefit from our broad geographic
footprint and a combined facus on scientific
expertise and consumer insight.

* Rep the C Health Joint Venture
with Novartis har with the GSK C
Healthcare listed businessss in India and Nigeria.

1
Managing migraine symptoms
Picture removed to Qihednn broxtlght home a;l:}e, pamful’ reality of migraines
. with a recent virtual reality campaign.
meet Companies palgn .
. . Excedrin, ane of the top aver-the-counter The four worked with VR experts to create
House requirements brands in sales in the US, launched a the visual effects they experience during
virtual reality (VR) campaign to correct -attacks, including blurred vision, tiashes,
misunderstandings of migraines. The . object ‘auras', room spinning and partial
campaign, which included multi-channel blindness.
media activity, an expert celebrity panel The campai . -
. . paign made an enormous impact
discussion and a high profile New York event, on social mgdia with over 17 million v‘i,ews
was launched in March 2016. Product sales and almost 500'000 engagements, such
rase 15% during the campaign and have as shares of the' fim comrvg\en\s anél
shown double digit growth over the year. re-tweels. !
Excedrin created the campaign after its :
customer insight research showed that
88% of sufferers felt misunderstood.
The documentary-style film featured
a ‘migraine simylatar’, developed with
the help of four migraine sufferers.
\= —)
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Grow

Strong growth in our

Oral health and Wellness
power brands helped
Consumer Healthcare

to a 9% increase in reported
sales (+5% pro-forma),

to £7.2 billion.

All growth rates are at CER, a
non-{FRS measure as described on
page 57, unless otherwise stated.

2016 performance summary
Consumer Heallhcare sales grew 19%
at actual rates, 9% CER and 5% on a
pro-forma basis to £7,193 million.

On a category basis there was growth
in Wellness (15%), Oral health (8%) and
Skin health (4%b). This was partly offset
by Nutrition which declined 8%.

At a brand level, Sensodyne, Panadol

and Otrivin performed strongly. Sales

of Sensodyne reached £1 billion for the
first time. Sales from innovation within the
last three years represented 13% of sales,
with a particular coniribution from Flonase,
which was switched to OTC in Q1 2015,
Other notable launches in 2016 included
Sensodyne True White and Excedrin
Gelktabs in the US.

Growth was broadly balanced across

our three global geographies. US sales
grew 9% to £1,761 million (5% pro-forma)
driven primarily by Sensodyne delivering
double-digit growth following the launch

of True White combined with strong
mamentum from Pronamel. Within Welflness,
Flonase OTC grew strongly in the first half
foiiowing line extensions.

In Europe, sales grew 12% to £2,191 million
(4% pro-forma). Good momentum across
Germany, Scandinavia and ltaly was partly
offset by the impact of challenging economic
conditions in the Commonwealth of
Independent States. Voltaren grew in
double-digits as a result of the continued
success of the 12-hour vanant, while in

Oral health, Sensodyne and the Gum health
portfolio also recorded strong growth.

In International markets, sales grew 8%
(5% pro-forma) to £3,241 million. Growth
was impacted by the sale of the Nigerian
beverages business on 30 September
2016 and the effective cessation of
trade in Venezuela at the end of 2015.
Demonetisation implemented in India

in November also impacted the indian
business. Sales in the Middle East, Latin
America and China grew particularly
strongly as a result of better pricing and
new product introductions.

New over-the-counter launch extends Flonase brand

Picture removed to
meet Companies
House requirements

We continue to see success in switching products from
prescription-only to over-the-counter.

In 2016 the FDA approved Flonase Sensimist
Allergy Relief for seasonal and perennial
allergies. This builds on our success in
moving products from prescription-only

to over-the-counter (OTC) in the USA.

The product was launched in February 2017,
in time for the allergy season. In making the
product available OTC, we are mesting
consumer demand for greater control

over their personal healthcare.

The product was formerly available only on
prescription as Veramys!. In managing the
switch to OTC, we drew on the regulatary
insights of our Pharmaceuticals business
which helped us navigate thraugh the highly
regulated phamaceutical environment.

The new product acts on multiple
inflammatory substances and has additional
features such as being suitable for children
as young as two years old, being scent and
alcohol-free, and causing little or no drip
while it is being applied. .

By bringing Sensimist under the Flonase
Allergy Relief umbrelia, we aim to build
on Flonase's market success.
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Consumer Healthcare continued

Deliver

Qur success in delivering
consumer-driven, science-led
innovation enabled us to
generate our best-ever sales
from recent launches.

13%

of our sales were generated from
innovations launched over the past
three years.

The success of our Consumer Healthcare
business is buiit on our ability to understand
customer needs and meet them with effective
products from our sirong research pipetine.
In 2016, we refocusad our investment in
innovation to ensure we achieve a high return
and delivered 30 new-to-market product
faunches. During 2016, 13% of our sales
were generated from innovations launched
over the past three years — our highest

level ever.

In 2016, R&D investment in Consumer
Healthcare was £243 mifion (2015 —
£258 million). We prioritise investment

on our power and core brands, with our
strategic focus now on lewer but bigger
innovations. In 2016, examples included
Sensodyne True White, Excedrin Gel-tabs,
a new Eno ajwain herb flavour vanant in
India and Otrivin Oxy which was launched
a record six months from conception.

We continue to see success in moving
products from prescription-only to over-
the-counter, with the approval and launch
of Flonase Sensimist Allergy Reliefin the
US in 2017. (See case study on page 37).

Understanding consumers' everyday
healthcare needs, views and product
preferences is an integral part of our new
product development process. As digital
technology becomes central to all our lives,
we are exploring ways — both internally and
in discussion with extemal entrepreneurs
and inventors — of hamessing digital
capability ta improve consumer health.

We continued to invest in state-of-the-art
digital and real life innovation by opening
new US shopper and sensory labs.

{See case study below).

In 2016, we strengthened our commitment
to R&D in India, building headcount to

~200 peaople — a significant increase versus
both legacy organisations. Our increased
focus an innovation in this area is already
paying off, with seven market-first innovations
launched in the region over the course of

the year. Two of our six R&D hubs are now
based in emerging markets, a region that
represents over a third of our business.

The science of consumer insight

Picture removed to
meet Companies
House requirements

Our new innovation labs in the' US increased our ability ;
to understand and deliver unmet consumer needs.

Following the success of our UK innovation
labs we taunched three labs based at our

new US Consumer Healthcare HQin Warren,
They enable us to integrate customer insighis
into all stages of product development, from
the original inception of an idea to an item's *
positioning on the store shell. They include:

—~ An R&D suite combining flexible work
spaces with rapid prototyping capabifities;
allawing us to move swiftly from concept
to manufacture, whether of tablets, liquids,
powders or creams.

- Consumer sensory capabilities to assess
how people use products. It includes
simulated environments where our products
are often found, for example, the bathroom,
doctor's cansulting room, a shop and
pharmacy.

choice for shoppers and customers.

- A shopper science facility that enables
us to work with our retail partners on the
best way to present products in gtore.

Together, the labs are enablingus to
discover fresh insights and develop
tailor-made products to meet the needs
of our consumers and retailers. This helps
us to meet our ambition of becoming first
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Simplify . .

We continued to further
simplify.and streamline our
Consumer Heazlthcare business
and increased our operating
profit margin. :

During 2016, we completed the majority

of the integration enabling us to increase
our emphasis on core innovation and to
defiver stronger growth from our brands.
Incremental annual cost savings in 2016
helped ta increase the operating profit
margin by 4.2 percentage points to 15.5%.
This was 3.4 percentage points higher than
in 2015 on a CER basis and 3.7 percentage
points higher on a CER pro-forma basis.
We remain on track to deliver the annual cost
savings anticipated, and to deliver our target
operating margin of at least 20% by 2020.

Our consolidation activities over the year
resulted in a reduction of costs and
overheads. We established common
distribution routes and shared enterprise
resource planning platforms, enabling
access to data across the organisation
and more informed decision making.

In 2016, unified branding was rolled
out to all integrated sites and more than
10,000 artwork changes were delivered.

Our streamlining efforts also involved
59 markets moving to standardised
platforms over the course of the year,
and we are on track to deliver against
our synergy targets.

Committed to quality

Our Consumer Healthcare products

are manufactured to the highest quality
standards, according to current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) regulations.
In 2016, we had 56 regulatory inspsactions,
all with satisfactory outcomes.

business

Picture removed to
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House requirements

Responsible

Helping communities to better identify, prevent and treat dengue fever

A GSK-led health campaign encouraged better understanding

of how to manage the disease.

Mosquito-bome dengue tever causes
around 400 million infections and 20,000
deaths each year. It is endemic in more than
100 countries, particularly across the South
East Asia and Westemn Pacific regions.

Paracetamo), in Panadol, can help treat
some of the symptoms of dengue fever,
so GSK Consumer Healthcare launched
the Allied Against Dengue campaign

in 2016 in Malaysia, Indonesia and the
Philipgines. It braught together GSK and
our Panado! power brand with doctors,
pharmacy chains, govemments and
non-government organisations.

The campaign has helped educate
seven million people about the disease.

It included 48 ‘'train the trainer' sessions,
to refresh physicians’ and pharmacists’
knowledge of the virus; the recruitment

of 21,000 voluntary ‘dengue warriors'

to spread the word about prevention and
treatment; and the distribution of 'dengue
proficiency kits' to healthcare professionals.

Assisted by wide media coverage,

the campaign's impact was dramatic.

In Malaysia, after three years of rising
mortality rates, the campaign contributed
towards the number of deaths falling

by 39%. .

The campaign also helped increase our
regional Consumer Healthcare product
sales. In the Philippines alone, net sales
increased by 48% in Q3 2016, versus
the same peniod in 2015.

i L
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Responsible business “

Being a responsible business is central
to our strategy, how we deliver success
is as important as the results we achieve.
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We have expanded our
graduated approach to
filing and enforcing patents
and intellectual property to
widen access to medicines
in the poorest countries.

........................................................................................
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Health for all Our behaviour Our people Our planet
1.3m 99% 75 countries 18%
Our partnership with Our mandatory annual Our Partnership for We have cut operational
Save the Children reached training on our code of Prevention programme catbon emisslons (Scope.
an additional 1.3 million conduct was completed is being rolled out 1 and 2) by 18% since
children in 2016 with by 99% of our employees globally and is offering 2010. Total value chain
treatments, immunisations and complementary unprecedented access to emissions have risen by
and other interventions. workers in 2016.+ preventive healthcare for 19b as we extend access
. almost 100,000 employees to our medicines, and we
and their family members are working to address this.
in 75 countries. ’
. s\ . L J
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Responsible business

By being commercially
successful and operating
responsibly, we will improve
people’s health and benefit
society, as well as create
value for our shareholders.

Creating value for society

By developing innovative healthcare
products, we directly benefit patients and
consumers. Our equitable pricing strategy,
which allows prices to reflect a country’s
ability to pay, and global footprint enables
greater access lo our medicines, vaccines
and consumer heafthcare products.

By delivering profitable and sustainable
business performance, we generate value
and returns far our shareholders and can
reinvest in the business. Over and above
this, wider society benefits as healthy
people are essential to building strong
and sustainable communities.

We make significant direct and indirect
economic contributions to the countries
and communities where we operate through
tax, our employment of 99,300 people

and charitable support.

Our responsible business priorities

GSK's responsible business priorities sit
within the context of the macro-econcmic
and social trends that affect all companies
and wider society. These trands present

both opportunities and challenges for global
healthcare companies like GSK (see page 8).

We report our progress across four areas:
Health for all, Our behaviour, Our people,

and Our planet. We identified our priorities -~
in these areas by understanding the issues
that are most important to our business and
to our stakeholders.

Our longer-term commitments across the
four areas reflect global health needs and
align with GSK's strategic priorities and
our values. We detail our progress against
these commitments in our responsible
business supplement available at
www.gsk.com/responsibility.

A graduated approach to intellectual property

ﬂ

Picture removed to
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We have expanded bur approach to filing and enforcing patents
to reflect a country’s economic maturity.

In 2016, we announced that we would adapt
our current approach to filing and enforcing
patents to ensure that we balance the need
to protect our intellectual property with a
country’s economic maturity.

This means that we will no longer fite patents
for medicines in the least-developed countries
and low-income countries. In lower middle
income countries, we will apply for patents
when we think it appropriate but also offer
licences that allow supplies of generic
versions of our medicines to these countries
(other than G20 countries) for ten years.

In line with this approach, in 2016 ViV
Healthcare expanded its licence agreement
with the Medicines Patent Poo! {or the adult
formulation of their HIV drug dolutegravir

to include the vast majority of lower

middie income countries.

- can help address the increasing burden of

The agreement enables dolutegravir to be
made available for aduits through generc
manufacturers, with royalty fees tiered
depanding on national gross domestic
product, foltowing approval from regulators.
This means that 84 of people fving with
HIV in the developing world are now
covered by the ficence agreement.

We have also outlined our intént to commit
our future portfolio of cancer treatments

to patent pooling and will work with the
Medicines Patent Pool to explore how this

cancer in developing countries.
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Measuring
progress

We have well-established, long-term
responsible commitments which sit across
four areas: Health for all, Our behaviour,
Our people and Our planet. We also
measure our performance in the Access
to Medicine Index and Dow Jones
Sustainability Index.

Access to Medicine Index

in 2016, GSK topped the Access to
Medicine Index for the fifth consecutive time.
This means we have led every edition of the
biannual index since its 2008 launch.

The Access ta Medicine Index is funded by
the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the
UK and Dutch governments. It measures the
top 20 pharmaceutical companies’ efforts to
improve access to healthcare in developing
countries. We led our peers in three of the
2016 index’s seven categaries: research
and development; pricing, manufacturing
and distribution; and product donations.

The index describes GSK as ‘the most
access-ariented company’ and recognises
our clear strategy on increasing access

to medicines, which is aligned with our
corporale strategy.

Progress against our responsible business commitments

It also cites our company-wide ownership for
access as a key strength, together with our
commitment to research and development
for low and middle income countries and
high-priority medical needs.

At the beginning of 2017 we also performed
wellin the first ever Access to Vaccines
Index, leading in all three categories under
consideration.

Dow Jones Sustainability Index

In 2016, we came third in our sector in the
Dow Jones Sustainability Index. The Index
analyses the economic, environmental and
social perfarmance of the world's leading
companies. Our overall percentile ranking
increased from 89th in 2015 to 95th in
2016, meaning we scored within the top
5% of aur sector.

We led the industry in code of business
conduct, climate strategy, environmental
reporting and health outcome contributions,
and had strong performance in corporate
governance, marketing practices, risk and
crisis management, tax and corporate
citizenship.

Our 2016 assessment shows that three of our commitments are complete, 14 are progressing well, five are on track, and one has more
work to do. For more details about our performance, see our Responsible Business Supplement at www.gsk.com/responsibility.

 Heatth for all _ Our behaviour .
Progress Progress

Innovation for unmet medical needs (Compieted  )NPEBEDED Ethical conduct
Better access to medicines and vaccines (Progressing we) MBNIL_)  Promoting values in sales and [Fregrossing we D ERIDIDL_
Building products to better meet needs  [Progressing we) MBNDED) ) marketing practices

Strengthening healthcare infrastructure Progessra we) DI ) Transparency in clinical rial data Competes HIDIDIDIED-
Fighting malaria Progrssing we) DD, ) Rigorous patient and consumer safety  ([Progrssing we')  JNEDED)_)
Eliminating and contralling neglected ~ [Frogrssngwe) ERERIEDY )  Minimising animal testing G- ) )
tropical diseases Ensuring ethical interactions [Frogrossing wel) DYDY )
Eradicating polio (Progressnawe) MBEDED, )  Promoting human rights (TS ) I

Access to antiretroviral treatment for HIV ([Progressing we) I, ) Working with third parties [ ) D)
Reducing child mortafity (Progrossing wet) MBNNERY ) ‘
~ Our people _ Our planet

.ongress Progress
Developing our people in inspiring (Progrexsing we) MBI} )  Aiming to be carbon neutral Wotkneedes OB % )
and healthy workplaces Reducing our water impact Crogressing D INIDID D
Promoting inclusion and diversity s NI ¥ ) Reducing our waste Goma O V)
Community volunteering to (Compited ) NDIDIDED

create change
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. Responsible business continued

Health for all

We are committed to -
developing innovative
products and extending
access to healthcare to
more people, no matter
where they live or their
ability to pay.

Qur approach

We are tackling some of the greatest
global health challenges by innovating to
meel unmet needs, making our medicines
and vaccines more accessible, and
strengthening healthcare systems.

{nnovating for unmet needs

We aim to develep innovative products
for diseases that disproportionately affect
the world's poorest people and where
need is greatest.

In 2016, we committed to working with
govemments, multinational organisations
and NGOs to enhance preparedness
against potential future outbreaks of
diseases such as Ebola and Zika. We
are supporting the Coalition for Epidemic
Preparedness Innovation (CEPI) (see case
study on page 33) and are proposing

to create a permanent ‘biopreparedness
organisation' (BPO) at our Rockville,
Maryland Vaccines site.

In 2016, our ge! to help pravent umbilical
cord infections in newborns received a
positive scientific opinion from the Eurapean
Medicines Agency (EMA). Three million
babies die each year from infection, often
when the newly-cut umbilical cord attracts
bacteria — a particular issue in developing
countries. If approved by local regulators, we
will make the gel available at a not-for-profit
price and share manufacturing knowledge
so it can be widely made.

Our Mosquirix vaccine targets a significant
health threat — malaria. Phase Ilf trials of the
vaccine, which received a positive opinion
from the EMA in 2015, have shown the
vaccine could have a considerable public
health impact when used in combination
with malaria control measures.

In 2016, the World Health Organization
confirmed that full funding has been
committed to enable the pilot inplementation
of Mosquirix in three settings in sub-Saharan
Africa due to begin in early 2018.

Protecting refugees with essential vaccines

Picture removed to
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We are supplying essential vaccines at our lowest price to civil
society organisations for use in acute humanitarian situations.

Along with their homes, fivelihoods and
communities, refugess often lose easy
access to healthcare, leaving them potentially
vulnerable to vaccine-preventable disease.

In response, GSK has commilted to supply
essential vaccines to internationally recognised
civil society organisations (CSOs) - such

as Médecins Sans Fronti¢res and Save the
Children ~ at our lowest prices, for use in
acute humanitarian situations where
governments are unable to assist.

The first vaccine to be covered by this
commitment is Synflonx, our pneumococcal
vaccine that protects children against diseases
such as pneumonia. Working with partners
such as Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance, we will
provide Synfiorix at a dseply discounted price
to charities that fund and deliver immunisation
programmes to refugees and displaced people.

In the future, we will explore extending this offer

to other essential vaccines.

Our commitment is designed to help
maintain stable vaccination programmes
during times of great humanitarian need
where governments are unable to assist,
by developing a reliable and predictable
supply to CSOs that have stepped in.

At the same time, we will continue to work
with partners 10 strengthen the long-term
capacity of local health systems to support
refugees and host communities.

This pledge comaes as tens of thousands
of refugees continue to flee conflictin
Syria, South Sudan and elsewhere.

it builds on decades of effort by GSK,
working with partners, to increase
access to our vaccines through charities
responding to emergencies.
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Since 2008, we have invested £21 miflion
in 39 countries and trained 43,000
frontline health workers who have
reached 17.5 million people.

£21m

Our charitable giving in 2016 totalled
£210.2 million (2015 - £208.3 million)

Picture removed to
meet Companies
House requirements
Froduct & i -kind £1272.2m

Cash £67.3m

Management £12.3m
Time (PULSE) £3.4m

We also share our expertise, resources
and intellectual property with external
researchers. Our open innovation lab in
Tres Cantos, Spain, has built up a portfolio
of 63 research projects looking at diseases
of the developing world since 2010. It had
20 visiting scienlists in 2016 and results
from the lab have led to papers in more
than 50 scientific publications. Our Africa
Non-Communicable Diseases Open Lab
is currently focusing on cardiovascular
disease, oncology, chronic respiratory
disease, chronic kidney disease and  ~
diabetes. lts first project looks at severe
asthma across East Africa, led by Uganda's
Makerere University.

Extending affordability and availability
We are committed to widening access ta
our medicines and vaccines. Our equitable
pricing strategy is based on the country,
disease area, product type, and patient's
ability to pay.

Since 2010, we have capped the prices
of our patented medicines and vaccines

in the least-developed countries (LDCs)
at 25% of the prices in the EUS (France,
Germany, ltaly, Spain and the UK), as long
as our manufacturing costs are covered.

Wa offer our lowest vaccine prices to
organisations such as Gavi, the Vaccine
Alliance, which supports countries with

a low gross national income. In 2016, we
delivered more than 74 million dosés of
our Synflorix vaccine against pneumoccal
disease and more than 35 million doses
of Rotarix, our vaccine against rotavirus
gastroenteritis.

In middle-income countries, where many
still live in poverty, our equitable pricing
approach enables more people to access
our products. In Egypt, we offer a portfolio
of prices to meet the needs of all levels

of income, including a price reduction

of Seretide inhaler devices targeted to
middle and lower income groups.

We also understand payer and patient
concems about affordability in developed
markets and we are leading efforts to
develop sustainable solutions. For example,
in the USA, the last six GSK pharmaceutical
products were launched simiar to or

below prices to the medicines we aim to
supersede. In 2016, we integrated three

of our US patient assistance programmes
into one GSK Patient Assistance Program,
which is designed to simplify and improve
the programme experience for eligible
uninsured patients and patients with a
Medicare Part D prescription Drug Plan.

In Europe, we continue to engage with
payers in all EU markets to balance affordable
cost to healthcare systems through funding
solutions which also support ongoing
innovation for medicines. We have achieved
reimbursement for our Ellipta porttolio in
most EU markets by finding local solutions
when issues of affordability challenged the
introduction of new innovation.

Strengthening heatthcare systems

We reinvest 20% of our profits from the
sales of our Pharmaceuticals and Consumer
Healthcare products in LDCs to strengthen
heafthcare infrasitugiure in these nations.
Since 2009, working with Amref Health
Aifrica, CARE Intemational and Save the
Children, we have invested £21 million

in 39 countries, reached 17.5 million people
and trained 43,000 frontline health workers.

Through our pioneering partnership with
Save the Children, we reached 1.3 million
children with live-saving interventions

in 2016, bringing the total number to

2.6 million. Since 2013, over one milion
children have been screened for malnutrition,
more than 86,500 under-fives have been
immunised, over 290,000 children have
been vaccinated against measles or palio,
and over 183,000 have been treated for
diarrhoea, malaria or pneumonia.
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Our behaviour

Our values underpin
everything we do - from
ensuring rigorous safety
standards to how we
interact with healthcare
professionals.

GSK values

Be patient
focused

{HONY Act with

Demonstrate

: respect for people

: @ Operate with
transparency

We expect all employees to act in line
: with our values.

Our approach

We aim to have a values-based culture by
training our people on the standards we
expect, encouraging the reporting of any
concerns and embedding our values into

the way we measure employee performance.

Patient and consumer safety

We manufacture our medicines and vaccines
according to current Good Manufacturing
Practice regulations and our intemal Quality
Management System.

In 2016, we had 167 regulatory inspections
of our manufacturing sites and 86% of
these received no observations or minor
observations.* Eleven of the inspections
were conducted by the US Food and

Drug Administration (FDA), of which five
resulted in a Form 483 being issued to
sites, citing deficiencies to current Good
Manufacturing Practices (cGMP). None

of these abservations had any direct impact
on product supply from our sites, and
comective action plans to mitigate the
observations have been submitted to

the FDA in all cases.

Transparency in clinical trial data

GSK was the first company to sign up to
AllTrials, which campaigns for every clinical
trial to be registered and its results reported.
We have been lsading the industry in clinical
study transparency over the past decade.

tn 2016, we publicly posted more than
1,800 clinical study reports and more than
6,000 result summaries.

Researchers can submit proposals to
request access to the details of around
2,000 of our clinical trials through the
www.clinicalstudydatarequest.com website.
An independent panel reviews praposals
for scigntific merit and to ensure patient
privacy and confidentiality are protected.

In 2016, 88 proposals were approved and
66 research teams were granted access

to anonymised patient-level data.

We have also begun providing plain
language summaries of our clinical studies
on our online clinical study register.

Working with third parties . .
We expect our suppliers to share our higl
ethical standards. In 2016, we increased
our use of preferred suppliers, bringing
them to more than 90% of our global
purchase order spend. We continued the
roli-out of our global third-party oversight
programme, which reached a total of

43 countries across Latin America and
South East Asia. The programme aims

to drive impravements in our supply chain
and distributor network and ensure that
the third parties we engage with support
our values.

In 2016, we alsa completed aver 70 third-
party audits on health and safely, ethics,
environment and labour rights, We also
conducted a further 1,850 audits focused
specifically on quality processes. Where
wae identify areas for improvement, we
engage with the respective third parties 1o
develop improvement plans and track their
completion with the overalt aim of enhancing
performance in the supply chain. We may
also suspend or terminate wark with a
third-party if significant issues are identified.

Training our people

In 2016, we updated our Code of Conduct
and accompanying anaual training to give
people a deeper understanding of how to
apply our values in their everyday activities.

In 2016, 99%" of our employees and
complementary workers completed
mandatory training on the code. The code
of conduct training enables the learner

to understand 'and manage the risks
associated with our business activities.
This includes anti-bribery and corruption
risk, to which we maintain a zero tolerance
approach. More than 70,000 peaple working
in high risk roles completed additional
in-depth anti-bribery and corruption training
to help them understand how to manage
particular challenges they may face in their
daily wark.

Reporting and investigating concems
We centrally track misconduct allegations
and concerns through our multiple Speak
Up channels. In 2016, our investigations
team received 2,568 reports, a 21%
reduction since 2015.,

Footnotes
a At this time we are 811} awaiting 11 reparts trom
2018 ingpections.
b Theremaming 1% represents who did
not complete the training in the required tims and are
subjact to disciplinary action, as well as thase who are
- el wi_lhin the complation timeframe (e.g. new starters).
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Disciplinary action

We take action when employees fail to act
in line with our policies. During the year,
3,600 employees were disciplined for policy
violations (2015 - 3,574), including 499
employees for failing 10 complete mandatory
training (Code of Conduct and Anti-bribeiy
and Conruption) within the required

timeframe. Of the total disciplined, 2,499
employees received a documented warning
(2015 ~ 2,890), 547 had verbal wamings
(2015 ~ 297) and 221 were dismissed or
agreed to leave the company voluntarily
(2015 - 387). Most of these were related

to attendance and payroll which included
disciplinary actions related to employee
absence, punctuality or misstating hours
worked.

Human rights

GSK is a signatory to the UN Global
Compact, which sets out key principles
for business on human rights. We are
committed to upholding the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the
International Labour Organisation's core
labour standards.

We focus on thnse areas where nur
operations have the biggest potential impact
on human rights. We manage human rights
risks in the supply chain by reinforcing our
requirements on labour rights and health

and safety and ensuring these are
communicated consistently through our
revised third-party contracts. We monitor
existing suppliers and screen new ones.

Our approach to tax

We understand our responsibility to pay
an appropriate amount of tax and we fully
support efforts to ensure companies are
transparent about how they manage their
tax affairs.

We pay a significant amount of tax in the UK,
where most of our global corporate functions
and significant manufacturing and R&D
facilities are located, and in other countries
around the world where we have a substantial
business and employment presence.

Over the past 16 years, we have paid
£28.9 billion in corporation tax globally.
Of this, £2.8 billion, nearly 10% of the
global total, was paid in the UK. Read
more on page 178.

We do not engage in artificial tax
amrangements — thase without business
or commercial substance. At the same
time, we have a responsibility to our
shareholders to be financially efficient
and deliver a sustainable tax rate.

Further details on our approach to tax and
our tax disclosures can be found on page $5.

Putting patients’ interests first

7
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We continue to lead the industry in modemising
the way we market and sell our medicines.

Since January 2016, we stopped paying
healthcare professionals (HCPs) to speak

to other prescribers about our medicines

and vaccines. Instead, we have strengthened
our online resources to supplement information

locf,

provided by our rce.

We have also significantly expanded our
global team of in-house medical experts to
provide information about our medicines and
vaccines to HCPs.in ways that are convenient
to them. We now have arcund 400 medical
experts dedicated exclusively to supporting
HCPs, and a further 800 who also engage
with them as part of their roles.

Where we do pay HCPs — for activities such
as clinical or market research that help us
develop medicines and vaccines to meet
patients’ needs - we are transparent about
these transactions. We now disclose all
payments made to HCPs in 32 markets
across Europe (including Russia and Ukraine),
Australia, Japan and the US.

1

We have also changed the way GSK
sales teams are compensated. Since
January 2015, our pharmaceutical medical
sales representativas are no longer
compensated for individual sales targets.
Instead they are rewarded on their
technical skills, scientific knowledge,
quality of service, and broader business
performance.

Our new approach is being well received:
following medicat product information
sessions with GSK experts in over 60
countries, 9266 of more than 42,000
HCPs agreed the interaction helped them
make a mare informed decision, benefiting
patient care. Around 79% rated their.
experience as superior to similar
interactions with other pharmaceutical
companies. We have also seen an
improvement in customer trust. Ina
survey of US HCPs in 2016, GSK ranked
first for customer trust for the fourth year
in a row, and for customer value for the

third time. . . U
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Our people

We aim to create a safe
and inclusive environment
where everyone can reach
their full potential.

Qur approach

We need a talented and motivated workforce
to deliver against our strategy. To achieve
this, we strive to attract the best people

and to create an environment that smpowers
and inspires. Our people strategy focuses
on talent, leadership, performance and
engagement.

Talent and leadership

Qur talent and leadership programmes
focus on developing our employses at all
levels with the skills they need to advance
their careers.

In 2016, we welcomed 465 graduates

and postgraduates onto our Future Leaders
and Esprit programmes, including 164
fram emerging markets. GSK was voted
top graduate employer for Research and
Development in The Times Top 100
Graduate Employers 2016 (for the 19th
successive year) and ranked 13th overall.

We put particular emphasis on leadership
development. In 2016, we trained around
3,500 people to support their promotian to
first and second line leader roles; continued
to evolve our global leadership development
programmes; and have found that managers
who complete them show significant
improvement in effectiveness based on
feedback from their teams.

We also trained 245 leaders as coaches,
with our strategic use of coaching being
recognised as world-class by the
[nternational Coach Federation's Prism
Award.

Performance and engagement

Our global performance system centres
on a set of clear expectations that
emphasises not just the results people
achieve, but the way they achieve them
in fine with our values.

Listening to our people is essential for
employee engagement. Responding even
more so. During the year, we responded to
the insights from our 2015 global employee
survey, which 78% of employees completed.
Membars of our CET hosted five ‘listening
sessions’ with over 200 senior leaders.

They then conducted discussions on the
topics raised, including how we evaluate
performance.

Future Leaders programme

Picture removed to
meet Companies
House requirements

graduates joined our Future Leaders
programme in 2016

Building the next generation of leaders.

Our Future Leaders programme is delivering
the fresh ideas and lalent needed to continue
driving our success across key markets.

It provides graduates with a breadth of
potential career pathways — from R&D and
finance, to marketing and procurement —
with the option to move between functions
during several job rotations.

Such job rotations make up 70%b of the
programme, with feedback, mentoring and
coaching constituting a further. 20%, and
formal training the remainder. This balance
enables graduales to develop the specific
skills to be effective in their individual role
and business, while getting a broad grasp
of the company and learning GSK's
distinctive global leadership approach.

The programme is rated highly by
participants. A recent survey of alumni
from the Future Leaders programme found
that 89% of respondents felt the rotations
helped them to develop relevant skills and
experience for their carger at GSK.

The benefits to the business are also clear.
The number and geographical spread of
the intake means we have home-grown
leaders rooted in all our markets, including
emerging countries. In 2016, we had 441
new recruits representing 59 nationalities
from 58 countries - up from 130 from
eight nations in 2012,
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Women in management (%)

2004 2015 2016
SVPNP 29 29 30
Director 40 40 42
Manager 45 35 46 -
Total 42 42 143
Employees by gender (number)

Mala < v
Board 2] 4
Management® 9537 7337 -
Total 56,108 43,196 -

.M

W: senior as defined in the

Companiss Acl 2006 (Slr:regic Report ang Directors'

Repart) Regutations 2013 which includes persons
reaponsidle lor planning, directing or conirolling the

witios o) tha pany, 0f 8 gically gign?
, of tha company, other than tha Board, &

ly significant pan
ding directars

or undertakings included in the consolid:

73

GSK emplovees from 25 countries
spent up to six months with 31 non-profit
organisations to share their skills,

To monitor progress, we have also

introduced ‘pulse’ surveys to evaluate
the impact of engagement efforts at more
regular intervals than our annual survey.

Promoting inclusion and diversity

The diverse perspectives and experiences
of our global workforce strengthen our
business and help us meet the needs

of our patients and consumers.

The percentage of women in management
rose to 43% in 2016, and women
represented 15% of our Corporate Executive
Team (CET) and 31% of our Board (this
compares with an average of 26% among
FTSE100 boards, according to the Cranfield
Board report).

In 2016, more than 200 women began
our Accelerating Difference programme,
which helps female leaders progress to
senior roles. The programme was
recognised as best practice in Cranfield
University's The Female FTSE Board
Report 2016.

We are a global organisation and we want
our leaders to represent the varied markets
we serve. Five nationalilies are currently
represented on the CET and the Board.

As part of our efforts to promote an
environment where everyone feels included,
in 2016, we established a Lesbian, Gay,
Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) Council.

_ The Council is chaired by our President of

Pharmaceuticals R&D, endorsed by the CET,
and aims to engage and educate employees
on LGBT issues. We achieved a 100%
score in the Human Rights Campaign
Foundation’s Corporate Equality Index
which rates workplaces on LGBT equality

in the US.

Making GSK a more accessible place to
work for people with disabilities is a priority
for us. We are working with the Global
Disability Council to develop an online
accessibility portal which allows employees
to find information on support or adjustments
to their working environments. Weé are
committed to removing barriers, increasing
understanding and ensuring that those with
disabilities have the same Opportunities.

Employee volunteering

In 2016, 73 GSK employees from

25 countries contributed £3.4 million
worth of skilled services to 31 non-profit
partners in 27 countries, through our
PULSE Volunteer Partnership. They
worked on assignments aligned to
worldwide healthcare challenges and
the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

Health and wellbeing

As a healthcare company we think hard
about how we can best support not only

the health of our patients and consumers

but also our employees. Through our global
energy and resilience training programmes
and our innovative and ambitious Partnership
for Prevention programme (P4P), we have
created strong foundations.

Through P4P we now offer almosi

100,000 employees and family members

in 75 countries unprecedented access

to preventive healthcare services, such

as immunisations and cancer screening,
atlittle or no extra cost. In 2016 we extended
these services to India, Russia and the
Commonwealth of Independent States,
keeping us on track to achieve our goal

ol glubil coverage by 2018.

Protecting our people

We want to prevent incidents before

they occur; however, as a global business
operating in more than 150 markets,
injuries do occur.

In 20186, we had a reportable injury and
illness rate of 0.26 per 100,000 hours
workad which, according to Pharmaceutical
Safety Group (PSG) data, is comparable

to other leading companies in our sector.
Sadly, we had one fatality in 2016, a sales
representative died as a result of a road
tratfic incident in India. To try to prevent
road incidents we have driver safety
programmes in India, Indonesia and Vietnam,
with 4,000 people taking part in 2016.
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Our planet

We aim to reduce our
environmental impacts
across our value chain
while extending access
to our products.

Our approach

We aim to reduce our environmental impacts
across our value chain while extending
access to our products, by minimising

our carbon footprint, water use and

* operational waste.

Carbon -

In 20186, our operational emissions (Scope

1 and 2) totalled 1.6 million tonnes of CO,e;
this is broadly the same as the previous year
and represents an 18% decrease against
our 2010 baseline. We reduced our
emissions through a continued focus on
energy efliciency, renewable energy and
investment in sustainable buildings.

in 2016, we revised our calculation method
for our Scope 3 emissions with the current
GHG protocol methodology which now
includes the impact of purchased services,
capital investments, fuel and energy related
activities, logistics upstream in the supply
chain, and all business travel and commuting.
Based on this latest methodology, we
increased our 2010 baseline figure to

18.7 million tonnes of CO,e from 15 million
tonnes of CO,e.

In 2015°, our overall carbon footprint
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) increased from

17.8 million tonnes CO,e in 2014 to
20.3 million tonnes of CO,e due to the
Novartis integration. This represents an
8.5% increase to our overall foolprint
versus our 2010 baseline. Excluding
Novartis, our feotprint has remained

flat from 2010-2015 despite the volume
of medicines, vaccines and consumer
healthcare products shipped from our
factories having increased by approximately
40% over the same period.

Our supply chain represents the largest
part of our value chain footprint (51%)
followed by the use of our products (30%).
Our own operations, logistics and end of
life disposal make up the remaining 19%.

As our largest value chain impact, we focus
on helping our suppliers make environmental
improvements. For example, 188 suppliers
(covering £1 billion of our spend on direct
raw materials) disclosg information through
Ecodesk, an online platform to monitor and
promote environmental improvements in
aur supply chain. In addition, more than
350 suppliers use our online sustainability
collaboration platform, the GSK Supplier
Exchange, to share best practice.

Certain products have a disproportionate
effect on our value chain emissions,
particularly our Ventolin propellant-based
inhalers, which emit greenhouse gases
during use. We continue to research
solutions to this issue, including changing
the way we manufacture, to reduce the
amount of prapellant used, while maintaining
efficacy for patients.

Footnote

a  Our moxt recently avaitable Scope 3 dala is
from 2015. We will publish 2018 data onine
inlate 2012,

Carbon emissions plus intensity ratios (as per regulations)

Yonnes COze* 2013 2014 205 2016
Scope 1 emissions 1,040,028 851,113 885155 . 893418
Scope 2 emissions 768,149 244,973 730,168 ..°. ..716,448
: Data available
Scope 3 emissions 16,630,521 16093060 18,690,183 May 2017
Intensity retios . 2013 2014 200 . Ta018,
Scope 1 and 2 emissions/sales revenue H . S
(tonnes CO,e/Em) 69.0 69.4 675 . &7
Scope 1 and 2/FTE ; )
(tonnes CO,e/FTE) 18.4 16.3 16.0 16.2

a Carbon emissions are calculated accarding to the Greenhousa Gas Protocol: A Comparate Accounting and Reporting

Standard (revised edition).
b Data inchudas former Novastis sites' emissicns and head
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~70%

of our sites have successfully
achieved zero waste to landfill by
re-purposing materials that would
otherwise go to waste, or by using
waste-to-energy services.

Water

Our new Water Stewardship Policy
reinforces our commitment to reduce
GSK's water impact across the value chain.
We continue to look for ways to use water
more efficiently and reduce consumption.
We used 14.5 million m® of water across
our operations in 2016, a 23% reduction
on 2010 and 3% less than 2015.

The amount we use is just one aspect of
our overall water impact across our value
chain, which includes factors such as local
water scarcity and quality, and health, social,
regulatory and reputational risks.

We focus our efforts on a small number

of high-impact GSK sites in water-scarce
regions, and on the agricultural supply chain
for our Horlicks products, which makes up
the biggest portion of our total value chain
water footprint.

Aninnovative project in Rajasthan, an arid
region of India, is now replenishing the water
source for the village of Sawaipura with
around a quarter of the amount of water that

. our three Horlicks factories located across

India use in their operations. Together with
Alternative Development Initiatives, an Indian
NGO, we are also supporting communities
around the Horlicks supply chain to improve
water management and agricultural yields.

Waste

We aim to reduce our operational waste

by 50% by 2020, compared with 2010.

in 2016, our operations produced 137
thousand tonnes of waste ~ 4% less than
the previous year and 23% below our 2010
baseline. The majority (73%) was recycled
or incinerated to recaver energy, with only
5% sent to landfill. Around 70% of our sites
have now achieved zero waste to landfill

by repurposing materials that would
atherwise go to waste, ar by using
waste-to-energy services.

GSK recognised by COP as leaders in climate change and water

Picture removed to
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GSK included in-prestigious CDP ‘A list’ for climate and water.

Our efforts to reduce carbon emissions

were acknowledged with inclusien in the
CDP ‘Ciimate A List'. COP assessed
companies globally Irom across ten industry
sectors, we were one of only 183 companies
(9% of applicants) and seven healthcare
comgpanies to be A-listed.

Ouwr high rating reflects the significant steps
we have taken to help meet our goal of
becoming carbon neutral by 2050, while
continuing to grow our business and meet
the healthcare needs of more people.

This has included reducing emissions
during the manufacture of inhalers and
launching our Complete the Cycle
scheme, the first of its kind to work with
pharmacists and patients to recover and
recycle inhalers. Such steps have helped
us to reduce our operational emissions
by 18% since 2010.

We were also ane of only 24 (3% of
applicants) companies, and the only
healthcare company to be included in

the Water A List. This success reflects
our achievements in reducing water usage
by 23% since 2010 and our commitment
1o water stewardship.
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We continued to make
progress in delivering
against our strategy as
well as the financial goals
we have set out in our
financial architecture.

~

Viability statement

Our viability statement sets out our
assessment of the prospects of the
Greoup over the naxt thres years and ie
presented an page 56.

Footnote
aWameaMmdasﬁamedmﬂmS.m
tonaponmepeﬂmmawedwhmas

bed on page 57, incduding core resulls, free
cashfbwandCERandpo—lmgmwlhmles
Non+FRS maasures may be considered i addition
lo.b\nnotasambsmmn(uumpamnq

\ pr din dance with IFRS.

In 2016, we continued to make progress
in delivering against our strategy as well
as the financial goals we have set outin
our financial architecture. All three of our
businesses contributed to the delivery of
more broadly-based revenue growth. Our
continued focus on the execution of our
integration and restructuring programmes
accelerated the delivery of the targeted
benefits, allowing us to improve margins
and operating leverage, while still making
substantial investments behind new
products, and supply chain improvements,
as well as progressing the R&D pipeline.

We have also maintained our focus on
financial efficiency and in the allocation of
our capital, allowing us to deliver core EPS
growth® ahead of sales growth and at the
top end of our financial guidance, as well
as a significant improvement in our cash
generatian and a dividend of BO pence
per share,

Financial architecture

Our financial architecture is designed to
support the consistent execution of our
strategy and to enhance the retums we
deliver to sharehclders. it is focused on
delivering mure sustainable sales growth
across the company, improving operating
leverage, or profitability, and enhancing our
financial efficiency. This is with the objective
of driving growth in EPS ahead of our sales
performance and then converting more

of those earnings into cash that can be
used to invest in the business or returned
to shareholders, wherever we see the

most attractive returns.

This clear set of priorities ensures
consistency in how capital is allocated
across and between the different businesses
within GSK, with relative returns from each
business benchmarked to relevant external
comparatives using a Cash Flow Return on
Investment (CFROI) based framework of
metrics. Specific capital investments are
also benchmarked in a similar way.

Reporting framework’

In addition to total or reporied results,
prepared under IFRS, the Annual Report
makes reference to a number of core
performance measures which are used

by management for planning and reporting
purposes. These are non-IFRS measures
adjusted for a number of items management
believe it is useful to separate so that the
key trends driving the performance of the
business can be more clearly identified by
shareholders. Core results may, however,
vary significantly from total results as some
of the adjuslments may be material, aswas
the case in 2016.

The items adjusted for bétween total and
core results are consistent each year but

. those that were most significant in 2016

include re-measurement charges related
to the liabilities for future contingent
consideration, most significantly the
consideration due to Shionogi related

to its former interest in dolutegravir, and
the value of future put options as well as
major restructuring charges.

IFRS requires us to provide for contingent
consideration liabilities related to previous
business acquisitions on the basis of the
estimated present value of any potential
future payments. These estimates could have
a broad range of outcomes. The effect of the
IFRS accounting treatment is that GSK
recognises these fair value liabilities in the
balance sheet, with any charges for re-
measurement of them reflected immediately
in other operating income. GSK will make
cash payments in the future to discharge
these liabilities but as the liabilities were
established on acquisition or through
subsequent re-measurement charges to

the income statement, the payments will

not be charged to future eamings.

Sales growth

All three of our businesses delivered

growth in line with or above the medium-
term growth expectations we laid out for
them at our Capital Markets Day in 2015.
Pharmaceuticals sales were up 14% at
actual rates and 3% CER (4% pro-forma
CER) with growth from new producls more
than offsetting the dedline in Seretide/Advair
sales. In addition to strong growth in HIV,
the respiratory portiolio retumed to growth in
2016, up 13% at actual rates and 2% CER.

Vaccines sales were up 26% at actual rates
and 14% CER (12% pro-forma CER), driven
by strong execution across the business,
particularly around the flu and meningitis
franchises, and Bexsero in particular.

Consumer Healthcare delivered a strong
performance in the first full year of the joint
venture with sales up 199b at actual rates
and 9% CER (5% pro-forma CER) as
growth from the seven power brands more
than offset some tough comparators and
headwinds in intemational markets.

Operating leverage

The total operating margin was 9.3%

of sales compared with 43.1% in 2015,

the movement primarily reflecting the
combination of higher remeasurement
charges for the Consumer Healthcare put
option and the ViV Healthcare contingent -
consideration liability in 2016, and the
benefit to 2015 of the profit on the disposal
of the Oncology business in that year.
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Our core operating margin improved,

driven by increased leverage in all three
businesses. The pro-forma core margin® was
up 460 basis points in total, with 200 points
coming from currency, and 260 points from
operational improvements. This was driven
by a combinatian of leverage from stronger
growth in the top line, and £1.4 billion
(including £200 million of currency benefits)
of additional integration and restructuring
benefits, as well as continued tight cost
control that atlowed us to deliver the margin
impravements while continuing to make
important investments in all three businesses.

Accelera'ting the delivery of the targeted
benefits of the integration and restructuring
programme has been a key objective and we
are pleased with the progress made this year
through a sustained focus across the Group
on executing this programme. By the end of
2016 we had delivered annual benefits of
£2.8 biltion, (excluding £200 million of
currency bensfits), almost the full target of
the programme a year earlier than originally
planned. We are confident in delivering the
remaining £200 miltion during 2017 to bring
the total benefits delivered to £3 billion of
annual savings on a constant currency basis.

Financial efficiency

We continue to focus on improving our
financial efficiency and overall funding

costs while protecting our credit profile

and, in particular, our short-term target cradit
ratings. Net finance costs were up slightly,
mainly due to cumrency.

Eamings per share

Total EPS was 18.8p (2015 — 174.3p). The
decline primarily reflected the comparison
with the £0.2 billion profit from the sale of
our marketed Oncalogy assets to Novartis in
2015, but also the impact in 2016 of charges
arising from increases in the valuations of the
fiabilities for contingent consideration and
the put options associated with increases

in the sterling value of the Group's HIV and
Consumer Healthcare businesses.

The impact on the decline in total EPS was
partly offset by the benefit of the improved
operaling performance and reduced
restructuring charges in the year.

Core EPS of 102.4p* was up 35% at actual
exchange rates and up 12% at constant
exchange rates.

Contingent consideration

At the end of 2016, GSK had ligbilities for
contingent consideration payments of £6.9
biltion, of which £5.3 billion related to the
estimated present value of future payments

to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare. The payments
to Shionogi are calculated each quarter
based on a high-teens percentage of the
revenues of the relevant products, principally
dolutegravir, with the discounted fair value of
the total future payments reflecting the current
expectations ol total future sales of those
products. Further details are provided in

Note 39, ‘Contingent consideration liabilities’,

Free cash flow

Net cash inflow from operating activities
was £6.5 billian and free cash flow for

the Group was £3.1 billion®, significantly
improved on the small autflow we saw

in 2015. This was driven by our improved
operating performance, including continued
tight contro! of capital expenditure and
restructuring expenditure, as well as the
benefit of currency tail winds. We continue
to make progress towards our objective of
rebuilding the cash generating capacity

of the Group post the completion of the
restructuring and integration programme.

Net debt :

Net debt at the end of 2016 was £13.8
billion, £3.1 billion higher than the net debt at
the end of 2015. Currency was a significant
factor with adverse translation effects driving
£2.2 billion of the increase. The remaining
increase of £0.9 billion reflected the impact
of dividends paid during the year of £4.9
billien, including the special dividend of £1.0
billion declared in 2015, being only partly
offset by disposal proceeds of approximately
£1.0 billion and free cash flow of £3.1 billien.

2017 guidance

We expect continued progress in 2017, with
all three businesses expected to continue to
benetit from recent new product launches and
from the investments we made during 2016.

The expectation for 2017 core EPS growth is
dependent on a number of factors including,
in particular, uncertainties relating to the
timing and extent of potential generic
competition to Advair in the US.

In the event that no generic version of Advasr
is introduced to the US market in 2017, the
Group expects 2017 core EPS growth of
6-7% at CER®. This is based on an expected
decline in 2017 in US Advair sales of
15-20%.

In the event of a mid-year introduction of a
substitutable generic competitor to Advair
in the US, the Group expects full-year 2017
US Advair sales of around £1 bilfion at CER
(US$1.36/£1), with core EPS flat to a slight
decline in percentage terms at CER®.

We are not able to give guidance for total
results as we cannot reliably forecast certain
material elements of our total results such

as the future fair value movements on
cantingent consideration and put options.

Retumns to shareholders

In 2016, we maintained our ordinary dividend
at BOp per share, the same level as we paid in -
2015. This is in line with the commitment we
made to shareholders at the time we closed
the Novartis transaction in early 2015 to
maintain the dividend as we completed the
integration and reshaping of the Group,

despite the short-term pressures in free cash
flow that the restructuring costs would create.

A fuller review of the financial results is set
out on pages 55 to 78.

iy

Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer
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Approach to tax

We understand our
responsibility to pay an
appropriate amount of tax
while being financially
efficient and delivering

a sustainable tax rate.

Footnote .

8 We use a number of adjusted, non{FRS, measures
1o repcit the pesformance of our busness, as
described on page 57, inchuding care results, fres
cash flow and CER and pro-forma growth rates.
Non{FRS measures may be considered o addition
to, but nal as a substituts for or superior to,
ind C din d with IFRS.

P

! We understand our responsibility to pay

: an appropriate amount of tax, and fully

: support efforts to ensure companies are

. transparent about how their tax affairs are
: managed. Tax is an important element of

i the economic contribution we bring to the
: countries in which we operate. We do not
I engage in artificial tax arvangements —

i those without business or commercial

: substance. We do not seek to avoid tax by
: the use of 'tax havens' or transactions we

 would not fully disclose to a tax authority.

! Atthe same time, we have a responsibility
i to our shareholders to be financially
- 1 efficient and deliver a sustainable tax
: rate. As part of this approach, we look
: to align our investment strategies to
. those countries where we already have
¢ substantial economic activity, and where
¢ government policies promote tax regimes
: which are attractive to business
* investment, transparent in their intent
i and available to all relevant tax payers
: such as the UK Patent Box.

I In 20186, the Group corporate tax charge

. was £877 million (2015 — £2,154 million)
: on profits of £1,939 million (2015 —

: £10,526 million) representing an effective
! tax rate of 45.296 (2015 — 20.5%). The

: increase in the total tax rate primarily

i reflected higher non-deductible

¢ remeasurement charges related to the put
: option liabilities and lower credits from the
! re-assessment of prior years' tax charges.
! We made cash tax payments of £1,609

i million in the year (2015 — £2,062 million).

i In addition to the taxes we pay on our
profits, we pay duties, levies, iransactional
: and employment taxes.

i The ongaing alignment of our Group

: structure to reflect our mix of operations

: and geographies has helped us maintain

i an efficient effective tax rate. Our core tax
i rate for 2016 was 21.29%* (2015 — 19.5%).
: The core tax rate for 2017 is expected to

: bein the range of 21-229¢*, Given the

: Group's momentum, changing earnings

: mix and the challenging and uncertain

i tax environment, (due to the factors

: described below) some moderate upward
. pressure on the rate is expected over the
: next few years.

¢ Tax risk is managed by a set of policies
: and procedures to seek to ensure

: consistency and compliance with tax

: legislation. Our Audit & Risk Committee
i and the Board are responsible for

: approving our tax policies and risk .

! management.

We seek to maintain open, positive
relationships with govemments and tax
authorities worldwide and we welcome
constructive debate on taxation policy.

There continued to be a significant
focus on tax reform during 2016,
including the OECD’s Base Erosion
and Profit Shitting ( BEPS') project and
European Commission initiatives such
as the increased use of fiscal state aid
investigations. The OECD BEPS reports

- clarify the important principle that tax

should be paid on profits throughout the
supply chain, where the profit making
activity takes place.

GSK supports this approach, in particular

_the implementation of the OECD's

recommendations on ‘Country by Country
Reporting', including the exchange of this
data between tax authorities, as being key
to its success. This data, validated against
existing information held on taxpayers, will
suppaort their ability to ensure multinational
groups pay the right amount of tax.

While the scope and timefine for US

tax reform remain uncantain 3t gresent,
GSK would be supportive of any steps to
simplify the US tax code and to provide a
clear roadmap to make the US tax system
more efficient and competitive.

The tax implications of Brexit are
dependent on the outcome of negotiations
between the UK and EU, and are therefore
currently unknown. However, we continue
to work closely with the ABPl and BlA to
analyse implications for the industry in
order to highlight key focus areas for

the government as part of its Brexit
negotiations. The direct tax implications
are expected to be limited for GSK while
the indirect tax implications may be mare
significant, including potential customs
duty costs and additional transaction

or administrative costs associated with
managing import and export obligations
on the movement of goods between the
UK and EU.

Our approach to tax is set out in detail
within the Public Policy positions section
of our website. Further details about our
corporate tax charges for the year are set
out an page 178.
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Viability statement .

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the 2014 revision-of the

Code, GSK has assessed the prospects of the Company over a
longer period than the 12 months required by the ‘Going Concern’
provision. The Directors confirm that they have a reasonable
expectation that GSK will continue to operate and meets its liabilities,
as they fall due, over the next three years. The Directors’ assessment
has been made with refesence to GSK's current pasition and
prospecis, our strategy, the Board's risk appetite and GSK's
principal risks and how these are managed, as detailed on pages

18 and 18 in the Strategic report.

The Board reviews our intemal controls and risk management
policies and approves our governance structure and code of
conduct. It also appraises and approves major financing, investment
and licensing decisions, and evaluates and monitors the performance
and prospects of GSK as a whale. The focus is largely on improving
our long-term financial performance through simplifying the aperating
model, growing a diversified global business, and deliverng more
products of value.

The Board reviews GSK's strategy and makes significant capital
investment decisions over a long term time horizon, based on a
multi-year assessment of return on capital, the performance of
business units, and the market opportunity in the pharmaceutical,
vaccines and consumer sectors. This approach is aligned to GSK's
mode! of achieving balanced growth by investing in high quality,
innovative products for patients, consumers and heslthcare
providers. Hawever, since many internal and external parameters
become increasingly unpredictable over longer time horizons, GSK
focuses its detailed, bottom-up Plan on a three year cycle. The Plan
is reviewed at least annually by the Directors, who approve business
forecasts showing expected financial impact, The Direclors believe
that a three year assessment periad for the Viability statement is
mos) appropriale as it aligns with the Company's well established
business planning processes that balance the long term nature of
investments in the pharmaceutical, vaccines and consumer sectors
with an assessment of the period over which analysis of near term
business performance is realistically visible.

The Plan has been stress tested in a series of robust operational
and principal risk downside scenarios as part of the Board's review
on risk. The downside scenarios consider GSK's cash flows,
sustainability of dividends, funding strategy, insurance provision and
recovery as well as other key financial ratios over the period. These
metrics have been subject to sensitivity analyses, which involve
flexing a number of the main assumptions underlying the forecasts
both individually and in combination, along with mitigating actions
that could realistically be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying risk.

The following hypothetical downside scenarios have been evaluated:

Scenario 1: Business performance risks. These include key
performance risks, including lower sales from new products; the
possible impact of a generic alternative to Seretide/Advair in the US;
greater adverse impact from generic campetition to other GSK
products; as well as possible supply and manufacturing challenges.

Scenario 2: External and macroeconomic risks. This scenario reflects
incremental risks to the business driven by outside factors, such as
more intense competition, increased pricing pressure

in both the US and Europe as well as the potential impact of material
negative changes in the macro-economic and healthcare
environment.

Scenario 3: Principal risks. This scenario includes a severe
assessment of the potential loss impaci from the Principal Risks

set outon pages 253 to 262 related to patient safety, product
quality, supply chain continuity as well as anti-bribery and corruption,
all of which could fundamentally threaten our operations. These risks
are managed through mitigating activities described on pages 253
to 262.

Scenario 4: Put option exercise. This scenario evaluates the
additional funding requirements assuming the easliest poteatial
exercise of the outstanding put options held by our partners in the
HIV and consumer businesses.

The three year review also makes certain assumptions about the
normal level of capita) recycling likely to occur and considess whether
additional financing facilities will be required and the respective level
of funding flexibility and headroom.

The results of this stress testing show that certain combinations of
these hypothetical scenarios could increase funding demands on
GSK and require mitigating changes to the Group’s funding strategy.
However, in light of the liquidity available to the Group and based on
this analysis, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that, even
under these most severe stress tests, the Company will be able to
continue in aperation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
three year period of assessment.
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Reporting tramework

Presentation of Group results

Our Group financial review discusses the operating and financial
performance of the Group, cash flows and our financial position and
resources. We compare the results for each year primarily with the
results of the preceding year.

Total results

Total reported results represent the Group's overal! perlormance
However, these resuits can contain material unusual or non-
operational items that may obscure the key trends and factors
determining the Group's operational performance. As a result,
we also report core resulis, which is a non-IFRS measure.

Core results

Core results exclude the following items from total results:
amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (excluding
computer software) and goodwill; major restructunng costs,
including those costs following material acquisitions; legal charges
(net of insurance recoveries) and expenses on the settlement

of litigation and government investigations; transaction-related
accounting adjustments for significant acquisitions, and other
items, including disposals of associates, products and businesses,
and other operating income other than royalty income, together
with the tax effects of afl of these items.

These items are excluded from core results either because their
impact can be significant or because their exclusion improves
comparabilities and consistency of reporting with the majority
of our peer companies. This definition of core results aligns the
Group’s results better with the majority of our peer campanies
and how they report eamings.

Core results reporting is utilised as one of the bases for internal
performance reporting alongside total results, cash flow generation
and a number of other metrics. Core results are presented and
discussed in this Group financial review as we believe that core
results are more representative of the performance of the Group's
operations and allow the key trends and factors driving that
performance to be more easily and cleary identified by shareholders.
For the same reasons, the results of our four segments:
Phamnaceuticals, Phanmaceuticals R&D, Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare are reported and measured on the same basis.

Reconciliations between total and core results, including detailed
breakdowns of the key non-core items, are set out on page 66, and
are provided to shareholders to ensure full visibility and Iransparency
as they assess the Group's performance.

We also use a number of other adjusted, non-IFRS, measuras

to report the performance of our business. These measures are

used by management for planning and reporting purposes and in
discussions with and presentations to investment analysts and rating
agencies and may not be directly comparable with similarly described
measures used by other companies. Non-IFRS measures may be
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to,
information presented in accordance with IFRS.

Pro-forma growth rates
The Novartis transaction completed on 2 March 2015 and so GSK’s
reported results include the results of the former Novartis Vaccines
and Consumer Healthcare businesses and exclude the results of the
former GSK Oncology business, both from 2 March 2015. For the
.Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare segments, pro-forma growth
rates are calculated comparing reported turnover and core operating
profits for the year ended December 2016 with the tumover and
operating profit for the year ended December 2015 adjusted to
include the two months of sales of the former. Novaniis Vaccines
and Consumer Healthcare products, respectively.

For the Pharmaceuticals segment, the tumnaver and operaling profit
for the year ended December 2015 is adjusted to exclude the two
months of sales of the former GSK Oncology business for January
and February 2015.

Reconciliations between the reported growth rates and pro-forma
growth rates, which are non-IFRS measures, are set out on page 70.

Contingent consideration

GSK has recognised a significant liability for contingent consideration
(£5,896 million at 31 December 2018 on a fair value discounted basis)
of which £5,304 million represented the estimated present value

of future amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare,
discounted at 8.5%. The payments to Shionogi are calculated

based on the sales performance over the life of the relevant products,
principally dolutegravir, as described on page 58. The effect of the
IFRS accounting treatment is that GSK recognises these fair value
liabilities in the balance sheet, with remeasurement charges reflected
immediately in other operating income. These charges are adjusted
from total results to present core results. GSK will make cash
payments in the future to discharge this liability which will not be
recorded in the profit and loss account and future earnings.

Changes to segment reporting

The completion of the Novartis transaction on 2 March 2015
changed the balance of the Group and GSK has changed its
segment reporting to reflect this. With effect from 1 January 2016,
GSK has reported results under four segments: Pharmaceuticals,
which includes HiV, Pharmaceuticals R&D, Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare. In addition, a number of minor product reclassifications
between the segments have been made. Comparative information
has been restated accordingly.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow, which is a non-IFRS measure, is the net cash
inflow from operating activities less capital expenditure, interest and
dividends paid to non-controlling interests plus proceeds from the
sale of property, plant and equipment and dividends received from
joini ventures, associated undertakings and equity investments. It is
used by management for planning and reporting purposes and in
discussions with and presentations to investment analysts and rating
agencies. Free cash flow growth is calculated on a reported basis.
A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operations to free cash flow
is presented on page 71.

Adjusted free cash flow

Adjusted free cash flow, which s a non-IFRS measure, excludes
payments made to settle legal disputes. Such payments could
fluctuate significantly between reporting periods and removing
them allows the trends in free cash flow to be more easily identified
by shareholders. A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operations
to adjusted free cash flow is presented on page 71.

Working capital conversion cycle

The warking capital conversion cycle is calculated as the number

of days sales outstanding plus days inventory outstanding, less days
purchases outstanding.

CER growth

tn arder to illustrate underlying performance, it is our practice to
discuss the results in terms of constant exchange rate (CER) growth.
This represents growth calculated as if the exchange rates used to
determina the results of overseas companies in Sterling had remained
unchanged from those used in the previous year. CER% represents
growth at constant exchange rates. £9 or AER% represents growth
at actual exchange rates.

All growth rates included in this Réport are at CER unless otherwise
stated.
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qin_um profit allocations

ViV Health is a subsidiary of the Group, 100% of
its oparating results {tumover, operating profit, profit after tax) are
included s:::: the Group income statement m:n then a portion
of the gs is to the nor interests owned
by the ather shareholders, in line with their respective equity
shareholdings (Pfizer 11.7% and Shionog) 109). Each of the
mruqm_au_u!m including GSK, is also entitled to preferential dividends

ined by the p 1ce of certain products that each
shareholder ibuted. As the relative p of these
products changes over lime, the proportion of the overall earnings
iV Healthcare aliocated to each shareholder will change.
in particular, the increasing sales of Tivicay and Tniumeq have a
favourable impact on the proportion of the preferential dividends
that is allocated to GSK. GSK was entitled to approximately 80%

Exit rights
Pfizer may request an IPO of ViV Healthcare at any time and if

completed within nine months, Pfizer could require GSK to acquire
its shareholding. Under the original agreements, GSK had the
uncaonditional right, sa long as it made no subsequent distribution
10 its sharehalders, to withhol consent to the exercise of the
Pfizer put options and, as a result, in accordance with IFRS, GSK
did not recognise a liability for the put option on its balance sheet.
In Q1 2016, GSK notified Pfizer that it had irrevocably given up
this right and accordingly recognised the liability for the put option
on the Group's balance sheet at an initial value of £1,070 million.
Consistent with this ravised treatment, at the end of Q1 2016
GSK alse recognised liabilities for the future preferential dividends

of the core eamings of ViV Healthcare for 2016. This does not
take account of the cash paymenis made 5 Shionogi by ViV
Imw:rnm& i:ﬁ: are not in

4 for the preferential dividends allocated to Pfizer
and wr.c:om_ are included within other operating income.

A lated

As part of the agreeament reached to acquire Shionagi's interest
in the former Shionogi-ViV Iwm__:nm_.m joint venture in wodw <=<

Imv:wnws agreed to vu< dditi to
on the perf of the p being developed
by _—6- joint venture, u::nﬁ&? n_o_EmuE.E The _.un.z_..v~ 3‘ this
and
m-ognm balance sheet at :_m date of acqu
W8 are d within other operating income.

Cash payments are made to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare each

d to become payable to Plizer and Shicnogi on the
Group's balance sheet.

- The closing balances of the liabilities related to Pfizer's shareholding

are as follows:

e tryrme]
2016 2018

. &m £m

Pluzer put option | ~
Pfizer preferential dividend T 23y -

Under the original agreements, Shionogi could also have requested
GSK to acquire its sharehalding in Healthcare in sixmonth
windows commencing in 2017, 2020 and 2022. GSK had the

onal right, so long as it made na subsequent distribution

to its shareholders, to withhold its cansent ta the exercise of the
Shionogi put option and, as a result, GSK did not recognise a liability
for :_m put option on its cmﬁ:na sheet. In Q1 2016, GSK notified .

quarter which reduce the balance sheet liability for the
consideration and as a result are not recorded in the income
statement. In uodm the tota! cash payments made lo Shiono
respect of the to £417 million,
The payments are calculated based on §m sales perfc of

gi that it had i fy given up this right and accordingly
.mocm:_mmn the liability for the _3: opticn on the Group’s balance
sheet at an initial value of £926 million. In Q4 2016, Shionogi
irrevocably n@.nmn to waive its put option and as a result GSK

the relevant products in the previous quarter and ma reflected in

the nmwr flow statement partly in operating cash flaws and partly

in of b within i activities. The tax relief

on these payments is reflected in the Group's non-core and total tax
charge. The part of mmn: payment -m_w._aw ta the original estimate of
the fair value of the on the
the Shionogi-ViiV T_mu_.znw-m E t veniure in 2012 of £659 mi

the Vis rep P g cash flows.
M in t payable to were
8s follows:
T20%) 2015

) & £m
Contingent consideration at beginning of the year 3409 1684
Additions + 154 -
Remeasurement through income statement 21 wu_ 1,874
Cash payments: operating cash flows Awm_u. (121)
Cash payments: purchases of businessea X ..amv. (39)
QOther moverments @ 10
Contingent considaration at end of the yaar 5304 3,409

The additions represented the recognition in 2016 of the preferential.
dividends payable to Shionogi.

de ised the liability tor this put option on the Group's balance
sheet n.En:« to equity. The value of the liability was £1,244 million
when it was de-recognised.

GSK also has a call option over Shionogi's sharaholding in ViV
Healthcare, which under the ariginal agreements was exercisable in
six month windows commencing in 2027, 2030 and 2032. GSK has
now imevocably agreed to waive the first two exercise windows, but
the last sixt month window in 2032 remains. As this call option is al
fair value, it has no value for accounting purposes.
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Group turnover for the year increased 179 at actual rates and 6%
CER to £27,888 million, with Pharmaceuticals up 3%, Vaccines

£279b 2014 [ nol up 14% and Consumer Healthcare up 9%, the growth in all three
. T 201 735 businesses still reflecting the impact of the Novartis transaction
li ' which completed on 2 March 2015. On a pro-forma basis, Group
2006 279 turnover was up 5%, with Pharmaceuticals up 4%, Vaccines up 12%
and Consumer Healthcare up 5%. Sales of New Pharmaceutical
AER growth CER grawth ;r;c‘!‘;\éasccr:':;;izoﬁr'oducts were £4,4563 million, a Sterling increase of
17% 60/0 Group turmover by geographic region
[Z016] 2015 Gromh  Growh
Group tumover $ em| £m £w__CER%
—e— us g 10197 8,222 24 10
[ 2016 m:f;"’) Growth  Growth Europe " | 2498] 6450 16 8
i £m £m £%  CER% Intemational 10,184] 9,251 10 1
Pharmaceuticals 16,104] 14,157 14 3 | 27889 23,923 17 6
Vaccines l 4592, 3,656 26 14 Group turnover outside of the US and Europe represented 37% of
Consumer Healthcare 7193, 6,038 19 9 total Group turnover in 2016 (2015 — 39%).
Segment turmover 27889 23,851 7 e Sales from new Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products
Corporate and other .
unallocated tumover - 72 r’a‘—q 2015 Growh  Growth
Group tumover | 27889 23,929 17 ) o gml ®m E% CERW
(4 ¥
\q Relvar/Breo Ellipta . szol 257 © >100 >100
Ancro Ellipts a0 79 100 >100
Amuily Ellipta 15 3 >100 >100
Incruse Ellipta "4 14 >100 >100
Nucala 102 1 >0 >100
CVMU PN
Epenzan/Tanzeum | 121 41 >100 >100
HIV .
’ Tivicay 953 568 62 45
Triumeq 1,735 730 >100 >100
Pharmaceuticals ] 38611 1713 >100 >100
Bexsero l 390] 118 >100  >100
Menveo 202 160 26 16
Vaccines } 592§ 276 >100 96
) 1 44531 1988 >100 >100

In 2015, we identified a series of New Phamaceutical and Vaccine
producits that were expected to deliver at feast £6 billion of revenues
per annum on a CER basis by 2020. Those products, plus current
clinical pipeline asset, Shingrix, are as set out above and, as a group
are defined as New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products. Sales of
the New Pharmaceutical Vaccine products are now expected to
reach £6 billion of revenues per annum on a CER basis up to two
years earlier (2018).

Sales of New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products were £4,453
milion and represented approximately 22% of Pharmaceuticals and
Vaccines turnover.
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Pharmaceuticals

Tumover (Sbn) Pharmaceuticals
2014 52 Pharmaceuticals furnover was £16,104 million, up 14% at actual
5 80/ l ) ] . rates and 3% CER, but adjusting for the disposal of the Oncology
o 2015 0] business to Novartis, up 4% pro-forma. HIV sales grew 37%. The -
of Group tumover L _J . Respiratory portfotio retumed to growth with sales up 23, continuing

2016 - the transition globally to newer products. Respiratory sales grew 7%
m * inthe US and 3% in International, but declined 10% in Europe. Sales
¢ of New Pharmaceutical products were £3,861 million, a Sterling
increase of £2,148 million, which more than offset the Sterling
14% 3% decline in Seretide/Advair sales of £196 million. Sales of Established
products declined 8%, with declines in all regions, but particularly
. international, reflecting the loss of exclusivity for Vaitrex in Canada,
Pharmaceuticals turnover the impact of market reforms and the continued reshaping of the
e 2015 business in China and the impact of biennial price revisions in Japan.
2016 (restolod) Growth Growh - The overall impact of pricing to net sales of Pharmaceuticals was
£m €m £ CER% around -1%.

Respiratory , 6510 574 3 2 US Pharmaceuticals turnover of £4,705 million declined 1% in
Cardiovascular, metabofic ! . 2016 on a reported basis and grew 1% on a pro-forma basis. The
and urology . 8&o 8s8 - av pro-forma performance reflected a 7% growth in the Respiratory
Immuno-inflammation i 340 263 29 15 portfolio, partly offset by the impact of generic competition to
Other pharmaceuticals - 2297 2445 (6) 4) Avodart, down 63% to £70 miiion, and Lovaza, down 59% to
Established products . 25841 2528 1 ) £43 million. Refenza sales were also down 91% to £7 million
HIV - 3556 2,322 53 37 follov»{ing a reallocation of government.fgnding. Sales of new
6,104 14,157 14 3 Respiratory products totalled £854 million and the growth of
these products exceeded the decline in Advair. Advair sales fell
13% to £1,828 million, representing a 7% volume decline and
a 8% neyative inpaut of price. Ventofin salca were up 23% to
£421 million, benefiting from competitor supply constraints early
in the year, while Flovent sales declined 11% to £378 million,
reflecting pricing pressures in the ICS market. Benlysta sales
increased 18% to £277 million with ongoing demand growth.

AER growth CER growth

‘ in Europe, Pharmaceuticals turnover declined 8% to £2,867 million
on a reported basis and 5% on a pro-forma basis. Respiratory sales
declined 10% to £1,383 million reflecting the ongoing transition to
the new Respiratory portfolio and generic competition to Seretide
which declined 2496 (16% valume decline and an 8% negative
impact of price) to £835 million. This was parlly offset by growth in
the new Respiratory praducts, which recorded sales of £225 million.
Established products sales were down 4% to £513 million.

International Pharmaceuticals sales of £4,976 million were down
5% on a reported basis and 4% on a pro-forma basis. Sales in
Emerging Markets declined 4% reported and 3% on a pro-forma
basis, impacted by the decline in the China business (down 12%
primarily as a result of the ongoing reshaping programme and
broader Healthcare reforms including price reductions) but also
by recent divestments in the International region, and the limitation
of trading in Venezuela. In Japan, Pharmaceutical sales were
down 5% on a reported basis and 5% pro-forma to £1,425 million,
impacted by biennial price revisions on older products as well as
supply interruptions to Avodart early in the year. Respiratory sales
in Japan grew 3% with strong growth of the new Respiratory
products, up 57% to £118 million, more than offsetting the
decline in Adoair sales.
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Respiratory .

Respiratory sales in 2016 increased 2% to £6,510 million, reflecting
the continuing transition of the Respiratory portfolio to newer
products. Growth in the new Respiratory products, which recorded
combined sales of £1,052 million, including Relvar/Breo Eliipta sales
of £620 million, more than offset the decline in Seretide/Advair.
Flixotide/Flovent sales decreased 8% to £637 million and Ventolin
sales grew 159 to £785 million.

In the US, Respiratory sales increased 79 to £3,306 million

(14% volume growth and a 7% negative impact of price). The growth
of new Respiratory praducts more than offset the 13% decline in
Advair (7% volume decline and a 6% negative impact af price).

The new Ellipta products recorded combined sales of £583 million,
including Breo Ellipta sales of £344 million, with Nucala, the
treatment for severe asthma, reporting sales of £71 million.
Established Respiratory assets included Ventolin, with sales up
23% to £421 million, and Flovent, which declined 11% to £378
million. Ventolin sales benefited from competitor supply constraints
early in the year, while Flovent continued to be impacted by ongoing
pricing pressures in the ICS market.

European Respiratory sales were down 10% to £1,383 million, with
Seretide sales down 24% to £835 million (16% volume decline and
an 8% negative impact of price), reflecting continued competition
from generics and the transition of the Respiratory portfotio to newer
products. The new Respiratory products recorded combined sales
of £225 million in 2016, including Relvar Ellipta sales of £140 million.

Respiratory sales in the International region increased 3% to

£1,821 million with Emerging Markets up 7% and Japan up 3%. In
Emerging Markets, sales of Seretide were down 3% at £476 million,
while Ventolin grew 13% to £219 million. In Japan, the growth in the
new Respiratory products offset the Adoair decline of 129.

Cardiovascutar, metabolic and urology

Sales in the category were down 119% to £860 million. The Avodart
franchise was down 14% to £635 million, primarily due to a 63%
decline in the US following the launch of generic compastition in Q4
2015. Sales of Eperzan/Tanzeum were £121 million, primarily in the
US. Prolia was divested at the end of 2015 and therefore no sales
were recorded in 2016, compared with £43 million in 2015.

Immuno-inflammation

Immuno-inflammation sales grew 15% to £340 million. Sales of
Benlysta were £306 million, up 199%, with sales in the US of
£277 million, up 18%.

Other pharmaceuticals

Sales in other therapy areas decreased 14% to £2,297 million.
Dermatology sales declined 12% to £393 million, adversely
affected by supply constraints, while Augmentin sales were flat
at £563 million. Sales of products for Rare diseases were flat
at £423 million, and included sales of Volibris, which were up
1% to £172 million.

Established products

Established products turnaver fell 8% to £2,541 million, with Valtrex
sales down 37% to £118 million driven by a decline in Canada, down
91% to £5 million, following the loss of exclusivity. Zeflix sales were
down 245 to £111 million and Lovaza sales in the US fell 59% to
£43 million.

HIV

HIV sales increased 37% to £3,556 miltion, with the US up 46%,
Europe up 29% and Intemational up 21%. The growth in all three
regions was driven by Triumeq and Tivicay.

Triumeq and Tivicay sales were £1,735 million and £953 million,
respectively. Epzicom/Kivera sales declined 27% to £568 millian,
and Selzentry sales declined 9% to £125 million. There were also
continued declines in the mature portfolio, mainly driven by generic
competition to both Combivir, down 38% to £23 miltion, and Lexiva,
down 26% to £51 million. ’
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Vaccines

Turnover (Ebn) .
16% ™
of Group tumaver 2013 l aj
AER growth CER growth
26% 14%
R 2015
2016 | (jastated)  Growth  Grawth
£m £m £% CER%
Rotanx 469 17?7 12 1
Synflorix S04 3e 32 19
FRuarixr, Aulaval 414 268 54 38
Bexsero 380 16 >100 >100
Menveo 202 160 26 16
Boostrix 470 358 31 18
Inlznvix, Pediafix 789 733 5 (6)
Hegpatitis 602 640 11 1
Prionx, Priofix Tetra, Vanirix 300 260 16 S
Cervarix i .8 88 {8) (14)
Other 381 336 1?7 6
{ 4592] 3656 26 14
I\ o/

Vaccines sales grew 26% at actual rates and 14% CER, but 12%
pro-forma to £4,592 million. Growth benefited from the strong
performance of Bexsero across all regions, higher demand for
Fluarix/FluLaval in the US and International and a tender award for
Menveo in International. Further growth was driven by Synflorix due
to market expansion in International and a tender award in Europe.
Booslrix sales benefited from higher demand in Europse and
International. Growth was partly offset by Infanvix/Pediarix due to
supply constraints in International, as well as unfavourable CDC
stockpile movements for a number of products across the portlolio.

In the US, sales grew by 13% and 12% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,599 million. Growth was driven by market and share growth for
Bexsero, Menveo and Boastnx, improved supply and higher demand
for Fluarix/FluLaval and competitor supply issues that benefited
Infanrix/Pediarix. This growth was parily offset by adverse stockpile
movemenis on Menveo and an unfavourable comparison with the
benefit to 2015 from CDC stockpile movements on Infanrix/FPediarix,
Boostrix and Rolarix.

In Europe, sales grew 18% and 16% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,423 million. Growth was driven primarily by Bexsero sales in
private market channels in several countries including Spain and
{taly, and in the UK following its inclusion in the NHS immunisation
programme. Boostrix sales benefited from higher demand and
competitor supply issues. Sales increased in Germany driven

by improved supply of Hepatitis vaccines and higher demand for
Encepur and Rabipur. Sales growth was also helped by a tender
award tor Synflorix in Paoland but Infanrix/Pedianx sales were
adversaly impacted, mainly in Germany, France and ftaly, by a
competitor's return to the market during the year. Growth was
also partly offset by the unfavourable comparison with 2015 when
Menveo sales in the UK benefited from a catch-up tender win.

In Internationa, salas grew 10% and 8% on a pro-forma basis to
£1,570 million. Growth was driven primarily by Synfiorix, due to
market expansion in Nigeria, higher demand in Africa and private
market demand in Asia. The growth in Menveo sales was driven by

a tender award in Argentina and Roatarix sales benefited from higher
demand in Brazil and Japan. Further growth in the region was driven
by Brazil due to strong demand for Bexsero, Menjugate, and Boostrix.
Fluarix/Flul aval sales grew due to higher uptake in Australia. Growth
in the region was partly offset by lower sales of /nfanrix/Pediarix, due
to supply constraints, and lower Mepatitis vaccines sales, due to
wholesaler destacking in China following the introduction of new
private market distribution regulations.
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Tumaver (Ebn)

26%

of Group turnover

2015 [ s.o]
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AER growth CER growth
19% 9%
2015
2016 (restated) Growth  Growth
. Em £m €%  CER%
Wellnass 3726] 2970 25 15
Oral health 2,223 | 1,875 19 8
Nutrition 674 684 Q1) )
Skin health '570 609 12 4
| 7193] 8,038 19 9
2015
2016} Gostated)  Growth  Growth
£m £m £9%  CER%
] us 1.761f 1,430 23 9
(¥ Europe F 2,191 1708 = 22 12
Intemational 3.241 ‘ 2,810 15 8

[

t 7193 6038 19 9)

The Consumer Healthcare business represents the Consumer
Healthcare Joint Venture with Novartis together with the GSK
Consumer Healthcare listed businesses in India and Nigenia,
which are excluded from the Joint Venture. Results do not include
the trading performance of the Nigeria beverages business in Q4
2016 following its sale on 30 September 2016.

Sales grew 18% at actual rates and 8% CER to £7,193 miillion,
benefiting significantly from the inclusion of sales of the former
Novartis products for the first time for the first two months of the
period. Pro-forma growth was 5% of which price contributed 2%,
and volume 3%. Strong perfarmances were delivered by the power
brands within the Oral health and Wellness categories and across all
regions. Sales from innovation within the last three years represented
approximately 13% of sales, with a particular contribution for
Flonase, which was switched to OTC in Q1 2015. Other notable
launches in 2016 included Sensodyne True White and Excedrin
Gekabs in the US.

US sales grew 9%, 5% pro-forma, to £1,761 million. Sensodyne
delivered double-digit growth, benefiting from the launch in 2015

of Repair and Protect and the launch of True White in the first quarter
of 2016, together with distribution gains for Pronamel and the newly
launched Pronamel Strong & Bright variant. Flonase OTC delivered
high single-digit growth, with a strong performance in the first half
of 2016, driven by new formats, but impacted in the second hatf by
increasing private label competition. Excedrin grew in double-digits,
driven by the Gel-tab launch and new digital campaigns, and

Tums also delivered double-digit growth, benefiting from supply
improvements. This was parlly offset by a decline in Aquafresh
sales due to increased competitive pressures and a re-alignment

of investment behind power brands.

Sales in Europe grew 12% to £2,191 million and were up 4%

on a pro-forma basis, driven primarily by performances within the
Wellness and Oral health categories. Voltaren continued to deliver
double-digit growth, driven largely by the 12-hour variant and with
strong performances across alf key markets. Oral health sales grew
in mid single-digits, with strong growth in Sensodyne and the Gum
health portfolio, partly offset by a flat performance in Aquafresh, due
to increased competitive pressures. At a market level, sales grew well
in Italy, Scandinavia, the UK and Germany, partly offset by a decline
in sales in CIS due to the impact on consumer spending of the
weaker economic environment.

International sales of £3,241 million grew 8% with pro-forma

growth of 5%. Growth was delivered in many priority markets,
primarily through the power brands across the Oral health and
Wellness categories. This was partly offset by the impact of the sale
of the Nigeria beverages business at the end of Q3 2016 as well as
the affect of the restructuring of activity in Venezuela at the end of
2015. Growth of the International region was also affected by the
combined impact on the Indian business of the demonetisation
implemented in November and a more general slowing of the health
food drink category which impacted the perfarmance of the Nutrition
category and Horlicks in particular. Elsewhere, strong growth was
delivered in the Middle East, Latin America and China. The growth

in the Middle East was driven by strong momentum across the power
brands, particularly Otrivin, Panadol and Sensodyne. Double-digit
performances were delivered in Brazil and Argentina as a resuit of
better pricing and new product launches within Oral health. China
dalivered high single-digit sales growth with contributions across

the portfolio and with Sensodyne and Voftaren in particular benefiting
from e-commerce and retail distribution expansion.
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Tumovar (£bn)

£2759bn

2§l

Fil

2016 278
AER growth CER growth
17% 6%

Total operating profit (€bn)

£2.6bn

2o|s[

AER growth

CER growth

(75)%

(86)%

|\

o

The total results of the Group are set out below.

F 2016 2015 Growth
1. % ot | % of
i £m turnover; £m tumovar £3% CER%
Turnover { 27888 100; 23,923 100 17 6
Cost of sales (8,290) (33.3) (8853) (370) [ ()
Sefling, general and i
administration (9,368) (33.6) (9,232) (38.6) 1 {6)
Resgarch and )
development (3628) (130) (3560) (14.9) 2 )
Royalty income 398 m, a9 14 21 16
Other operating income/ ' :
(expensa) (3405) (122) 7715 322
Operating profit 2,598 9.3/ 10322 431  (75) (86)
Net finance costs (664) (653)
Profit on disposal of
interest in associates - 843
Share of alter tax
profits of associates
and joint ventures 5 14
Profit before 1axation 1,939 10,5626 (82) {(92)
Taxation ©77) (2,154)
Profit after taxation
for the year 1,062 8,372 (87) (98)
Profit atributable to
shareholders 912 8,422
Eamings per share (p) 188 1743 (89) (99)
Eamings per ADS :
us$) 0.51 5.33

Cost of safes

Cost of sales as a percentage of tumover was 33.3%, down 3.7
percentage points in Sterling terms and 2.4 percentage points in
CER terms compared with 2015. This reflected impraved product mix,
particularty the impact of higher HIV sales in Pharmaceuticals, but also
in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare and lower restructuring costs
as well as an increased contribution from integration and restructuring
savings in all three businesses.

Thase benefits were partly offset by continued adverse pricing
pressure in Pharmaceuticals, primarily Respiratory, as well as
continued investments in the supply chain.

Selling, generaf and administration

SG&A costs were 33.6% of turnover, 5.0 percentage points lower
than in 2015 and 4.3 percentage points lower on a CER basis. This
primarily reflected lower restructuring costs as well as the benefits
from the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme and integration
benefits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, partly offset by
investment in promolional product support, particularly for new
faunches in Respiratory, HIV, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare.

Research and development

R&D expenditure was £3,628 million (139 of tumaver), 1.99 higher
than in 2015 and 5.6% lower on a CER basis. This reflected the
benetit from cost reduction pregrammes in Phamaceuticals,
Consumer Healthcare and Vaccines R&D and lower restructuring
costs, partly offset by increased investment, particularly in
Pharmacanticals, reflecting investments in a number of new
programmes and the costs of the acquired BMS HIV programme.

Other operating income/(expense)

Net other operating expense of £3,405 milfion (2015 - £7,715 million
income) primarily reflected further accounting charges related to
remeasurement of the contingent consideration liability related to

the tormer Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture, along with
remeasurement of the value attributable to the Consumer Healthcare
Joint Venture put option and the liabilities first recognised in Q1 2016

. for the Pfizer and Shionogi put options and preferential dividends

in ViiV Healthcare. These remeasurements were driven by the
unwinding of the discount applied 10 these future liabilities as well
as updated trading forecasts and changes in the exchange rate
assumptions used, updating them to period-end rates, which have
increased the estimated total sterling values of GSK's Consumer
Healthcare and ViV Healthcare businesses.

These charges were partly offset by milestone income of £152
illion in relation to the disposal of ofatumumab that was completed
in 2015 and gains on a number of other divestments made during
the year, including the remaining shares held by the Group in Aspen
Pharmacare. The net other operating income of £7,715 miillion in
2015 included the profit on the disposal of the Oncology business
to Novartis of £8,228 million. .
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Operating profit

Total operating profit was £2,598 million in 2016 compared with
£10,322 million in 2015 which benefited from the net disposal
gains recorded following the disposal of the Oncology business
as part of the Novartis transaction.

Operating profit benefited from improved operating leverage

driven by sales growth and a more favourable mix across all

three businesses, together with lower levels of restructuring costs
compared with 2015. However, there were further accounting
charges related to remeasurement of the contingent consideration
liability related to the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture,
along with remeasursment of the value attributable to the Consumer
Healthcare Joint Venture put option and the liabilities first recognised
in Q1 2016 for the Pfizer and Shionogi put options and preferential
dividends in ViV Healthcare.

Contingent consideration cash payments are made to Shionagi
and other companies, which reduce the balance sheet liability and
hence are not recorded in the income statement. Total contingent
caonsideration cash payments in 2016 amounted to £431 million
(2015 — £459 million). This included cash payments made by ViV
Heaithcare to Shionogi in relation to its contingent consideration
fiability (including preferential dividends) which amounted to

£417 million (2015 - £159 million). In 2015 a milestone payment
of £300 million was made to Novartis in relation to the Vaccines

acquisition.
Net finance costs
5 I 2018 | 2015

Finance income &m £m

Interest and other income l . 70] 99

Fair value movements .2, 5
1- 72! 104

Finance expense l - ]

Interest expense i (70‘). (719)

Unwinding of discounts on liabilities (16) (16)

Remeasurements and fair value movements l @) [G))

Other finance expense as) (14)
} (736) (757)

Profit before taxation

Taking account of net finance costs and the share of profit of
associates, profit before taxation was £1,939 million compared
with £10,526 miillion in 2015.

Taxation
I 2018! 205
£m £m
UK current year charge 241, 156
Rest of world current year charge 1,326 H 2924
Charge in respect of prior periods (149) (608)
Total current taxation . 1.41§ I 2,572
Total defered taxation _(541) (418)
Taxation an total profits t sl 2,154

A tax charge of £877 million on total profit represented an effective
tax rate of 45.2% (2015 — 20.5%) and reflected the non-deductibility
of certain items included within the transaction-related adjustments,
particularly the remeasurements of the put options related to ViV
Healthcare and the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture.

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of eamings 1o non-controlling interests amounted to
£150 million (2015 — (£50) million), including the non-controlling
interest allocations of Consumer Healthcare profits of £203 miillion
(2015 ~ £14 miltion) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare losses of
283 million (215 ~ £143 miliion) inciuding the impact of chanyes
in the proportians of preferential dividends due to each shareholder
based on the relative performance of different products in the year.
The allocation also reflected the impact an the contribution of some
of the Group's other entities with non-controlling interests primarily
as a result of net losses in those entities arising from exchange.

Earnings per share

The total earnings per share was 18.8p, compared with 174.3p

in 2015. The decrease primarily reflected the benefit in 2015 from
the disposal of the Oncology business to Novartis that closed in
March 2015, together with the impact in 2016 of charges arising
from increases in the valvations of the liabilities for contingent
consideration and the put options associated with increases in

the Sterling value of the Group's HIV and Consumer Healthcare -

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures
The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £5 million
(2015 — £14 million).

busir , partly offset by improved performance and reduced
restructuring costs.

Dividends .
The Board declared four interim dividends resulting in a total dividend
for the year of 80 pence, in line with the dividend declared in 2015.
See Note 16 to the financial statements, ‘Dividends".
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Core results reconciliation — 31 Decembér 2016
' Intangible Intangible

Toras asset asset Major Legal Transaction  Divestments Cors
resulls isali impai ing charg -related  and other rosults
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Tumaver 27889 27,889
Cos! of sales (9,280) . 547 7 297 88 2 {8,351)
Gross profit 18,699 547 7 297 86 2 19,538
Selling, general and administration (0,366) : 614 162 (7) (8,697)
Research and development (3,628) 41 13 159 (81) 28 (3,468)
Royalty income 398 . 398
Other operating incame/{espense) . (3,405) 3914 (509) -
Operating profit 2,598 588 . 20 870 162 3,918 (4886) ™mn
Net finance costs . (664) 4 8 (652)
Share of after tax profits of associates
and joint ventures 5 5
Profit before taxation 1,939 588 20 9724 162 3,619 (478) 7124
Taxation (872) (130) (5) (217) [$T)] (439) 173 {1,509)
Tax rate 4529 21.2%
Profit atter taxation 1,062 458 18 757 148 3,480 (305) 5,616
Profit attributabla to non-c lling ir 150 487 637
Praofit attrbutable to shareholders 912 458 15 757 148 2,993 (305) 4,978
Eamings per share 18.8p 9.4p 03p 15.6p 3.0p 61.6p (6.3)p 102.4p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,860 4,060
Core results reconciliation ~ 31 December 2015
Intangible Intangible
Total asset asset Majer Legal  Transaction Divestmenis Core
resubis isatk impai ing o] -related and other results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Turnover 23,923 23923
Cost of sales (8,853) 522 147 563 89 12 (7620)
Gross profit 15,070 522 147 563 89 12 16,403
Selling, general and administralion (9,232) 7 1,009 221 88 (7,907)
Research and development (3,560) 41 52 319 62 (3.096)
Roayalty income 329 329
Other operating income 72215 2,081 (9,776) -
Obperating profit 10,322 563 206 1,891 221 2,238 ©712) 5,729
Net finance costs (653) 5 12 (636)
Profit on disposal of associates 843 (843) -
Share of after tax profits of
associates and jomnt ventures 14 (18) (2)
Profit before taxation 10,526 563 208 1,896 221 - 2,238 (10,559) 5,091
Taxation (2,154) (161) (s0) (441) (27) (352) 2,188 (993)
Tax rate . 20.59% 19.59
Profit after taxation 8372 402 156 . 1,455 200 1,886 (8,373) 4,098
(Loss)/prafit attributable to ) .
non-controfling interests (50) 500 (10) 440
Profit attributable 1o shareholders 8,422 402 156 1,455 200 1,386 (8,363) 3,658
Eamings per share ’ 174.3p 8.3p 3.2p 30.1p 4.1p 288p (1731)p 75.7p
4,831

Weighted average number of shares (mifions) . 4,831
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tems adjusted from total results to present core results

Total results are adjusted for a number of items in order to present
core results, as explained on page 57. The items are discussed
below. )

Intangible asset amortisation and impairment

Intangible asset amortisation was £588 million, compared with
£563 miliion in 2015. Intangible asset impairments of £20 million
(2015 — £206 million) included impairments of R&D and commercial
assets. Both of these charges were non-cash items,

Majar restructuring and integration .
Major restructuring and integration charges of £870 million have
been incurred (2015 — £1,891 million), reflecting the phasing of
planned restructuring projects following the completion of the
Novartis transaction in 2015, as well as reduced charges for
Pharmaceuticals restructuring projects as this programme enters

its later stages. Cash payments made were £1,077 million (2015
—£1,131 million) including the settlement of certain charges accrued
in previous quarters.

Charges for the combined restructuring and integration programme
to date are £3.7 billion, with cash charges of £2.9 billion and cash
payments to date of £2.7 billion. The anticipated total cash charges
of the combined programme were expected ta be up to £3.65 billion
and the non-cash charges up to £1.35 billion. The programme
delivered incremental cost savings of £1.4 billion in 2016, including a
currency benefit of £0.2 billion, and has now delivered approximately
£3.0 biflion of annual savings (including the currency benefit). The
programme remains on track to deliver the originally targeted total
annual savings of £3 billion on a constant currency basis during
2017. An estimated £300 miltion of additional cash charges are
expected in 2017 along with same residual non-cash charges.

Legal charges

Legal charges of £162 million (2015 - £221 million) included the
benefit of the settlement of existing matters as well as provisions for
ongoing litigation. Cash payments were £233 million compared with
£420 million in 2015.

Stiategic report
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Transaction-related adjustments

Transaction-related adjustments resulted in a net charge of

£3,919 million (2015 — £2,238 millian). This primarily reflected
accounting charges for the remeasurement of the liability and the
unwinding of the discounting effects on the value attributable to the
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option held by Novartis,
the remeasurement and the unwinding of the discounting effects on
the contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of the former
Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture and the value attributable to
the put options and preferential dividends payable to Pfizer and
Shionogi.

. . 2016 2015
Charge/(credit) i £m £m
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option 1,133 : 83
Contingent consideration on former Shionogi-Viiv :

Healthcare Joint Venture (including Shionogi
preferential dividends) 2,162 1,874
VeV Healthcare put options and Plizer preferential
dividends L 577 -
Other adjustments a7 281
Total transaction-related charges 3919. 2,238

The aggregate impact of unwinding the discount on these future and
potential liabilities was £906 million (2015 = £757 million), including
£464 million on the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option,
£334 million on cantingent consideration on the former Shionogi-
ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture, and £58 million on the ViV Healthcare
put options and preference dividends. The remaining charge of
£3,014 million was driven primarily by changes in exchange rate
assumptions as well as updates to trading forecasts.

During 2016, GSK and Shionogi made several amendments to

the Shareholders' Agreement for ViiV Healthcare regarding the
Shionogi put aption and the GSK call option. The estimated liability
for Shionogi's put option was initially recognised on GSK's balance
sheet atthe end of Qt 2016 and de-recognised in December 2016,
directly to equity, when it stoad at £1,244 million. An explanation ot
the accounting for the non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare

is set out on page 58.

Divestments and other items

Divestments and other items included equity investment disposals,
including the disposal of the remaining Aspen Pharmacare
investment, dividends and impairments, milestone income on -
ofatumumab, a number of other asset disposals, and certain other
adjusting items. Divestiments and other items in 2015 included

the profit on the disposal of the Oncology business to Novartis.
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+Core results .

Tumover (Ebn) Research and development
2014 [ ngl el 2015 Growih
£279bn l ol wer
* 2015 I 239' £m tumover! £m  tumaver £96  CER%
Research and l |
2016 279 development i (3468) (124) (3098) (129) 12 3
R&D expenditure was £3,468 million (12.4% of turnover), 12% higher
AER growth CER growth than in 2015 and 3% higher on a CER basis, reflecting increased
investment, particularly in Total Pharmaceuticals, which increased
17% . 6% 5% CER. The operations of Pharmaceuticals R&D are broadly split
) ) \ into Discovery activities (up to the completion of phase lla trials)
Core operating profit (€bn) and Development work (from phase llb onwards) each supported by
2014 l 66 l specific and common infrastructure and other shared services where
£r7_7bn qppropriate. Phase IV costs and other administrative expenses are
. 2015 r v , FI raported in SG&A and are not included in the table below.
e
1 emi £m €% CER®
" Discovery 848 744 14 6
AER g CER Devefopment 1,275{ 1,138 12 4
36% 149, Fagilities and central support functions 505 433 17 9
\\. J Total Pharmaceuticals 2628} 2313 14 5
- Vaccines R&D 597 625 14 2
We use core results, which is a non-1IFRS measure, among Consumer Haalthcare RED 243| 258 (6) (12
other metrics including total results and cash flow generation, R h and development | 3468)] 3,096 12 3

to manage the performance of the Group. Non-IFRS measures
may be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or
superior to, information presented in sccordance with IFRS.
The definition of core results is set out on page 57.

Cost of sales

' . 2015! 2015 Growth
l % c!‘ % of
. Em_tumover: £m__ tumover £% CER%
Cost of sales i (&3s1) (299) (7520) (31.4) 11 5

Cost of sales as a percentage of tumover was 29.9%, down 1.5
percentage points in Sterling terms and 0.3 percentage points in
CER terms compared with 2015. On a pro-forma basis, the cost of
sales percentage decreased 1.8 percentage points compared with
2015 and was down 0.6 percentage points in CER terms. This
reflected improved product mix, particularly the impact of higher
HIV sales in Pharmaceuticals, but also in Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare, as well as an increased contribution from integration
and restructuring savings in all three businesses, partly offset by
continued adverse pricing pressure in Pharmaceuticals, primarily
Respiratory, as well as continued investments in the supply chain.

Selling, general and administration

I 26161 2015 Growth’
l % of . % of
£m_ tumover £m _ lumover £% CER%

Selling, general and

: |
administration l(a.ssn (312 (7907)  (33.1) 10 2

SGRA costs were 31.2% of tumnover, 1.9 percentage points lower
than in 2015 and 1.2 percentage points jower on a CER basis.

On a pro-forma basis, SG&A as a percentage of sales reduced by
2.2 percentage points, 1.5 percentage points CER. This primarily
reflected tight control of ongoing costs as well as the benefits from
the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme and integration
benelits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, partly offset by
investment in promotional product support, particularly for new .
launches in Respiratory, HIV, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare.

The most significant factor drving Total Pharmaceuticals R&D
growth was progression of the ViiV Healthcare HIV portfolio,
including programmes acquired from BMS earlier in the year. The
increase in Discovery was also driven by progression of the early
stage Oncology portfalio and early investment in Bioelectronics.
Development growth was primarily due to the start of new Phase Il
programmes, including HIV, respiratory and anaemia, partly offset
by the benefit from R&D cost reduction programmes. The increase
in tacilities and central support functions costs partly reflected
investment in new data warehousing and analytics to transform the
way data is harnessed across R&D together with a re-allocation of
central support costs.

Royalty income

Royalty income was £398 million (2015 — £329 million) primarily
reflecting increased royalty income from Gardasil sales as well as
the bensfit of a catch-up adjustment to prior-year estimates.

Core operating profit

Core operating profit was £7,771 million, up 36% at actual rates
and 14% higher in CER terms than in 2015 on a turover increase of
6%. The core operating margin of 27.9% was 3.9 percentage points
higher than in 2015 and 1.9 percentage points higher an a CER
basis.

On a pro-forma basis, core operating profit was 17% higher in

CER terms compared with 2015 on turnover growth of 5%. The core
operating margir\'l of 27.9% was 4.6 percentage points higher than in
2015 and 2.6 percentage points higher in CER terms on a pro-forma
basis, reflecting improved aperating feverage driven by sales growth
and a more favourable mix across all three businesses as well as
delivery of restructuring and integration benefits and tight control of
ongoing costs, partly offset by continued price pressure, particularly
in Respiratory, and supply chain and R&D investments.
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Contingent consideration cash payments are made to Shionagi
and other companies, which reduce the balance sheet liability and
hence are not recorded in the income statement. Total contingent
consideration cash payments in 2016 amounted to £431 million
(2015 — £459 mitfion). This included cash payments made by ViiV
Healthcare to Shionogi in relation to its contingent cansideration
liability (including preferential dividends) which amounted to

£417 million (2015 — £159 million). In 2015 a milestone payment
of £300 million was made to Novartis. :

Core operating profit by business

l"-'-—j 2018
2016 {restated) Growth
I Mnrglnl Margin
£m G £m 9 £% CERS%
Pharmaceuticals 7979 495Y 6,466 45.7 23 6
Pharmaceuticals R&D § (2,488) {2.1686) . 15 6
Pharmaceuticals 54N 34.1; 4,298 304 28 - 6
Vaceines 1,454 N7 2964 26.4 51 as
Consumer
Healthcare 1,116 155 684 113 63 42
8061  289i 5946 249 36 16
Corporate & other
unallocated costs (290) (217) 34 58
Core operating profit { 777t 279] 5729 239 36 14

Pharmaceuticals

Pharmaceuticals operating profit was £5,491 million, 6% higher in
CER terms than in 2015 on a turnover increase of 3%. The operating
margin of 34.1% was 3.7 percentage paints higher than in 2015 and
1.1 percentage points higher on a CER basis. On a pro-forma basis,
the operating margin increased 1.2 percentage paints on a CER
basis, reflecting a more favourable product mix, primarily driven by
the growth in HIV sales, and the cost reduction benefit from the
Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme, partly offset by increased
investment in new product support, increased investment in R&D in
a number of new programmes, the continued impact of lower prices,
particularly in Respiratory, and the broader transition of the
Respiratory portfolio.

Vaccines

Vaccines operating profit was £1,454 million, 38% higher than in
2015 in CER terms on a turnover increase of 14%. The operating
profit margin of 31.7% was 5.3 percentage points higher than in
2015 and 5.6 percentage points higher on a CER basis. On a
pro-forma basis, the operating margin improved by 7.3 percentage
points and 7.6 points in CER terms primarily driven by improved
product mix and enhanced operating leverage from strong sales
growth, together with restructuring and integration benefits in cost of-
sales, SG&A and R&D, and higher royalty income. These were partly
offset by SG&A investments to support business growth, a number
of inventory adjustments and additional supply chain investments.

Consumer Healthcare
Consumer Healthcare operating profit was £1,116 million, 42%
higher than in 2015 in CER terms on a tumover increase of 8%.
The operating margin of 15.5% was 4.2 percentage points higher
than in 2015 and 3.4 percentage points higher on a CER basis.
On a pro-forma basis, the Consumer Healthcare operating margin
was 3.7 percentage points higher on a CER basis due to
improvements in gross margin, reflecting mix benefits from the
power brand strategy and better pricing, as well as a strong

- contribution from integration synergies benefiting bath SG&A
and R&D as a percentage of sales.

Net finance costs

I 2018' 2015
£m £m

Finance income

Interest and other income [ 70 9

Fair value movements l 2 ' 5
§ 72} 104
P

Finance expense }

Interest expense (701) (719)

Unwinding of discounts on Eabilities (ay 1

Remeasurements and fair value movements . (4). (8)

Other finance expense 5) 14)
i (724) (740)

Net core finance expense was £652 million compared with

£636 million in 2015, reflecting the translation effect of exchange
rate movements on the reported Sterling costs of foreign currency
denominated interest-bearing instruments.

Share of after tax profits/(losses) and joint ventures
The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £5 miflion
(2015 - £2 million loss).

Core profit before taxation
I 2016} 2015 Growth
1 %of] ab of
v £m tumover} £m_ tumower £%__ CErch
Core profitbeforetax | 7124° - 2551 091 21.3 40 16

Taxation

Tax on core profit amounted to £1,509 million and represented an
effective core tax rate of 21.2% (2015 — 19.5%). The increase in the
effective rate primarily reflected the Group's changing earnings mix.
See ‘Taxation' on page 178 for further details.

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to
£637 million (2015 ~ £440 million), including the non-controlling
interest allocations of Cansumer Healthcare profits of £288 million
(2015 - £137 million) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits,
which increased to £324 million (2015 — £224 million) including the
impact of changes in the proportions of preferential dividends due
to each shareholder based on the relative performance of different
products in the year. The allocation also reflected the impact on
the contribution of some of the Group's other entities with non-
controlling interests primarily as a result of net losses in those
entities arising from exchange.

Core earnings per share

Core EPS of 102.4p was up 35% at actual rates and 12% in CER
terms compared with a 14% CER increase in operating profit,
primarily reflecting the increased tax rate compared with 2015 and
the greater contribution to growth from businesses in which there
are significant non-controlling interests.
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Pro-forma growth rate reconciliations

The following table sets out reconciliations between reported CER growth rates and pro-farma CER growth rates on the stated items of turnover

for 2016. ) :
Adjustment to incdludo Adjusiment lo include Adjusiment lo exclude
Jamuary and Febnuary January and February January and February
2015 tumover 2015 tumover of former 2015 tumover of lormer
Reported of former Novartis Novartis Consumer GSK Oncology Pro-forma
growth rate Vaccines products Healthoare products prodiucis growih rate
Tumover 2016 CER% CER® CER® CER CER%
Group turnover 8 - @ 1 5
us -’ 10 - - 1 1
Europe 6 - 2 1 [
Intemational t - (O] - -
Pharmaceuticals 3 1 4
US Prarmaceuticals 10 2 12
Europe Phamnaceuticals - - 2 2
Int icnal Pharr tical (3) - )
Emerging Markets Pharmaceuticals @) 1 @)
Japan Pharmaceuticals ) - (]
Vaccines 14 (2 12
US Vaccines 13 ) 12
Europe Vaccines 18 (2) 18
Intemational Vaccines 10 2 8
Menveo 16 ® 8
Other Vaccines 6 (10) (4)
Cansumer Healthcare '] ) [
US Consumer Healthcare [:] (a) 5
Eurape Consumer Healthcare 12 ) 4
International Consumer Healthcare 8 3 5
Wellness 18 9) 6
Oral health ' 8 - B
Nutrition ® O] @
Skin health ' 4 (6) @

The following table sets out reconciliations between reported CER growth rates and pro-forma CER growth rates for the stated core expense

- headings and care operating profit for 2016.

Adjustment to include

Adjustment (o include

Adjustment lo exclude

lanuary and Febnuasy January and Febraary January and February

2015 tumover of former 2015 tumover of formes 2015 tumover of kamer
Reported Novartis Vaccd Novartis Consumer GSK Oncalogy Pro-lorma
Core e'xpe“se? and growth rate peodt Heallh prod products rate
operating profit 2016 CER% . CER%® CER%® CER% CER%
Cost of sales 6 (1) [¢)) 1 3
Sefling, generat and administration : 2 . ) 1 -
Research and development 3 M - 1 3
Royalty income 16 (1) ] - 17
Care operating profit 3 14 1 - 2 17
Pharmaceuticals operating profit [ 2 8

Pharmaceuticals operating prafit

excluding R&O 8 2 8
Pharmaceuticals RAD e 6 ] 8
Vaccines operating profit 38 9 47
. Consumer Healthcare operating profit - 42 (2) 40




71 GSK Annual Report 2016 '
”

Cash generation and conversion

A summary of the consolidated cash flow statement is set out below.
2015

T
: £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 5.497.: 2569
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (1,269) 6,037
Net cash outflow from financing activities (63%2)  (2109)
(Decrease)fincrease in cash and bank overdrafts i~ (1164) 1,503
Cash and bank averdratis at beginning of year 5,485] 4,028
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank overdrafts (1,164) 1,503
Exchange adjustments ’ 283‘ (45)
Cash and bank overdralts at end of year | 4,605 5,486
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of year ! !
comprise:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,897 6,830
Overdrafts (292) (344)
i 4,605 $,486
Adjusted net cash inflow from operating activities f 6.730’ 2,989

The net cash inflow from operating activities for the year was
£6,497 million (2015 — £2,569 million). The increase primarily
reflected the improved operating performance across all segments
and a positive currency benefit. Excluding legal settlements of
£233 million (2015 ~ £420 million) adjusted net cash inflow from
operating activities was £6,730 miilion (2015 - £2,889 million). In
addition, there were payments of restructuring and integration costs
of £1,077 million (2015 - £1,131 million) and a further tax payment
of £125 million (2015 — £1,071 million) on the sale of the Oncology
business, both of which have been funded from divestment
proceeds.

Total cash payments made by ViiV Healthcare to Shionogi in
relation to its contingent consideration liability (including preferential
dividends) in the year were £417 million (2015 - £159 million), of
which £351 million (2015 - £121 million) was recognised in cash
flows from operating activities and £66 million (2015 ~ £38 million)
was recognised within investing cash flows.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow is the amount of cash generated by the business
after meeting our obligations for interest, tax and dividends paid to
non-controlling interests, and after capital expenditure on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Strategic report
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‘ 2016 2015

em} £m
Free cash inflow/(cutflow) l 3,087 (155)
Adjusted free cash flow 3.320; 265

Free cash flow was £3,087 million for the year (2015 — £155 million
outflow). Excluding legal payments, adjusted free cash flow was
£3,320 million (2015 - £265 miflion) but this was also after making
restructuring and integration payments, the additional tax payment on
the sale of the Oncology business and the purchase of HIV Clinical
assets for £221 million, which are treated as intangible asset
purchases. Excluding these items, which are being funded from
divestment proceeds, the adjusted free cash flow would have been
£4,743 million (2015 ~ £2,467 million).

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Cash payments for tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to
£2,352 million (2015 ~ £1,801 million) and disposals realised £453
million (2015 - £10,554 million). Cash payments to acquire equity
investments of £96 million (2015 — £82 million) were made and sales
of equity investments realised £683 million (2015 - £357 million).

Reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to free
cash flow and adjusted free cash flow

A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities, which is
the closest equivalent IFRS measure, to free cash flow is shown below.

I 2016] 2015

1  Em £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,497 2,569
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,543) (1,380)
Purchase of intangible assets (s09) (s21)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 98! 72
Interest paid (732 (762)
Interest received ss! o9
Dividends from associates and joint ventures 42 S
Distributions to non-controlling interests (534) (237)
Free cash flow 3,087 ! (155)
Legal payments 233 420
Adijusted free cash flow 3320) 265
Future cash flow

Over the long term, we expect that future cash generated from
operations will be sufficient to fund our operating and debt servicing
costs, normal levels of capital expenditure, obligations under
existing licensing agreements, expenditure arising from restructuring
programmes and other routine ocutflows including tax, pension
contributions and dividends, subject to the 'Principal risks and
uncertainties’ discussed on pages 253 to 262. We may from time

to time have additional demands for finance, such as far acquisitions,
including potentially acquiring increased awnership portions of the
ViiV Healthcare and the Consumer Healthcare businesses where
minority sharehalders hold put options, and share repurchases. We
have access to multiple sources of liquidity from short and long-term
capital markets and financial institutions, in addition to the cash flow
from aperations, for such needs.

Investment appraisal

We have a formal process for assessing potential investment
proposals in order to ensure decisions are aligned with our overall
strategy. This process includes an assessment of the cash flow
return on any individual investment (CFRO)), as well as is net present
value (NPV) and intemal rate of retum (IRR) where the timeline for the
project is very long term. We also consider the impact on EPS and
our credit profile where relevant.

The discount rate used to perform financial analyses is decided
internally, to allow determination of the extent to which investments
cover our cost of capital. For specific investments the discount rate
may be adjusted to take into account country or other risk weightings.

Working capital

Our working capital programme has continued to make progress
with further improvements in the collection of receivables and
inventory management.

- i 20161 2015
Working capital percentage of turnaver (%) 22 23
Working capital conversion cycle (days) 193] 191

The reported working capital conversion cycle days in 2015 were
distorted by a temporary favourable impact of 15 days arising from the
Novartis transaction. Excluding this impact, the conversion cycle tor
2015 was around 206 days. The resulting reduction of 13 days in
2016 compared with 2015 was predominantly due to a beneficial
impact from exchange, reduced receivables days from improved
collections and reduced inventory days.
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} Financial position and resources

[ zm_s'l 2015
£m £m
Assets
Nan-curent assets
Property, plant and equipment 10808 8,668
Gocdwill 5965 5,162
Qther intangtle assets 18,776 16,672
Invesiments in associates and joint ventures 263 207
Qther investments 85 1,255
Qeferved tax assets 4,374 2,805
Qther non-current assets 1,199 990
Total non~current assets ] 42,370 365,859
Current assets B
Inventoriés 5102 4,716
Current tax recoverable 228 180
Trade and other recevables 6,026 5615
Derivative fi aaf i its 156 125
Liquid investments 89 76
Cash and cash equivalents 4,897 5,830
Assets held for sale 215 46
Total current assets ] 16,211] 16,687
Total assets . { 59081f 63446
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Shert-term borowings {4,129) {1,308)
Contingent consideration liability (s61) (306)
rade and other payables (11968)  (8.885)
Derivative financial instr (194) (153)
Current tax payable (#308)  (1.421)
Short-term provisions (848)  (1,344)
Total current liabilties } (19001) (13,417)
Non-cunent liabilities
Long-term bomowings {14861) (15,324)
Deferred tax iabilties (1938) (1522
Pensions and other post-amployment benefils (40%0)  (3,229)
Other provisions (852 (420)
Caontingent consideration fiabikty (5.335). (3,549)
Other non-current liabilities (8.445)‘ (7,107)
Total non-current liabiities | (35117 (31,151)
Total liahilities 1 (54118) (44,568)
Not assets { 4863 8878
Equity
Share capital 1,342 1,340
Share premium account 2954 2,831
Retained eamings {5.392) (1,397)
Other reserves 2.220! 2,340
Shareholders' equity | ] 1,124 6,114
Non-controlling interests { 3,839{ 3764
Tota) equity l 4,553, 8,878

Property, plant and equipment

Our business is science-based, technology-intensive and highly
regulated by governmental authorities. We allocate significant
financial resources to the renewal and maintenance of our property,
plant and equipment 1o minimise risks of interruption to production
and to ensure compliance with regulatory standards. A number of
our processes use hazardous matenials.

The total cost of our property, plant and equipment at 31 December
2016 was £22,164 million, with a net book value of £10,808 miillion,
Of this, land and buildings represented £4,223 miltion, plantand =~
equipment £3,481 miflion and assets in construction £3,104 million.
In 2016, we invested £1,544 mitlion in new property, plant and
equipment. This was mainly related to a large number of projects

{or the renewal, improvement and expansion of facilities at various
worldwide sites. Property is mainly held freehald. New investment

is financed from our liquid resources. At 31 December 2016, we
had contractual commitments for future capital expenditure of £496
million and operating lease commitments of £840 million. We believe
that aur facilities are adequate for our current needs.

We observeé stringent procedures and use specialist skills to
manage environmental risks from our activities. Environmental issues,
sometimes dating from operations now modified or discontinued,
are reported under 'Our planet’ on page 50 and in Note 46 to the
financial statements, 'Legal proceedings’.

Goodwill

Goodwill increased during the year to £5,965 million at 31
December 2016, from £6,162 million. The increase primarily
reflected the impact of exchange movements.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include the cost of intangbles acquired from
third parties and computer software. The net book value of other
intangible assets es at 31 December 2016 was £18,776 million
(2015 - £16,672 million). The increase in 2016 reflected the impact
of exchange movements, development costs capitalised during the
year of £240 million, partly offset by the amortisation and impairment
of existing intangibles of £796 million and £29 million, respectively.

Investments in associates and jo!nt ventures

We held investments in associates and joint ventures, with a carrying
value at 31 December 2016 of £263 million (2015 — £207 miillion).
The market value at 31 December 2016 was £502 miliion (2015 -
£267 miltion). The largest of these investments was in Innoviva Inc.
which had & book value at 31 December 2016 of £138 milion

(2015 - £112 million). The market vafue at 31 December 2016 was
£278 million. See Note 20 to the financial statements ‘Investments
in associates and joint ventures'.
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Other investments

We held other investments with a carrying value at 31 December
2016 of £985 million (2015 - £1,255 million). The decrease in the
carrying value during the year was primarily due to the sale of the
Group's remaining stake in Aspen Pharmacare Holdings Limited
which had a book value at 31 December 2015 of £383 million.
The most significant of the investments held at 31 December 2016
was in Theravance Biophamma, Inc. which had a book value at 31
December 2016 of £248 million (2015 — £93 millian). The other
investments included equity stakes in companies with which we
have research collaborations, which provide access to biotechnology
developments of potential interest and interests in companies that
anse from business divestments.

Derivative financial instruments: assets

We had current derivative financial instruments held at fair value
of £156 million (2015 — £125 million). The majority of this amount
related to foreign exchange contracts both designated and not
designated as accounting hedges.

Inventories
Inventory of £6,102 million increased from £4,716 million in 2015.
The increase primavily reflected the impact of exchange movements.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables of £6,026 million increased from
£56,615 million in 2015, primarily refiecting exchange movements.

Derivative finencial instruments: liabilities

We held current derivative financial instruments at fair value of
£194 million (2015 ~ £153 million). This primarily related to foreign
exchange contracts both designated and not designated as
accounting hedges.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables amounting to £11,964 million increased
from £8,885 million in 2015, reflecting the Pfizer put option related
to ViV Healthcare recognised in the year, an increase in accruals for
customer returns and rebates and the impact of exchange )
movements.

Provisions

We canried deferred tax provisions and other short-term and
non-current provisions of £3,434 million at 31 December 2016
(2015 — £3,286 million) of which £344 million (2015 — £352 million)
related to legal and other disputes and £554 million (2015 — £816
million) related to the major restructuring programme. Pravision
has been made for legal and other disputes, indemnified disposal
liabilities, employee related liabilities and the costs of the
restructuring programme to the extent that at the balance sheet
date a legal or constructive obligation existed and could be

reliably estimated.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

We account for pension and other post-employment arrangements
in accordance with IAS 19. The deficits, net of surpluses before
allowing for deferred taxation were £2,084 million (2016 -
£1,584 million) on pension arrangements and £1,693 million
(2015 — £1,387 million) on unfunded post-employment liabilities.
The increases in the deficits were predominantly driven by lower
discount rates that we used to discount the value of the liabilities,
together with an increase in the UK inflation rate assumptions
and a stronger US Dollar at the year end, partly offset by special
funding contributions to the UK schemes and significant UK
asset gains.
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Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities of £8,445 million at 31 December 2016
(2015 — £7,107 million) included £7,420 million (2015 ~ £6,287
million) refated ta the present value of the estimated amount payable
by us in the event of full exercise of Novartis® right to require us to *
acquire its 36.5% sharehalding in the Consumer Healthcare Joint
Venture. Further details are provided in Note 3, ‘Key accounting
judgements and estimates’.

Contingent consideration liabilities

Contingent consideration liabilities amounted to £5,896 million at
31 December 2016 (2015 — £3,855 million), of which £5,304 million
(2015 — £3,408 million) represented the estimated present value of
amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare and £545
million (2015 — £405 million) represented the estimated present
value of contingent consideration payable to Novartis related to the
Vaccines acquisition. The liability due to Shionogi included £224
million in respect of preferential dividends of which £154 million was
recognised directly in equily in the year. The liability for preferential
dividends due to Plizer at 31 December 2016 was £23 milion. An
explanation of the accounting treatment of our interests in ViiV
Healthcare is set out on page 58.

Net debt
[-“ 2016! 2015
£m! £m
Cash, cash equivalents and kquid invesiments | 4,986, 5,005
Borrowings — repayable wilkiin i year "U{a429)  (1,308)
Borrowings — repayable after one year i (14661) (15324)
Net debt [\ 3,804) {10,727)

At 31.December 2016, net debt was £13.8 billion, compared

with £10.7 billion at 31 December 2015, comprising gross debt
of £18.8 billion and cash and liquid investments of £5.0 billion.
The increase in net debt primarily reflected a £2.2 billion adverse
exchange impact from the translation of non-Sterling denominated
debt and exchange on ather financing items, dividends paid to
shareholders of £4.9 billion including the specia! dividend of

£1.0 biliion, partly offset by free cash flow of £3.1 billion and
asset disposals of £1.0 billion.

At 31 December 2016, our cash and liquid investments were held
as follows:

ame 2015

: eml £m

Bank balances and deposits 2,583 3,767
US Treasury and Treasury repo

only maney market funds 2,248 ' 624

Liquidity funds 66; 1,439

Govemment securities I asi 75

] 4.986! 5,905

Cash and liquid investments of £3.2 billion (2015 - £4.2 billion) were
held centrally at 31 December 2016,
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Maturity profile of gross debt

Picture removed to meet Companies House requirements

- - )

The analysis of cash and gross debt after the effecta of hedging Total equity
is as follows. . At 31 December 2016, total equity had decreased from £8,878
. miffion at 31 December 2015 to £4,963 mitlion. This primarity
| ”",:! 2018 yeflected the recognition of the transaction-related adjustments
Cash and liquid investments 2.986 5.905 9f £3,919 rpillion, .th.e impact of l'h'e dividends paid and an increase
in the pension deficit of £500 million, partly offset by the profit for the
Gross debt — foed (17288)  (16,120) L7
N ‘ year and the favourable exchange translation impact from the weaker
- floating (1436, (502) Sterling rates. :
~ non-interest bearing (6) (1) . o
Net debt - ( (13804) (10727) A summary of the movements in equity is set oud below.
2016 2015
Movements in net debt Total equity at beginning of year 8878 4,936
| 20;"5‘ l 709'; Total comprehensive incoma for the year 2,024 7885
Vi 0] 3,874
Net debt at beginning of year (10727)  (14,377) g"’:e"di;omsh:.tehde:ers (4.3: 9) ¢ 73)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank overdrafts 1.164) 1,603 ', nay s sy
A Gain an transfer a! net assets
Increase in liquid investments —I 2 . .
. into Consumer Healthcare JV - 2,891
Net (increase in)/repayment of short-term loans (148) 2,412 Cansumer H W ot opti .- (6.204)
Exchange movements (7s1) - (268) e . eul opfian '
* Loss on transfer af equity ivestment to
Other movements 164 1 ; nt in associal ' (229)
investm: e -
Net debt at end 3,604 10,727 .
< atend of year LI ) { ) Changes in non-controlling interests 32 3,370
Recognition of liabilites with non-controliing interests (2172) -
De-recognition of lighifties with non-controlling .
interests ' 1,244 -
Shares acquired by ESOP Trusts 79 (99)
Share-based incentive plang N9 356
Tax on share-based incentive plans 7 10
Distributions to non-controlling interests (534) (237)

Total equity at end of year 1 = 4963 8,878
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Share purchases .

In 2016, the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trusts
acquired £74 million of shares in GlaxoSmithKiline plc (2015 ~

£99 million). Shares are held by the Trusts to satisfy fulure exercises
of options and awards under the Group share option and award
schemes. A proportion of the shares held by the Trusts are in

respect of awards where the rules of the scheme require us to satisly
exercises through market purchases rather than the issue of new
shares. The shares held by the Trusts are matched to options and
awards granted.

At 31 December 2016, the ESOP Trusts held 43 million (2015 —
30 million) GSK shares against the future exercise of share options
and share awards. The carrying valué of £286 million (2015 —

£75 million) has been deducted from other reserves. The market
value of these shares was £667 million (2015 -~ £409 million).

During 2016, no shares were repurchased. At 31 December 2016,
we held 458.2 million shares as Treasury shares (2015 — 491.5
million shares), at a cost of £6,451 million (2015 ~ £6,917 mitlion),
which has been deducted from retained eamings.

No ordinary shares were purchased in the period 1 January 2017
to 13 March 2017 and the company does not expect to make any
ardinary share repurchases in the remainder of 2017.

Commitments and contingent liabllities

Financial commitments are summarised in Note 41 to the financial
statements, ‘Commitments’. Other contingent liabilitiee and
cbligations in respect of short and long-term debt are set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements, ‘Contingent liabilities’ and
Note 31 to the financial statements, ‘Net debt’. :

Amounts provided for pensions and post-retirement benefits are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements, ‘Pensions and other
post-employment benefits’. Amounts provided for restructuring
programmes and legal, environmental and other dispules are set
out in Note 29 ta the financial statements, 'Other provisions'.

Contractual obligations and .commitments
The following table sets out our contractual obligations and
,commitments at 31 December 2016 as thay fall due for payment.

Total Under 1 yr 1-3yrs  3-5yrs S yrs+

£m Em £m £m £m

Loans 18,849 4,108 3,500 - 11,241
Interest on loans 9,410 705 1,069 992 6,644
Finance lease obligations 64 23 . 34 7 -
Finance lease charges 3 2 1 - -

Operating lease

commitments 840 153 223 140 324
Intangible assets 7199 614 648 1,082 4,955
Property, plant & equipment 496 385 1M1 - -
nvestments 166 79 53 32 2
Purchase commitments 52 23 29 - -
Pensions 874 136 246 246 246
Other commitments 143 % 76 22 -
Tota! 38,096 6,173 5,890 2521 23,412

Commitments in respect of loans and future interest payable on loans
are disclosed before taking into account the effect of derivatives.

We have entered into a number of research colfaborations fo develop
new compounds with olher pharmaceutical companies. The terms

of these arrangements can include upfront fees, equity investments,
loans and commitments to fund specified levels of research. In
addition, we will often agree to make turther payments if future
‘milestones’ are achieved.

As some of these agreements relate to compounds in the early
stages of development, the potential obligation to make milestone
payments will continue for a number of years if the compounds move
successfully through the development pracess. Generally, the closer-
the product is to marketing approval, the greater the probability

of success. The amounts shown above within intangible assets
represent the maximum that would be paid if all milestones were
achieved, and include £6.2 billion which relates to extemalised
projects in the discovery portfolio. A number of new cammitments
were made in 2016 under licensing and other agreements, offset

by amendments to existing agreements.

In 2016, we reached an agreement with the trustees of the UK
pension schemes 10 make additional contributions, including in 2016,
to eliminate the pension deficit identified at the 31 December 2014
actuarial funding valuation. The table above includes this commitment
but excludes the narmal angoing annual funding requirement in the
UK of approximately £130 million. For further information on pension
obligations, see Note 28 to the financial statements, ‘Pensions and
other post-employment benefits’.

Contingent liabilities

The following table sets out contingent liabilities, comprising
discounted bills, performance guarantees, letters of credit and other
items arising in the normal course of business, and when they are
expected to expire.

Tolal Under 1 yr 1-3yrs 35y 5 yrs+

£m £m £m £m £m

Guarantees 172 110 3 - 59
Other contingent liabilities 109 16 40 ] 47
Total 281 126 43 6 106

In the normal course of business, we have provided various
indemnification guarantees in respect of business disposals in
which legal and other disputes have subsequently arisen. A provision
is made where an cutilow of resources is considered probable and
a reliable estimate can be made of the bkely outcome of the dispute
and this is included in Note 29 to the financial statements, ‘Other
provisions'.

We provide for the outcome of tax, legal and other disputes when an
outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate
of the outflow may be made. At 31 December 2016, other than for
those disputes where provision has been mads, it was not possible
to maks a reliable estimate of the potential outflow of funds that might
be required to settle disputes where the possibility of there being an
outflow was more than rémote.

The uttimate liability for such matters may vary significantly from the,
amounts pravided and is dependent upon the outcome of litigation
proceedings and negotiations with the relevant tax authorities. This
is discussed further in ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ on pages
253 to0 262 and Notes 14 and 46 to the financial statements,
‘Taxation' and ‘Legal proceedings'.
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Critical accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with IFRS, as adopted for use in the European Union, and also
with IFRS as issued by the IASB, fallowing the accounting palicies
approved by the Board and described in Note 2 to the financial
statements, ‘Accounting principles and policies",

We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
in the financial statements. Actual amounts and results could differ
trom those estimates.

The critical accounting policies relate to the following areas:
— Turnover :

~ Taxation (Note 14)

- Legal and other disputes (Notes 29 and 46)

~ Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments (Notes 18
and 19)

- Business combinations (Note 38)
- Pensions and other post-employment benefits (Note 28).

Information on the judgements and estimates made in these areas
is given in Note 3 to the financial statements, ‘Key accounting
judgements and estimates’.

Turnover

In respect of the Tumaver accounting policy, our largest business
is US Pharmaceuticals, and the US market has the most complex
arrangements for rebates, discounts and allowances. The following
brisfly describes the nature of the arrangements in existence in our
US Pharmaceuticals business:

- We have arrangements with cenlain indirect customers whereby
the customer is able to buy products from wholesalers at reduced
prices. A chargeback represents the difference between the
invoice price o the wholesaler and the indirect customer’s
contractual discounted price. Accruals for estimating chargebacks
are calculated based on the terms of each agreement, historical
experience and product growth rates

— Customer rebates are offered to key managed care and Group
Purchasing Organisations {(GPO) and other direct and indirect
customers. These arrangements require the customer to achieve
certain performance targets relating to the value of product
purchased, formulary status or pre-determined market shares
relative to competitars. The accrual for customer rebates is
estimated based on the specific terms in each agreement,
historical experience and product growth rates

— The US Medicaid programme is a slate-administered programme
providing assistance to certain poor and vulnerable patients. in
1999, the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program was estabfished 1o
reduce State and Federal expenditure on prescription drugs. In
2010, the Patient Protectian and Affordable Care Act became law.
We participate by providing rebates to states. Accruals for Medicaid
rebales are calculated based on the specific terms of the relevant
regulations or the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

Cash discounts are offered to customers to encourage prompt
payment. These are accrued for at the time of invoicing and
adjusted subsequently to reflect actual experience

We record an accrual for estimated sales returns by applying
historicdl experience of customer returns ta the amounts invaiced,”
together with market related informatian such as stock fevets at
wholesalers, anticipated price increases and competitor activity.

A reconciliation of grass tumover to net turnaver for the US
Pharmmaceuticals business, including Puerto Rico, is as follows:

;:] : 2015 ] 2014
Margln | Margin Margin
.gh; 9% £m L)
Gross tumaver 13,363 100| 10,093 100 8838 100
Market driven o
segments (2749) (21 (1,761) (17) (1,2724)  (14)
Govemnment o
mandated and
state programs (3,070) (23), (2,357) (23) (1,697) (19)
Cash discounts (261) '(z)i (192) (2) (169) 2
Customer returns (38) () (83) 1) (69) (1)
Prior year adjustments |- 109 | 142 1 169 2
Other items " (457) (3), (298) (3) (181) (2)
Tota) deductions ] {6,526) (49) (4,559) (45) (3,221) {36)
Net tumover | 6837 51; 5534 55 5617 64

Market driven segments consist primarily of Managed Care and
Medicare plans with which GSK negotiates contract pricing that

is hanoured via rebates and chargebacks. Mandated segments
cansist primarily of Medicaid and Federal Government programmes
which receive government mandated pricing via rebates and
chargebacks.

The increased deduclions in the market driven segments of the
gross tumover to net urnover reconciliation primarily reflected
higher rebates and chargebacks on Respiratory products, and

on Advair in particular. During 2016, Advair accounted for 27% of
US Pharmaceuticals tumover and approximately 45% of the total
deduction for rebates and returns, and the Respiratory portfolio as
a whole accounted for approximately 75% of the total deduction in
the year. Advair continued to suffer pricing pressure in 2016 as the
business sought ta transition its Respiratory portfolio to newer
products.

The balance shest accruals for rebates, discounts, allowances
and retums for the US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines businesses
arg managed on a combined basis. At 31 December 2016, the
total accrua) amounted to £2,218 million (2015 - £1,671 milion).

A monthly process is operated to monitor inventory levels at
wholesalers for any abnormal movements. This process uses
gross sales volumes, prescription volumes based on third party
data sources and information received from key whalesalers. The
aim of this is to maintain inventories at a consistent level from year
to year based on the pattemn of consumption.

On this basis, US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines inventory levels at
wholesalers and in other dislribution channels at 31 December 2016
were estimated to amount ta approximately five weeks of tumaver.
This calculation uses third party information, the accuracy of which
cannot be totally verified, but is belisved 1o be sufficiently reliable for
this purpose.
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Legal and other disputes

In respect of the accounting policy for Legal and other disputes,
the following briefly describes the pracess by which we determine
the level of provision thal is necessary.

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 37, 'Provisions,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets', we provide for
anticipated settlement costs where an outflow of resources is
considered probable and a reliable estimate may be made of the
likely outcome of the dispute and legal and other expenses arising
from claims against the Group. We may become involved in
significant legal praceedings, in respect of which it is not possible
to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial effect, if any,
that could result from ultimate resolution of the proceedings. In these
cases, appropriate disclosure about such cases would be included
in the Annual Report, but no provision would be made.

This position could change over time and, therefore, there can be no
assurance that any losses that result from the outcome of any legal
praceedings will not exceed by a material amount the amount of the
provisions reported in the Group's financial statements.

Strategic report
Governance and remuneration
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Like many pharmaceutical companies, we are faced with various
complex product liability, anti-trust and patent litigation, as well as
investigations of its operations conducted by various govemmental
regulatory agencies. Throughout the year, the General Counsel of
the Group, as head of the Group's legal function, and the Senior
Vice President and Head of Global Litigation for the Group, who is
responsible for all litigation and government investigations, routinely
brief the Chief Executive Qfficer, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Board of Directors on the significant litigation pending against the
Group and governmental investigations of the Group.

These meetings, as appropnate, detail the status of significant litigation
and government investigations and review matters such as the number
of claims nolified to us, information on potential claims not yet notified,
assessment of the validity of claims, progress made in settling claims,
recent seitlement levels and potential reimbursement by insurers.

The meetings also include an assessment of whether or not there

is sufficient information available for us to be able to make a reliable
estimate of the potential outcomes of the disputes. Often, external
counse! assisting us with various litigation matters and investigations
will also assist in the briefing of the Board and senior management.
Following these discussions, for those matters where it is possible to
make a reliable estimate of the amount of a provision, if any, that may
be required, the level of provision for legal and other disputes is
reviewed and adjusted as appropriate. These matters are discussed
further in Note 46 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings'.

. . fl

Treasury policies

We report in Sterling and pay dividends out of Sterling cash flows.
The role of Treasury is to monitor and manage the Group's external
and internal funding requirements and financial risks in support of
our strategic objectives. GSK operates on a glabal basis, primarily
through subsidiary companies, and we manage our capital to ensure
that our subsidiaries are able to operate as going concerns and to
optimise returns to shareholders through an appropriate balance

of debt and equity. Treasury activities are governed by policies
approved annually by the Board of Directors, and most recenily

on 21 July 2016. A Treasury Management Group (TMG) meeting,
chaired by our Chief Financial Officer, takes place on a monthly
basis to review treasury activities. Its members receive management
information relating to these activities.

Treasury operations

The objective of our Treasury activily is to minimise the post-tax net
cost of financial operations and reduce its volatility in order to benefit
earnings and cash tlows. We use a variety of financial instrumenis o
finance our operations and derivative financial instruments to manage
market risks from thege operations. These derivatives, principally
comprising interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts
and swaps, are used to swap borrowings and liquid assets into
currencies required for Group purposes and to manage exposure

to financial risks from changes in foreign exchange rates and

interest rates. -

We do not hold or issue derivatives for speculative purposes

and GSK's Treasury policies specifically prohibit such activity.

All transactions in financial instruments are undertaken to manage
the risks arising from underlying business activities.

Capital management )

Our financial strategy, implemented through the Group's Financial
architecture, supports GSK's strafegic priorities and it is regularly
reviewed by the Board. We manage the capital structure of the
Group thraugh an appropriate mix of debt and equity.

GSK's long-term credit raling with Standard and Poor’s is A+
(stable outlook) and with Moody’s Investor Services (‘Moody's")

is A2 (negative outlook). Qur short-term credit ratings are A-1 and
P-1 with Standard and Poor's and Moody's respecitively.

Liquidity risk management

Our policy is to borrow centrally in order to meet anticipated funding
requirements. Our cash flow forecasts and funding requirements are
monitored by the TMG on a monthly basis. Our strategy is to diversify
liquidity sources using a range of facilities and to maintain broad
access to financial markets.

Each day, we eweep cash from a number of glnhal suhsidiaries fo
central Treasury accounts for liquidity management purposes.

Interest rate risk management

Our objective is to minimise the effeclive net interest cost and to
balance the mix of debt at fixed and floating interest rates over time.
The policy on interest rate risk management limits the amount of
floating interest payments to a prescribed percentage of operating

profit.
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Group financial review continued

Treasury policies continued

Foreign exchange risk management .
Foreign currency transaction exposures arising on external trade
flows are not normally hedged. Foreign currency transaction
exposures arising on internal trade flows are seleclively hedged.
Qur abjective is to minimise the exposure of overseas operating
subsidiaries to transaction risk by matching local currency income
with local currency costs where possible. GSK's internal trading
transactions are matched centrally and we manage inter-company
payment terms to reduce foreign currency risk. Foreign currency
cash flows can be hedged selectively under the management of
Treasury and the TMG. These include hedges of the foreign
exchange risk arising from acquisitions and disposals of assets.
Where possible, we manage the cash surpluses or borrowing
requirements of subsidiary companies centrally using forward
contracts to hedge future repayments back into the originating
currency.

In arder to reduce foreign currency translation exposure, we seek
to denominate borrowings in the currencies of our principal assets
and cash flows. These are primarily denominated in US Dollars,
Euros and Sterling. Borrowings can be swapped into other
currencies as required.

Strategic report

The Stratefic regort was app:
13 March i

Simon Dint‘: emans
Chief Finam}al Olficer

13 March 2017

Borrowings denominated in, or swapped into, foreign currencies
that match investments in overseas Group assets may be treated
as a hedge against the relevant assets. Forward contracts in major

‘currencies are also used to reduce exposure to the Group's

investment in overseas Group assets. The TMG reviews the
ralio of borrowings to assets for major currencies monthly.

Counterparty risk management

We set global counterparty limits for each of our banking and
investment counterparties based on long-term credit ratings from
Moody's and Standard and Paor's. Treasury's usage ol these limits
is monitored daily by a Corporate Compliance Officer (CCO) who
operates independently of Treasury. Any breach of these limits would
be reported to the CFO immediately.

The CCO also monitors the credit rating of these counterparties and,
when changes in ratings occur, notifies Treasury so that changes can
be made to investment levels or to authority limits as appropriate.

In addition, relationship banks and their credit ratings are reviewed'
regularly and a report is presented annually to the TMG for approval.
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Chairman’s Governance statement

Picture removed to mee
Companies House
requirements

Last year, we reported
the steps taken to refresh
our non-executive
representation on the
Board to address a
number of planned
retirements. This year,
the Board’s primary
focus was on executive .
succession.

"

t)

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present our Corporate
Governance Report for 2016.

The Board remains committed to the highest
standards of corporale governance and
integrity. Our goveinance struclure operales
from tha Board acrass the Group, and we
believe that it is critical in underpinning our
ability to deliver our strategy and to create
long-term value for our shareholders.

CEO and executive management
succession

Last year, we reported the steps taken to
refresh our non-executive representation on
the Board to address a number of planned
retirements. This year, the Board's primary
focus was on executive succession. The
review of Talent and Leadership Strategy
has been an annual item of Board and
Nominatians Committee discussion and
oversight. When Sir Andrew Witty indicated,
in March 20186, his intention to retire from the

' Board in early 2017, we were well placed to

accelerate an orderly CEQ succession and
transition plan. The process we followed is
described in the report of our Nominations
Committee on pages 94 to 86.

The Board was unanimous in supporting ~

the appointment of Emma Walmsley, who
previously led GSK's Consumer Healthcare
business, as our new CEQ. It was teft that
her leadership skils, history of delivering
growth and driving performance and fresh
thinking made her an ideal choice.

Under Sir Andrew's leadership, GSK has
successfully developed market-leading
positions in Vaccines and Consumer
Healthcare. These provide excellent
platforms for sustainable, long-term growth,
and we are confident Emma will successfully
build on these strengths and further
strengthen the Pharmaceuticals business.
Since her appointment as CEO Designate
in September 2016, and in the run up to
assuming the role of CEO an 1 April 2017,
she is focusing completely on the transition.
She is spending time with Sir Andrew so,
he can share his knowledge and expetience
and make key introductions, while also
deepening her understanding of the
business, especially R&D, Pharmaceuticals
and Vaccines. She has also started to meet
with major shareholders to listen to their
views on GSK. She will share her strategic
overvigw and vision for the Group later in
the year. Details of her induction plan are
sel out on page 91.

A further change was made to our executive
representation on the Board when Dr
Moncef Slaoui, Chairman, Global Vaccines,
indicated his intention to retire from the
Board in 2017. In addition, Dr Patrick
Vallance, President, R&D, has been
appointed to the Board.

1 would like to express my gratitude to both
Sir Andrew and Moncef far their dedication
and service to GSK over the years and their
professionalism and support in facilitating an
orderly Board succession process.
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Review of our Board governance
arrangements .

The Board keeps the functioning of its
govemance framework under regular review.
During the year, it made the following
enhancements:

Science Committee: The Board decided

to establish a Science Committee to look

at our science, pipeline and R&D capital
allacation priorities. It is chaired by Dr Jesse
Goodman, one of our designated Scientific
and Medical Experts, and its members all
have a background in life sciences from

either a specialist or commercial perspective.

This matter has been under consideration
for some time and the timing of its
implementation has been driven by the
following considerations:

— science and innovation underpins each
of our businesses in Pharmaceuticals,
Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare;

our R&D organisation continues to deliver
significant innovation for the Group, with
a number of decisions for potential new
medicines and vaccines coming up in the
next two years. This Commiltee can help
bring a greater focus to the Board's
deliberations on R&D at a critical phase
for the company;

— the Board is looking to further increase its
scientific capabilities with a search for a
third Scientific and Medical Expart and

establishing this Committee is in step with .

this approach.

Finance Committee: After reviewing the
role of our Finance Committee, the Board
decided that a specific commitiee was no
longer required. Its responsibilities have
been reassigned to the Board or our Audit
& Risk Committes.

Culture and values

As Chairman, | am responsible for leading
and ensuring we have an effective Board.

| also actively encourage a culture and
environment in the boardroom that facilitates
debate and where our Non-Executive
Directors are abie to provide constructive
challenge to management. | am pleased to
advise thal | believe the Board is hard-
working and engaged, with an appropriate
balance of skills and experisnce. The newer
appointees are bringing fresh insights and
perspectives to further improve our decision
making. Our recent annual Board evaluation
exercise was carried out by the Company
Secretary and centred on identifying further
performance improvements. The evaluation
outcomes are set out on page 92. Our 2017
Board evaluation will be undertaken by an
independent external Board review
specialist. The last such independent
evaluation was carried out in 2014,

No less important for myself, in setting the
tone of ihe organisaiion from the top, is
promoting the values-based conduct and
behaviours of our people that flow from
the Boardroom through every artery of

the business.

| seek to ensure that everything that we as a
Board do is guided by our commitment to
our values and to being in compliance with
the local laws and regulations within which
we operate. GSK's Code of Conduct
(Code) draws together a number of our key
policies that lay the foundations of these
commitments and provides a working guide
for the way in which we apply our values
across our global operations.

indeed, the Board felt it was important

to lead by example and has chosen to
undertake the same annual training on
our Code obligations as our employees.
The latest version of the Code, which was
updated and strengthened in April 2016,
is available in the govemance area of
www.gsk.com.

UK Corporate Governance Code
compliance

| am pleased to report that we were in full
compliance with the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Council's 2014 UK
Corporate Governance Code (UK Code)

— a copy of the UK Code is available on
www.frc.org.uk. The following pages outline
our approach to corporate governance.

t commend this report to all of our
shareholders.

LAy N

Phitip Hampton
Chairman

13 March 2017
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Gender diversity

y =\
Board composition :

Board
As at date of publication

As at 1 April 2017

Female

Executive
As at date of publication

Asat 1 Aprit 2017

Pictures removed to meet
Companies House

requirements

Sir Philip Hampton 83

" Sir Andrew Witty 52

Non-Executive
As at date of publication

;‘.ema!e h

Asat 1 Apil 2017

Tenure Non-Executive

Male

Female

As at 1 April 2017

International experience

1. Up to 3years 63%
2. 3-8 yesrs 25%
3. 79 yesrs 0%
4. OverDyears 12%
Composition

As at t April 2017

1. Execulive 27%
2. Non-Executive 73%

Asat 1 April 2017

o v
( {’g;’bat us Europe EMAP
73% 100% 91% 64%
- /
Key - .

@ Committee Chair

® Nominations

® Audit & Risk

(® Remuneration

(© Corporate Responsibility

L o ® Science”

Non-Ezxecutive Chairman Chief Executive Officer

o

Nationality Nationality B
British British

Appointed Appomted ..............

1 January 2015. Deputy Chairman
from 1 April 2016 and Non-Executive
Chairman from 7 May 2015

Skdlls and experience
Prior to joining GSK, Sir Philip
chaired major FTSE 100 companies,
including The Royal Bank of
Scotland Group plc and J Sainsbury
pic. He has also served as Graup
Finance Director at Lioyds TSB
Group, BT Group plc, BG Group
plc, British Gas pic and British

Steel pic. Sir Philip was previously
appointed an Executive Director

of Lazerds and a Non-Executive
Director at RMC Group Pic and
Belgacom SA. Until 2009, he was
Chairman of UX Financial
Investments Limited, which manages
the UK Government's shareholdings
n banks.

External appoimments

Sir Philip is currently the Senior
Independent Director of Anglo
American Pic, Chairman of its
Remuneration Committee and
member of its Audit Committee.
Sir Philip is also Chair of the
Hampton-Alexander Review

on FTSE Women Leaders, an
independent review on improving
gender balance in FTSE leadership.

31 January 2008. Chis! Executive
Officer from 21 May 2008. Sir
Andrew is retiring from the Baard
on 31 March 2017.

Skills and experience

Sir Andrew joined GSK in 1985.
Ha has worked in the UK, South
Africa, the US and Singapore in
various seniar roles. In 2003, he was
appointed President of Europe and
joined GSK's Corporate Executive
Yeam. Andrew has served in
numerous advisory roles to
Governments around the world,
including South Africa, Singapore,
Guangzhau China and the UK,
where he was a member of the Prime
Minister's Business Advisory Group
from 2010-2015. He was awarded
a Knighthood for services to the
economy and to the UK
pharmaceutical industry in the
2012 New Year Honours Ligt.

External appointments

Sir Andrew is 8 UK Business
Ambassadar and serves on the
China-Britain Business Council
Advisory Councif and the EO8
International Advisory Committes,
Singapore. Sir Andrew is also
Co-Chair of a UK EU Life Sciences
Steering Group to advise the UK *
Government on life science priorities
in the context of the UK leaving the
EU, Visiting Profesasor to the Institute
of Global Health Innovation at
Imperial College, London, and
Chancellor of the University of
Nottingham.
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Emma Walmsley 4?2

Simon Dingemans 53

Dr Moncef Slaoui 57

Dr Patrick Vallance 56

CEO Designate Chief Financial Officer Chairman, Global Vaccines President, R&D
Nationality Nationality Nationality Nationality
British British Moroccan, Belgian & American British
Appointed Appainted - Appointed Appaointed

1 January 2017. Chief Executive
Officer from 1 Aprit 2017

Skills and experience
Emma joined GSK in 2010 with
responsibility for Consumer
Healthcare, Europe and was
subsequently appointed President
of GlaxoSmithKline Consumer
Healthcare. She has been a member
of GSK’s Corporate Executive Team
since 2011 and, in 2015, was
appainted CEO ol GSK Consumer
Healthcare, a joint venture between
GSK and Novartis. Emma joined the
GSK Board on 1 January 2017 and
will formally succeed Sir Andrew
Witty as GSK CEQ when he retires
on 31 March 2017,

Prior to joining GSK, Emma worked
with U'QOreal for 17 years where she
he!d a variety of marketing and
general management roles in Paris,
London and New York. Fram 2007,
she was based in Shanghai as
General Manager, Consumer
Products for L'Oreal China. Emma
was a Non-Executive Director of
Diageo pic from 1 January to 21

_September 2016. She holds an MA
in Classics and Modern Languages
from Oxford University.

External appointments
None

4 January 2011. Chief Financial
Officer from 1 April 2011

Skills and experience

Prior to joining GSK, Simon had
over 26 years of experience in
investment banking at SG Warburg
and Goldman Sachs. Simon advised
GSK for aver a decade before his
appointment and was closely
involved in 8 number of GSK's

key strategic projects.

External appointments
Simon is Deputy Chairman of the
100 Group of Finance Directors,
having been Chairman from 2014
to early 2017,

17 May 20086. Moncef is retiring from
the Board on 31 March 2017

Skills and experience

Moncef joined GSK Vaccines in
1988 where he engineered the
development of a robust vaccines
pipetine. He then led Worldwide
Businass Davelopment for
pharmaceutical products before his
appointment to lead R&D in 2006.
He was given overall responsibility
for GSK’'s Oncology Business in
2010; for GSK Vaccines in 2011;
and for ail Globa! Franchises in 2012.
Moncef is Chairman of the Board of
Directars af Galvani Bioelectronics,
the company launched in November
2016 that GSK jointly owns with
Verily Life Sciences.

Moncef has advised the US
President’s Council of Advisors

on Science and Technology, was &
member of the Board of the Agency
for Science, Technology & Research
(A°STAR) until January 2011, the
PhRMA Foundatian Board from
2008 to 2016 and the Advisory
Committee to tha Director of
National Institutes of Health from
201 to 2016.

Ha has a PhD in Molecular Biology
and immunology from Université

Libre de Bruxefles and has published

more than 100 scientific papers
and presentations. Prior to joining
GSK, Moncef was Professor of
Immunology at the University of
Mans, Belgium. .

External appointments
Moncef is a member of the
Biotachnology Industry Organization
Board in the US. Ha is also an
adviser to the Qatar Foundation,
and a member of the Qatar
Biomedical Research Institute
Scientific Advisory Committee.
Moncef serves as a Non-Executive
Director for the International AIDS
Vaccine Initiative (JAVI) and is a
member of the Board of Artizan |
Biosciences Inc.

1 January 2017

Skills and experience

Patrick joined GSK in 2006 as
Head of Drug Discovery and was
subsequently appointed Senior
Vice President, Medicines Discovery
and Development. He has been
amember of GSK's Corporate
Executive Team since 2010

and was appointed President,
Pharmaceuticals R&D in January
2012. Patrick joined the GSK
Board on 1 January 2017

Prior to joining GSK, Patrick was a
clinical academic and, as Professor
of Medicine, lad the Division of
Medicine at University College
London. He has over 20 years'

p ofr h clinical
medicine, general internal medicine,
cardiovascutar medicine and clinical
pharmacology. He was alected to
the Aéademy of Medical Sciences
in 1999.

External appointments

Patrick is a Non-Executive Director
of Genome Research Limited and
UK Biobank.
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Manvinder Singh (Vindi) Banga 62
Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

Protessor Sir Roy Anderson 69
Independent Non-Executive
Director & Scientific Expert

Dr Vivienne Cox 67
Independent Non-Executive
Director

Lynn Elsenhans 80
Independent Non-Executive
Director

0]l ®OG ®0O <1010}

Nationality Nationality Nationality Nationality

indian British Bnitish American

Appointed Appointed Appointed Appointed

1 September 2015 and as Senior 1 October 2007 1 July 2016 1 July 2012

Independent Non-Executive Di

from & May 2016 Skills and experience Skills and experience Skills and experience

Skills and experience

Prior to joining GSK, Vindi spent

33 years at Unilever pic, where his
last role (amongst several senior
positions) was President of the
Global Foods, Home and Personal
Care businesses, and he was a
member of the Unilever Executive
Board. Vindi sat on the Prime
Minister of India's Council of Trade
& Industry from 2004 to 2014,

and was on the Board of Governars
of the Indian Institute of Management

Profl Sir Roy is a world-
renowned medical scientist with
advanced knowledge of infectious
disease epidemiology, and is

Vivienne has wide experience of
business gained in the energy,
natural resources and publishing
sectors. She also has 2 deep

cusrently Prof of Infectious
Disease in the Faculty of Medicine,
Imperial College, London. He is

a Fellow of the Royal Society, the
Academy of Medical Sciences and
the Royal Statistical Society. He is
an Honorary Fellow of the Institute
of Actuaries and a Foreign Assoclate
Member of the National Academy

of Medicine at the US Nationa

{liM), Ahmedabad. Vindi is also the
recipient of the Padma Bhushan,
ane of India's highest civilian
honours, Between 2016 and 2016,
Vindi was a Non-Executive Director
of Thomson Reuters Corp and a
member of its HR committee.

External appointments

Vindi is a Partner at private equity
investment firm Clayton Dubilier
& Rice. He is also Chairman of
the Supervisory Board ol Mauser
Group, Chairman of Kalle GmbH,
Senior Independent Director of
Marks & Spencer Group plc and
a member of is Nominations and
Remuneration Commitiees. Vindi
is on the Governing Board of the
Indian School of Business (ISB),
Hyderabad, and is a member of the
Indo UK CEO Forum.

Academy of Sciences and the French

ding of regulatory and
govemmant relationships. She
worked for BP pic for 28 years,
in Britain and Continental Europe,
in posts including Executive Vice
President and Chief Executive of
BP's gas, power and renewable
businsy gt ils alternative cncrgy

Lynn has a wealth of experience

of running a global business and
significant knowledge of the global
markets in which GSK operates. She
served as Chair, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Suncco Inc.
{rom 2008 to 2012, Prior to joining
Sunoco in 2008 as President and
Chief Executive Officer, Lynn worked
far Royal Dutch Shell, which she
joined in 1980, and where she held
a number of senins mias, including

t, Global

unit. Vivienne was previously a E tive Vice Presid
Non-Executive Director of B Manufacturing from 2005 to 2008.
Group plc and Rio Tinto plc. -

Vivi was appointed Commander  External appointments

Academy of Sci Prol Sir
Roy brings scientific expertise to the
Board's deliberations.

Extermnal appointments
Professor Sir Roy is a member ol
the international Advisory Board

of Holdingham Group and he is a
member of the Science Advisory
Board of the Natural History
Museum, London. Heis also a
member of the Vaccine International
Advisory Board (VACCIAB) of A)
Pharma Holding Sdn. Bhd in
Malaysia, the International
Alzheimer's Cansortium at Harvard

" of the Order of the British Empire in

the 2016 New Year Honours for
services to the UK Economy and
Sustainability. -

Lynn is a Non-Executive Director

of Baker Hughes Inc. and Flowsarve
Corporation, a Director of the

Texas Medical Center, and a
Non-Executive Diractor of The First

External appointments
Vivienne is Senior Independent
Director of Pearson pic, a Non-
Executiva Director of Stena
International and Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Vallourec,
a supplier to the enargy industry.
She is also Lead Independent
Director at the UK Goverament’s
Department for International
Davel

Univergity, Boston, and Chairmar
of the Scientific Advisory Board
{SAB) of the Netherlands Ceantre
for One Health (NCOH).

Key.

@ Committee Chair

® Nominations

® Audit & Risk

(® Remuneration

© Corporate Responsibility
. ® Science

P

Tee of Greater Houston. She is also
a Trustee of the United Way of
Greater Houston,
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Dr Jesse Goodman 65
Independent Non-Executive

Judy Lewent 68
Independent Non-Executive

Director & Scientific Expert Director
1G] O®EE
Naﬁonaliiy Nationality
American American
Appointed Appointed
1 January 2016 1 April 2013

Skills and experience

Dr Goodman previously served in
senior leadership positions at the
US Food and Drug Administration
(FDA), including most recently as the
FDA's Chief Scientist and previously
as Deputy Commissioner for
Science and Public Health and as
Director of the Center for Biologics
Evaluation and Research (CBER).

Dr Goocdman played a leadership
role in developing the FOA's
Regulatory Science and Medical
Countermeasures Initiatives and has
worked collaboratively with industry,
academia, government and global
public health and regulatory partners
to prepare for and respond to major
public health threats, including
emerging infectious diseases,
disasters and terrorism. He led the
FDA's regpanse to West Nile Virus
and to the 2009 H1N1 influenza
pandemic and served on the Senior
Leadership Team for the 2010 White
House Medical Countermeasure
Review. Dr Goodman brings
scientific and pubtic health expertise
to the Board's deliberations.

External appointments
Or Goodman, currently Professor of
Medicine at Georgetown University,
directs the Georgetown University
Center on Medical Praduct Access,
Safety and Stewardship
(COMPASS) and is an active
cfinician who serves as Attending
Physician in Infectious Diseases.
He also serves as President and
Member of the Board of the United
States Pharmacopeia (USP) and as
- a member of the Scientific Advisory
Board (SAB) of the Coalition for

q
Prep. I 19

(CEPY).

Skills and experience

Judy has extensive knowledge of the
global pharmaceutical industry and
of corporate finance, having joined
Merck & Co in 1980 and then served
as Chief Financial Officer (rom 1990
to 2007 when she retired. Judy was
previously a Non-Executive Director
af Purdue Pharma Inc, Napp
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
and certain Mundipharma
intemational Limited companiss

untit 31 December 2014. Judy
previously served as a Non-
Executive Director of Defl Inc.,
Quaker Qats Company and
Matarola Inc.

The Board has determined that
Judy has recent and relevant
financial experience, and agresd
that she has the appropriate
qualifications and background to be
an audit committee financial expent.

External appointments

Judy is a Non-Executive Director of
Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc and
Motoarola Solutions Inc. She is also
a Trustee of the Rockefeller Family
Trust and Chaitperson of the Audit
Committee of Rockefeller Financial
Services, a fife member of the
Massachusetts Institute of
Technology Corporation and a
member of the American Academy
of Arts and Sciences.

Urs Rohner 57
Independent Non-Executive
Director

(= 1)

Nationality
Swiss

Appointed
1 January 2015

Skills and experience

Urs has a broad range of business
and legal experience having served
as Chairman on a number of Boards,
most recently for Credit Suisse,

a world-leading financial services
company. Prior to joining Credit
Suisse in 2004, Urs served as
Chairman of the Executive Board
and CEO of ProSieben and
ProSiebenSat.] Media AG. This
followed a numbar of yoais in privals
practice at major law firms in
Switzerland and the US, having been
admitted to the bars of the canton of
Zurich in 1886 and the state of New
Yorkin 1990.

Externa! appointments

Urs is cutrently Chairman of the
Board of Credit Suisse Group

AG and of the Chairman’s and
Governance Committee. He is
also Chairman and member of the
Board of Trustees of Credit Suisse
Research Institute and Cradit Suisse
Foundation. Urs was appointed
Vice-Chairman of the Governing
Board of the Swiss Bankers
Association in 2015.

Other Board members . W
Sir.Deryck Maughan was _
Senior independent Non-
Executive Director and a member
of the Nominations, Audit' & Risk
and Remuneration Committees
until his retirement from the

Board on 5 May 2016.

Or Stephanie Burns was an -
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
"Remuneration and Corporate
Responsibility Committees untii
her retirement from the Board”
on § May 2016.

Or Daniet Podolsky wasan_ *
“independent Non-Execlitive
Director and a member of the |
Audit & Risk and Corporate * *
-Responsibility Committees until
hig retirement from the-Board

on 5 May 2016. :

Hans Wijers was an
Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Remuneration and Carporate
Responsibility Committees until
his retirement from the Board
on § May 2016.

Stacey Cartwright was an
Independend Non-Executive
Director and a member of the
Augh-& Risk Committee until
her retirement from the Board .
Lon 31 December 2016.
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1. Sir Andrew Witty
Chief Executive Officer

2. Emma Walmsley
CEO Desngnale

3 Slmon Dmgemans
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer .

4 Patnd< Vallance
President, R&D

@ For biographicel details, see pages 82
and 83.

"Pictures removed to meet Companies House

requirements

David Redfern
Chief Strategy Officer

Oavid joined CEY as Chief Strategy Officer
in 2008 and is responsible for corporate
develapment and strategic planning. He
was appointed Chairman of the Board of
ViV Healthcere L1d. in Apsil 2011 and a
Noan-Executive Dirgctar of Aspen
Pharmacare Ltd.

Previously, he was Senior Vice President,
Northern Europe with reaponsibility for GSKX's
ph Nical busi in that region and,
priar to that, was Senior Vice President for
Central and Eastern Europe. David joined
GSKin 1894.

David has a Bachelor of Science degree
from Bristo! University in the UK and is a
Chartered Accountant.

Claire Thomas
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Claire was appointed to CET as Senior Vice
President, Human Resources in 2008.

Ctaire joined the company in 1998 as Senior
Manager, Human Resources, Sales and
Marketing Group, UK Pharmaceuticals before
becoming Director of Human Resources for

UK Pharmaceuticals in 1997. She was appointed
Senior Vice President, Human Resources,
Pharmaceuticals Europe in 2001 and Senior Vice
President, Human R
International in 2006.

Priar to GSK, she worked for Ford Motor
Company, bolding varioua positions in Human
Resaurces.

Claire has a Bachelor of Science degree in

Economics, Management and Industrial Relations
from the University of Wales.

iticals

Pictures removed to meet Companies House

requirements

Abbas Hussain
President, Global Pharmaceuticals

Abbas joined CET in 2008 and was appointed
President, Global Pharmaceuticals in 2014,

having joined the company as President, Emerging
Markets & Asia Pacific in 2008. He joined the

ViV Healthcare Ltd Board in October 2009.

Previously, he spent 20 years at Eli Lilly where

he held positions including President, Europe.

Ha also worked for Eli Lilly in Australia, the US,

india, Turkey and Germany in several roles,

including business development, sales and
rkeling, and )

He has a degree in Medicinal Chemisiry &
Pharmacalogy from Loughborough University
and was born in Madras, India.

In January 2017, GSK announced Abbas’
decision to leave the company later in the year.

Dan Troy
Senior Vice President & General Counsel

Dan joined GSK and CET as Senior Vice
President & General Counsel in 2008.

He was previously a Partner at the Washington
taw firm Sidley Austin LLP, where he principally
represented pharmaceutical companies and trade
associations on matters related to the US Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) and govemment
regulations. Dan was formerly Chief Counsel for
the FDA.

Dan halds a B.S. in Industrial and Labor Relations
from Cornell University and a J.D. from Columbia
University School of Law. He chairs the US
Chamber of Commerce Litigation Center.
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Phil Thomson
Senior Vice President, Communications
and Government Affairs

Phil joined CET in 2011 and was appointed
Senior Vice President, Communications and
Government Affairs in 2014. He has responsibility
for Media Relations, Investor Relations, Corporate
Respongibility, Internal Communications, Product
Communications, Government Affairs and GSK's
Global Brand and Community Partnerships.

He joined the company as a commercial trainee
in 1998, moving from phasrmaceutical brand
marketing to product communications. In 1999,
he became Director of Media Relations and was
then Directar, Investor Relations from 2001 to
2004, when he ieturned to Corporate Media
Relations as Vice President.

tn July 2016, he became a Co-Opted Member
of the China-Britain Business Council,

Phil earned his degree in English and History
from Durham University.

Roger Connor
President, Global Manufacturing

& Supply

Roger joined CET in 2012 and was appointed
President, Global Manufacturing & Supply (GMS)
in 2013, alter working for a year as President
Designate, GMS. Roger joined GSKin 1998
from AstraZeneca and worked in a number of
finance and manufacturing strategy roles.

Prior 10 his current position, he was Vice
President, Office of the CEO and Corparate
Strategy, from February 2010.

He holds a degree in Mechanicat and
Manufacturing Engingering from Queen's
University Belfast and a Masters in
Manufacturing Leadesship from Cambridga
Univarsity. He is also a Chartered Accountant.

Nick Hirons
Senior Vice President, Global Ethics
and Compliance

Nick was appointed to CET in 2014 as Senior
Vice President, Global Ethics and Compliance,
responsible for compliance, risk management
and corporate security and investigations.

Nick joined GSK in 1994 as an International
Auditor. He was later Head of Audit & Assurance,
where he combined five audit functions into an
independent team with a common risk-based
methodology. In 2013, Nick relocated to China
to establish a governance maodel for our China
business that ¢ d a consistent app h

to compliance.

Nick is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

Pictures removed to meet Companies House
requirements

Luc Debruyne
President, Global Vaccines

Luc joined CET in 2016 as President, Global
Vaccines, a role he has hgld since 2013. He joined
GSK in 1991 and warked as a commercial
strategy director in R&D, before leading the
European Commercial Centre of Excellence in
2005. In 2006, Luc became General Manager of
the Nethertands and then in 2010 Senior Vice
President and General Manager in ltaly. In 2012,
he was appointed Seniar Vice President, Pharma
Europe, prior ta his current role. Luc is a member
of the International Federation of Pharmaceutical
Manufacturers & Associatians (IFPMA) V:

CEO Roundtable, as well as the Management
Committee of the Belgian Federation of -
Enterprises.

He holds a Master's degree in Physical Education
from University of Leuven.

Brian McNamara .
CEOQ, GSK Consumer Healthcare

Brian joined CET in 2016, when he was appointed

CEQ, GSK Consumer Healthcare. Brian joined
GSK in March 2015 as Head of Europe and
Americas for GSK Consumer Healthcare,
following the creation of a joint venture between
GSK and Novartis. Previously, he was head of
Novartis's OTC division. Brian began his career
at Procter and Gamble. He is a board member of
the World Seif-Medication Industry Association.

He earned an undergraduate degree in Electrical
Engineering from Union College in New York
and an MBA in Finance from the University of
Cincinnati. .

Further information

During the year Dr Monce! Slaoui

was a member of CET and staod down
| on 31 December 2016 {see page 83).

In Jaruary 2017, Luke Miels was appointed
President, Global Pharmaceuticals; his start
( date with GSK is to be canfirmed.

'~ -

- e——

-t -
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Corporate governance framework -

The Board has a coherent corporate gavernance framework with clearly defined responsibilities and accountabilities. The framework is
designed to safeguard and enhance long-term shareholder value and to provide a robust platform to realise the Group's strategy to Grow,
Deliver and Simplify. Our internal control and risk management arrangements, which are described on pages 18 to 19, and 105 to 106,
are an integral part of GSK's governance framework.

For the Board 10 operate etfectively and to give full consideration 1o key matters, Board Committees bave been established as set out below.

<

Corparate

Chiet Audit & Risk’ Remunération Norminations Science

Executive Committee ' Committee Committee Responsibility Committee

Officer - ’ : -t Committee

.v—_—___‘ MR
Read more on Read more on Read mare an Read move on
Corporate pags 87 page 112 page 94 ® pago 81
sxecutwe Sese www.gskocom See www.agskcom Seo www.gskeom Sea www.gsh.com
eam for terms of reference for terms of refevence far terms of reference foc tenms of relerence
2016 Board and Committee meeting attendance
Board Audit 8 Risk Remuneraton Nomi C b ibily
! Maximum | ’ l Maximum { ®aximum ' ( Maximum | ‘ Maximum

Members i Atrend ible | Attanded! e 4 Ik Attend. I Astmned )
Sir Philip Hampton { 6l 6 | ] ! t ! 6l 6 | 1
Sir Andrew Witty l 3 6 ) \ i | i 1 i |
Simon Dingemans { 6§ 6 f 1 { i { 1 { i
Dv Moncef Slaoui | 1] 6 | 1 1 i i i 1 i
Profeasor Sir Roy Anderson t [ 6 i [ } 1 § 61 6 1 4l 4
Vindi Banga ! 6l 8 i 61 6 1 si 5 1 5] 6 1 i
Dr Vivienne Cox i ! | . I ) ‘ ! l 1
Appointed on 1 July 2018 3 3 l 1 3 3
1ynn Elsenhans | 6f 8 | 6l 6 1 i i 6) 6§ 4! 4
Dr Jesse Goodman | 6i 6 ) | ] } - i 1 4! 4
Judy Lewent { 8} 6 ! 6, 6 | 5! 5 1 6. 6 } }
Urs Rahaer ] 5] 8 | [ ] 4 s ) ] i ]
Stacey Cantwright ' ? , l . I l l i !
Retired on 31 December 2016 51 6 5 6 H
Dr Stephanie Bums ‘ ] l i | ! l ] l |
Retired on S May 2016 3 3 ! 2 2 1 1
e Y N N N Y N RS R Y
Retired on S May 2016 2 3 2 3 2 2 2 3
D¢ Daniel Podolsky l | : ] ’ l l : l
Ratived on 5 May 2018 2 3 l 2 3 1 1
Hans Wijers I l 1 . ‘ ‘ ; , ‘
Retired on 5 May 2016 3 3} ‘ 2 2 1. 1

Dsiails of other rogular dees at Ci ittee mealings, such as the Chairman, CEO and oihor Executive Directors, are sel out in the reports of our Commiltess. These

reporis arg inctuded later in the Corporate Govemance Repart.
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Areas of focus Strategic priorities fink
Strategy The Board’s oversight of the execution of our strategy Included:
- Reports from our principal businesses, R8D, and GMS omganisations
- Discussion and approva! of the strategic combination with Verily Life Sciences 1o develop bioelectronic
medicines, resulting in the Galvani joint venture
— Holding a joint Board & CET strategy day to discuss the evolution of our strategy, estemal landscape
changes, competitor advantage and govemance arangements
~ Reports on our pensions, insurance, tax and treasury strategies
~ Review of our R&D pipaline and new products
- Review of our ViV Healthcare joint venture @
Performance During the year, the Board regularly discussed:
- Reponts trom the CEO, the heads of our principal businesses and R&D and GMS organisations
~ The Group's financial performance
- The annual budget and forward looking three year plan '
- Progress on our Finance transformalion programme (o enliance our gaocesses wid service capabilities @
- Brexit impacts and planning @
Governance The Board undertook the following corporate govemnance duties:

- Received reparts fram Board Committees

Approved the 2015 Annual Report
- AGM preparation

Considered observations and actions from the intemal evaluation of the Board's performance

Receawed reports on carporate govemance and regulatory developments

~ Teaining on our Corporate Integrity Agreement (CIA), the new Market Abuse Regulations (MAR), and
our updated Code of Conduct

- Approved the appointment of new CEO and Directors

- Approved the appointment of new auditor with effect from 2018

Talenl and succession

The Head of HR briefed the Board on:
- the Talent and Leadership Develop strategy

lSQrategykey: Grow Deliver Slmprrfy
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Corporate Governance continued

Leadership and effectiveness continued

Key Board roles and responsibilities . h

Strong leadership

Independent oversight and rigorous challenge
Chalrman
Philip Hampton : Non-Executive Directors
- Leads and manages the business of the Board - Provide a strong independent element to the Board -

~ Provides direction and focus

~ Ensures clear structure for effective operation of the Board
and its Committees

- Sets Board agenda and ensures sufficient time is allocated to
promote effective debatg and support saund decision making conditions of their directorship

— Ensures the Board receives precise, timely and clear ~ Devote such time as is necessary to the proper perffarmance

information of their duties :

-~ Meets with each Non-Executive Director on an annual basis - Are expected to attend all Board mestings and additianal
to discuss individual contributions and performance, toggther meetings as required.

with training and development needs
~ Shares peer feedback that is provided as part of the Board Independence statement

evaluation pracess . . . .
~ Meets with all the Non-Executive Directors independently m:sg:‘:ﬂﬁz:’;ﬂ:gf “N:!ﬁ;E':;cPu:g/ ;g’:g;’;;h::;:rson
- Cégiiﬁsrszzzt?: rssharehol ders to whom he is with tenure of mare than nine years, to demanstrate an appropriate
responsible for the Group's performance degree of independence in character and judgement and to be
~ Satisfied the Financial Rgpofting Council's UK Corporate free from any business or other relaionship which could materially
" orpo interfere with the exercise of their judgement. The independence
Govemance Cods indspendence lest on appoiniment. and commitment of those Non-Executive Directors who have served

The Chairman's rola dascription . : :
S Bratzbi on wermgSkoam o?m t::’ Board for over six years has been subjected to arigorous

— Constructively support and challenge management and
scrutinise their performance in meeting agreed deliverables

— Shape proposals on strategy and management

— Each has a lelter of appointment setting out the terms and

Chief Executive Officer E
Sir Andrew Witty Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Vindi Banga

— Is responsible for the management of the business

— Develops the Group's strategic direction for cansideration — Acts as a sounding board for the Chairman and a trusted
and approval by the Board intermediary for other Directors
- Implements the agreed strategy - Leads the review annually of the Chairman'’s performance,
- Is supported by members of the Corporate Executive Team, canvassing views from the Non-Executive Directors collectively

Trvo Chial Executive Officer's rale description - Dfscusses !h_e results af the Chairman's effectiveness review

is evailable on www.gskcom with the Chairman

: — Leads the search and appointment process and
recommendation to the Board of a new Chairman

—~ Acts as an additional point of contact for shareholders

— In doing s0, maintains an understanding of the issues and
concems of major shareholders through briefings from the
Investor Relations team and the Company Secretary.

@ The Senior tndependent Non-Execative Director's role
doscription & avatabla oo "

COMm

\ ' J J
A~ R
- Timely support and advice .
Company Secretary — Acts as a Secretary to the Board and all Board Committees -
Victoria Whyte - Supports the Board and Committee Chairmen in annual agenda plan setting

- Ensures information is made available to the Board members in a timely fashion

— Facilitates the flow of information within the Board and Cemmittees and between
Non-Executive Directors and management

— Supports the Chairman in designing and delivering Board inductions

- Coordinates ongoing business awareness and training requirements for the
Non-Executive Directors '

- Undertakes internal Board and Cammittes evaluations at the request of the Chairman

- Advises the Directors on Board practices and procedures and corporate
qovernance matters

~ Chairs the Group's Disclosure Cammittee )

- Acts as a point of contact for shareholders on corporate govemance.
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Board induction

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in individually
“designing and facilitating induction programmes for new Directors.
They are designed with the purpose of osientating and familiarising
new Directors with our industry, organisation, govemance and

strategy to Grow, Deliver & Simplify. During the year, Emma Walmsley,
our CEQ Designate, Dr Jesse Goodman, a new US-based Science

and Medical Expert, and Dr Vivienne Cox, a highly experienced
UK-based Non-Executive Director, were all appointed to the Board.

General Board induction

Strategic report
Governance and remuneration
Financia) statements

Investor intormation

Executive Non-Executive All Directors
- Emma Walmsley — Dr Jesse Goodman — Director's duties and
f - Role of an Executive — Dr Vivienne Cox zsé::(cfnsclbulmes \
Director - Role of a Non-Executive G oversna : égz::niture
- Build relationship with Director :
Chairman and the — GSK strat — GSK Corporate Inte.gr.lty
Board rategy, Agreement (CIA) training
oar competitors and — GSK's Code of Conduct
- Fill any capability gaps extemal environment trainins e of Loonduc
-~ Meet CET members 9
- GSK's financial
structure
g% - J A%

Each new Director receives a general induction. A personalised
induction is then devised which is individually tailored to each new
Director's background, education, experience and role.

Customised Executive Director induction Customised Non-Executive Director induction

Emma Walmsley

CEO Designate

— Maximise handover apportunity with CEQ

— Continue to build knowledge of business and external
environment

— Engage broadly across the business and externally in
‘istening' mode

- Define her leadership brand as CEO

- Finalise her sirategy, its narrative and financial plan

- Define the culture/ways of working for the CET and the
wider GSK Group

- Legal responsibilities and duties of a CEO

Dr Jesse Goodman
Scientific & Medical Expert

- R&D and Vaccines
deep dives

— Site visits to: Ware,
Stevenage and Wavre

- Corporate Responsibility
Committee induction

N S

\.

Dr Vivienne Cox

— Briefing on US business
and commercial model

— Site visits 10: Ware,
Stevenage and Wavre

— Remuneration and
Corporate Responsibility
Committee inductions

J

Board, business awareness and training

To ensure that our Non-Executive Directors develop and maintain

a greater insight and understanding of the business, they are invited
10 attend internal management meetings, including meetings of

the CET, Research Advisory Board, the Research & Development
Management Team (RDMT), the Portfolio and Discovery Investment
Boards, the Global Pharma Operations Committee, the US
Commercial Leadership Yeam and the Risk Oversight and
Compliance Council (ROCC). They also meet employees

informafly during visits to the Group's operations and at

receptions held around Board meetings.

-~

The Chairman meets with each Director annually on a one-to-one
basis to discuss his or her ongoing training and development
requirements. The Board is kept up-to-date on legal, regulatory
and governance matters through regular papers and briefings
from the Company Secretary and presentations by internal and

external advisers.

During 2016, the Board members undertook specific refresher
training on GSK's CIA and on the new MAR regulations and
agreed to undertake training on GSK's Code ot Conduct.
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Corporate Governance continued

Leadership and effectiveness continued

2016 Internal evaluation of the Board

Intemally facilitated by the
Company Secretary at the
Chairman's request.

She prepared an online survey
compnising a small number
of focused questions.

The Gompany Secretary drew ;

all the responses together
from the information gathering
stages of the evaluation
process and discussed them
with the Chairman.

Phase two

Phase three

Phase four

Preparation interviews Review Qutcomes
1
The Company Secretary had The Company Secretary
follaw-up face-to-face or prepared a Board paper for
telephone interviews with the January 2017 meeting
Board members to discuss that formed the basis of the
their responses and to invite discussions with the Board.
members to provide any Learning points/successes and
clarifications and further areas of focus for the Board
insights and perspeclives on were identified and are set out
the performance of the Board. betow.
Successes . Areas of focus for 2017

~ The CEO succession process had been a

comprehensive, reflective and i

nlormalive process,

which concluded successfully to schedute.

~ Work to increase the Board's vi

isibility and

understanding of the pipeline and R&D organisation

had been appreciated.

~ The creation and establishment of the Science
Committee would further enhance the Board's

oversight of the Group's R&D.

- New Board members had ssttled in quickly and
made immediate and positive contributions following

comprehensive inductions.

- The Board had successfully created increased
' opportunity for strategic debate.

~ Create more opportunities for deeper strategic
discussions, particularly an the evolution of the
pharmaceuticals industry, the competitive landscape,
therapy areas and GSK culture and performance.

~ ldentify ways to further improve the Board's

deacision making.

«~ Further increase Board oversight of science and
innovation in collaboration with the new Science Committee.

— Consider how data from the new IT systems can
cantribute to greater understanding and hence help

evolve the business strategy.
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2016 Board performance action points

Strategic repont
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Financial statements
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Progress against the conclusions of the 2015 Board evaluation review, internally facifitated by our Company Secretary, is set out below.

Action polnts

Progress/Achlevements

Strategy

Assist newer Directors with additional background briefing materials
ahead of debates on strategy.

Amange more regular discussion of medium and longer tem strategy
with fresh insights fram different perspectives.

Impiement suggestions to further enhance the effectiveness of the
annual Board & CET strategy meetings.

Additional materials are now provided on the
company's Board portal.

The Board agenda was compied to include more
opporunities to consider strategy from ditferent
perspectives.

The Board provided pasitive leedback on the
2016 meetings held at the newly acquired

Siena sites, .

Executive
succession and
NED refreshmeant

Funher increase the focus on executive st ion plans and
the effectiveness of the di recavery plan.

Caonsider alternative sugg for Non-Executive Di fresh.

The Board was well positioned 10 operate its
executive succession plans, that resulted in
appomtments to the Board and CET. These are
described in mare detail in the report of the
Nominations Committee on pages 94 to 96.

New approaches to identifying potential scientific
and medical experts were utifised during 20186,
supported by extemal recruitment experts.

Deep dives
and sites visits

Consider further deep dives particularly on:
R&D strategy and pipetine, product launches, US pricing, joint ventures,
new business models and GMS.

Consider holding cne site visit to an operational site each yuar.

The 2016 Board mecting programme was adjusted
to consider these matters during tha year.

The juinl Buard & CET sbalegy meelings
September 2016 were held in Siena, ftaly at the
manufacturing and R&D facilites acquired as a

resutlt of the Novartis transaction. The Board had

the opportunity to meet employees and were able to
leam at lirst-hand how these facilities, people and
processes had been integrated into the wider Group.

Shareholders

Review and look to further enhance how the company communicates
with shareholders.

During the year, the Board and Audit & Risk
Committee continued to enhance quarterly reporting
to assist sharehalders’ understanding of the
company's perfonmance and standing.

Board materials
and logistics

Continue the drive 1o make Board/Committee ials mare concise
and also effective in highlighting issues and concerns.

Aim {0 have less presentation time and more time for discussion and
debate at meetings. .

Allow for social time for Board members to get to know each other
better given the number of new Board members.

The Chaimian, Committee Chainnen and the
Company Secretary focused on these issues in
the preparations for, and when chairing, meetings
during 2016.
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Corporate Governance contmued

Leadership and effectlveness continued

.

inations Committee Report

Picture removed Philip Hamptor ‘
Nominations Committee

to meet Chairman

Companies House

requirements “

Role .

The Committee reviews and recommends to the Board:

— the structure, size and composition of the Board and ’
the appointment of Directors, members to the Board
Committees and the CET

— succession to the Board and the CET.

Membership

Committee members Committee member sinco

{| Philip Hampton 27 Janwary 2016

Chaiman

Professor Sir Roy Anderson 1 Qctober 2012

Vindi Banga 1 January 2016

Lynn Elsenhans 27 January 2015

Judy Lewent 8 May 2014

Urs Rohner 1 January 2017

Sir Deryck Maughan 9 July 2009 to 6 May 2016

© Details of the Committee members' skills and experience

are given in their biographies under 'Our Board' on pages
84 10 85. See page BB for Committee member attendance
levels. -

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings. Other attendees at Committee meetings
may include:

Regular Attends as *

Attendees attendee  required
Chief Executive Officer v

Head of Human Resources v

Appropriate extemnal advisers ’

" Dear shareholder

2016 was a busy year for the Commiittee.

Our CEO, Sir Andrew Witty, indicated in March 2016, his intention
to retire from the Board in early 2017, after nearly 10 years as CEQ
and almost 32 years with GSK: Our principal focus for 2016 then
became the CEO succession process and related executive
management succession planning.

CEO and executive management succession

The Committea has for some years annually scrutinised the
robustness of succession planning amangements for the Executive
Directors and each executive management role. The annual review
of Talent and Leadership Strategy has been a key and ragular item of
Board and Committee discussion and oversight. The overall aim of
this process is for the Board and Committee to seek assurance that
there is a continuous and adequate supply of high-quality internal
candidates to potentially step up to the Board and CET as required.

The Committee engaged Egon Zehnder and Kom Ferry, who
specialise in the recruitment of high calibre Board directors. Using
both firms ensured that the review pracess could be truly global
and no companies were inaccessible.

The Committee, with full participation of all the Non-Executive
Directors, then spent time considering the future strategic direction
of the company and, with input from the executive recruitment firms,
compiled a CEO role profile. The profile contained a brief of the
requirements and the desired skill-set that a potential successor

10 Sir Andrew would need. This brief was drafted to emphasise the
importance that the Board and Committee placed on the CEO
being a great business teader and team builder.

The executive recruitment firms then intiated global searches
against this agreed profite across all large globaf pharmaceuticaf and
healthcare companies. This yielded 2 pool of internal and external
candidates which was reduced to a shortfist of potential candidates.
The firms reported regularty to the Committee as the process
progressed.

The shortlisted intermal and extemal candidates then met with key
Board members first and were subjected to interviews, continucus
assessments and reviews over an extended period. Each Non-
Executive Director then met each shortlisted candidate at least once.

This culminated in one-to-one discussions between me and each of
our Non-Executive Directors to seek their views on the candidates.

I was very pleased that each Non-Executive Director made it clear
that they considered that the right candidate to succeed Sir Andrew
was Emma Walmsley, CEO of GSK's Cansumer Healthcare division.
The Commitiee then met to agree a proposal for the Board to
recommend Emma'’s appointment as CEO Oesignate.

The recommendation received unanimous Board approval and on
20 September 2018 it was announced that Emma would join the
Board as an Executive Director with effect from 1 January 2017
and woutd become CEO with effect from 1 April 2017.



95 GSK Annual Report 2016

Nominations Committee Report continued

The Committee was well-positioned to appoint Emma’s successor
and Brian McNamara, Head of Americas and Europe for GSK
Consumer Healthcare, succeeded her at the end of September
2016. Brian became a CET member with immediate effect. He joined
GSK in March 2015 after the completion of the Novartis transaction.

Since 1 October, Emma has focused her attention campletely
on her transition into the role of GSK's next CEQ. Details of her
transition and induction arrangements can be found on page 91.

During the year, the Committee also conducted a search and
appointment process for a new Executive Director when Dr Moncef
Slaoui, our Chairman, Global Vaccines, indicated in June 201§ his
intention to retire from the company in 2017 after over 10 years on
the Board and 28 years with GSK. Moncef will step down from the
Board on 31 March 2017 and will retire from the company on 30
June 2017.

The Committee recommended Dr Patrick Vallance's appointment
to the Board and on 19 December the Board approved Patrick’s
appointment. He joined the Board as an Executive Director on

1 January 2017.

In addition, Luc Debruyne, our President, Global Vaccines,

since 2013, was appointed a CET member in September 2016 in
anticipation of Dr Slaoui's retirement from the CET in December
2016.

Luke Miels has been appointed President, Global Pharmaceuticals
and will join GSK and the CET later this year fram AstraZeneca
where he was Executive Vice President of their European business.

Abbas Hussain, President, Global Pharmaceuticals has decided to
leave the company after serving nine years on the CET, and he has
agreed that he will leave GSK later this year.

Enhancing the Board's scientific capabilities

The Board's scientific capabilities have recently been refreshed with
the appointment of Dr Jesse Goodman, the former Chief Scientist for
the US FDA, who was appointed to the Board on 1 lanuary 2016. He
succeeded Dr Daniel Podolsky, who retired as planned, after 9 years
of service at our AGM in May 2016, as our designated US-based
Scientific and Medical Expert (SME). The Committee is currently
seeking to further enhance the Board's science capabilities by
engaging Korn Femry to conduct a global search for a further
Non-Executive Director as an SME.

In addition, a new wholly independent Board Committee, the
Science Committee, was established in December 2016 to provide
oversight of GSK's R&D pipeline and scientific research strategy.
The Committee recommended to the Board that the Science
Committee be chaired by Dr Jesse Goodman. Other Non-Executive
Directors appointed to the Science Committee included aur
UK-based SME, Professor Sir Roy Anderson, and Judy Lewent. The
SME currently being recruited will also be appointed to the Science
Committee. In light of this new Board Committee and to ensure
effective continuity, Professor Sir Roy Anderson, who joined the
Board in 2007, has agreed to stand for re-election by shareholders
before stepping down from the Board at the 2018 AGM. The Board
has confirmed that Professor Sir Roy continues to demonstrate the
characteristics of independence in camrying out his role on the Board.

Strategic repont
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New Non-Executive Director appointment

During 2016, in addition to the search for two new Executive
Directors and a US-based SME, the Committee searched for
another Non-Executive Director. Egon Zehnder were engaged to
conduct the search, which used broad selection cnteria, and
dossiers of potential Non-Executive appointees were considered by
the Committee. Candidales were shartlisted for interview on merit,
after assessing their relevant qualifications and time commitments.
After interviewing selected candidates, the Committee was pleased
to recommend to the Board Dr Vivienne Cox as a Non-Executive
Director. She was appointed to the Board with effect from 1 July
2016. The Board considered that her many years of international
business experience in global manufacturing organisations with
challenging technologies would bring iresh insights to the Board's
deliberations.

Board appointments and retirements
The ongoing rafreshment of the Board has led to the following
planned changes.

Director Appointment date Retirement date
Dr Jesse Goodman 1 Janwary 2016

Or Vivienne Cox 1 July 2016

Emma Walmsley 1 January 2017

Dr Patrick Valiance 1 January 2017

Stephanie Bums 5 May 2016
Sir Deryck Maughan 5 May 2016

D¢ Danis! Podolsky 5 May 2016
Hans Wijers S May 2016
Stacey Cartwright 31 December 2018
S Andrew, Witty 31 March 2017
Or Moncef Slaoui 31 March 2017

Egon Zehnder and Korn Ferry provide recruitment consultancy
services to the Committee, in addition to recruitment and HR
services which they provide to the company.
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Nominations Committee Report continued

Board Committee Chairman and membership changes

During the year, the Committee approved the following changes to the membership of our Board Committees.

Director Caommittee membership Appointment date Retirement deate
Vindi Banga Nominations, Audit & Risk and Remuneration 1 Janvary 2016
- Cammittees member .

Professor Sir Roy Anderson and Or Jesse Goodman Carp Respaonsibility Ct ittee memb 1 May 2016

Dr Vivienne Cox : Carporate Responsibilty Committee member 1 July 2016

Dr Jesse Goodman Science Committee Chairman 1 Januasy 2017

Professor Sir Roy Anderson and Judy Lewent Science Commities members 1 January 2017

Dr Vivienne Cox Remuneration Committee member 1 January 2017

Urs Rohnes Nominations Committee member 1 January 2017

Stephanie Bums Remuneration and Cosporate Responsibility 6 May 2016
Committees member

Sir Deryck Maughan Nominations, Audit & Risk and Remuneration 5 May 2016
Committees member

Dr Daniel Podolsky Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility 6 May 2016
Committees member

Hans Wijers Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility 6 May 2016
Committees member

Stacey Cartwright Audit & Risk Committee member 31 December 2016

Board composition and diversity .
The Committee has sought to balance the compuosition of the Board
and its Commitlees and ta refresh them progressively aver time so
that it can draw upon the experience of longer serving Directors
and benefit from new external perspectives and insights which
more recent appointees can bring to the Board’s deliberations.

Non-Executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of industries
and backgrounds, including pharmaceuticals and R&D, vaccines,
consumer products and healthcare, medical research and academia
and financial services, and have a wealth of experience of complex
organisations with global reach. The majority of our Board have a
scientific or mathematical background and are attuned to the industry
in which we operate.

We are committed to the diversity of our boardroom just as GSK

is committed to equal opportunities for all our employees at all levels
of the organisation. The Board and management seek to encourage
a diverse and inclusive culture throughout GSK.

A key requirement of an effective board is that it comprises a

range and balance of skills, experience, knowledge, gender and
independence, with individuals that are prepared to challenge each
other and work as a team. This needs to be backed by a diversity of
personal attributes, including character, intellect, sound judgement,
honesty and courage.

The Committee is responsible for developing measurable objectives
to support the implementation of the Board's diversity policy,
including gender, and monitoring pragress towards the achievement
of these objectives. Our diversity policy is in line with Lord Davies’
new voluntary target of at least 33% female Board leve!
representation by 2020. We currently have 31% women on our
Board and 14% on our Corporate Executive Team. Closing this

gap between Board and CET gender representation and further
increasing the pipeline of female direct reports to the CET is a
particular area of attention. Female pipeline development was also

a central theme of my review, together with Dame Alexander, across
the FTSE 350, which is continuing and developing the valuable work
that Lord Davies initiated in 2011.

The representation of women in management positions at GSK is
illustrated on page 49 as part of the gender diversity of GSK's global
worklorce and alongside initiatives to promote diversity and inclusion
throughout the organisation. We also support the engagement of
executive search firms such as Egon Zehnder and Kosn Ferry who
have signed up to the Voluntary Code of Conduct on gender diversity
and best practice.

We have also noted the recommendation set out in the Parker
Review Committee’s report ‘Beyond One by '21’, published in
November 2016, that each FTSE 100 board should have least one
director of colour by 2021 and have adjusted aur diversity policy
accordingly to reflact this new target.

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by the
Company Secretary on behalf of the Committee Chairman, and
supplemented by a questionnaire circulated to Committee members.
it was concluded that the Committee continued to operate
effectively.

It was agreed for 2017 that the Committee would seek to identily
another experienced Scientific and Medical Expert and additional
consideration would be given on an ongoing basis to perfformance
and succession planning for the CET and top talent and GSK's
perfarmance culture. The Committee would continue to plan for
Non-Executive Director retirements based on the evolution of
Group strategy.

Philip Hampton
Nominations Committae Chairman

13 March 2017
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Judy Lewent
Audit & Risk Committee
Chairman

Picture removed

|| to meet
Companies House
requirements '

Role

The Committee reviews and is responsible for:

- financial and internal reporting processes

- the integrity of the financial statements, including the
Annual Report and quarterly results announcements

— the system of internal controls

- identification and management of risks and external and
internal audit processes

- initiating audit tenders, the selection and appointment
of external auditors, their remuneration and oversight of

——
——

their work.
Membership
Committee members Committee member since
Judy Lewent 1 April 2011
Chairman
Vindi Banga 1 January 2018
Lynn Elsenhans 1 January 2014
Stacey Cartwright 1 April 2011 to 31 December 2016
Sir Deryck Maughan 21 January 2005 to 5 May 2016

Dr Daniel Podolsky 1 January 2007 to 5 May 2016

@ Details of the Committee members’ financial, accounting
or scientific experience and expertise are given in their
biographies under 'Our Board' on pages 84 to 85, See
page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.

The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings. The entire Board is invited to attend the
Committee meetings and other attendees include:

Regular  Attends es
Attendee attendee required
General Counsel s
Financial Contraler /
Head of Audit & Assurance 4
Head of Global Ethics and Compliance 4
Chief Medical Officer 4
Chief Product Quality Officer '
" Extemal auditor v

that Judy Lewent has recent and relevant financial experience.
The Board has also agreed that Judy Lewent has the
appropriate qualifications and background to be an audit -

1 committee financial expert as defined by the US Sarbanes-

—
——

as amended. .

In addition, Judy Lewent and Vindi Banga are also members
of the Remuneration Committee, which allows them to provide

oversight on any risk factors relevant to remuneration matters.

E;

———

In accordance with the FRC's Code, the Board has determined

Oxley Act of 2002, and has determined that she is independent
within the meaning of the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

input on the Committee's review of the Group's performance and

Strategic report
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investor information

e o m——

Dear Shareholder

In the following pages of this report, we aim to share insights into
the activities undertaken or overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee
(the Committee) during the year. The Committee has worked largely
to a recurring and structured programme of activities. | devise this
programme with the Company Secretary and agree its content with
management and the external auditors at the start of each year.

It is then adapted as appropriate as the year progresses.

Running and concluding a successful tender of the external audit
contract was a significant undertaking for the Committee, supported
by management, during the year. This exercise, tagether with the
Committee's scrutiny of further enhancements and simplifications

to our internal control, risk management and financial reporting
systems and processes, is covered below.

Extermnal auditors

Conclusion of audit tender: Last year, we advised shareholders
that the Committee was putting the external audit contract out to a
competitive tender process, which the Commitiee initiated in July.
The process was concluded in December 2016 when the Board
appointed the Committee's preferred choice of Deloitte LLP
(Deloitte) as the company's new auditors. Our current external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC), was not invited to
participate in the tender due to the prevailing rules on audit fim
rotation, They will continue in office during 2017. Subject to their
reappointment by shareholders at our 2017 AGM, they will retire
after completing the 2017 audit.

From GSK's 2018 financial year onwards, Deloitte will be appointed

in PwC'’s place, subject to shareholder approval: We wish to thank

each firm that participated in'the tender for the professionalism and

commitment they demonstrated through the process.

A full report on the key steps, governance arrangements and outputs

from the audit tender process is given on page 102. The Committee's

judgement was that Deloitte was best placed to succeed PwC and

deliver a high quality audit for GSK.

The Committee is currently overseeing the transition from PwC to

Deloitte to ensure that:

- PwC continues to discharge its auditing responsibilities effectively
1o the end of its time in office; and

- Deloitte takes the necessary steps to ensure that it is independent
of GSK by the time it begins to observe PwC at an apprapriate
juncture in 2017.

I look forward to reporting to shareholders on discharging the

activities associated with this transition in GSK's 2017 Annual

Repont.
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Audit & Risk Committee Report continued

The Financial Reporting Council Audit Quality Review:
The Committee's confidence in the external auditor's delivery of
a high quality and eflective audit for GSK was reinforced by the
outcome of the FRC's Audit Quality Review team's (the AQR) review
of PwC's audit of GSK’s 2015 financial statements. The GSK audit
was selected as pan of the AQR's annual inspection of the audit
quality of the largest audit firms in the UK. The Committee discussed
the results and outcume of the review. The AQR's findings
corroborated the results of the Committee’s own independent

- evaluation of PwC, which concluded that the external auditar was
effective. The Committee received a report from PwC detailing how
the 2016 audit would address the small number of findings identified
by the AQR team and was satisfied with PwC's planned response.

Competition and Markets Authority compliance statement:

The Committee considers that, during 2016, the company has
complied with the mandatory audit processes and audit committee
rasponsibility provisions of the Competition and Markets Authority
Statutory Audit Services Order 2014. This report describes the wark
of the Committee in discharging these responsibilities.

Pre-approval of non-audit services: The Committee reviewed and
discussed adapting the company's approach to its existing non-audit
services policy, to comply with new requirements set out in the FRC's
revised Ethical Standards and the implementation of the EU Audit
Regulation for GSK's 2017 financial year. !n particular, we agreed
changes to our non-audit services pre-approval process in line with
the new restrictions an auditors supplying non-audit services to UK
listed companies. These changes are outlined on page 104.

internal framework for control and risk management
developments

This is a core discipline for the Committee. in 2016, the fallowing
developments in the business units and across the enterprise in the
areas of communication, reporting, training and analytics helped
strengthen our culture of compliance and risk management.

Anti Bribery And Corruption (ABAC) and Third Party Oversight
(TPO) programmes: These are a high priotity for the Committee and
it has overseen the following areas of progress made during the year:

- ABAC Global Risk Assessment: This new programme was
launched to significantly enhance the way our ABAC risk is
identified and prioritised across the Group. Existing ABAC
data has been centrally pooled by our Global Risk Office to help
how our ABAC risk exposure is measured. This has enabled
management to target risk mitigation techniques on the company's
highest risk activities, business units and regions.

- TPO programme: This provides a standard framework which
govems all third party relationships and has moved from design
to deployment phase. This supplier assessment programme
aperates in a large majority of our Latin America and South East
Asia markets. It is applied across our range of third parties and is
used in particular to assess suppliers deemed by GSK to be high
risk. Risk levels and corrective and preventative action tracking are
now managed via an easy-10-use reporting system by our
employees who are enrolled in this programme.

During 2017, the TPO programme is expected to cover our
global operations. This will ensure continued risk managemen
improvements in respect of our third party relationships,
embedding a basic TPQO capability into our Supptier Lifecycle
Management software and introducing further buying experience
simplifications.

SEC seltiement: In 2016, GSK entered into a settlement with the
US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in relation to it
inquiry into past sales and marketing practices in China. Under this
settlement, the company has obligations to provide the SEC with
information on the framework and evolution of our ongoing ABAC
programme for monitoring purposes. The Committee reviews and
considers updates befare they are provided to the SEC, as agreed
under the settiement.

InfoProtect: To reflect a fast evolving landscape and its potential
impacts on this key enterprise rigk, our multi-year infoProtect
programme was refreshed in 2016. Heightened attention is being
paid to those areas of our business that have the highest nsk
exposure. iImprovements have been prioritised for delivery to achieve
the greatest risk reduction and imprave the maturity of our information
security and privacy processes. Our Chief Information Secunty
Officer (C1SO) and our CFO (who has Board-leve! responsibitity for
this enterprise risk) continue to ensure our cyber security defences
remain strong and effective. The CFQ and CISO brief the Committee
regularly an developments.

Enhanced govemance around reporting: The Committee and Risk
Oversight & Compliance Council (ROCC) receive internal cantrol
and risk management reports throughout the year. These are based
on their respective governance responsibilities within the wider
organisational intemal risk governance framewark. The efficiency
and guality of this upward reporting mechanism is crucial in assisting
the Committee in properly monitoring GSK's internal framework for
control and risk management. During 2016, the Global Risk Office
has implemented the following Committee and ROCC reporting
improvements into business units and across our risk enterprise
exposures.

The Committee reporting schedules have been improved so that risk
management reports from the business units are presented to the
ROCC after they have been submitted to the Committee. This means
that the Committee's feedback can be properly incorporated into
management's deliberations al the ROCC. In addition, our business
units now provide six monthly updates to the ROCC that concentrate
on progress against their top three risk management commitments.
This simplification has helped foster a more focused discussion at
the ROCC on each business unit's risk management priorities.

To help the Committee imprave its understanding of our enterprise
risk strategies, GSK's enterprise risk owners are encouraged to
provide commentary on the organisation’s rigk talerance in respect
of the specific risk they are responsible for mitigating. In addition,
the development af risk performance dashboards for ABAC,
Product Quality and Research Practices, has further enhanced the
Committee's ability to understand and monitor our risk exposure
tevels on an ongoing basis.

Compliance activities

Building trust by embedding our Values: Our Global Ethics &
Compliance (GEC) function continues o embed its ‘Living our
Values and Building Trust' strategy to help motivate employees to put
the company's core values at the heart of every decision they make.

_ In particular, GEC deployed enterprise-wide training for employees

1o coincide with the release in April 2016 of GSK's updated Code
of Conduct. This is at the heart of our compliance programme and
focuses on GSK's core values of Patient Focus and Integrity,
Respect for People and Transparency.
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In addition to delivering training to our employees across the
enterprise, GEC has also introduced the following training tools
specifically aimed at team leaders to help reinforce values based
conduct in their teams:

- Leader Led Discussion toolkit: This has been launched to enable
leaders and teams to have meaningful discussions on the
importance of GSK's values and 'right first time’ culture. These
discussions ate informal and short in length, provide opportunities
to explore GSK's values and for leaders and their teams o think
about what quality means in their part of the company's business.
The toolkits use a combination of external events and research
such as academic studies around why gaod employees can
sometimes make poor decisions.

= Values Maturity Assessment: This is a leadership team self-
assessment taol which allows teams to assess how well values
are embedded into the business and establishes a values
improvement plan based on the outcome of the assessment.
During 2018, Values Maturity Assessments (VMA) were
undertaken by GEC across a third of GSK's business units, in line
with a values abjective set by the Corporate Executive Team. This
VMA roll out is continuing in 2017 across all our business units.

GM certifications: The General Manager (GM) conlirmation process
across Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines has continued throughout
2016, requiring GMs to confirm their adherence to GSK's Internal
Control Framewaork. A revised confirmation process was launched
in September 2016, It focused on specilic risk areas, including ~
TPO, Health Care Professional and government official interactions,
embedding ABAC, and other risks associated with pricing and
commercial terms. In 2016, Consumer Healthcare implemented a
similar process for its GMs to confirm the operation of our internal
control framework for key risks and minimum controls.

Corporate Integrity Agreement: The Committee has oversight of

the company's rasponsibilities under a US Corporate Integrity
Agreement (CIA) signed with the US Department of Health and
Human Services in 2012, which is now in its final year, although
commitments with certain States regarding salesforce compensation
extend into 2019. During 2016, the Committes continued to receive
quarterly CIA compliance and assurance updates from the Head of
GEC. It also reviawed and recommended to the Board the adoption
of the annual resolutions that confirm adherence to the terms of the
CIA for inclusion in the certification reports the company provides to
the appropriate US regulatory authorities each year.

Given the success of the GM confirmation and CIA certification
pracesses so far and because the ClA is due to end in 2017, the
Committes is keen to retain the best practice compliance disciplines
of the CIA. As a result it is assessing GEC's proposal to roll-out

a tailored Business Unit Confirmation that combines the principles
of these two processes. This proposed simplification is designed to
provide the Committee with consalidated assurance that our intemal
contro! framework requirements are identified and understood, and
that any possible gaps are identified and addressed at each of aur
business units.
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Globa! reporting system platforms

The Committee was pleased to oversee significant progress being
made in moving towards more standardised, global systems which
support our end-to-end processes.’Managemant continued to
deploy upgrades as planned, with a major system deployment
completed during the first half of 2016 to schedule and on budget.
The remaining deployments under this multi-year programme are
being completed during 2017 and early 2018, with an increasing
focus on capturing the benefits that these new standardised systems
and processes generate for GSK.

My role

Finally, my role as Chair of the Committee continues to be busy and
varied. During the year, | had significant interactions with key senior
executives and our auditors, and attended a range of management .
meetings, including those of the ROCC, Consumer Healthcare,
Finance GEC and Global Manufacturing & Supply leadership teams.
| also led the audit tender process and met the bidding fims' audit
partners and teams to familiarise myself with their qualities and
capabilities and to gain an impression of what it could be like to
work with them. -

Along with my Board colteagues, | was pleased to visit our
manufacturing and R&D facilities in Siena, Italy that had been
acquired as part of the Novartis transaction in 2015. We met local
senior executives and employees and were able to learn at first-hand
how these facilities, peopte and processes have been integrated into
the wider Group. | was also pleased to leam how GSK'’s intemal
control and risk management practices have been translated and

ombeddsd in the business,

On a personal note | would like to acknowledge Sir Andrew's
contribution to the company. He has been a visionary leader driving
GSK's values during his term as CEO and he led positive change in
established industry ways of working. | would like to wish him wellin
his next endeavours and | very much look forward ta working with his
successor, Emma Walmsley, when she succeeds him as CEQ from
1 April 2017.

Judy Lewent
Audit & Risk Committee Chairman

13 March 2017
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Significant issues relating to the financial statements

In considering the gquarterly financial results announcements and the financial results contained in the 2016 Annual Report, the Committee
reviewed the significant issues and judgements made by management in determining those results. The Committee reviewed papers
prepared by management setting out the key areas of risk, the actions undertaken to quantify the effects of the relevant issues and the
judgements made by management on the appropriate accounting required to address those issues in the financial statements.

The significant issues considered in refation to the financial stalements for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the following’
table, together with a summary of the financial outcomes where appropriate. in addition, the Committee and the external auditors have
discussed the significant issues addressed by the Commitiee during the year and the areas of particular audit focus, as descrbed in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 149 to 157.

Six issues i d by the C
inrelation to the ial stat nts How the issue was addressed by the Committee

Going concern basls for the preparation The Committee considered the outcome of management’s hatf-yearty reviews of current and forecast net

of the financial statements debt positions and the various financing facilities and options available to the Group. Fallowing a review
of the risk and potential impact of unforeseen events, the Committee confirmed that the application of the
going concemn basis for the preparation of the financial statements continued to be appropriate.

Revenue recognition, including retums The Committee reviewed management’s approach to the timing of recognition of revenue and accruals for

and rebates (RAR) accruals customer retums and rebates. The US Phaimaceuticals and Vaccines accrual for retums and rebates was
£2.2 bilion at 31 December 2016 and the Committes reviewed the basis on which the accrual had been
made and concurred with management’s judgements an the amounts involved. A (uller description of the
process aperated in the US Phammaceuticals and Vaccines business in determining the level of accrual
necessary is set out in ‘Critical accounting policies’ on pagse 76.

Provisions far legal matters, including The Committee received detailed reports on actual and potental litigation from both intemal and external
investigations into the Group's legal counsel, together with a number of detailed updates on investigations into the Group's commercial
commercial practices . practices. Management outlined the levels of provision and correspanding disclosure idered
in respect of potential adverse ltigation outcomes and also those areas where it was not yet possible to
determine i @ orovision was necessary, ar its amount. At 31 December 2016, the provision for legal matters

was £0.3 billion, as set out in Nute 29 to the financial statements, 'Other proviaiona'.

Provisions for uncertain tax positions The Committee considered cument tax disputes and areas of potential risk and concurred with
management's judgement on the levels of tax contingencies required. At 31 December 2018, the
Group's balance sheet induded a tax payabla fiability of £1.3 bitlion.

Impairments of intangible assets The Committee reviewed management's process for reviewing and testing goodwill and other intangible
assets lor potential impairment The Committee accepted management’s judgements on the intangible
assets that required writing down and the resulting impairment charge of £29 milfion in 2016. See
Note 19 to the financial statements, ‘Other intangible assets’ for more details.

. Valuation of contingent consideration The Committee considered management's judgement that following the further improved sales

In relation to ViiV Heatthcare perdormance of Tivicay and Triumeq and the significant weakening of Steding in the latter part of the year,
# was necessary to increase the liability to pay contingent consideration lor the acquisition of the former
Shionogi-ViV Healthcare jont venture. At 31 December 2016, the Group's balance sheet included a
contingent consideration lability of £5.3 hillion in relation to ViV Heahhcare. See Note 39 to the financial
statements, ‘Contingent consideration liabilties' for more details.

Consumer Healthcare put option The Committee considered management's judgement on the vatuation of the liability recognised in respect ~
of Novantis' put option over its shareholding in the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture. This included a
review of the unwinding impact of the discounting of the fability and the increase in the liability caused
by the significant weakening of Sterfing in the latter part of the year.

ViV Healthcare put options The Committee considered the amendments to the ViV Healthcare Shareholders' Agreement made during
the year which resulted in the recognition of the put options held by Shionogi and Pfzer in Q1 2016 and
the subsequent de-recognition of the Shionagi put option in Q4 2016. The Committee reviewed and
agreed the accounting for the put options and cancured with management’s judgement on the vatuation
of the Pfizer put option of £1,319 milion at 31 December 2016. .
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Audit tendering - :

PwC has been the auditor of the company and the Group since the
inception of each in 2000, Their performance has begn reviewsd
annually and audit partner rotation requirements have been observed.

As indicated in last year’s Annual Report, GSK decided to undertake
an extemnal audit tender in 2016 with a view to replacing PwC from our
2018 financial year anwards. This was done in the best interests of our
shareholders and to comply with the audit firm ratation requirements.

A robust governance structure was implemented, headed by the
Audit & Risk Committee (ARC), to manage, support and deliver
a successful audit tender process.

Judy Lewent chaired the Executive Steering Committee (ESC), which
has overseen the audit tender process, evaluated the audit firms and
liaised with the ARC. The other members of the ESC were the CFO,
Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary. The Group
Financial Controller chaired the Operations Steering Commiittee,
which was made up of finance heads, and coordinated the audit
tender process and a cross-functional Planning Team has provided
day-ta-day support and advice. These levels of govermance and their
purpose are illustrated in last year's Annual Report on page 92.

The key objective of the ARC was to deliver a fair, transparent and
successful audit contract tender process with minimum disruption .
to the business. It endorsed weighted selection criteria and
evaluation methodology based on GSK's expectations for the
external auditors. These were equally divided into Audit Quality

and Service and Audit Team Capability and Competence.

in addition, five critica! success factors were prioritised and guided
the Committee and the Board in making their final recommendation
and decision which comprised:

— Audit Approach and Strategy;

- High Quality iIndependent Audit;

- Effective Partnership; .

- Risk in Transitioning Auditors 'in' and ‘out’; and

After a detaded market i, a number of audit firms,
including some firms outside the Big Four, were approached to
participate in this process. Judy Lewent then made the final pre-
selection of Audit Lead Partners before the Request for Proposal
and data room were issusd and opened to the bidding firms in July
2016. Site meetings took place at GSK House aver three days in
September 2016, which was an opportunity for our finance and
functional feaders to mest with the bidding firms’ teams face-to-face.

These meetings, which Judy Lewent oversaw with her ESC
colleagues, were a means of discussing GSK's audit requirements
with each firm to help them develop their proposals, and to evaluate
their technical knowledge, strengths and weaknesses and get a feel
of what it could be like to work with them. Feedback from GSK's
participants was discussed with the Committee and shared with the
audit partners prior to the submission of their audit tender proposals
in October 2016.

The bidding firms' proposals were subject to detailed evaluation

with key areas to probe identified for discussion with the audit -
partners and their teams at their oral presentations to the Committee
and other GSK attendees that took place in November 2018, All
information from the evaluation stages of the process - site meetings,
written proposal submissions and oral presentations — were shared
with and discussed by the ARC at the conclusion of the process.
This enabled the ARC to recommend to the Board the appointment
of Delaitte as the preferred new auditor from two shortlisted bidding
firms, a recommendation which the Board subsequently endorsed.

GSK has now entered the transition phase of the process leading
up to Deloitte taking on the external audit contract with effect from
1 January 2018 and an upriata nn these aclivities will be disclosed
in our 2017 Annual Report.

~ Value for Money
_\\
[ 2016 External Audit Tender Process W
I Pre -Tcnder
Key step's
Invitation to RFP issued Site Written Oral i ARC Board
Parlicipate and and Data fleetings Proposals Preséntations Recommendation Decision '
. Interview of Lead Room Evaluation to ARC Panel .
Pariners Opened
.Y N N Y N
d 7 7 4
# May - July September October November December
Governance
ARC Chair, Executive Executive ARC, Executive ARC and ARC Board
CFO and and Operations and Operations and Operations Executr
Group Financial Steering Co Steering Co Steering Co Steesing Co
Controller
Outputs .
Short listing and Knowledge Initiat feedback Proposal Debrief and Recommended Successhul firm
pre-selection building by firms shared with Lead | Evaluation and Final Evalvation two firms for appointed with
of Lead Partners Partnere as input  § 'Exam Questions’ | of each firm appointment, with : effect from 1
to development For Oral a preference January 2018
of their proposals | Presentations expressed for
° one firm
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Ongoing effectiveness and quality of external audit process

The Committee is committed to ensuring on an ongoing basis that GSK receivas a high quality and effective audit. In evaluating the
effectiveness of the audit process prior to making a recommendation on the re-appointment of the extemal auditor, the Committee
reviews the effecliveness of their performance against criteria which it agrees, in conjunction with management, at the beginning of
each year's audit.

The activities the Committee typically undertakes each year to satisfy itself of external audit quality and effectiveness, together with
their timelines, are set out below.

Auditor appointment Auditor expectations Formal auditor appointment @ Committee evaluation e
process setting and audit planning and budget setting

Matters addressed: Matters addressed: Matters addressed: Matters addressed:

- review effectiveness of extemal ~ agree the perfomance ~ shareholders vote at AGM on - revisw feedback from Committee
auditor against expectatons set expectations of the auditor resolutions to appoint auditor members independently as parnt
in previous year for the upcoming audit and determine their remuneration of annual Committee evaluation

- review auditor's independence, review and agree audit plan covenng:
appropriate level of qualifications, tor upcoming audit - relationship with auditar
expertise and resources congider auditor's quality control — quality of insights they pravide

- consider whethar the auditor procedures Committee on their work
exhibited appropriate level agree and set statutory audi lee - whether they have sufficient
of challenge/scepticism in ; ent feedbach access to auditor without
their work ; S management

. L an prior year's audit process 9

~ consider whether to initiate or through survey covering: pre-approve budget for non-audit
deler an audit contract tender - tobustess of audit process services (ideally below 50% 01

— once satigfied, recommend to ) i statutory audit fes) for following
the Board auditor re-appointment - quality of delivery, people i year
al next AGM and service ;

- : ;
i i
i i
>
January March May December

The detailed criteria the Committee uses for judging the effectiveness of the external auditor and their overriding responsibility to deliver
a smooth running, thorough and efficiently executed audit are set out below:

Performance expectations for GSK's external auditor

Specific auditor
responsibilities

Discuss approach and areas of focus in advance with early engagement on understanding the implications of GSK's new operating model

~ Ensure Sarbanes-Oxley scope and additional procedures are discussed and endorsed by management and communicated on a timely

basig within GSK and PwC

Avoid surprises through timely reporting of issues at all levels within the Group

Ensure there is clarity of roles and responsibilities between the auditor and local management

Respond to any issues raised by management on a timely basis

Meet agreed deadlines .

Provide continuity and succession planning of key employees of the auditor

Provide sufficient time for management to consider draft auditor reports and respond to requests and queries
Employ consistant communication between local and central audit teams.

wider auditor
responsibilities

Pravide up-to-date advice on the new Viability statement requirement

- Provide up-to-cate knowledge of technical and governance issues, including evolving market practice on the Viability statement requirements

Serve as an industry resource; communicating best practice and industry trends in reporting and integrated reporting

Adhere to all independence poficies (including GSK's paficies, the Financial Reporting Council's ISA 240 and applicable Secuiities
and Exchange Commission standards)

Deliver a focused and consistent audit approach globally that reflects local risks and matenality

Liaise with GSK's Audit & Assurance team to avoid duplication of work and Global Ethics and Cempliance team to ensure common
understanding of audit outcomes

Provide consistency of advice at all levels of the organisation

Ultimately provide a high quality service to the Board, be scrupulous in their scnutiny of the Group and act with utmost integrity.
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Non-audit services

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 prohibits the engagement of the
external auditor for the provision of certain services such as legal,
actuarial, internal audit outsourcing or financial information systems
design. Where the external auditor is permitted to provide non-audit
services (such as audit-related, tax and other services), the
Committee ensures that auditor objectivity and independence are
safeguarded by a policy requiring pre~approval by the Commitiee
for such services. There were no contractual or similar obligations
restricting the Group's choice of external auditor.

All non-audit services over £50,000 are put out 10 competitive
tender with financial service providers other than the extemal auditor,
in line with the Group's pracurement process, untess the skills and
experience of the external auditor make them the only suitable
supplier of the non-audit service under consideration. In this case, a
request far praposal is submitted by the relevant CET member to the
CFO for approval. Non-audit services spending is monitored by the
Committee on a quarterly basis and discussed with the Committee
Chairman.

The following policy guidelines on engaging the external auditor
to provide non-audit services are observed:

- ascertaining that the skills and experience of the external
auditor make them a suitable supplier of the non-audit services;

— ensuring adequate safeguards are in place so that the objectivity
and independence of the Group audit are not threatened or
compromised; and .

— ensuring that the total fee levels do not exceed 50% of the annual
audit fee, except in special circumslances where there would be
a clear advantage in the company's audttor undertaking such
additional work.

This policy, which has been maintained for a number of years by the
Committee, was reviewed in December 2016 for compkance with
the Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC's) revised Ethical Standards
and the EU Audit Regulation (new regulations). The following three
key policy quidelines were considered by the Committee as part of
its review:

Fee cap: GSK's existing non-audit services fees cap of 50% of the
annual audit fee in GSK's policy is more stringent than the FRC's
new fees cap set at 70% of the average of the audit fees for the
preceding three year period. GSK's existing policy cap of 50% has
been retained.

Prohibitions: GSK's policy has been updated so that the ‘black list’

" of prohibited non-audit services in the new regulations are applied

across the Group for GSK's 2017 financial year onwards. This is
subject to those exceptions outside the EU that the Committee can
approve.

Pre-approval: The FRC's new guidance for audit committees restricts
the category-wide pre-approval process in GSK's policy from 2017.
This poficy has been updated so that afl non-audit services:

— over £50,000 are pre-approved by the Committee Chairman
and CFO as dslegated by the Committee;

- between £25,000 and £50,000 are pre-approved by the
Group Financial Controller; and

- under £25,000 are approved by a designate of the Group
Financial Controller.

Fees paid to the company's auditor and its associates are set
out below. Further details are given in Note 8 to the financial
statements, 'Operating profit".

Where possible, other accounting fims are engaged to undertake
non-audit services.

Audit/non-audit services three year comparison graph (Em)

40

30
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° 2018

@ Audit and assurance services

O The ieo tor audt and o n 2015 included £8.0 milicn arising
{rom the I\ 1 ion and (he subseqy i in ploxty of the
Group. Approximarely hall of this is expectad to be recurring

@ Odver ices, inchuding tax, reguatory, pliance and treasury-related
BserViICes

: . © Sarvices related to tha Novartis ransaction

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

One of the key compliance requirements of a group's financial
statements is for the Annual Repaort to be fair, balanced and
understandable. The coordination and review of Group-wids
conlributions into the Annual Report follows a well established
and documented process, which is performed in parallel with
the formal process undertaken by the extemal auditor.

The Committee received a summary of the approach taken by
management in the preparation of GSK's 2016 Annual Report
to ensure that it met the requirements of the FRC's Code.
This enabled the Committee, and then the Board, to confirm
that GSK's 2016 Annual Report taken as a whole is fair,
balanced and understandable.

Code of Conduct ard reporting lines

We also have a number of well established policies, including

a Cods of Conduct, which is available on the govemance section
of our website, and confidential ‘Speak Up' reporting fines for
the reporting and investigation of unlawful conduct. An updated
version of the Code of Conduct was published in Apni 2016.

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evatuation was internally facilitated by
the Company Secretary, and supplemented by a questionnaire
circulated to Committee members on behalf of the Committee
Chairman. it was concluded that the Committee continued to
operate effectively. In terms of enhancements o the Commitlee’s
deliberations the following improvement points were agreed:

The Committee would focus on ways to further improve the
transparency of the company's reporting to reflect best practice.

The Committee considered its ways of working and agreed
enhancements 1o reflect the Committee’s changing agenda.

Tha Committee asked management 1o continue to improve the
crispness of reports it received.

The Committee was keen to continue to receive regular updates on
cyber security and to understand how data analytics and technology
could help to monitor employee and supplier behaviour against the
company's values.
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The Board recognises its obligation to present a fair, balanced
and understandable assessment of GSK's current position and
prospects. The Board is accountable for evaluating and approving
the effectiveness of the internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management
processes aperated by the Group.

The Internal Control Framework (the Framework) is the means by
which the Group ensures compliance with laws and regulations, the

reliability of financial reporting and comprehensive risk management.

The Framework supports the continuous process of the Board's
identification, evaluation and management of the Group's Principal
Risks, as required by the Financial Reparting Council’s (FRC's) UK
Corporate Govemance Code (UK Code)}, and is designed to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of nat achieving business
objectives.

A fit for purpose Framework, in conjunction with our values and
'Speak Up' processes, ensures that the risks associated with our
business activities are actively and effectively controlied in line with
the agreed risk appetite. We believe the Framework provides
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Strategic repon
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

lnvestor information

To ensure effective governance and promote an ethical culture,
the Group has in place the Risk Oversight and Compliance Council
(ROCC). This team of senior leaders is authorised by the Board to
assist Ihe Audit & Risk Committee (the Committee) in overseeing
risk management and internal control activities. it also provides the
business units with a framewaork for risk management and upward
escalation of significant risks. Each business unit has a risk board
structure which reports to the ROCC. The business unit Risk
Management and Compliance Boards (RMCBs) are responsible
for promoting the local ‘tone from the top® and risk culture, as well
as ensuring effective oversight of intemal cantrels and risk
management processes.

Each Principal Risk has an assigned risk owner who is a member
of senior management. The risk owner is responsible for reporting
on the risk management strategy for their respective Principal Risk
to the ROCC and the Committee at least once every two years.

The ROCC and the RMCBs are assisted by the Global Ethics and
Compliance division (GEC), which is responsible for advancing risk
management and the development of practices that drive compliance
with policies and support risk-based decision making. GEC actively
promotes ethical behaviours through enabling all members of the
organisation to operate in accordance with our values, and to comply
with applicable laws and regulations.
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Internal control framework continued

The Audit & Assurance division (A&A), in line with an agreed
assurance pfan, provides independent assurance to senior
management and the Board on haw risk is being managad across
the Group. This assurance helps senior management and the Board
to meet their oversight and advisory responsibilities in fulfilling the
Group's strategic abjectives and building trust with patients and
other stakeholders. A&A has a dual reporting fine into the Chief
Financial Officer and the Committee.

The Committee receives regular reports from business units,
Principal Risk owners, GEC and A&A on areas of significant risk

to the Group and on related internal contrals. These reports provide
an assessment on the internal control environment within each
Principal Risk area, including enhancements to strengthen the
confrol environment. Following the consideration of these reports,
the Committee concludes on the effectiveness of the control
enviranment and reporis to the Board annually.

In accordance with the FRC's UK Code provisions, the Board,
through the autharity delegated to the Committee, has conducted

a robust assessment of the Group's Principal Risks. This includes
the consideration of the nature and extent of risk it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives. The Board, through the
Committee, has maintained oversight to ensure the effectivéness of
the internal control environment and risk management processes in
operation across the Group for the whale year, and up to the date of
the approval of this Annual Report.

Govemance structure of risk management

The Board's review focuses on the company and its subsidiaries
and does not extend to materiaf associated undertakings, joint
ventures or other investments, although it considers the risk of the
company’s participation in these activities. There are established
procedures and controls in place to identify entities whose results
must be consolidated with the Group's results.

We believe the process followed by the Board, through the
Commitiee, in reviewing regularly the system of internal controls

and risk management pracesses is in accordance with the Guidance
on Risk Management, nlernal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting issued by the FRC.

A review of the Group's risk management approach is further
discussed in the ‘How we manage risk’ section of the Strategic
report on pages 18 to 19. Our management of each Principal Risk
is explained in 'Principal risks and uncentainties’ on pages 253 to
262. The Group's viability is discussed in the Group financial review
seclion of the Strategic report on page 56.

r? Board of Directors

Rasponsible for our system of corporate governance, strategy,
risk management and financial performance

Audit & Risk Committee

- Responsibte for reviewing and approving the adequacy and effectiveness
of our risk managemeant and intarna) controls

Corporate Executive Team

Supports the CEC in managing our business and activities

t_J\_JM_J

Risk Oversight and
Compliance Council
| -

Responsibility for implementing

- Authorised by the Board to assist the Audit & Risk Committee in averseeing
the risk management and internal contro! activities of the Group

Business units

Respansibie for our system of corporate governance, strategy,
risk management and financial performance

AR
Risk Management and
Compliance Boards

Accountahility for monitoring

- Ensure that appropriate internal controls far effective risk management
are implemented

. - Complemanted by Country Executive Risk Boards to ensure a consistant
J approach 1o risk management across local geography level
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Relations with shareholders

Engagement activities

We work to engage efectively with shareholders through our regular

communications, the AGM and other investor relations activities.

We announce our financial results on a quarterly basis. The annual
results are included in our Annual Report. All shareholders receive

an Annval Summary which advises them that our Annual Report and

Notice of our Annual General Meeting are available on our website.

During the year, Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans gave
presentations to institutional investors, analysts and the media
on the full year results, which are also available via webcast and
teleconference. After the first, second and third quarter results,
we hold webcast teleconferences for the same audience.

Our results are available on our website.

Our Investor Relations (IR) department, with offices in London and

Philadelphia, acts as a focal point for communications with investors.

The CEO, CFO and the Chairman maintain an active dialogue with
institutional shareholders on performance, plans and objectives
through a programme of regular meetings. During the year they held

over 24 individual meetings with investors and they have also hosted

approximately 13 group meetings with investors and potential
investors.

The Company Secretary acts as a focal point for communications
on corporate governance matters. We also have a small central
Corporate Responsibility (CR) team which coordinates strategy,
policy development and reporting specifically with respect to CR
matters. Meanwhile, the IR department communicates with sacially
responsible invastors and other stakeholders.

The Chairman also meets regularly with institutional shareholders to
hear their views and discuss issues of mutual importance, and
communicates their views to the other members of the Board.

The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (SID) and all the
Non-Executive Directors are available to meet with shareholders.

Strategic repon
Governance and remuneration
Financiaf statements

Investor information

Governance and remuneration meetings

A cornerstone of our investor calendar is the annual meetings
] that we hold wilh our top 30 shareholders, key investment
industry bodies and influential proxy advisory firms to discuss

.} corporate govemance and remuneration matters. These

sessions in December 2016, which were attended by the
Chairman, our SID, and our Committee Chairs, covered
a broad range of governance issues and were held morning
i - and afternoon to allow UK and overseas investors a

l convenient opportunity {o participate in the discussions.
Philip Hampton, the Chairman, shared updates on key areas
of focus for the Board including:

‘ ~ oversight of management’s execution of strategy and
performance, -

~ R&D delivery and the assessment of the pipeline;

~ CEO and executive team succession, including CEO
) transition activities;, and

- the wider evolution and refreshment of the Board.

Urs Rohner, our Remuneration Committee Chairman, took
the opportunity to discuss progress with the Remuneration
Committee's review of executive remuneration ahead of

our Remuneration policy vote at our AGM in May 2017.

In addition, Judy Lewent, who chairs our Audit & Risk
Committee, and Lynn Elsenhans, who chairs our Corporate
Responsibility Committee, provided an overview of the wark
of their respective committees.

Finally, Vindi Banga, our SID, provided his insights and
perspectives into the Board's culture and dynamics, together
with his impressions of GSK's senior team, its people and
businesses.

Listening to the views of our shareholders and receiving their
feedback at and after these sessions held in the run up to the
corporate reporting and AGM season helps us to shape key
areas of our corporate govemnance and remuneration
disclosures.

N _J

s reb e ] Com e o

Annual General Meeting

I All shareholders are invited to attend our Annual General

Meeting which this year, like last, will be held in May at the
QEll Centre, London. It provides an opporiunity to put
questions to our Board and the Chaimen of each of our . -
Board Committees during the formal AGM proceedings,
while providing shareholders the chance to meet infarmally
with our Board directors who will make themselves available
before and after the meeting.
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3 Corporate Responsibility Committee Report

Lynn Elsenhans
Corpaorate Responsibility
Commitiee Chairman

Picture removed
to meet
Companies House
requirements

Role
The Committee reviews:

- extemnal issues that have the potential for serious impact
upon GSK'’s business

- reputation management

— annual governance oversight of GSK's responsible business
commitments

Membership

Commiltee members Commiltea membey sinco

Lynn Elsenhans 1 October 2012

Chairman

Professor Sk Roy Anderson 1 May 2016

Dr Vivienne Cox 1 July 2016

Dr Jesse Goodman 1 May 2016

Dr Stephanie Bumns 6 December 2007 until 5 May 2016
Dr Daniel Podolsky 1 July 2006 until 5 May 2016

Hans Wijers 10 October 2013 until 5 May 2016

@ See page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.
The Company Secrelary is Secretary to the Commitiee and
attends all mestings. Other attendees at Committee meetings
may include:

Requiar  Attends as
Attendee atteridee required

Dear Shareholder

The Committee acts as custodian of the policies and practices
that define and safeguard the reputation of the company and as
Chair of the Committee | continue, together with my fellow
Committee members, to challenge and shape the company's
responsible business agenda.

The Commiltee members bring a wide range of experience and
insight from across different sectors to provide oversight of the
company’s responsible business opportunities and risks. During
the year, long serving Committee members Dr Stephanie Burns
and Or Daniel Podolsky stood down from the Committee when they
retired from the Board in May. Hans Wijers, who had served on the
Committee for three years, also stood down at the same time when
he retired from the Board. We have greatly appreciated the
knowledge and insights they have brought to the wark of the
Committee in that time.

We are pleased to welcome Professor Sir Roy Anderson,

Or Jesse Goodman and Dr Vivienne Cox as new members of the
Committee. Roy and Jesse, as world-renowned medical scientists
and researchers, have helped to maintain a continuity of scientific
advice to the Committee's deliberations, while Vivienne brings a
deep knowledge of sustainable business practices developaed over
many yeass of service, predominantly in the energy and natural
resources seclors.

The work of the Coammittee has this year again focused on issues
that are material to GSK's mission, strategy and values. Our
discussions have included exploring how the company seeks to
balance the need for a return on investment in innovation with the
need to price its producta appropriatoly to drive access for a hraad
range of patients. In addition, we have considered the many ways
in which GSK seeks to operate with transparency and integrity —
from its approach to R&D, to its commercial selling model and
relationships with third parties.

This year we have continued to enjoy positive engagement with

Chie Executive Officer v/
Company Chairman v
Chaimman, Globai Vaccines 7/
General Counse! v
Head of Communications & Government AHairs J/
Head of Pharmaceuticals

Head of Pharmaceuticals R&D

Head of Human Resources

Head of External & Market Communication

Head of Global Corporate Responsibility v/
Other Exscutives

Independent extemal corporate
responsibility adviser /

NININES

AN

To augment our engagement with stakeholder opinion, in May
2013, Sophia Tickell was appointed as an independent extemal
adviser to the Committee, a position that she had previously held
from March 2009 to July 2011. Ms Tickell has extensive experience
in the pharmaceuticals industry in improving health systems
productivity, sustainability in energy supply and distribution,
climate change poficy and shant-tenmism in financial markets.
She is the co-founder and Director of Meteos, from where she
directs the Pharma Futures Series, which aims to align better
societal and shareholder value. She holds a number of other
board and advisory roles.

Ms Tickell attended meetings of the Committee and provided
independent advice and guidance on corporate and social
responsibility matters to both the Chairman and the CEO.

-t

ir s on our Responsible Business approach and performance,
with a particular focus on how these are integrated into the Group's
business modei and strategy to help enhance investment value,
create business opportunities and mitigate risk, as well as create
broader social and environmentaf value.

Lynn Elsenhans
Corporate Responsibility Committee Chairman

13 March 2017
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Corporate Responsibility Committee Report continued

Main responsibllities — Our peopfe: Enabling our peaple to thrive and develop as
The Committee has a rolling agenda and receives reports from individuals to deliver our mission.

mempers of ::e CET f::d ;em.or magagers.to ensure :?alfprogress mf - Our planet: Growing our business while reducing our
megeting our Responsible Business Commitments within four areas o enviranmental impact across the value chain.

focus is reviewed on an annual basis: . ] ] ) .
In addition, at each meeting the Committee considers possible

— Health for all: innovating to address currently unmet health needs: emerging issues that may have a bearing on the campany's

:fnprow:g. acgiss to our' pro:ucts', |r'r'gspech\;e 9' u_rherce’_ people reputation and interaction with its stakeholders. The Committee
“f'f ort EI;IZ ! "yl ‘? pay: an Ic°" '? 'ng °rle iminating diseases also reviews and approves the Responsible Business Supplement
aftecting the world's most vulnerable people. which is available for reference on www.gsk.com/responsibility.

~ Our behaviaur: Putting the interests of patients and consumers
first, driven by our values in everything we do and backed by
robust policies and strong compliance processes.

Work of the Committee during 2016
During 2016, the Committee focused primarily on the matters set out below:

Aress of Committee tocus Items discussed

Health for all - Flexible and open R&D approach tor diseases of the developing word and other areas of great medical need, such as
antibiotics and dementia

GSK's approach to pricing, in particular how to batance retums lor investment in innovation alangside the need to suppon
access to medicings

- Vaccings strategy to support global public health pricrities, including pricing models, Malaria vaccine and Ebola response

Our behaviour - Changes to how GSK angages with healihcare professionals
- Gilobal incentive compensation program and selling competency mode)
— Further embedding vatues-based decision making in the organisatian, including training and compliance
— Progress on work to align third parties with GSX's standards and expectations
— Conduct and pubdic ciscinsure of clinical research, mansparency of duluiied Uula behing tia results and paticnt safoly
- Replacement, refinement and reduction in use of animals in research and development

Our people ~ Organisational change and employee relations
~ Inclusion and diversity
-~ Leadership, development and approach to performance management
- Employee health, safety and wellbeing
- Insights from the staff survey

Qur planet ~ Environmental performance across carbon, water and waste impacts

Committee evaluation

The Committee’s annual evaluation was internally facilitated by the Company Secretary, and supplemented by a questionnaire circulated

to Committee members and the Committee's adviser on behalf of the Committee Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee continued
to operate effectively. In terms of enhancements to the Committee’s deliberations the following points were agreed:

The Committee's programms and meeting agendas would be devised to ensure additionat time to allow fuller discussion of issues.
Consideration would be given to monitor the Group's CR work using a scorecard approach.

Directors

Qur Directors’ powers are determined by UK legistation and our A Director may cease to be a Director if he or she:
Articles of Association, which contain rules about the appointment - b K
and repfacement of Directors. They provide that Directors may be ecomes bankrupt

appointed by an ordinary resolution of the members or by aresolution — Ceases 1o be a Director by virtue of the Companies Act or

of the Directors, provided that, in the latter instance, a Director the Articles

appofnted in this way retires at the first AGM following his or her — suffers mental or physical ill health and the Board resolves
appointment. that he or she shall cease to be a Director

Our Articles also provide that Directors should normally be subject -~ has missed Directors’ meetings for a continuous periad of six
to re-election at the AGM at intervals of.thrae years or annually if they months without permission and the Board resolves that ha ar
have held office for a continuous period of nine years or more. she shall cease to be a Director

However, the Board agreed in 2011 that all Directors who wish to
continue as members of the Board should seek re-election annually
in accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code.

is prohibited from being a Director by law
resigns, or offers to resign and the Board accepts that offer

- is required to resign by the Board.
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Directors cantinued

Directors’ conflicts of interest

All Directors have a duty under the Companies Act 2006 to avoid a
situation in which they have, or could have, a direct or indirect conflict
of interest or possible conflict with the company. Qur Articles provide
a generat power for the Board to authorise such conflicts,

The Nominations Committee has been authorised by the Board
to grant and regularly review any potential or actual conflict
authorisations, which are recorded by the Company Secretary
and noted by the Board. Directors are not counted in the quorum
for the authorisation of their own actual or potential conflicts.

On an ongoing basis, the Directors are responsible for informing

the Company Secretary of any new actual or potentiat conflicts that
may arise or if there are any changes in circumstances that may
affect an authorisation previously given. Even when provided with
autharisation, a Director is not absolved from his ar her statutory duty
to promote the success of the company. if an actual conflict arises
post-authorisation, the Board may choose to exclude the Director
from receipt of the relevant information and participation in the
debate, or suspend the Director from the Board, or, as a last resort,
require the Dirsctor to resign.

The Nominations Committee reviewed the register of potential
conflict authorisations in January 2017 and reported to the Board
that tha conflicts had been appropriately authorised and that the
process for authorisation continues to operate effectively. Except
as described in Note 35 to the financial statements, 'Related party
transactions’, during or at the end of the financial year no Director
or Person Closely Associated had any material interest in any
rontract of significance with a Group company.

Independent advice

The company has an agreed procedure for Directors to take
independent legal and/or financial advice at the company's expense
where they deem it necessary.

Indemnification of Directors

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions (as defined in the
Companies Act 2006) are in force for the benefit of Directors and
former Directors who held office during 2016 and up to the signing
of the Annual Report.

Change of control and essential contracts

We do not have contracts or other arrangements which individually
are fundamental to the ability of the business to operate effectively,
nor is the company party to any malerial agreements that would take
effect, be altered, or terminate upon a change of control following

a takeover bid. We do not have agreements with any Director that
would provide compensation for loss of office or employment
resulting from a takeover, except that provisions of the company’s
share plans may cause options and awards granted under such
plans to vest on a takeover, Details of the temmination provisions in
the company's framework for contracis for Executive Directors are
given in the full version of the company's 2014 Remuneration policy
report which is available at www.gsk.com in the Investors section.

Directors' Report

For the purposes of the UK Companies Act 2006, the Directors'
Report of GlaxaSmithKline plc for the year ended 31 December
2016 comprises pages 79 to 110 of the Corporate Governance
Report, the Directors' statements of responsibilities on pages
148 and 232 and pages 253 to 282 of Investor Information. The
Sirategic report sets out those matters required to be disclosed
in the Directors’ Report which are considered to be of sirategic
importance to the company, as follows:

- risk management objectives and policies (pages 18, 19
and 77 to 78)

~ likely future developments of the company (throughout the
Strategic report)

- research and development activitios (pages 20 to 39)

- diversity and inclusion (page 49)

- provision of information to, and consultation with, employees
(page 48)

- carbon emissions (page 50)

The following information is also incorporated into the
Dirgctors' Report:

Location in Annual Roport

Financial statements,
Notes 17 and 18

Group financial review, page 62

Interes! capitalised

Publication of unaudited financial nformation

Details of any long-term incentive schemes  Remunsration report
Waivar of emoluinenis Uy o Dieclos Mot ppplicablo
Wiaivers of future emoluments by a Director  Not applicabt

Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash Not appiicable

Non pre-empliva izsues of equity for cash Not applicable

by any unlisted major subsidiary undentaking

Pargnt company participation in a placing Not applicable

by a listed subsidiary

Provision of services by a controlling Not applicable
shareholder

Shareholder waivar of dividends Financial statements,

Notes 16 and 43

Financi! statements,
Notes 15 and 43

Not applicable

Sharehotder waiver of future dividends

Agresments with conirolling shareholders

The Directors’ Report has been drawn up and presented in
accordance with and in reliance upon English company law and
the kabilities of the Directors in connection with that report shall
be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided by such law.
The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board of Directors on
13 March 2017 and signed on its behall by:

INQY NI
Phillp Hampton
Chairman

13 March 2017
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Picture removed
to meet
Companies House
requirements

In developing our new
Remuneration policy we
have spent considerable
time listening to
shareholders. The
proposed approach
provides better -
alignment, reduced
maximum pay levels
and greater simplicity.

\_

~

. Dear Shareholder
On behalf of \he Board of Directors,
fam pleased to present to you our
Remuneration report for 2016. This
includes my annual statement, our Annual
report on remuneration, a summary of our
2017 remuneration policy and the 2017
Remuneration policy report, which
provides full details of the new policy.

The Annual report on remuneration and
this annual statement will be subject to
an advisory vote at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM) on 4 May 2017. The
Remuneration policy report will be
subject to a binding vote.

Context for Executive remuneration

at GSK ’

2016 has seen GSK perform strongly

with good sales growth across our
Pharmaceuticals, Vaccines and Consumer
Healfthcare businesses, excelfent new
product momentum, disciplined cost control
and further pipeline progress. Our result
against our key financial measures were
above target, with core eamings per share.

growth being at the tap end of our guidance.

In addition, Total Shareholder Retumn
(TSR) growth of 2294 was achieved which
outperformed the FTSE 100 index over
the year.

Remuneration outcomes for 2016

All awards in relation to 2016 were made in
accordance with the Remuneration poficy
approved by sharehalders in May 2014. The
key decisions made by the Remuneration
Committee (the Committee) were as follows:

~ The bonus outcomes for the Execulive
Directors were determined by reference
to performance against the agreed
financial measures, as well as the
Committee’s assessment of their
individual levels of perfarmance. GSK
achieved performance in excess of the
relevant financial targels for the year. In
conjunction with assessments of individual
performance, this has resulled in bonus
payments being made above target, but
below maximum opportunities. Further
details of the bonus outcomes for the year
are provided on page 119, including
enhanced disclosure of the bonus targets
for the year and details of the Individual
Performance Multipliers (IPMs) that have
been applied for each Executive Director.

~ Vesting of the 2014 Performance Share
Plan (PSP) awards and the matching
awards under the Deferred Annual Bonus
Plan (DABP) were based on the agreed
measures of relative TSR, adjusted
free cash flow and R&D new product
performance, each with an equal
weighting. Performance was mgasured
over the three years 10 31 December
2016. The threshold targets for the
TSR and-cash flow measurgs were not
met, but the maximum R&D target was
achieved, resulting in an overall vesting
level of 33.3%. Further details of the
vesting outcome for the 2014 PSP and
DABP matching awards are provided
on page 121.
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Review of Remuneration policy

During. 2016, the Committee reviewed

the Remuneration policy with the objective
of maintaining alignment with strategic
goals and further aligning the policy with
best practice. The revised Remuneration
policy is designed to:

— Drive the success of the company and
the delivery of its business strategy;

~ Create shareholder value;
- Simplify pay arrangements;

— Deliver an appropriately competitive
package to attract, retain and motivate
executive talent; and

~ Further align remuneration arrangements
across the senior layers of the
organisation.

As part of the Remuneration policy review,
which included reviewing the packages
for the new CEO and President, R&D,

the Committee carried out an extensive
consultation process with a significant
number of our major shareholders. The
feedback received from shareholders

was greatly valued and given careful
consideration by the Committee.

The key changes which we proposed to
our Remuneration policy, with a focus on
increasing alignment with shareholders
and reducing maximum incentive
opportunities, included:

~ Removal of the bonus matching plan;

~ Reduction of maximum potential pay
levels;

— Simplification of the Annual bonus
scheme; and

~ Increase to the CEO's Share Ownership
Requirement.

In finalising the proposals and responding
to a number of points raised during the
shareholder cansultation, the Committee
were particularty thaughtful about the
quantum of the incentives and about how

" the new policy should be implemented for

Emma Walmsley in 2017. Full details of

the final changes to the policy are set out
in the Remuneration policy repoit on pages
137 to 146.

Executive Director changes and
implementation of Remuneration policy
for 2017

New appointments to the Board

As discussed elsewhere in the 2016 Annual
Repont, Sir Andrew Witty will be stepping
down as CEQ with effect from 31 March
2017 and will be succeeded by Emma
Walmsley. As noted above, the Committee
gave careful and detailed consideration to
Emma's remuneration package for 2017,
taking into account afl relevant factors.
This included the constructive feedback
received from shareholders which resulted
in a number of refinements to the originat
proposals.

Takirig into account the fact that this is
Emma’s first CEQ role, reductions have been
made to all elements of her remuneration
package in comparison to Sir Andrew's
current arrangements. Her overall package
for 2017 will be ¢.25% less than that
received by Sir Andrew. It is the Committee’s
intention to keep Emma's package under
review in the coming years subject to her
development and performance in the role.
We would engage with shareholders
regarding any changes within the limits

set by the Remuneration policy.

A summary of Emma Walmsley's new
package is set out aiter the end of this fetter
on page 114. Further details are provided

in the Annual report on remuneration.

Dr Patrick Vallance joined the Board in

his role as President, R&D on 1 January
2017. He will receive a base salary of
£780,000 and his pension arrangements,
annual bonus and PSP opportunities will be
in accordance with those set out in the
Remuneration policy.

Changes to the annual bonus structure
for 2017

As part of the Remuneration policy review,
the Committee decided to simplify the
structure of the annual bonus. The Individual
Performance Muttiplier has been removed
and from 2017, the annual bonus will operate
on an additive basis. 70% of the bonus
opportunity will be subject to a single profit
metric of Core Group PBIT instead of two
separate measures of profit which applied
in previous years. The remaining 30% will
be subject to a scorecard of individual
objectives. This ensures that maximum
bonus opportunities can only be delivered

if maximum targets are achieved in respect
of bath the financial and individual elements
of the plan.

Departing executives

As noted above, Sir Andrew Witty will be
stepping down as CEO with effect from
31 March 2017. Dr Moncef Slaoui will also
be leaving the Board on 31 March 2017,
but will remain with the company until

30 June 2017.

No termination payment will be made to
either Executive and all outstanding incentive
awards will be treated in accordance with
the Remuneration policy. A more detailed
summary of the treatment of these awards

is provided on page 136 and full details of
the payments made will be included in future
Annual reports on remuneration.

AGM .

Finally, | would like to thank shareholders

for their input and engagement during the
Remuneration policy review and | welcome
all sharehalders’ feedback on this report.
We look forward to receiving your support
for our new Remuneration policy and Annual
report on remuneration at our AGM on

4 May 2017.

Urs Rohner
Remuneration Committee Chairman

13 March 2017

A
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:Key changes to our Remuneration policy for 2017

R\
I Alignment with shareholders J = {ncrease in the level of mandatory defe{ral und{ar the annual bonus from 25% to S0%

- Significant increase in Share Ownership Requirement for the CEO from 4x salary to 6.5x salary
i}ed'ucﬁnn in overall maximum - The overali maximum incentive opportunity for ali Executive Directors has been reduced
opportunity e.g. the total remuneration package of the new CEQ ig ¢.25% less than that received by

the current CEO.
. - | of matchi nder the DABP p!
[ Simplification j Removal of matching atr«ard‘s u rl o plan ‘ -
- Afignment of all Executive Directars' on-tasget and maximum bonus opportunities
— Change from multiplicative to additive bonus structure
. S
Overview of new CEO’s 2017 remuneration package
= : Y

Overview Comparison with provicus CEO Rationale

-~ £1,003,000 — 109% reduction — Lower salary awarded on f
Base salary —j @ initia} appointment
Pension — 20% of salary ~ Significantly lower @ - Noincrease in the level

contribution to defined pension benafit than the of pension contributian
contnbution plan (and previous CEO’s defined provided to Ms Walmstey
a further 5% matched benefit arrangement prior to her joning the
cantribution on salary Bourd
up to £33,333 — Remains aligned with the
‘ Le. £1,667) pension contribution
k provided to other
Executives immediately
below the Board
. -~ Target opportuntty of - Reduction in the target - Aﬁgns the annual bonus
[Annual bonus J 10096 of salary bonus apportunity from @ opportunity and structure
- Maximum opportunity o} 126% of salary for al Executive Directors
200% of salary
s ~ Maximum opportunity of - Over 20% reduction in @ ~ Removal of matching
550% of salary total long-term incentive awards under the DABP
opportunity from a simplifies the remuneration
maximum of 7009 package and reduces the
of salary (which included overall incentive opportunity
awards under the PSP — 2017 PSP opportuni
and matching awards is also Iowe'!)‘l’:a:v thr:tly
under the DABP) previously awarded to Sir
Andrew Witty
) ~ 6509 of salary — Significantly abave the - Aligns the Share
[Sh"!“ Own Ip Requirement l curent requirement @ Ownership Requirement
ol 400% of salary with the maximum PSP
opportunity unders the
Remuneration poficy and
further aligns the interests
aof the CEO with those of
shareholders
Tota) reduction in package @
of c. 25%
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2016 atz-i glance "

—a
Pay tor performance i\
Oblectives - KPis h t
Financial: R 2016 Annual bonus: financial performance
Grow a balanced business — Core Group Operating Profit
~ Core Group PBIT Maxm
- 1 umn
Vaccines performance (1109 targe)
Non-financial: 103% 10396
Health for all - Increase access to healthcare Target
Our behaviour - Putiing patients and consumers first ) .
Our people - Talent, development and diversity
Qur planet - Reducing environmental impacts Threshold ~= === === = c e e e o
(0% targe1)
” Core Group Core Group Vaccines
Operating Profit PBIT Perfomance
. @ Masimum performance largel  (QPertformance achieved
Long-term strategic objectives: 2014 LTI outcome — performance period ended 31 December 2016
(g Strong R&D innovation - R&D new products
. Relative R&D
B Efficient global - Adjusted free cash flow
ul : TSR new products
operating model 1/3rd 113rd
6 Three world-leading - Relative TSR 1
businesses
Adjustcd
@ Award lapsed {ree cash flow
L Q Award vested 1/3d B )
2016 highlights summary .
The following shows a breakdown of total remuneration paid to Executive Directors in respect of 2016 and 2015: |
! Sir Andrew Witty, CEO Simon Dingemang, CFO Or Moncef Slaoui, Chairman, Global Vaccines
£8m $10m
74% $8m
£6m 5%
S8%
$6m §99%
£4m
69% 70% $4m
£2m N
G 08
£om 2016 2015 2016 2015 $om 2018 2018 .
\k.Fued pay - salary, benefits and pension O Periermance pay - annual bonus and LTls earned
. — —
Executive Directors’ shareholdings {(audited) Share ownership vs SOR
To align the interests of Executive Directors with those of
shareholders, they are required to build and maintain significant Sir Andrew Witty
holdings of shares in GSK over time. Executive Directors are 4x base salary
required to continue to satisfy these shareholding requirements Simon Dingemans
for a minimum of 12 months following retirement from the 3x base salery
company. CET members are also required to buld up a Share Dr Monce! Staoui
Ownership Requirement (SOR) of 2x base salary. 3x base salary
rrent shareholdi Rare i i
Cu oldings compared to the SOR are iflustrated in OSOR 31122016 shareholding
the chart opposite. . . . .
. * Following hes appointment a3 CEQ, the SOR for Emma Walmsloy wd increase In 8.5x base salasy.

Tho SOR tor Dr Patrick Vallance wi bo 3 base sakry. Thei lovels of ownership as at 3 March 2017
were 2.5z and 6.6x ther base salarias as CEO and President, R2D rospecively.
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 Total remuneration for 2016 (audited)

Value earned
: Annual Total
Safary Benefits Pension | + from LTI = .
%% %‘% bonus awards remuneration

N
N
N\ 4

5
7

A. Fixed pay B. Pay for'performance

The total remuneration for 2016 for each Executive Director is set out in the table below:

Dr Monce! Slaoui, Chairman,
Sir Andrew Witty, CEQ Simon Dingemans, CFO Globat Vacci
, 2016' 2015 , 2016 2015 2016 2015
£000 £000 £000 $000 $000
LA Fixed pay ’
Salay @ Sea page 117 1415 1,087 736 718 1,242 1,212
Benefits () See page 117 124 110 92 82 495 545
Pension @ See page 118 520 458 147 144 ' a75 1318
| Total fixed pay J } 1758l 1,655 975 944 2612 3073
l B. Pay for performance ' I
Anowal bonus ) See pages 119 and 120 2167 2,175 915 989 1,726 1,632
LTl awards:
Matching awards under DABF" 361 194 19 73 293 274
PSP @) See page 121 2543 2,637 1119 1,180 1812 2345
[ Yotat pay for pertormance ] ‘ 501 i 5,006 l 2,153 2222 3831 [ 4,261
L‘*B = Total remuneration® J | easo] 6661 | a1zl 3166 | | 2324
Notes: .
() Further dotals inrespect of 1he vesting of PSP and DABP awards are provﬂedon pages 13010 133.
()] mammnmumhspedcmamandmnnawnhyatad iplas, apply dawback/malus, as @ fiowi i tha C
these hao been no racovery of sums paid (clawbs ion of ding ewards or vasting levels (malus) epphied dumg 2016 n 'e.pud ol any of the Exezutive Directors.
[ Deterral of 2016 annual bonus } %  £000 Number of shares ® €000 Number of shares %  $000  Number of ADS
Amount of bonus deferred 25 642 50 458 25 432

Number of shares or ADS purchased 34,353 29,022 10,760
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The following sections provide details of each element of 'Total
remuneration’, including how the Committee implemented the
approved Remuneration poficy in 2016.

Comparator groups for pay and TSR

The Committee used two pay comparator groups for all roles when
considering executive pay for 2016. The primary group used for each
Executive Director was as follows:

UK cross-industry
comparator group

Global pharmaceutical
comparator group

Stiategic repont
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investos information

The global pharmaceutical comparator group is also used as the
basis for the TSR comparator group, which features in our long-term
incentive awards.

(1) Following a review of the pay comparator group during the year,
these comparators have been removed from the group for 2017.

(2) AbbVie and Amgen are included for remuneration benchmarking,
but are not included in the TSR comparator group.

When reviewing the CEO's remuneration, the Committee also
references pay for a group of leading European companies
whose selection is based on their size and complenity.

Sir Andrew Witty Or Moncef Staoui

Simon Dingemans

Anglo American® France Sanofi
AstraZeneca Switzerland  Novartis

BG Groupt™. Roche Holdings
BHP Billiton UK AsvaZeneca

8P us AbbVief2

British American Tobacco Amgeni?

Diageo Bristol-Myers Squibb
Reckitt Benckiser £ Lilly

Rio Tinto Johnson & Johnson
Royal Dutch Shell Merck & Co

SAB Miller") Praer

Tescof"

Unilever

Vodafone

Salary

The table below sets out the base salaries of the Executive Dirgctors
over the last two years. As disclosed last year, the salary increases
made in 2016 were aligned with those provided to the wider
workforce. Details of salary levels for 2017 are provided on page 135.

% Base salary

change 2016 2015

Sir Andrew Witty 2.5% £1,114,500 £1,0873C0

Simon Dingemans 2.5% £735,600 £717,700

Dr Mancef Slaoui 26%  $1,242,100 $1,211,800
Benefits

The following table shows a breakdown of the grossed up cash value
of the benefits received by the Executive Directors in 2016 and 2015.

Employee benefits include all employee share plans, healihcare,
car allowance, personal financial advice and life assurance/death
in service cover.

Travel expenses include car, travel and spouse/partner costs
associated with accompanying the Executive Director on GSK
business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual.

Other benefits comprise expenses incurred in the ardinary course of
business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual
and, as such, have been included in the table below.

‘m 2015 benefts
Sir Andrew Witty (£000)
Employee benefits 63 26
Trave! . 23 48
Orher benefits 38f 36
Total | 124 110
Simon Dingemans (£000)
Employee benefits 30 29
Trave! . as 39
Other benefits 24 14
Total . . ..s2! 82
Dr Moncet Slaoui ($000) .
Employee benefits 158 216
Travel . a4 86
Other benefits™” . 303 243
Total } _a9s} - 545

() For Dr Monce! Slaowi, other benefits inchude UK accommodation of $242,875 in 2016
{2015 - $225,808). .
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Pensions

'
Executive Director ’ Pension plan type Member since
Sir Andrew Witty UK defined benefitt™ ’ 19912
Simon Dingemans ' Cash payment in lieu of pensiont? -
Dr Moncef Slaoui US and Belgian plans 1988

(1) Sir Andrew's maximum pension entillement ia two-thirds of final salary. Since 1 Apr) 2013, pensionable salary increases have been limited (o 2% p.a. for all members. The plan has bean

. closed to new onlrants since 2001.

{2 Since becoming amember, Sir Andrew has buill up pensianable service through the dilferent tiers of the Glaxo Wellcomo Pension Plan. His cument pension entillemant is a

product of his service and progression within GSK.

() Simon Dingemans receives a cash payment in lieu of pensicon of 20% ol base salary intine with GSK's delined conlribution pansion plan rates.

The following table shows the breakdown of the pension values set out on page 116.

Sir Andrew Witty Simon Dingemans Or Moncef Slaoui
| 2016 2015 2016 2015 ' 2016} 2015
Pension remuneratian valuest” . £000 £000 £000 £000 $oca} $000
UK defined benefit §20 472 ol - - B -
US defined benefit - - - - 742 1,191
Belgian defined benetit(® - - - - 10 57
Employer cash contributions - - 147 144 123 68
Member contributions to defined benefit plans - (14) - - - -
Total pension remuneration value [ 520 458 | . 147] 144 | 8751 1,316
(1) The pension remuneranon figuras have been din 1ce with the methodolagy set oul in Tha Large and Medium-sized Companies and Group (Accounts and
Reports) (Amend Aations 2013 (R ian Ragulations). In cateulaling the defined benelil pansion vehugs for 2016, the difference between the accrued pension as
al 31 December 2016 and the d ion es at 31 D ber 2015 ir d by inflation (0% for UK defined benefit, 1.7% tor US defined benefil, 1.7% for Belgian delined
benefiv) has been multiplied by 20.
@ A have been d irom Euros into US Dollars using an exchange rate af 1.11 for 2016 end 1.12 for 2015.

For Sir Andrew and Dr Moncel Staoui, further details regarding the 2016 pension values are set out in the table below.

Accrued pension es at 31 December | l
Pension remuneretion

2018 2015
Sir Andrew Witty £(pa) £ (pa) value for 2016 (£000) §
UK - Funded 71,591 71,6848 l {
UK - Unfunded §70.500 644,959 |~ *
Total 742,091 716,107 } 520
Accrued pensicn as at 31 December
2016 2008 Pension remuneration
Dr Moncet Slaouit» $(pa) $(pa) value for 2018 ($000)
US - Funded 16,434 14473 14
US - Unfunded 439,303 396,297 728
Belgium - Funded@ 103,230 101,010 10
US - 401(k) & ESSP - . - 123
Total 558,057 511,780 { 875,
{1 Since becoming 8 member of thase plans, Dr Moncef Staoui has built up pensionable service in the Belgian Plan, and in the US Cash Balance and Supplemental Pension Plans.
Annyal employer cash contributions were mado to the 401(k) Plan and Exaculive Supplemental Savings Plan (ESSR), His current p er is a product of his service
and progression within GSK.

@ A s have been lated from Euros into US Dollars using an exchangs rate of 1.11 for 2016 and 1.12 for 2015,
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[ Annual bonus  The annual bonus opportunity is based on a formal review of performance against stretching financial targets. This }
outcome is then adjusted to reflect individual performance by applying an Individual Performance Multiplier (IPM). l

The IPM is set by the Committee taking into account performance against individual objectives. The multiplier may
be set belween 0% and 150%.

2016 performance against targets
For 2016, the financial measures and weightings were as follows:

Weighting 2016 perfformance
Perfarmance Positioning
measure Sk Andrew Wity  Simon Dingemans  Dr Moncef Staoul 2016 Target!!X?) Outcome (EX? sgainst target
Core Group Operating Proft 75% . 75% - £6706m £6,914m 103%
Core Group PBIT 25% 25% 259% £6,386m £6,592m 103%
Vaccines performance - - 75% £1,038m £1,207m 118%
(1) Threshold and mas: P oo largols were sat at 30% and 1109 of Target respeciively.
@ The Core Group Operating Profit and Core Group PBIT targets and outcomes for the purposes of annual bonus differ from Core Group Operating Profit and PBIT disclosed

elsewhere in this Annual Report, primarily because bath the target and out bers are calculaled applying GSK budget exchange rates and not aclual exchange rates.

The following table shows actual bonuses earned compared to opportunity for 2016:

2016 bonus opportunity § 2016 bonus autcome |
l Rnandal - {

performunc ’ CoE Coe s T
Base salary Target Maximum outcomo * Total 2016 Total 2016

Bonus £/$000 (% of solary) (3% of salary) (5 salary) 1PM % (36 of satary) £/$000
Sir Andrew Witty £1,115 125 200 | 162 120 194 £2,167|
Simon Dingemans £736 80 180f T 104 120 124 £915]
Or Moncel Staoui $1,242 85 200§ 126 110 139 $1,725,

The table below sets out the matters which the Committee considered in respect of the fmanmal measures and welghtlngs set for the
Executive Directors.

Financial perfermance

Core Group Operating - Group tumover increased 6% CER on a reported basis to £27.9 billion and 5% CER on a pro-forma basis.
Profit and Core GroUP . Core Group Operating Profit increased by 14% CER on a reported basis and 17% CER on a pro-forma basis. Core Group PBIT
PBIT grew 14% CER on a reported basis. Both of thesa were ahead of target pedomance for 2016 but below the maximum targets.
~ Core operating margin of 27.8% was 4.6 percentage points higher than in 2015 and 2.6 percentags points higher in CER terms
on a pro-forma basis. This reftected improved operating leverage driven by sales growth and a more favourable mix across all three
businesses as well as delivery of restructuring and integration bensfils and tight contro! of ongoing costs, partly offsel by continued
price pressure, particularly in Respiratory, and supply chain and R&D investments.

Vaccines performance - Vacanes sales increased 14% CER on a reported basis to £4,692 milion and 12% CER on a pro-forma basis.

- Ovenall results benefited bom the strang perfarmance of Bexsero, as well as higher demand tor Auarix/Flulaval in the US and
Intemational and Menveo in International. Further grawth was driven by Synllorx due to market expansion in intematonal and a
tender awasd in Eumpe and Boostrix, which grew in Europe and International.

-V core op g profit ir d by 38% in CER terms. The opeuahng profit margin of 31.79 was 7.6 percentage paints
higher than in 2016 in CER terms on a pro-forma basis.

~ The resuits were driven primarily by improved product mix and enhanced operating leverage from strong sales growth, together
with integration and restructuring benefits in costs of sales, SG&A and R&D, and higher royalty income.
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Pay for performance (audited) continued

In determining the appropriate Individual Performance Multiplier (IPM) that should be applied to the annual bonus outcome for each Executive
Directar, the Committee toak into account performance against a number of key strategic objectives that were set for each individual at the
start of the year.

A summary of the principal achievements of each Executive in respect of these objectives is provided in the table below:

Personal performaance 2015 achievements

Sir Andrew Witty - Delivered all key financial objectives ahead of the financial plan.

~ Achieved strong progress in the integration of the N is busi in C and Vaccines.

= New product sales more than doubled to £4.5 billion.

— Strong returns on R&D investment during the year with the approval and submission targets for late stage assats exceeded.

— Delivered sustained pipeline progress with 4 assets filed in H2 2016 (Shingrix, Closed Triple, Benfysta SC and Sirukumab)
and 4 key phase |Il starts in Q4 for assets in HIV, respiratory and anasmia.

- Defivered continued improvément in the quality risk profile ecross afl three businesses.

— Fully implemented the new commercial business model and maintained prog on dghvering our responsible business
commitments, e.g. topping Access to Medicines Index for the 5th consecutive year.

— Embedded a number of critical simplification and change prog , realising benefits fram our global platforms.

. - Provided effective leadership to the Group during a year ol significant change, while also successfully transitioning towards
anew CEO, ’
Simen Dingemans — Delivered strong financial leadership for the Group during 2018.
. = Continued progress on cost savings made. Totat annval cost savings now at £3 billion including cumency benefit of £0.2 billion and
the Group remains on track to defiver the targeted annual savings of £3 biflion at CER by 2017,

- Continued successful implementation of new business operating systems. BISON and (PT successfully went live and legacy systems
have been decommissioned. CERPS accounting systems were successfully deployed in 22 markets and MERPS system deployed
in nine sites.

— AR but one exit from Novartis ransaction related Service Agreements have been completed and Care Commercial cycle integrated
into financial ptanning process.

Dr Monce{ Staoui — Led a highly successful yeas in the Vaccines business overall

- Efiectively managed the Vaccines' leadership succession and transition to the new Head of Vaccines, Luc Debruyne,

- Finalised the successfut creation of Galvani, a bioelectronics joint venture with Verily Life Sciences, with significant opportunity to
create value for shargholders.

- Worked towards the creation of Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations in support of bioprepared and ished
GSK's place on the founding board amongst other major vacCines organisations.

- Supported GSK's extemal reputation building in the globad public heatih arena, working directly with WHO, BARDA, Wellcome Trust,
UNGA, and AMR.

Malus and clawback policy

The company’s policy on malus and clawback is set out in the company's Remuneration policy report, (page 140) and is also available at
www.gsk.com in the Investors section.

From 1 Januasy 2015 in respect of each financial year, the Committee discloses whether it (or the Recoupment Committee) has exescised
clawback or malus.

Disclosure will anly be made when the matter has been the subject of public reports of misconduct, where it has been fully resolved, where it
is legally permissible to disclose and where it can be made without unduly prejudicing the campany and therefore shareholders.

In line with these disclosure guidelines, neither the Committee (nor the Recoupment Committee) has exercised malus or clawback during 2016,
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Pay for performance (audited) continued o

Value eamed from long-term incentives (LTls)

In line with the Cammittee's agreed principles, for each measure applicable to the 2014 and 2015 LTI awards, actual performance against
targels is reviewed and adjustments made as appropriate to reflect the impact of the Novartis transaction on the business and fo ensure that
the vesting outcome reflects genuine underlying business performance. The Committee is satisfied that the adjusted targets remain suitably
stretching. Further details on any adjustments made will be provided at the time of vesting. .

2014 awards with a performance period ended 31 December 2016
The Committee reviewed the performance of the PSP and DABP matching awards granted to Executive Directors against the targets set.
The performance achieved in the three years to 31 December 2016 and the vesting levels are set out in the table below.

Qutcome and vesting level
Performance measures % of % of
engd relath hti Perf targets Outcome maximum eward
R&D new product R&D new product sales performance measuras aggregate thres-ysar sales for new £6.72bn 100 33.33
performance products taunched in the three-year performance period and preceding two years,
(1/3rd) ie. 2012-16.
Original target Adjusted tamet - % vesting
Maximum £5.26 bn £443bn 100%
£478 bn . £403bn 75%
£454 bn £3.82bn 50%
Threshold £4.30 bn £3.62 bn 25% R
Adjusted free In line with the company's agreed principles, the AFCF figures included adjustments £9.29bn o] (]
cash flow (AFCF) for a number of matenal distorting tems, including legal settlements, exchange rate
performance movements and special pension contibuti
. (1/3rd) QOriginal target Adjusted targei S vesting
Maximum £16.22bn £1295bn 100%%
£1551 bn £12.38bn 75%
£14.10 bn £11.26bn 850%
Threshold £13.68 bn £10.92 bn 25%
Relative TSR TSR ranking within camparator group' % vesting Ranked 8th o o
ae;;trz‘r’;nance Maximum 1st, 2nd, 3rd 100%
4th 72%
Sth 44%
Threshold? Median 30%
6th to 10th %

' TSR comparator group: AstraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly, GSK, ’
Johnsan & Johnson, Merck & Co,. Novartis, Pfizer, Roche Holdings and Sanofi.

2 The vesting schedule is based on delivering 30% vesting for median performance.
In a comparator group of ten campanies, median falls bety two compani

Total vesting in respect of 2014 awards 33.33%
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Annual report on remuneration continued

Performance measures

Total vesting lavel
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Update on performance of ongoing LTl awards . -
The Committee also reviewed the performance of the PSP and DABP matchmg awards gramed to Exen:unve Directors in 2015 and 2016.
The following charts provide an estimate of the vesting levels taking into account performance to 31 December 2016.

Actual vesting levels will only be determined based on performance over the full thres-year pedomnca penods The indications below

should therefore not be regarded as predictions of the final vesting levels. .

-

LS

te

2015 award - Pevformance update

2016 award - Performance update

@ Estimated vasting tevel

E Ranked 3rd s Ranked ard ¢ .
g Maximum — or shove X Maximum -—orebove £13.680
i
£11.6bn
Threshold .- . Threshold ;- -.— o |I --------------------
TSR TSR _ Adjusted tree
. (1/3rd) (1/3rd) cash tiow
k @ Estimated vesting lave! 1/ard)

Fonmg\dd performance, 25% of each awald will vest in respect dR&Dnawpmd.m and AFCF mazswmand A0% for the TSR element. maTSR uomparalarqrwp remans
mchangedbam lha!ahawnnnpage 2 mrasped nllhe 20149wm

2016 long-term mcenhve awards

. oo

The levels of participation in the DABP in respect of 2015 are shown in the table below, together with the maximum matchmg awards granted.

in 2016 in respect of the deferrals of 2015 bonuses. The table also shows PSP award levels for 2016.

¢ DABP matching swards PSP am;nd:
. 2015 . 2016 - 2016 & 2016
% af total bonus ’ Face value Award level as % Face vatlue
. deferred of award® of base salary of awsrd*
Sir Andrew Witty ) 250 § £0.54m 800% | £6.60m
Simon Dingemans 60% ‘_ £0.49m § £294m
Or Moncef Staoui ' . 50% $0.82m .

¢ Tha face vaues of 1ha awards have baon calculated bnsedonamapmoimasslors!woewatdswsss lalolADSamdsw-gxbsdosmgpmason 10 Febnswy 2016, .
* Tha performance period for the 2016 awards is from 1 Januazy 2016 to 31 December 2018.
- DABPmaldmgmrdsloUKExzunmmamchmlhelamn!nb—coslnphumnndPSPawdsammadaunlhalmnoleomﬂmwmAwdsloUSExmnwasmmde

overADSs in the fom of conditional shares. ” *
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'CEO_pay comparison, )

2016 CEO total remuneration positioning

}

(Em)
12

.

Historic CEO remuneration

'2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
moo!moonooamomoocooocooomoo

Single figure of | 6,830} 6661 3,902 7207 4388 6,807 4,562 5790
remuneration

Annual bonus lsn%! 100% 42% 88% 449 100% 59% 100%
award®? |

Remuneralion inchudes salary and the expected value of incentives based on the

Commitiee’s agreed benchmarking methodalogy.

W\

Performance graph

The following graph sets out the performance of the company relative
to the FTSE 100 index and to the pharmaceutical performance
comparator group for the eight year period to 31 December 2016.
These indices were selected for comparison purpases as they reflect
both the primary index of which GSK is a constituent and the industry
in which it operates.

100 —

60

311208 311209 1210 AN NP2 J1N213 31N2I4 31215 N6 h
—a— GSK fotal Retun —@— GSK Pharma Pgers .- -- FTSE 100
Total Return Index” Total Retum Indax

* This index comprises AslraZeneca, Bristol-Myers Squibh, Eli Lily, Johnson &

Johnsan, Merck & Co, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche Haldings and Sanofr Aventis.
\ w)

8 - (% of maximum); i
6 o o [ o] Vesting of LT 333%{ 376% 135% 319 24% 70% 3599 350°
awards
k - - (9% of maximum) .
4
UK Globat European . . . N
_. . I (1) 2009 and 2010 bonus amounts incude amounts paid under the Operational Efficiency
cross-indusiey pharmacautical cross-industry Bonus in place for those years. The overall maximum bonus receable was stll subject
group grovp group to a limit ot 2009% of base sajary.
- ::;;qumae g D Muﬁig: tovpper of:,x,?x;m" s (2 in respec) ol the 2007 and 2008 PSP awards. Sis Andrew also had suistanding awards
q aver 195,500 and 525,000 share options, granted in 2007 and 2008 respectively,

which tapsed in hull. These have not been inchrded in the total vesting percentage due
to the dstorting eHect of aggregating conditional shares and share options.

Percentage change in remuneration of CEO

Sir Andrew Witty UK Employees
. 2016
' £000 S change 9% change
Salary | 1,115} 2.5% 2.8%
Benefits [} 124§ 127% 0%
Annual bonus | 2,167} 0% {4%)

This reflects salary eamed in, benefits received in and annual

bonus eamed in respect of 2016 compared with 2015. For the wider
UK employee population, the salary increase includes the annual
salary review as well as any additional changes in the year, e.qg. on
promotion. The increase in benefits for the CEO is not as a result

of a change 10 his benefit arrangements. The CEO’s benefits were
higher in 2016 than in 2015 primarily as a result of an increased level
of financial planning fees. This was partially offset by a lower level of
travel. UK employee benefits are unchanged on the previous year as
there have been no changes to our benefit policies or lavels. It does
not reflect any changes to the level of benelits an individual may
have received as a result of a change in role, e.g. promation. The

UK population was considered to be the most relevant comparison
as it most closely reflects the economic environment encountered
by the CEO.
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Additional remuneration disclosures

Shareholder votes on remuneration matters

Relative impnrtancé of spend on pay
The table shows the percentage changes in total employee pay and
the Group's dividends paid to shareholders.

oA trer pg sescomme

The table below provides details of the shareholder votes for the
most recent resolutions in respect of the Annual remuneration report

and Remuneration policy report.

2015

&m 9 change Votes

Totsl votes  Total votes Total votes withheld

T‘f:?;e'"pbyee P2y :3:;: ' 2:': 2016 AGM cest{bilion)  for (%) egainst(®) _ (million)

g;\ e‘:’“ — 2 2 R ation repart 37 847 5.3 708
are buy - -

R . . Votes

The figures in the table above, which reflect payments made during . Total votes  Tolal votes  Totalvotes  withhetd

each year, are as set out on pages 174 and 180. However, dividends . 2018 AGM__ . cast (billion) for (w) segalnst(s)  (mitfion)

declared in respect of 2016 were £3,892 million (2015 - £3,872 Remuneration policy 35 974 2.6 100

million plus a special dividend of £969 million), i.e. an increase of
0.5% excluding the special dividend. The company does not expect
to make any ordinary share repurchases in 2017.

Total employee pay is based on 89,827 employees, the average

External appointments for Executive Directors
No Executive Directors held remunerated extemal appointments.

Payments to past Directors (audited)

The role of the Committee is to set the company's remuneration
policy so that GSK is able to recruit, retain and motivate its
executives.

The Remuneration policy is regularly reviewed to ensure that it

is consislent with the company's scale and scope of operations,
supports the business strategy and growth plans and helps drive
the creation of shareholder value.

Terms of reference

The Committee’s full terms of reference are available on the
company's website. The terms of reference, which are reviewed
at least annually, were last revised in lanuary 2017 to reflect best
practice and corporate govemance developments.

Governance

The Board considers all of the members of the Commiittee to
be independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with
the UK Corporate Govemnance Code.

number of people employed during 2016 (2015 - 101,192). None.
Service contracts ) Payments for loss of office (audited)
The table below sets out the relevant dates of the Executive None.
Directors' service contracts, which are available for review at the
company's registered office during office hours. All Executive
Directors' service contracts contain a 12-month notice period,
as set out in the Remuneration policy report.
Date of contract _ Eective date Expiry date
Sir Andrew Witty 18.06.08 22.05.08 31.08.24
Emma Walmsley") 20.12.16 01.10.16 30.06.34
Simon DI 'S 08.09.10 04.01.11 30.04.28
D7 Moncet Slaoui 21.12.10 21.12.10 01.08.18
Dr Patrick Vallance®  19.12.16 01.0v.17 31.03.25
() Agpainted to the Board on 1 Januasy 2017.
| Remuneration governance
Role of the Committee Membership

The membership of the Committee, together with appaintment
dates, is set out below:

Committee members Committee member sinca

Urs Rohner 1 January 20186

Chaiman

Vindi Banga 1 January 2016

Dr Vivienne Cox 1 January 2017

Judy Lewant 1 Janvary 2013

Dr Stephanie Bums 1 May 2013 to 5 May 2016

Sir Deryck Maughan 1 July 201210 5 May 2016
Hans Wijers 10 October 2013 to 6 May 2018

Committee meetings usually include a closed session, during which
only members of the Committee are present. Other individuals may
also be invited to attend Committee meetings during the year.
Executives and other Committee attendees are not involved in any
decisions, and are not present at any discussions regarding their
own remuneration.

© Details of the Commiittee members’ skills and experience are
. given in their biographies under ‘Our Board' on pages 84 to B5.
See page 88 for Committee member attendance levels.
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The Company Secretary is Secretary to the Commitiee and attends
all meetings. Other attendees at the Committee include:

Committee attendees .
Attends as

Stralegic report
Governance and remuneration
Financial stalements

Investor information

Regular
Attendee attendee required
CEQ 4
CFO 7/
Head of Human Resources 7/
Head of Rewasd v
Commitiee Adviser — Deloitte LLP v/

Judy Lewent and Vindi Banga, as members of the Audit & Risk
and Remuneration Committees, provide input on the Audit & Risk
Committee's review of the Group's performance and oversight of
any risk factors relevant to remuneration decisions.

Adviser to the Committee

The Committee has access to external advice as required. The
Committee carried out a formal review of the independent advisers
1o the Committee in 2013. As a result of this review, the Committee
reappointed Deloitte LLP (Deloitte) to provide it with independent
advice on executive remuneration. The Committee Chairman agrees
the protocols under which Deloitte provides advice and the
Committee is satisfied that the advice they have received from
Deloitte has been objective and independent.

Deloitte is a member of the Remuneration Consuttants' Group and,
as such, voluntarily operates undar the code of conduct in relation
to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. The code of conduct
can be found at www.remunerationconsultantsgroup.com.

What the Committee did during 2016

Areas of Committee focus

Deloitte provided independent commentary on matters under
consideration by the Committee and updates an market practice
and legislative requirements. Deloitte's fees for advice provided to
the Cammittee in 2016 were £205,860. Fees were chargedon a
time and materials basis. Deloitte also provided other consulting,
tax and assurance services to GSK during the year. However, the
Committee is satislied that this does not compromise the
independence of the advice they have received from Deloitte.

Following the announcement that Deloitte will replace
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the company,

Deloitte will no longer be the named advisers to the Remuneration
Committee. The company is currently undergoing a tender process
with the intention that new advisers will be appointed by 1 July 2017.

Willis Towers Watson provided additional market data to the Committee.

Committee evaluation
The Committee's annual evaluation was internally facilitated by
the Company Secretary and supplemented by a questionnaire
circulated to Committee members on behalf of the Committee

- Chairman. It was concluded that the Committee continued to
operate effectively. In terms of enhancements to the Committee’s
work, it was agreed that it would seek to gain a deeper
understanding of the performance systems and culture and the
linkage with remuneration arangements for the Group's top talent.

ltems discussed

Remuneration policy

The 'Committee sets the broad structure for the Remunsration policy and
determines the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Chairman and
other corporate officers for Board approval

- Proposed Remuneration policy for 2017
Engagement with shareholders

Salary review

The Committee periodically reviews and considers the remuneration
environment of Executive Directors & CET, approving annual amendments
as necessary.

- Remuneration environment (including wider employee trends)

- Executive Director and CET benchmarking, competitiveness and GSK
comparator groups

- Executive Director and CET satary recommendations and increases for 2017

Annual bonus
The Committee is responsible for sefting specific performance measures
tor the annual bonus. -

— CEO, Executive Director & CET 2015 bonus recommendations and 2016
bonus objectives
- R&D annual bonus target metric

LTI plans

The Committee is responsible for approving LTl plan rule changes, grants,
assessments of perfarmance, and the vesting of LT1 awards for the Executive
Directors, CET and below.

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan nules
~ LT performance outcomes and vesting of LT awards for CET and below
— LN grants for CET and below, inchuding Share Value Plan awards.

Governance and other areas of focus

The Committee adheres to a robust remuneration governance framework,
ensvring alignment between intemal actions and extemal reporting/
compliance requirements. ' .

-~ Committee evaluation process

~ Shareholder feedback from Annual Investos Meetings
— 2015 Remunersation repon

- Remuneration considerations for 2016

-. AGM and Remuneration report feedback, the extemal remuneration
environment and pedorrmance target disclosure for incentives plans

- Chairman's fees
— 2018 Remuneration repornt disclosures
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‘."2‘0‘16 Non-<Executive Directors’ fees

Chairman and other Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors' fees that applied during 2016 are set

The company aims to provide the Chairman and other Non-Executive  out in the table below:

Directars with tees that are competitive with those paid by other Per annum

companies of equivalent size and complexity, subject to the fimits Standard annual fee £85,000

contained in GSK’s Articles of Association. Supplemental fees

Chairman’s fees Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee _ £80,000

Chairman Philip Hampton is paid a fee of £700,000 per annum, se“f‘“ '"dep’“den"‘ D"°°'°f and Scientific/Medical Expents £30,000

of which he has elected to take 25% in GSK shares. Chaimen of the Rerm: and Corporat £20,000
Responsibitity Committees

Non-Executive Directors fees Non-Executive Director undertaking intercontinental £75600

No changes to Non-Executive Director 1ees were made duringthe - yauei to meetings ) per meeting

year and fees remained at the levels se! in January 2013. For each
Non-Executive Director, a minimum of 25% of fees is delivered as
shares deferred until the Non-Executive Director steps down from
the Board. R

The table below (audited) sets out the value of fegs and benefits received by the Non-Executive Directors in the form of cash and shares or
ADS. Further details of the Non-Executive Directors' share allocation plan are set out on page 145. Non-Executive Directors fees that are paid
other than in GBP are converted using an average exchange rate that is reviewed from time ta tima.

NorrExecutive Birect 2016 2015
am':lume:nis (f’w) (audited) Faed fees @ - E Fixed fees @

Cash Shares/ADS Benefits' Total pay | Cash Shares/ADS Benefs Total pay
Professor Sir Roy Anderson £92 £31 £71 £130} £58 £32 £10 £140
Vindi Banga - £112 £8! . £120% - £28 £1 £29
Dr Vivienne Cox" £32 £11 £51 €48 - - - -
Lynn Elsenhans £14 £128 £54 | £196{ £14 £122 £63 £199
Or Jesse Goodman® $165 $55 $268 ) - $488} - - - -
Phlip Hamptan £525 175 13y . £713 £389 £130 £3 £522
Judy Lewent $2309 $80 $218§ $537 $249 $83 $171 $503
Urs Rohner £84 £28 £22), £134 £85 £28 £19 £132
Dr Stephanie Bums® $51 $27 $21 1 $99) $91 $91 $77 $259
Stacey Cartwright? £69 £23 £s "£971 £75 £25 £7 £107
Sir Deryck Maughan'? $28 $55 $44 | To$1271 = $241 $148 $387
Dr Daniel Podolsky™ $56 $50 $78) 7 $184] $60 $181 $155 $386
Hans Wijers £32 €5 £8 [ “£45{ £75 £25 £16 £116

(11 Dr Jesse Goodman joined the Board from 1 January 2016.In rdance with the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan, 25% of Dr Jesse Goodman's fees will
be retained and wil be re~ dinthe pany’s ADSs ot a hiiure date, to be mutually agreed. Dr Vivienne Cox jeined the Board from 1 huiy 2016.

@ Or Stephanie Bums, Sir Deryck Maughan, Or Daniet Pedolsky and Hans Wqers all miired from the Board a1 the AGM on S May 2016. Stacey Cartwrighi retired trom the Board on
31 December 2016,

(3) Benefits primarily consist of travel and subsistence costs incurred in the nmmal cuurse of husmass, in relation to mgetings on Board and Committes matters and other
GSK-hosted eventa which are considered to be 1axable. For based this incfudas Irove! to mealings in the UK,
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Directors’ interests in shares (audited) .

The interests of the Directors of the company in office at 31 December 2016 and their persons closely associated (PCA) are shown in the
tables below.

. Total share plan interests as et 31 D 2018
Total di s' i gs at Shares/ADS Options
’ { Wynvested and  Unvested and  WUnvestedand  Unvested and
3 March | 31 December 1January , notsubjectto subject to not subject to subjed to Vested bit  Exercised in
2017 2 2016 2016 performance  performance performance per not d the year
Executive Directors M .
Shares ‘ I l
Sir Andrew Wittyhedv 1,090,542 1 1,034,621 859,350 70,252 1,462,023 143,640 142,762 - 50,189
Simon Dingemans®ed!n 323,181 { . 263,245, 170,527 , = 643,346 725623 76811 = 19,224
Ds Moncet Staoui(~de 28,475} 28,473 | 28,300 - - - - - -~
Emma Walmsley(® * 161,046 ° N/A! N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Dr Patrick Vallance™ 345,947 4 N/A, N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - N/A
ADS ] :
Or Moncef Staouildrd 346,846 | 295,874 | 234,270 86,519 507,421 - - 3,810 -
Share allocation ptan for Non-E ive D ]
Total directors’ interests as at Number of shares or ADS
‘ 31 December 1 January
2016 2016
3 March or date of or date of @Dvid: 31D b Allocated 31 December
2017} retrement| eppointment relnvested 2016 Paid out & elected 2015
Non-Executive Directors
Shares() [ |
Professor Sir Roy Anderson 278124 . 25489] 23,969 1,860 | 25,499 - 1,630 23,969
Vindi Banga 44825 | 42,205 37303 271 7,505 - 5,402 2,103
Dr Vivienne Cox 669 ! 323) - 4 323 = 323 -
Philip Hampton 29,016 | 25,2791 16,696 024 18,361 - 8,683 9,778
Urs Rohner 4,097 i~ - 3,488) 2,080 187 3,488 - 1,408 2,080
Dr Stephanie Bums® -1 44, 44 - - - - -
Stacey Cartwright® -3 8,631 8,460 - 9,510 - 1,163 8,347
Hans Wijers® =1 5,223 ] 4,845 - - 5223 378 4,845
ADS® i ] .
Lynn Elsenhans 20,809\ 18,205 14,839 1,177 17,205 - - 3,366 13,839
Dr Jesse Goodmant - -3 - - - - - -
Judy Lewenl 20,219 § 19,052} 17,636 626 8,886 - 1,417 7469
Dr Staphanie Bums® -1\ 21,263} 20,584 - - 21,198 678 20,520
Sr Deryck Maughan® -! 63,294 § $1,937 - - 53,294 1,357 51,937
DOr Oaniel Podolskyd -1 38973’ 37745 - 38,973 - 1,228 32745
a) Unvested shases not subject to perf e of 70,252 for Sir Andrew represent 259% of the shares awarded at tha end of the three year perfonmance periods

for the 2012 and 2013 PSP grants, together with subsequent re-invested dividends. These shares are subject to further two-year vesting periods. Sir Andrew's
unvested aptions nat subject to parfarmance of 143,840 represent bonus defenals of 142,752 and Share Save options of 888.

Unvested options not subject to performance of 77,523 for Simon Dingemans represent bonus delerals of 78,811 and Share Save options aof 712.

U d ADS not subject to perfformance of 86,519 (or Dr Moncef Slaoui represent bonus deferrals of 56,646, deferrals under the PSP plan of 22,743 and
Share Value Plan awards for his PCA of 7,130.

b) Total Directors' interests includes shares purchased through the GlaxoSmithKline Share Reward Ptan. During 2016, Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans
were each awarded 99 shares under the plan. The total number of shares held within the plan are as follows:

Share Reward Plan (Shares) 3 March 2017 31 December 2016 1 January 2016
Sir Andrew Witty 36161 3,541 3,132
Simon Dingemans 1423 | 1375§ 1,100
Emma Watmsley® _1061 - N/A| N/A
Dr Patrick Vallancet® 2,984 | N/AY N/A

Dr Moncet Slaovui is not efigible to participate in the Share Reward Pian, as this is only open to UK employees.
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¢) Total directors'interests includes shares or ADS resutting from the delerral of bonus (and the subsequent re-investment of dividends) under the DABP: The totals
shown in the table below include bonus deferrals, but exclude any unvested matching awards which are subject to ongoing performancs criteria. The amounts
represent the gross share and ADS balances prior to the sale of any shares or ADS to satisfy tax fiabifities.

Deferred Annual Bonus Pian (Benus deferrals) + 3 March 2017 | 31 December 20167 t Jonuary 2016
Sir Andrew Witty Shares 1108721 . © . . 14277521 130,307
Simon Dingemans Shares 84317} . . - 76811} 49,729
Or Moncet Slaoui ADS 46,425 - 56,6461 50,897
Emma Walmsley™ Shares 73,341 ST NAY N/A
Dr Patrick Vallancef Shares 72,208 | . N/AT . N/A

d) Total directors’ interests at 3 March 2017 includes any shares or ADS which vested due to peformance being met under elements of the DABP and PSP
(2014-2016 awards), (ess thase sold to satisfy tax liabilities on the vested amounts (see pages 130 to 133 for further details).

e). Far Dr Moncef Staoui, total directors’ interests includes ADS purchased within the 401(X) Plan and the US Executive Supplemental Savings Plan (ESSP), and
ADS awarded to Dr Moncef Stacui’s PCA under the SVP. The relevant batances are as lollows:

Dr Moncel Staoui (ADS) . 3March 2007 | 31 December 2016] 1 Januery 2016
US Retirement Savings Plans 1683t . - - 164521 13,431
Share Value Plan 48307, .- 21301 7820

As an Executive Director, Dr Monce! Slaoui is not efigible to receive awards under the SVP. The SVP awards shown above reflect the holdings of Dr Slaoui's
PCA, wha is also an employee of GSK. The awards are subject to three-year vesting periods and vesting is contingent on continued employment within GSK.
Any gains arising on vasting are not included in Dr Moncef Slacui's total cemuneration figures. During the year, his PCA was granted 2,300 ADS on 22
September 2016 at a grant price of $43.68 (face value of $100,234). Dr Moncef Staowi’s total share plan ir also include PSP rds held by his PCA.
These awards are subject 10 performance criteria relevant to employees below the CET. As at 31 December 2016, his PCA held 6,777 ADS under the PSP,
comprising awards made in 2014 (2,384 ADS), 2015 (2,268 ADS) and 2018 (2,135 ADS), all amounts including dividend re-investment.

) Share Save Plan
For Sir Andrew Witty and Simon Dingemans, the unvested options not subject to performance include holdings of 888 and 712 respectively in the Share
Save Plan, in which they participate an the same terms as all other employees. No Share Save options were granted 16 Sir Andrew Witty during 2016.
Simon Dingemans was granted 208 options under the plan on 30 Navember 2016.

9! The ADS vested but unexercised options totalfing 3,810 for Or Moncef Siaoui represent the ADS optians held by his PCA.
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h) The following table sets out details of options (including nil-cost options under the DABP) exercised during 2016 by Executive Directars. Dr Moncef SIaou-

k) Emma Walmsley and Dr Patrick Vallance were appointed to the Board from 1 January 2017,

did not exercise any options during the year.

Number of shares Market Gain on exercise
Type of award Date of grant under option Date of exercise Grant price price at exercise (oo0)

Sir Andrew Witty .
DABP ~ deferral 28.02.13 36,442 18.03.16 - £13.82 £504
DABP — matching 28.02.13 13,757 18.03.16 - £13.82 £190
50,199 ) £694

Simon Dingemans

Share Séve 30.10.13 216 011236 £12.47 £1469 -
DABP - deferral 28.02.13 13,709 06.05.16 - £14.50 £200
DABP - matching 28.02.13 5,209 06.05.16 - £14.50 £76
19,224 £276

In respect of options under the Share Sava Plan, the remuneration receivable by an Executive Director is calculated on the date that the options first
vest. The remuneration is the difference between the amount the Executive Director is required to pay to buy the shares or ADS and the total value of
the shares or ADS on the vesting date. If the Executive Director chooses not to exercise the options on the vesting date, any subsequent increase or
decrease in the amount realised will be due to movements in the share or ADS price between the vesting date and the date of exercise. This increase
or decrease in value is the result of an investment decision by the Executive Director and, as such, is not recorded as remuneration.

In respect of nil-cost options under the DABP, the bonus which is deferred by the Directar is recorded as remuneration (under annual bonus) for the year to
which it relates. The gam recorded on exercise of the nil-cost option comprises this remuneration, the total of the amounts seceived in re-invested dividends prior
to vesling and the gams or losses resulting from movements in the share price between the dates of grant end exercise for the initial bonus amount deferred and
the dates of dividend reir it and ise for the re-i d dividends.

For the matching element of the DABP, the remuneration of the Executive Director is recorded in the year that the performance period ends and represents the
number of vested shares mulipked by the price at vesting. The gain recorded on exercise of the nil-cost option comprises the total of this remuneration and the
@ain or loss resutting from the movement in the share price between vesting and exercise.

For Sir Andrew Witty:

~ The gain of £503,628 recorded following the exercise of the 36,442 nil-cost options relating to the deferral of bonus earned in respect of 2012 comprises
remuneration of £452,400 recorded in 2012 as annual bonus and a net gain of £51,228 relating to the re-i rent of dividends prior to vesting and
movements in the share price between grant and dividend re-ir t dates and the exercise date

~ The gain of £190,122 recorded following the exercise of the 13,757 nil-cost options relating to the DABP matching award comprises remuneration of
£194,111 recorded in 2015 in relation to the DABP (see page 130) and an investment loss of £3,989 relating to the movement in the share price between
the vesting and exercise dates.

For Sirnon Dingemans:

- A gain of £480 resulted from the exercise of 216 options granted under the Share Save Plan.

— The gain of £200,086 recorded lollowing the exercise of the 13,799 nil-cast options relating to the deferral of bonus eamed in respect of 2012 comprises
remuneration of £171,330 recarded in 2012 as annual bonus and a net gain of £28,756 relating to the re-investment of dividends prior to vesting and
movements in the share price between grant and dividend re-investment dates and the exercise date.

~ The gain of £75,631 recorded following the exercise of the 5,209 nil-cost opuons relating to the DABP malching award comprises vemuneranon of £73,499
recorded in 2015 in relation to the DABP (see page 130) and an investment gain of £2,032 relating to the movement in the share price between the vesting
and exercise dates.

For Non-Execunve Duectors, tola! intesests include shares or ADS received as part or all of their fees under the Non-Executive Directors' Share Allocation

Ptan. Note that dn ds d on sh or ADS under the plan during 2016 and January 2017 were converted into shares or ADS as at 8 February 2017.

In accordance with the share allocation arrangements for Non-Executive Directors, 25% of Dr Jesse Goodman's fees will be retained and will be reinvested in

the company's ADS at a future date, to be mutually agreed.

D¢ Stephanie Bums, Sir Deryck Maughan and Hans Wiers all retired from the Board on 5 May 2016. They elected to receive their shares or ADS from the
Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan immediately upon retiring from the Board. Dividend entitlements in respect of the Q3 and Q4 2015 and the

Q1 2016 dividends were paid in cash in accordance with the plan niles. Dr Daniel Podolsky also retired an 5 May 2016, but has not yet been paid out his GSK
ADS under the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan as he elected to defer payment untit after Q1 2017. Stacey Castwright retired from the Board on
31 December 2016 and elected to receive her GSK shares under the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Allocation Plan immediately {olowing retirement.
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Deferred Annual Bonus Plan matching awards

Directors’ interests in shares {audited) conlinuéd

The following tables provide details for each Executive Director in office at 31 December 2016 in respect of DABP matching awards, Market

price at grant and at vesting represent the closing share prices from the business day prior to those dates.

Performance period
Sir Andrew Witty — Shares 2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Market price at grant £1454 £16.43 £16.20 £1358
Unvested at 31 December 2016 35,947 62,857 31,503 -
Granted - - - 40,003
[ Face valve at grant (000) - - - £544]
Dividends reinvested a9s 4195 2,103 2,041
Vested (13757) - - -
Lapsed (22,686) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 67,052 33,606 42,084
Oividends reinvested 8t4 408 51t
Vested (22,621) - -
Lapsed (45,245) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 34,014 42,605
Vested shares
Number of shares 13,767 22,621
Market price at vesting £14.11 £15.86
Gain: {000) (000)
Remuneration for 2015 £194 -
Remuneration for 2016 ~ £361
Performance period
Simon Bingemans - Shares 20132015 018-2016 2015-2017 20162018 2017200
Markat price at grant £1454 £16.43 £15.20 £1359 £15.77
Unvested at 31 December 2015 13,611 20,761 15,327 - -
Granted - - - 36,381 -
[Face value at grant (000) - - - £494 -1
Dividends reinvasted 187 1,388 1,023 1,801 -
Vested (5,209) - - - -
Lapsed (8.589) - - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 22,179 16,350 38,282 -
Granted - - - 29,022
{ Face value at grant (00D) = - = £458]
Dividends reinvested 269 198 465 -
Vested (7.483) - - -
Lapsed (14,965) - - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 16,548 38,747 29,022
Vested shares
Number of shares 6,208 7483
Market price at vesting £14a1 £15.95
Gain: (000) (ooo)
Remuneration for 2015 £73 S -
- £119

Remuneration for 2016
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Deferred Annual Bonus Plan matching awards continued

Or Moncet Slaoui — ADS 20132015 2014-2016 20152017 Pmm".mz::;::
Market price at grant $44.27 $54.17 $46.25 $39.13
Unvested at 31 December 2015 18325 20,073 12,500 -
Granted - - - 20,854
[Face value a1 grant (000) = - - $816]
Dividends reinvested 247 1321 822 1,076
Vested (7011) - - ‘ -
Lapsed (11,661) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 21,394 13,322 21,930
Dividends reinvested 251 156 257
Vested (722186) - -
Lapsed (14,430) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 13,478 22,187
Vested ADS
Number of ADS 7011 72215
Market price at vesting $39.14 $40.57
Gain: (000) {c00)

Remuneration for 2015 $274 -

Remuneration for 2016 - $293

Emma Walmsley and Dr Patrick Vallance were appointed to the Board from 1 January 2017. The following table p.rovides details on their DABP

matching awarde granted on 15 February 2017

Granted shares Emma Walmsley  Dr Pabick Vallance
Perfarmance period 2017-2019 2017-2019
Number of shares 31946 21,632
Market price at grant £1677 £1577
[ Face value ai grant (000) £504 £341]
31,845 21,632

Unvested at 3 March 2017
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‘Directors' i;'\te'restsﬂin shares (audited) continued

Performance Share Plan awards

The following tabfes provide details for each Executive Director in office at 31 Oecember 2016 in respect of PSP awards. Market price at
grant and at vesting represent the closing share prices on those dates.

Performance period

Sir Andrew Witty - Shares . 2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Market price at grant £14.54 £1643 £16.20 £1359
Unvested at 3t December 2015 505,239 437051 448,126 -
Granted - - - 482,052
[ Face value at grant (000) . - - - £6,607]
Dividends reinvested 6,954 20171 29,909 25,715
Vested ) ) (193,354) - - -
Lapsed (318,839) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - . 466,222 478,034 517,767
Dividends reinvested 65,666 6,800 6,282
Vested (1572,279) - -
Lapsed (314,599) - -~
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 483,834 524,049
Vested shares:
Number of shares 193,354 167,279
Market price at vesting £13.84 £16.17
Gain: (000) (000)

Remuneration for 2015 £2,637 -

Remuneration for 2016 - £2543

Performance period

Simon Dingemans — Shares 2013.2013 2013-2016 2015-2017 zou:-zum
Market price at grant £1454 £16.43 £16.20 £1259
Unvested at 31 December 2015 222,312 192,325 197197 -
Granted - - - 216,512
[ Face vahue at grant (000) * - - - £2,942]
Dividends reinvested 3,060 12,836 13,161 11,318
Vested . {85,076) - - -
Lapsed (140,294) - - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 205,161 210,358 227827
Dividends reinvested 2,489 2,552 2,764
Vested (69,210) - -
Lapsed . {138,440) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 212910 230,591
Vested shares:
Number af shares . 85,078 69,210
Market prico at vesting £1364 £16.17
Gain: (©00) (000)

Remuneration lor 2015 £1,160 7 ~

Remuneration for 2016 - £1,119
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Dr Moncef Staoui ~ ADS 2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018
Marke1 price at grant $44.27 $54.17 $46.25 $39.13
Unvested at 31 December 2015 154,179 123,242 136,751 -
Granted - - - 158714
| [Face valve at grant { (@) - - - $6.g£}
Oividends reinvested 2082 8,108 8,996 8,187
Vested (58,966) - - _
Lapsed (87.272) ~ - -
Unvested at 31 December 2016 - 131,350 145,747 166,801
Dividends reinvested 1,539 1,708 1,955
Vested (44,292) - -
Lapsed (88,597) - -
Unvested at 3 March 2017 - 147,455 168,856
Vested ADS
* Number of ADS 58,989 44,292
Market price at vesting $39.76 $40.92
Gain: (000) {000)
Remuneration lor 2015 $2.345 -
Remuneration for 2016 - $1,812




134 GSK Annusl Report 2016

Annual report on remuneration continued

Directors and Senior Management

Further informatian is provided on compensation and interests of Directors and Senior Management as a group (the group”). For this purpose,
the group is defined as the Non-Executive and Executive Directors, other members of the CET and the Company Secretary. For the financial

year 2016, the following table sets out aggregate remuneration for the group for the periods during which they served in that capacity.

Remuneration for 2016 €
Total compensation paid 24,279,911
Aggregate increase in accrued pension benefits {net of inflation) 184,582
Aggregate payments to defined contribution schemes 974,193
Ouring 2016, members of the group (and one PCA who is also an emp(oyee of GSK) were awarded shares and AOS under the company's
various share plans, as set out in the table below.

Awards DMdend reinvestrnent awards
Awarded during 2016 Shares ADS Shares ADS
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan 237622 35614 33,451 5,281
Performance Share Plan 1,828,527 260,411 323,503 49,864
Deferred Investment AwardsW® - - 13,483 284 -
Share Value Plan® 11,060 2,300 - ~

At 3 March 2017, the group and their PCAs had the following interests in shares and ADS of the company. Holdings issued under the various
execulive share plans are described in Nate 43 to the financial statements, ‘Employee share schemes' on page 223.

Interests at 3 March 2017 Shares ADS
Qwned 2,262,806 421300
Unexercised options 179,582 20,170
Delerred Annual Bonus Plan 1,235,338 165,711
Performance Share Plan 3,821,454 708,471
Deferred Investment Awards®W® 118,012 23,807
Share Value Plan® 37,132 27,199
) Notional shares and ADS.
) Executive Directors are not efigibls ta mcaive Oglarved L Awarda ar p: in the Share Valus Plan.
Other share plans and dilution limits
All-employee share plans Dilution limits

The Executive Directors participate in various all-employee share
plans, including Share Save and Share Reward.

The Share Save Plan is an HM Revenue & Customs approved
plan open to all UK employees. Participants may save up to £250
a month from their net salaries for a fixed term of three years and
at the end of the savings period they have the option to buy GSK
shares at a discount of up to 20% of the markel price set at the
launch of each savings contract. Sir Andrew Witty and Simon
Dingemans each contribute £250 and £225 respectively a month
into the Share Save Plan.

The Share Reward Plan is an HM Revenue & Customs approved 10%
plan open to all UK employees on the same terms. Participants . 08
contribute up to £125 a month from their gross salaries 10 purchase  :°
GSK shares and the company matches the number of GSK shares . "¢
bought each month under this arangement. Sir Andrew Witty and o
Simon Dingemans each contribute the maximum of £125 a month i o4 il
to buy shares under the Share Reward Plan, U
.02

All awards are made under plans which incorporate dilution

limits consistent with tha guidelines published by the Investment
Association. These limits are 10% in any rolling ten year periad for
all plans and 5% in any rolling ten year period for executive share
plans. Estimated ditution from existing awards made aver the last
ten years up to 31 December 2016 is as follows:

" Al GSK employee share plans  Executive share plans

10
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Salary
The Committee determined the following salary increases taking into
account the average increase for the wider workforce:

Stralegic report

G and remt

Financial statements

Investor informatian

2017 9% change
Wider workforce!" - 25
Sir Andrew Witty £1,114500 (o]
Or Monce! Slaoui $1,242,100 [}
Simon Dingemans £754,000 2.5
Emma Walmsley® £1,003,000 NIA
Dr Patrick Vallance!® £780,000 N/A

() Based on the average ncrease budge for employeas balow the level of CET in the UK.

{2 ERective from appointment to the rale of CEQ on 1 April 2017 and is 109% lower than
that received by Sir Andrew Wity Emma Walmsley was appointed 10 the Board on
1 Janyary 2017 as CEQ Designate with a base salasy of £850,000.

 Effective from appointment to the Board on 1 January 2012

Benefits

No significant changes to the provision of benefits are proposed for
2017. For full details of the policy in relation to benefits, please refer
to the details in the Remuneration policy report on page 138.

Pension
The table below provides an overview of the pension arrangements
for each Executiva Director in 2017,

Pension contribution
Sir Andrew Witty(1? UK defined benefit
Dr Moncef Staoui(*) US and Belgian plans
Simon Dingemans 209% of base salary in fieu of pension
Emma Walmsley\® 20% of basa salary and matching contributions
Dr Patrick Vallance 20% of base salary in lieu of pension

(1) Further detads provided on page 118.

(2) As e member of the definad contribution plan, is eligible to recews a matching award
of up to 546 on the lirst £33,333 of her salary in accordance with the lems of the plan
(ie. £1,667).

Annual bonus plan

A number of changes have been made to the operation of the
Annual bonus plan for 2017 to simplify and align it for all
Executive Directors.

-~ The matching awards have been removed from the Deferred
Annual Bonus Plan (DABP) and the percentage of the bonus
that will be subject to mandatory deferval into shares for a
period of three years has increased from 25% to 50%.

- Financial performance will now be measured by reference
to just one profit related measure, Core Group PBIT, with
operating-profit removed as a measure. Group PBIT has
been selected as being the profit measure most aligned to
shareholders.

~ The calculation of the bonus will now operate on an additive
basis, with the remova! of the Individual Performance Multiplier
and the introduction of a scorecard of individual abjectives
aligned to the strategic goals of the busingss for the year.

Baonus opportunity Weighting of
% of salary performance measures
Core Scorecard
Group of individua)
Terget Maximum PBIT % objectives %
Emma Walmslay
Simon Dingemans . 100 200 70 . 30
Dr Patrick Vallance

Inevitably, targets linked directly to the financial and strategic plan
are commercially sensitive. The Committee dogs not consider it
appropriate to disclose annual bonus targets during the year as it
may result in competitive harm. However, details of the perfarmance
targets will be disclosed on a retrospective basis in the 2017 Annual
Report.

As Sir Andrew and Dr Moncef Slaoui will cease to be Executive
Directors during the year, in accordance with the Remunaration
policy they will receive a pro-rata on-target bonus payment for 2017.
The Committee has set role specific objectives for them for this
period. As the two individuals will cease to be Executive Directors
before the new Remuneration policy is approved, the target bonus
opportunities will be as set out in the poficy approved by
shareholders in 2014 (i.e. 125% of salary for Sir Andrew and B5%
of salary for Dr Moncef Staoui).

Legacy awards — matching awards under the DABP

2017 was the last time matching awards were made under the
DABP. These awards relate to 2016 bonus outcomes under the
2014 Remuneration policy.

The table below provides details of the level of participation in the
DABP in respect of 2016 annual bonus payments and associated
matching awards granted.

Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Moncef Slaoui did not receive matching
awards in 2017 as they will cease to be Executive Directors during
the year. However, their 2016 annual bonus payments were subject
to a 259 mandatory deferral.

9% of total bonus 9017 matehing

deferred into  award (number

shares shares)

Emma Walmsley(" 50 © 31,945
Simon Dingemans 50 29,022
Dr Patrick Vallancef") 50 21,632

) Malching awards based on bonus eamed n respect of 2016 prior 1o appointment
to the Board.

Performance Share Plan (PSP) awards

It is intended that awards under the PSP will be made later in the year
following the approval of the PSP rules at the AGM on 4 May 2017.
No awards will be made in 2017 to Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Moncef
Slaoui. Awards to the remaining Executive Directors will be made at
the following levels.

2017 PSP sward

(9% of salary)

Emma Walmsley 550
Simon Dingemans 400
Dr Patrick Vallance 500

Performance measures

The metrics for the PSP and DABP matching awards remain
unchanged. The 2017 awards will tuntinue lu be bused on luee
equally weighted measures: R&D new product performance,
adjusted free cash flow and relative TSR.

TSR will continue to be measured against global pharmaceutical

‘" peers. As in Prior years, targets for R&D new products are

commercially sensitive at the time of grant. However, the Committee
intends to disclose targets in full following the end of the
performance period. In addition, the Committee will continue to
provide sharehalders with interim performance updates for this
alement over the course of the performance period. The adjusted
free cash flow targets will be disclosed to shareholders on a
prospective basis at the time of grant, and will thereafter be reported
in the 2017 Annual report an remuneration.
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. 'In;plementalion of Remuneration policy for 2017 conlinued

Termination arrangements for Sir Andrew Witty and

Dr Moncef Slaoui

As announced in 2016, both Sir Andrew Witty and Dr Monce!
Slaoui will leave the Board by mutual agreement on 31 March
2017. Dr Moncef Slaoui will remain an employee of the Group unti
30 June 2017

No termination payments will be made to Sir Andrew Wity and
Dr Moncef Slaoui. Defined bensfit pension arrangements and
outstanding incentive awards will be treated in accordance with
the Remuneration policy as approved by shareholders in 2014.

Full disclosure of all payments made upon cessation will be included
in the 2017 Annual report on remuneration.

" 1y y of

2017 Annual bonus Will receive an an-target bonus payment
pro-rated for the proportion of the financial

year worked
2017 PSP award and Will not be granted 2017 PSP awards and no
DABP matching award DABP matching awards will be granted in
respect of their 2016 bonusas
2016 and 2015 PSP Wil vest at the normal vesting dates, subject
and OABP matching awards to the achi Wt of perf conditions
. assessed at the end of the performance
penods

Awatds in respect of bonuses deferred in
respec of prior years will vest at the nomal
vesting dates

2016, 2016 and 2014
defened bonuses

In addition to the above, both Executive Directors will be required to
maintain a shareholding equal to their respective share ownership
requirements for at least 12 months after leaving the company.

Non-Executive Director fees for 2017
Non-Executive Director fees were reviewed during the year following
the last increase in January 2013.

It was agreed to increase thg fees for the Chairmen of the
Remuneration and Corporate Responsibility Committees from
£20,000 to £30,000. The Chairman of the new Science Committee
will also receive a fee of £30,000. All other fees remain unchanged.
A minimum of 25% of fees will continue to be delivered as shares
deferred until the Non-Executive Diractor steps down fram the
Board.
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2017 Remuneration policy summary

Remuneration policy review

Our first Remuneration policy was approved by our shareholders
at our AGM on 7 May 2014. As required under the regulations,

* shareholders are being asked to approve a new Remuneration policy
at our AGM on 4 May 2017 which it is intended will apply for the

next three financial years.

Stralegic report
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investor information

of the organisation;

In addition, changes to the policy have been made to:
- Further align remuneralion arrangements across the senior layers

- Deliver an appropriately competitive package to attract, retain and
motivate executive talen; and

During 2016, the Committee reviewed the Remuneration policy to

ensure that the Policy continues to:
- Be sligned with best practice;
- Create shareholder value; and

- Drive the success of the company and the delivery of its

business strategy.

— Simplify pay arrangements.

_ The Committee consulted with our largest shareholders in respect of
the proposed changes and took shareholders’ feedback into account
when finalising the revised Remuneration palicy. The table below

provides an overview of the main changes that are proposed in

respect of the Remuneration policy.

The full Remuneration poficy that shareholders are asked to approve
is set out on pages 138 to 146.

Bl Remuneration efement Proposed changes fo poticy Rationale for the change ”

Mandatory deferral of Annual bonus

Increased from 25% to 60% of any bonus

* eamed.

Alignment with shareholders:
Further aligns executives with the lang-term
interests of shareholders.

Simplification of the Annual bonus

Simplify and align structure for all Executive
Directors.

Reducc the level of pay out for threshold
performance to nil.

Simplitication:
Consistent approach for all Executive Directars,
that ran ha clearly communicated.

Pay for performance:
Ensures that higher levels of bonus pay-out are
only received for significant performance.

Annual bonus and Performance Share Plan
(PSP) performance measures

Provide additional flexibility for the Committee
to detenmine the performance measures used
on an annual basis during the three year fife
of the Remuneration policy.

The Committee would consult with
shareholders prior to changing the
pedarmance measures used.

Rexibifity:

In the context of the appointment of the new
CEOQ, it is considered appropnate to provide
sufficient flexibility to ensure performance
metrics chosen over the next three years will
remain aligned with the key financial and
strategic objectives of the company.

LTt opportunities

The matching element of the DABP has been
removed.

The maximum LTI opportunity tor the CEO
will be reduced from 7009 to 650% of
salary.

Simplification:
Going forward, the PSP will be the only
long-term incentive plan that is used.

Reduction in maximum opportunity:

Total LT1 opportunity for all Executive Directors
has been reduced. In 2017, the award to the
CEOQ will be below the maximum opportunity
(5509 of salary).

Share Ownership Requirements (SOR)

Formally include the shareholding guidefines
as part of the Remuneration policy.

Increased SOR for CEO 10 6.5x salary.

Alignment with shareholders:
To pravide further alignment with shareholders.
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Future policy table ' .

Subject to shareholder approval at the company's AGM on 4 May 2017, the Remuneration Policy for each remuneration element will be as
outlined in the table below.

Mo matorial chango

Purpose and link to strategy Opportunity
To provide a core reward for the role. There is no formal maximum limit and, ordinarily, salary increases
will be broadly in fine with the average increases for the wider GSK

Set at a level appropriate to secure and retain high calibre individuals e
needed to deliver the Group's strategic priorities. worklarce.
However, increases may be higher to reflect a change in the scope
ot the individual’s role, responsibilities or experience. Salary
adjustments may also reflect wider market conditions in the
geography in which the individual operates.’

Operation

Individual's role, experience, performance and independently
sourced data for relevant comparator groups consudered when *
determining salary levels.

Salary increases typically take effect in the first quarter of each yeasr. 2‘:3?‘:;3:'9'“ salary levels are set out in the Annual report on
Salaries are normally paid in the currency of the Exacutive Director's

home country. Performance measures

The overall performance of the individual is a key consideration
when determining salary increases.

Benefits No matcrial change

Purpose and link to strategy role, Exacutive Directors are also entitted 1o car travel and may be
Levels are set to recruit and retain high calibre individuals to execute  accompanied by their spouse/partner on business trips. Other

the business strategy. Benefits include expenses incurred in the ordinary course of
Operation business, which are deemed to be taxable benefits on the individual.
Executive Directors are eligible ta receive benefits in line with the Benefit provision is tailored to reflect market practice in the

policy for other employees which may vary by location. These include,  geography in which the Executive Director is based and different
but are not limited to, car alowances, healthcare, life assurance/ policies may apply if current or future Executive Directors are based
death in service (where not provided as part of the individual's in a different country.

pension arangements), personal financial advice and contractuat Opportunity

post-retirement benefits. In line with the palicy for other employees,
Executive Directors may be eligible to receive overseas relocation
allowances and international transfer-related benefits when required.

There is no formal maximum limit as benefits costs can fluctuate
depending on changes in provider cost and individual circumstances.

Executive Directors are also eligible to participate in all-employee Details of current benefits and costs ase set aut in the Annual repont
share schemes (e.g. Share Save and Share Reward Plan), under on remuneration.
which they are subject to the same terms as all ather employees. Performance measures
In order to recognise the high business travel requirements of the None. -

Pension No material change
Purpose and link to strategy ux:
Pension arrangements provide a competitive level of retirement - 20% of salary contribution to defined contribution plan and further
income. ) . 5% in matched contributions subject to any relevant cap and in
Operation line with implamentation principles for other members of the plan;

Pension arrangements are structured in accordance with the plans or

operated in the country in which the individual is likely to retire. Where = 20% of salary cash payment in lieu of pension contribution.
the individual chooses not to become a member of the pension plan, us:

cash in lieu of the relevant pension contribution is paid instead. Eligible for the same benefits as other US senior executives:

Executive Directors in the UK are entitied either to join the defined - Cash Balance Pension Plan and Supplemental Cash Batance
coniribution pension plan or to receive a cash payment in lieu of Pension Plan, including Executive Pension Credit, provide maximum
pension contribution. contribution of 38% of base salary across all pension plans.

Where an individual is a member of a GSK legacy defined benefit ~ GSK 401(k) plan (formerly the US Retirement Savings Plan) and
plan, a defined contribution plan or an alternative pension plan the Executive Supplemental Savings Plan with core contributions
arrangement and is subsequently appointed to the Board, he or she of 2% of salary and bonus and matched contributions of 4% of
may remain 8 member of that plan. salary and bonus.

Opportunity - Global:

The palicy for all current Executive Directors and new external . = Eligible for appropriate equivalent arrangement l’\Oi in excess of the

recruits is: US/UK arrangements.

. Performance measures
s None.
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Annual bonus

Purpose and link to strategy
To incentivise and recognise execution of the business strategy
on an annual basis.

Rewards the achievement of stretching annval financial and
strategic business targets and delivery of personal objectives.

Operation

Financial, operational and business targets are set at the start of
the year by the Committee and bonus levels are determined by the
Committee based on performance against those targets.

Individual objectives are set at the start of the year by the Committee
and performance against those objectives is assessed by the
Committee.

Executive Directors are required to defer 50% of any bonus eamed
into shares, or ADS as appropriate, for three years.

Deterred bonus shares are eligible for dividend equivalents up to
the date of vesting.

Selection of annual bonus measures

The annual bonus is designed to drive the achievement of GSK's
annual financial and strategic business targets and the delivery of
perscnal objectives.

Stralegic lepon' )
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investor information

Change

The Committee may apply judgement in making appropriate
adjustments to bonus outcomes to ensure they reflect underlying
business performance.

Clawback and/ar malus provisions apply as described on page 140.

Opportunity
The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors is 200% of
salary. For threshold performance, the bonus pay-out will be nil.

For target performance, the banus payout will be 50% of the
maximum opportunity.

Performance measures

Based on a combination of financial targets and individual/strategic
performance objectives, with the majority of the bonus assessed
against the financial measures. The weighting between different
measures will be determined each year according to business
priorities.

Further details, including the measures to be used in the financial
year, are provided in the Annual report an remuneration.

The majority of the annual bonus opportunity is based on a formal
review of performance against stretching financial targets with the
remainder of the bonus subject to a balanced scorecard of strategic
and individual targetls which are aligned (o the company's key
objectives for that financial year.

@ Performance Share Plan (PSP) Change .

Purpose and link to strategy

To incentivise and recognise delivery of the longer term business
priorities, financial growth and increases in shareholder value
compared to other pharmaceutical companies.

In addition, to provide alignment with shareholder interests, a
retention element, to encourage long-term shareholding and
discourage excessive risk taking.

Operation

Conditional awards are made annually with vesting dependent on
the achievement of performance conditions over three years and
are subject to an additional \wo-year holding period.

Awards are eligible for dividend equivalents up to the date of
vesting and release. :
The Committee may adjust the formulaic vesting outcome (either

up or down) ta ensure that the overail outcome reflects underlying
business performance over the vesting period.

Selection of long-term incentive measures -

The Committee selects performance measures which focus
Executive Directors' long-term remuneration on the delivery of GSK's
key strategic priorities over the longer term. In addition to setting
robust targets, the Committee has implemented a number of
safeguards to ensure the targets are met in a sustainable way and
performance reflects genuine achievement against targets and
therefore represents the delivery of value for shareholders.

For each performance mezisu're, the impact of any acquisition or
divestment will be quantified and adjusted for after the event.

Clawback and/or malus provisions apply as described on page 140.

Opportunity
The normal maximum award limits that may be granted under the
PSP to an individual in any ane year are set out in the table below:

In 2017, the award 1o the CEO will be 550% of salary.

% of salary
CEO 650
CFO 400
Other Executive Directors 500

Performance measures .
Based on a combination of financial, share price related and
strategic performance conditions which are aligned to the
company’s strategic plan. Up to 30% of awards will vest at
threshold performance. Further details, including the performance
targets attached to the PSP in respect of each year, are provided
in the Annual report on remuneration.

Any major adjustment in the calculation of performance measures will
be disclosed to shareholders on vesting. The Chairman of the Audit
and Risk Committee.and other members, who are also members of
the Remuneration Committee, provide input on the Audit & Risk
Committee's review of the Group's performance and oversight of

any risk factors relevant to remuneration decisions.

Details of the rationale behind the performance measures selected
and how they are calculated are set out in the Annual report on
remuneration.
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Future policy table continued

Legacy arrangements —~ Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DADP)

Revoved fivin 2017 oirwaids

Purpose

To incentivise and recognise delivery of longer term business
prionities and to provide alignment with shareholder interests and
encourage long-term shareholding.

Operation and maximum opportunity

For bonus payments up to and including the bonus in respect
of 2016, Executive Directors were required to defer 25% of
any bonus earned into shares for three years. They could also
voluntarily defer up to an additional 25% of any bonus earned.

These deferred shares were matched up to a maximum of 1:1 subject
to the achievement of performance conditions over three years.
Matching awards were conditional shares or nil-cost options and
eligible for dividend equivalents.

Performance measures
Outslanding matching awards are subject to the same measures as
awards made under the PSP in any given year.

Further details of outstanding awards are provided on pages 122
and 135 of the Annual report on remuneration. No matching awards
will be made under the DABP in respect of bonus from 2017
onwards.

Share Qwnership Requirements Increase in requirement for CEQO

To align the interests of Executive Diréctors with those of
shareholders, they are required to build and maintain significant
holdings of shares in GSK over time. The requirements for each
Executive Director are as follows:

9% salary
CEO 650
Other Executive Directors 300

Clawback and maifus

Executive Directors are also required to continue to satisfy these
requirements for a minimum of 12 months following retirement from
the company.

No ¢change

In the event of a ‘triggering event’ (e.g. significant misconduct by way
of violation of regulation, law, or a significant GSK policy, such as the
Code of Conduct), the company will have the ability to claw back up
to three years' annual and deferred bonuses as well as vested and
unvested LTis. In addition, if a participant in the new 2017 PSP or
DABP, which shareholders are asked to approve at the 2017 AGM,
is subject to an investigation, then the vesting of their awards may be
delayed until the outcome of that investigation.

A separate Recoupment Committee has been established to
investigate relevant &laims of misconduct. The Recoupment
Committes exercises this authority for the wider employee base.

It comprises of senior executives with relevant oversight and
appropriate experience, including the Senior Vice President, Glabal
Ethics and Compliance, and the Senior Vice President & General
Counsel.

In respect of each financial year, the Remuneration Committee will

disclose whether it {or the Racoupment Committee) has exercised

clawback or malus. Disclosure will only be made when the matter has

been subject to public reports of miscanduct, where it has been fully '
resolved, where it i3 legally permissible to disclose and where it can

be made without unduly prejudicing the company and therefore

shareholders.

Additionally, where there has been continuity of responsibility
between initiation of an adverse event and its emergence as a
problem, the adverse event should be taken inta account in
assessing annual bonus awards and LTI vesting levels in the year
the problem is identified and for future petiods. The Remuneration
Committee (or Recoupment Committee) may make appropriate
adjustments to individual annual bonuses as well as grant and
vesting levels of LTI awards.to reflect this.
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Approach to recruitment remuneration

The Committee determines the remuneration package of new
Executive Directors on a case-by-case basis depending on the
rale, the market from which they will operate and their experience.
Total remuneration levels will be set by reference to a relevant pay
comparator group and, where appropriate, will allow for future
davelopment in the role.

Itis expected that new Executive Directors will participate in short

and long-term incentive plans on the same basis as existing directors.

However, in exceptional circumstances, the Committee reserves the
flexibility to set the incentive limit for a new Executive Director at up
to an additional 50% of the existing limits.

The Committee retains this flexibility in recognition of the high
levels of variable pay in GSK's global pharmaceutical compstitors.
However, the Committee will only use this flexibility when itis
considered to be in the best interests of the company and its
investors.

Pension arrangements for any external recruit as an Executive
Director will be as set out in the Remunaration policy table on
page 138.

Other benelits will be provided in line with the policy for existing
Executive Directors.

Where required to meel business needs, relocation support

will be pravided in line with company policy. ~

For any internal appointments, entitlements under existing
remuneration elements will continue, including pension
entitlements and any outstanding awards. However, where not
already the case, internal appointments will-be required to move
to Exscutive Director contractual terms, including termination
provisions. ’

Steategic report -
Governance and remuneration
Financial statements

Investar information

The Committee is mindful of the sensitivity relating to recruitment
packages and, in particular, the ‘buying out' of rights refatingto
previous employment. [t will therefore seek to minimise such
arrangements. However, in certain circumstances, 1o enable the
recruitment of exceptionat tatent, the Committee may determine
that such arrangemerits are in the best interests of the company
and its shareholders. Such amangements will, where possible,
be on a like-for-like basis with the forfeited remuneration terms.
Arrangements will therefore vary depending on the plans and
arrangements put in place by the previous employer and may be
in the form of cash or shares and may or may not be subject to

. performance conditions. Explanations will be provided where

payments are made as compensation for previous remuneration
forfeited.

The remuneration arrangements for any newly appointed Executive
Director will be disclosed as soon as practicable after the
appointment.

The following policy and principles apply to the roles of Chairman
and Non-Executive Director.

Chairman

Fees will be set at a level that is competitive with those paid by
other companies of equivalent size and complenity. Fees will be
paid partly in shares.

Non-Executive Directors

Fee levels for new Non-Executive Directors will be set on the

same basis as for existing Non-Executive Directors of the company.
Subject to local laws and regutations, fees will be paid partly in
shares. .

in the event of a Non-Executive Director with a different role and
responsibilities being appointed, fee levels will be benchmarked and
set by reference to comparable roles in companies of equivalent size
and complexity.
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Loss of office payment policy

The company does not have a policy of fixed term contracts. Generally, Notice period on termination by the e'mplaying company or the
contracts for new appointmenis will expire in fine with the applicable Executive Director js 12 calendar months.
policy on retirement age, which since 2009 has been 65, :

The ability to impose a 12-month non-compete period (and a
Contracts for exisling Execulive Directors will expire on the dates shown non-solicitation restriction) on an Execulive Director is considered
on page 124. important by the company to have the ability to protect the Group’s
intellectual property and siaff. In light of this, the Committee
believes that it would not be appropriate to provide for mitigation

A in the contracts.
Termination of employment

In the event that an Executive Director’s employment with the company terminates, the following policies and payments will apply.

EBlement of
Remuncration Loss of office payment policy

Termination payment Termination by notice: 12 months' annual salary payable on termination by the company (pro-rated where part of the notice period is
waorked). No termination payment is made in respect of any part of a notice period that extends beyond the contract expiry date.

A honus element is not normally included in the tenmination payment. Howevey, the terms of the contracts seek 1o balance commercial
imperatives and best practi

Redundancy: As above, for termination by notice. In the UK, only statutory redundancy pay will apply. In the US, general severance
policy does nat apply.

Retirement, death and ill-health, injury or disability: No termination payment.

LTl awards PSP and DABP matching awards are govarned by the plan rules as approved by sharehalders. For awards made prior to the
approval of the 2017 PSP and DABP rutes, the following provisions will lly apply:
Termination by notice; Unvested awards will lapse.
Redundancy and reti t: Generally, ds will continue to vest over the onginal timescales, subject to the onginal performance
condilions. Awards mada in the last 12 months are fodeited.
Death, ii-heatth, injury, disability or any other reason: Generally, performance wil be assessed following the end of the financial
year in which cessation of employment occurs and awards will vesi up to 12 months fallowing cessation. Awards may be pro-rated
for time.
For awards made under the approved rutes of 1he 2017 PSP, the following provisions will normally apply:
Termination by notice: Unvested awards will lapse.
Redundancy, retirement, death, ill-health, injury, disability or any other reason: Generally, awards will continve to vest over the
onginal tir les subject to perd we and pro-rated for time. . )
in the event of a change of control, PSP and DABP matching awards wifl vest, taking into account performance to date and normally
taking into account the proportion of the performance period that has elapsed. Akernatively, the awards may be exchanged for new
awards.

Annual bonus Termination by netice by individual: #f an individual serves notice and the termination date falls before 31 December, the bonus is
forfeited.

Termination by notice by the campany, redundancy, retirement, death, il-heatth, injury or disabllity: If the termination date falls
during the financial yeas, eligible for pro-rated on-target bonus (it employed on 39 Becember, bonus payable based on actual results).

DABP deterred DABP deferred bonus awards are governed by the plan rules as apbroved by shareholders. For awards made prior to the approval of
bonus awards the 2017 DABP nulas, the follawing provisions will normaly apply:
Termination by notice: Awards will vest in full on the date of termination or original vesting date as determined at the date of grant
Redundancy, retirement, death, all—heanh. injury, disabiity or any other rcason: Generally, awards wil vest in full on the onginal
vesting date.
For awards made under the approved n/les af the 2017 DABP, lhe fallowing provisions wil) lly apply: .
Fermination for gross misconduct: Generally, upvesmd awards will lapse
any other reason: Generally, awards will vest in full an the original vesting date.
In-the event of a change of cantrol, awards will vest or may be exchanged for new awards.

8enefits Generally, benelits will continue ta apply unti] the termination date. The Committee may make payments iiv connectian with an existing
legal obligation or in respect of any claim related to the cessation of employment. This may include fees for outplacement assistance,
legal and/or professicnal advice, .
Termination by notice by the company and retirement (US executives): In fine with the policy appficable to US senior executives,
the Chairman, Global Vaccines may becoms eligible, at a future date, to receive oonbnumg medical and dental insurance after
termination/retirement.

Termination by mutual agreement

In certain circumstances, it can be in the best interests of the company for the Board to manage proactively succession planning and the development of the
sanior tatent pipeline. In such circumstances, the Board may therefore agrae that an Executive's departure will be by mutual agreement. In order for this to apply,
the Committee will need to be satistied thatthe E ive hag d trated perfi in line with expectations, where required they should have contributed
to an orderly ion, and they shauld have leted at least 20 yaars' service with the Group on the termination date. In the case af an Executive Directar,
they would then be treated as a ‘goad leaver' for the purposes of GSK's long-term incentive plans. If the termination date falls during the financial year, they
would be eligible for a pro-rated an-target bonus and if they are employad on 31 D ber, the bonus payable would be based on actual results.
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Loss of office payment policy continued

The Committee does not anticipate the exercise of discretion
provided by the PSP and DABP plan rules in respect of termination
payments in a manner which would benefit an Executive Director.
However, there may be unforeseen circumstances where this is in
the best interests of the company and its shareholders. Where it

is necessary 10 exercise discretion, explanations will be provided.

When setting remuneration levels for the Executive Directors,

the Committee considers the prevailing market conditions,

the competitive environment (through comparison with the
remuneration of executives at companies of similar size, complexity
and international reach) and the positioning and relativities of pay
and employment conditions across the broader GSK workforce.

In particular, the Committee considers the range of base salary rises
tor the workforces of those parts of GSK where the Executive
Directors are employed. This is considered to be the most relevant
comparison as these populations reflect most closely the economic
enviranments encountered by the individuals.

The same principles apply to the Remuneration policy for Executive
Directors and other employees although the remuneration offered
to Executive Directors under this policy has a stronger emphasis
on performance-related pay than that oftered to other employees
of the Group. :

Differences between remunération policy for Executi{}e Directors and other employees

Where an Executive Director leaves the company, the Committee
will carry out an‘assessment of the individual's performance and
conduct over the time in role. if it is determined that the individual's
performance ar conduct was contrary to the legitimate expectations
of the company, the Committee reserves the nght to apply
appropriate mechanisms stich as clawback or reduction or lapsing
of outstanding incentive awards (malus), to ensure that any
termination payments are in the best interests of the company

and its shareholders (see page 140).

~ Salary and benefits (including pension) are tailored to the local
market.

~ The annual bonus plan applies to the wider employee population
and is based on business and individual performance.

~ A combination of performance-related and restricted share plans
apply to the wider employee population.

~ All-employee share plans are available to employees in the UK,
including the HM Revenue & Customs approved UK Share Save
and Share Reward Plans.

While employees are not formally consulted in respect of the
Remuneration policy, the company conducts regular employee
surveys which include feedback on remuneration matters.

In the wider organisation, we have aligned our performance

and reward systems with our values and since 2014, our
performance system formally evaluates employees on both ‘what
they need to do and 'how' they do it. Also, for our most senior
people we dis-incentivise unethical working practices using a
clawback mechanism that allows us to recover performance-
related pay.
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Scenarios for future total remuneration

e charls opposite provide illustrations of the Tuture total
remuneration for each of the Executive Directors in respect of the
remuneration opportunity granted to each of them in 2017 under the
policy. A range of potential outcomes is provided for each Executive
Director and the underlying assumptions are set out below.

JAll scenarios:
I~ 2017 base salary has been used.

- 2016 benefits and pension figures have been used for the CFO,
i.e. based on actual amounts received in 2016 in respact of the
ongoing policy. As the new CEO and President, R&D ware not in
role during 2016, the benefits value for each is based on the value
of benefits (excluding pensions) provided in 2016 to the current
CEO and CFO respectively.

b~ The amounts shown under value of PSP awards are based on
the relevant multiples for 2017. They do not include amounts in
respect of dividends reinvested and do not factor in changes to
share price over the vesting period.

Fixed:

[~ None of the pay for performance (annual bonus and PSP) would
be payable.

Expected:

- For the annual bonus, it is assumed that target performance is
achieved.

For the PSP awards, threshold levels of vesting are assumed.
aximum:
- 1t is assumed that the annual bonus would be payable at the

maximum level and that the awards under the PSP would vest
in full. .

* Emma Walmsley, new CEO (£000)

O Fxedpay B8 Annual bonus

* 10,000
£8.85m
8,000 .sm
" 6,000
4,000 £3.80m
38% 239%
2,000 £1:33m 26 %—-— ——
/'_I 100% 35% 18%
v Fixed Expected Masimum
. Simon Dingemans, CFO (£000)
: 6.000 £552m
S5%
4,000
. A £2.56m
" 2,000 319,
2,00 Eiom gy 279
N [ 100% 39% 18%
- Fued Expacted M
- Dt Patrick Vallance, President, R&D (£000)
©- 8,000
. £6.49m
6,000 -60% ——
4,000
: £2.85m R
. . K YA 2406
2000 £103m 27%
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Operation

Chalrman’s fees

To provide an inclusive flal rate fee that is
compelitive with those paid by other
companigs of equivalent size and
complexity subject to the Emits contained
in GSK's Anicles of Assaciation.

There is na formal maximum. However, fees are d annually and set by reference
to a review of the Chairman's péiformance and independently sourced market data.

The Committee is responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the Board

on the fees payable to the Chairman. The Chairman does not participate in discussions in
respect of his fees. :

Fees can be paid in a combination of cash and/or GSK shares or ADS via the Non-Executive
Directors’ Share Allocation Plan.

Basic fees

As above

As with the Chairman, fees are reviewed annually and set by refesence to independently
sourced data. .

The Chairman and CEO are responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the
Board on the lees payable to the company’s Non-Executive Directors.

A minimum of 25% is delivered in the form of GSK shares or ADS. Using the Non-Executive
Directors' Share Allacation Plan which delivers the shares or ADS o the Nan-Executive
Director following retirement from the Board.

Supplemental
tees

To compensate Non-Executive Directors
(other than the Chairman) for taking on
additional Board responsibifities or
undertaking intercontinental travel.

Additional fees for Committee Chairmen, the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director,
Science and Medical Experts and intercontinental trave!.

Benefits

To facilitate execution of responsibilities
and dulies required by the role.

Travel and subsistence costs for Non-Executive Directars are incumed in the normal course
of business in relation to meetings on Board and Commitiee matters and other GSK-hasted
uvenly. Fur oveiseas-based Non-Execulive Directors, this includes travel to meetings in the
UK In the event it is necessary for business purposes, whilst not normal practice, Non-
Executive Directors may be accompanied by their spouse or partner to these meetings or
events. The costs associated with the above are all met by the company and, in some
instances, they are deemed 1o be taxable and therefore treated as benefits for the

Non-Executive Director.
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Remuneration policy report continued

Operation and scope of Remuneration policy

The proposed Remuneration policy (Policy) is set out on pages 138
to 146 of the 2016 Annual Report and it is intended that the Policy
for GSK's Executive and Non-Executive Directors will apply from
the close of the company's Annual General Meeling on 4 May 2017
after it has been submitted by the Committee for approval by
shareholders.

The Committee has written this Policy principally in relation 1o the
remuneration arrangements for the Executive Diractors, whilst taking
into account the passible recruitment of a replacement or an
additional Executive Director during the operation of this Policy.

The Committes intends this Policy to oparate for the period set out
above in its entirely. However, it may efter due consideration, seek
1o change the Policy during this period, but only if it believes it is
appropriate to da so for the long-term success of the company,
after consultation with shareholders and having sought shareholder
approval al 8 general meeting.

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration
payments and/or payments for loss of office (including exercising
any discrelions available ta it in connection with such payments)
notwithstanding that they are not in line with the Policy set out
above where the terms of the payment were agreed:

() before the AGM on 7 May 2014 (the date the company's first
shareholder-approved Directors’ Remunaeration Policy came into

effect);

(i1} before the Policy set out above came into effect, provided that the
terms af the payment were consistent with the shareholder-approved
Remuneration policy in force at the time they were agreed; or

(iii) at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director of the
company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was
not in consideration for the individual becoming a Director of the
company. For these purpases ‘payments’ includes the Committee
satisfying awards of variable remuneration and, in relation to an
award over shares or ADS, the terms of the payment are ‘agreed’
at the time the awand is granted.

Performance Share Plan and Deferred Annual Bonus Plan awards
are subject to the terms of the relevant plan rules under which the
award has been granted. The Committes may adjust or amend
awards only in accordance with the provisions of the plan rules.
This includes making adjustments to reflect one-off corporate
events, such as a change in the company’s capital siructure.

The Committee may also make minor amendments to the Policy .
set out in this report (for regulatory, exchange control, tax or
administrative purposes or to take account of a change in legislation)
withaut obtaining shareholder approval for such amendments.

Statement of conslderation of shareholder views

The Commitiee engages in regular dialogue with shareholders and
holds annual meetings with GSK's largest investors to discuss and
take feedback on its Remuneration Palicy and govermnance matlers.

The annual meelings were held in December 2018, at which Urs
Rohner, the Committes Chairman, shared updates on remuneration
mallers in the last 12 months and proposals for 2017 onwards.
Further shareholder consultations were carried outin February

and March 2017 by the Committee Chairman on the proposed
Remuneration policy. The Committee took into account the feedback
from shareholders in determining 1he Poficy which shareholders are
being asked to approve at the AGM an 4 May 2017.

Basis of preparation

The Directors' Remuneration Report has been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and The Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the Regulations). In accordance
with the Regulations, the following parts of the Annual Report on
Remuneration are subject to audit: total remuneration figures for
Executive Directors including further details for each element of
remuneration (salary, benefils, pension, annual bonus and long-term
incentive awards); Non-Exacutive Directors' feas and emoluments
received in the year; Directors' interests in shares, including interests
in GSK share plans; payments to past Directors; payments for loss of
office; and share ownership requirements and holdings, for which the
opinion thereon is expressed on page 156. The remaining sections
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report are not subject to audit nor
are the pages refemred to from within the audited sections.

The Directors' Remuneration Report has been approved by the
Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Urs Rohner
Remuneration Committee Chairman
13 March 2017

i

Compondy Komber 33337191
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Directors’ statement of responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
the Remuneration report and the Group financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

UK company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors

are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union. In preparing the Group linancial statements,
the Directors have also elected to comply with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Under company
law the Directors must not approve the Group financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and it profit or loss for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

— state that the Group financia! statements comply with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union and IFRS as issued by the IASB,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
Group tinancial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless
itis inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in
business.

The Urrectors are responsible for keepmg adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the tinancial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that
the Group financial statements and the Remuneration report comply
with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
They are also responsible tor safeguarding the assets of the Group
and hence for taking reasanable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016, comprising principal statements and supporting notes,

are sel outin ‘Financial statements' on pages 158 to 231 of this
-report. The responsibilities of the auditors in relation to the Group
financial statements are set qut in the Independent Auditors’ report
on pages 149 to 157. :

The Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016 are included in the Annual Report, which is published in
printed form and made available on our websile. The Directors are
responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report
on our website in accordance with UK legistation governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements. Access to
the website is available from outside the UK, where comparable
legislation may be different.

Each of the current Directors, whose names and functions are listed
in the Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report 2016
confirms that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

- the Group financial staternents, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and IFRS
as issued by the IASB, give a trus and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and

- the Strategic report and risk sections of the Annual Report,
which represent the management report, include a fair review of
the development and performance of the business and the position
of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors in office at the date of this Annual Report have each
confirmed that:

- so far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and

- he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken
as a Director to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware
of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Going concern basis

Pages 53 to 78 contain information on the performance of the
Group, its financial position, cash flows, net debt position and
borrowing facilities. Further information, including Treasury rigk
management policies, exposures to market and credit risk and
hedging activities, is given in Note 42 to the financial statements,
‘Financial instruments and related disclosures'. Having assessed the
principal risks and other matters considered in connection with the
viability statement, the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements,

Internal control

The Board, through the Audit & Risk Committee, has reviewed the
assessment of risks and the internal control framework that operates
in GSK and has considered the etfecliveness of the system of
intemal control in operation in the Giroup for the year covered by
this Annual Report and up to the date of its approval by the Board

of Directors,

The UK Corporate Governance Code

The Board considers that GlaxoSmithKline plc applies the principles
and complies with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code maintained by the Financial Reporting Council, as described

in the Corporate Governance section on pages 80 to 110, The Board
further considers that the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and
performance, business model and strategy.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority's Listing Rules,

the auditors have considered the Directors' stalement of compliance
in relation to those points of the UK Corporate Govemance Code
which are specified for their review.

Annual Report

The Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2016,

comprising the Report of the Directors, the Remuneration report,

the Financial statements and additional information for investors, has

been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by
ALy HiN

Phillp Hampton

Chairman

13 March 2017
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to the members of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Report on the Group financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, GlaxoSmithKline plc’s Group financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs at 31
December 2016 and of its prolit and cash flows for the year then
ended;

. — have been properly; prepared in accardance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs") as adopted by the
European Union; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1 to the Group financial statements, the Group,
in addition to applying IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

In our opinion, the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as
issued by the IASB.

What we have audited
The Group financial statements, included within the Annual Report,
comprise:

- the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2016;

~ the consolidated income statement and consolidated, statement
of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

~ the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;

- the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended; and

— the notes to the Group financial statements, which include a
summary of sngnnf icant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable law.

Our audit approach
Context

The context of our audit is set by the Group's activities in 2016.
Having reduced the extent of finance transformation in 2015 because
of the completion of the three-part transaction with Novartis, the
Group increased the pace ot change in 2016, with a number of
markets migrating onto the Group's common enterprise-wide
resource planning platforms (ERP") or moving financial transaction
processing and accounting sefvices to business process
outsourcing locations ('BPQO') and to in-house business service
centres (BSC") as well as establishing two new 8POs in Europe and
- one in Asia. The Group also migrated to a new consolidation platform
(BISON) and impleniented a new system for tracking intercompany
inventory transfers and calculating intra-group unreatised profit in
inventory (IPT). As a result, transformation of the Group's finance
processes is included as an area of focus in our 2016 report.

In addition, the Group has made certain changes in 2016 to its
agreements with Plizer and Shionogi in respect of the nan-controlling
interest each holds in ViiV Healthcare. These changes; together with
remeasurements to ViiV and other acquisition-related kabilities, had a
significant impact on the corresponding accounfing and valuation,
judgements and have therefore also been included as an area of focus.

Our other areas of focus have been refined to reflect developments
in the Group's business including continued competitive pricing
pressure and discounting in the US and the resolution of the
investigation into the Group’s commercial practices by the SEC-Dol.
Overview

Materiality

- QOverall group materiality: £260 million which represents 4%

of profit before tax adding back certain items (‘adjusted profit
before tax’) (2015 ~ £200 million).

Audit scope

— Our audit included full scope sudits of 15 repomng components
with specific audit procedures performed at a further 45 reporting
components.

- Taken together, the components at which audit work was
performed accounted for 71% of consolidated revenue, 71% of
consolidated profit before tax and 73% of adjusted profit before
tax and covered all components that individually contributed more
than 2% of revenue, profit before tax and adjusted profit before tax.

Areas of focus
- Rebates, discounts, allowances and returns in the US
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines business

~ Carrying value of goadwill and intangible assets

- Acquisition-related liabifities

- Uncertain tax positions

= Litigation

- Finance transformation

~ Investigations into the Group's commercial practices

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus :
We conducted our audit in accordance with intemnational Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) ('iSAs (UK & Ireland)').

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing
the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future
events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the
directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud, and the risk of fraud in revenue recognition. Procedures
designed and executed to address these risks included use of data
enabled auditing techniques to test journal entries and post-close
adjustments, testing and evaluating management’s key accounting
estimates for reasonableness and consistency, undertaking cut-off
procedures to verify proper cut-off of revenue and expenses and
testing the existence and accuracy of revenue transactions. In
addition, we incorporate an glement of unpredictability into our
audit work each year.

The risks of material misstatemeni that had the greatest effect on

our audit, including the allacation of our resources and effort, are
identified as areas of focus in the table below. We have also set out
how we tailored our audit to address these specific areas in order

to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole and

any comments we make on the resuits of our procedures should be
read in this context. Th[s is not a complete list of all risks identified by
our audit.
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Report on the Group financial statements continved

Area af focus

How our audit aeddressed the erea of focus

Rebates, discounts, allowances and returns in the US
Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines business
Refer to notes 3 and 27 in the Group financial statements.

The Graup makes sales to various customers in the US that fall
under certain commercial and govermment mandated contracts
and reimbursement arrangements, of which the most significant
are Medicaid and Medicare. The Group also provides a right of
return to its customers for certain products.

These arrangements result in deductions to gross-sales in arriving
at tumover and give rise to obligations for the Group to provide
customers with rebates, discounts, allowances and the right of
retum, which for unsettled amounts are recognised as an accrual.

We focused on this area because rebates, discounts, allowances
and retums arrangements are complex and because establishing
an approgpriate accrual requires significant judgement and
estimation by the directors. This judgement is particularly complex
in a US healthcare environment in which compeatitive pricing
pressure and product discounting are growing trends, The
directors have determined an accrual of £2,218 million to be
necessary at 31 Dacember 2016 (31 December 2015 — £1,671
million). The increase in the accrual in 2016 is primarily due to
foreign exchange rate impacts. Two other factors driving the
increased accrual were higher sales, as well as greater discounts
due to competitive pressures, particularly in relation to Advair.

We obtained management's calculations for accruals under applicable
schemes and validated the assumptions used by reference to the
Group's stated commercial policies, the termns of the applicable
contracts, third party data related to patient enrolment in US
government funded benefit schemes and historical levels of product
retums.

We compared the assumptions to contracted prices, historical rebates, °
discounts, allowances and retums levels (where relevant) and to current
payment trends. We also considered the historical accuracy of the
Group's estimates in previous years, and the impact of competitive
pricing pressures and greater discounting in the US market more
generally. We farmed an independent expectation of the largest
elements of the accrual at 31 December 2016 using third party data
and compared this expectation to the actual accrual recognised by the
Group.

Based on the procedures performed, we did not identify any matenaf
differences between our independent expectations and the accrual.

Carrying value of goadwill and intangible assets
Refer to notes 3, 18 and 19 in the Group financial
statements.

The Group has £172.8 billion of intangible assets (31 December
2015 - £16.0 billion), comprising significant licences, patents
and acquired trademarks (and excluding computer software). In
addition, the Group has £6.0 billion of goodwill at 31 December
2016 (31 December 2015 — £5.2 biltion).

The canying values of goodwill and intangible assets are .
contingent on future cash flows and there is a risk that the assets
will be impaired if these cash ltows do not meet the Group's
expectations. The.impairment reviews performed by the Group
contained a number of significant judgements and estimates
including revenue growth, the success of new product launches,
genericisation of existing products following patent expiry, profit
margins, cash conversion, terminal values and discount rate.
Changes in these assumptions could lead to an impairment to
the canrying value of intangible assets and gaodwill

During the year, the Group changed its basis of aggregating
individual cash generating units (CGUSs'’) for goodwill impaimment
testing purposes how comprising Global Pharmaceuticals,
Consumer Healthcare and Vaccines. This exercise was
‘undertaken to align to the Group's operating segments, which
resulted in the aggregation of Pharmaceuticals and ViV
Healthcare.

We focused on intangible assets acquired through histarical
acquisitions, as these are the most significant individually and in
aggregate, and a number have indefinite lives, including the most

significant of the intangible aseets acquired from Novartis in 2015.

The Group has also recognised goodwill from a number of its
acquisitions, including the three-part transaction with Novartis.

Deploying our valuations specialists, we obtained the Group's
impairment analyses and tested the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including profit and cash flow growth or decline,
terminal values, the impact of the expiry of patents, potential product
obsolescence and the selection of discount rates. We challenged
management to substantiate its assumptians, including comparing
relevant assumptions to industry and economic forecasts.

We interrogated the integrity of supporting calculations and we
comobarated certain infarnmation with third party sources, including
expectations of performance of certain assets and components of
the business. We cbtained and evalvated management's sensitivity
analyses to ascertain the impact of reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions and we performed our own independent sensitivity
calcufations to quantify the downside changes to management's
models required to result in impairment.

As a result of our work, we determined that the impairment charge of
£22 million recarded for intangible assets was appropriate. For those
intangible assets, including goodwill, where management determined
that no impaimnent was required, we found that these judgements were
supported by reasonable assumptions which would require
unreasonable downsids changes before any additional material
impairment was necessary.

In respect of the aggregation of CGUs, we confirmed that this is

the lowest level at which management monitors goadwill for intemal
purposes and that it is consistent with the way in which the Group's
results are reported to the Board and the Corporate Executive Team.
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How our audit addressed the erea of focus

Acquisition-related liabilities
Refer to notes 3, 27, 30, 38, 39 and 42 in the Group financial
' statements.

In recent years, the Group has completed a number of significant
transactions, including:

~ The three-part transaction with Novartis in 2015;
~ The establishment of ViV Healthcare in 2009; and

~ The acquisition by ViV Healthcare of the remaining 50% interest
in the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare in 2012.

Each of these transactions resulted in the recognition and
measurement ol material acquisition-related liabilities, which

. necessitate significant management judgement at each balance
sheet date.

In addition, during February 2016 the Group waived certain rights it
had in respect of non-controlling interests held by Pfizer and Shionogi
in ViV Healthcare and the terms of the amangement with Shionogi
were amended again in December 2016.

The most significant of the acquisition-related liabilities are outlined
below:

— Consumer Healthcare put option: The Group recorded a liability
for the present value of the expected redemption price of a written
put option over Novartis’ non-controlling interest in Consumer
Healthcare. At 31 December 2016, this lability had a carrying
value of £7,420 million (2015 — £6,287 miltion);

- ViV Healthcare contingent consideration: On acquisition of the
remaining 50% interest in the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture
in 2012, £659 million was recorded as contingent consideration.
This represented the fair value of expected payments to be made
to Shionogi, contingent on future sales of dolutegravir products.
This liability is required to be re-measured to its fair value at each
reporting date. Since initial recognition, it has been increased in
response to actual and future sales significantly exceeding original
expectations including the impact of changes in foreign exchange
rates. At 31 December 2016, the liahility was £5,304 milfion
(2015 - £3,409 million); and

= ViV Healthcare put options: In 2009 and 2012, both Plzer and
Shionogi were granted wiitten put options by the Group that
enabled each to put its non-controlling interest back to the Group
in the tuture. Up to and including 31 December 2015, no financial
tiabilities were recorded for these two options as each arrangement
contained clauses that enabled the Group to avoid acquining these
interests if certain conditions were met. In February 2016, the
Group unilaterally waived certain of its rights. As a result, fiabilities
with an aggregate value of £2,172 million were recognised. In
December 2016, agreement was reached with Shionogi, whereby
it agreed to forego its rights to exercise its written put option. As
a resutt, the Group's associated liability of £1,244 million was de
recognised during December 2016. At 31 December 2016, the
liability in respect of Pfizer's written put aption had a canying value
of £1,319 milion.

In addition to these liabifities, the Group has recarded certain

other acquisition-related liabilities at 31 December 20186, including

£545 million in relation to contingent consideration payable on the

acquisition of Novartis' Vaccines business in 2015.

Wa focused on this area as the carrying value of each of the financial
liabilities is material and is d d by management judgements
and estimates, including projections of future sales of products, the
potential impact of competitor preducts and the delivery of anticipated
synergies. In addition, each valuation is sensitive to changes i in other
assumptions, including discount rates and tax rates. -

We deployed our valuations specialists in evaluating certain key
assumptions, including growth projections and discount rate as well as
the integrity and mechanical accuracy of each of management's valuation
models. We considered whether reasonably possible changes would have
a significant impact on the value recorded. Certain procedures are specific

* to individual liabilities and included the following:

—~ Consumer Healthcare put option; The redemption price will contractually
be based on a multiple (to be agreed between GSK and Novartis) of
Consumer Healthcare's revenue and profit. We compared the eamings
forecast approved by the Consumer Healthcare board of directors and
used by management in its model to the actual eamings in 2016 and
understood the reasons for changes. We also considered the
appropriateness of eamings multiples applied to this forecast and the
assumption about option exercise date;

— ViV Healthcare contingent consideration: We compared the projections
for the Group's dolutegravir products to third party expectations of
growth and considered the potential upside and downside impact of
products launched and expected to ba launched by the Group'’s
competitors; and

— ViV Healthcase put options: We obtained and reviewed the written
agreements between the Group and each of Pfizer and Shionogi. Cerlain
assumptions related to forecast revenue from dolutegravir products used
in the valuation of these liabilities are consistent with the ViV Healthcare
contingent consideration. For other components of the valuation, we
considered the approgriateness of the assumptions made about forecast
growth rates and margins by raference to historical perfarmance and to
Board approved budgets and third party forecast data.

Each ol these three acquisition-related liabilities is subject to signilicant

estimation uncertainty and the range of possible outcomes is very broad.

However, we are comfortable that the value of each liability at 31 December

2016 is reasonable and reflects management's best estimates at this time.

We reviewed the disclosures about each acquisition-related fiability,
including management's commentary about estimation uncedainty and the
range of altemalive outcomes. We are satisfied that these disclosures are

appropriate.
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Area of tocus

How our eudit addressed the area of focus

Uncertain tax positions
Refer to Notes 3 and 14 in the Group financlal statements.

The Group operates in a complex multinational tax envionment
and there are open tax and transfer pricing matters with UK and
overseas tax avthorities. In addition, from time to time the Group
enters info transactions with complicated accounting and tax
consequences, including the three-part transaction with Novartis
in 201 5. Judgement is required in assessing the level of provisions
required in respect of uncertain tax positions. At 31 December
2016, the Group has recorded provisions of £1,892 milion in
respect of uncertain tax positions (2015 — £1,687 million).

In conjunction with our UK, US, intemational tax and tansfer pricing
specialists, we evaluated and challenged management’s judgements
in respect of estimates of tax exposures and contingencies in order

to assess the adequacy of the Group's tax provisions. This included
obtaining and evaluating certain third party tax opinions that the Group
has obtained to assess the appropriateness of any assumptions used.

In understanding and evaluating management's judgements, we
considered the status of recent and current tax authority audits and
enquiries, the outtum of previous claims, judgemental positions taken
in tax retums and current year estimates and developments in the tax
environment. We noted that the assumptions and judgements that are
required to formulate the provisions mean that the range of possile
outcomes is broad. However, based an the evidence obtained we
considered the level of provisioning to be acceptable in the context
of the Group financial statements taken as a whole. We considered
management’s disclosures in this regard and we agree with
management's view that a material change to the Group's estimates
of tax exposures is not expected within the next 12 months.

Litigation
Refer to Notes 3, 29 and 46 in the Group financial
statements.

The pharmaceuticals industry is heavily regutated which increases
inherent litigation risk. The Group is engaged in a number of legal
actions, including product liability, anti-trust and related private
litigation, of which the most significant are disclosed in Notes 29
and 46.

We focused on this area as the eventual outcome of claims is
uncertain and the positions taken by the directors are based an
the application of material judgement and estimation. Accordingly,
unexpected adverse cutcomes could significantly impact the
Group's reported profit and balance sheet posttion.

At 31 December 2016, the Group held provisions of £344 million
in respect of legal actions (31 December 2015 — £352 million).

We discussed the status of significant known actual and potential
litigation with in-house legal counsel. We obtained and substantively
tested evidence 1o support the decisions and rationale for provisions
held or the decisions not to record provisions, including comespondence
with legal counsel. We also monitored and considered extemna!
information sources to identify potential legal actions.

We developed an independent expectation of the litigation provisions
based on product litigation history and other available evidence to
challenge the valuation and completenass of the provisions recognised
by the Group. We obtained confimations from extemal legal counsel
to confirm our understanding of settled and outstanding litigation

and asserted claims. We evaluated significant adjustments to legal
provisions recorded during the year to determine if they were indicative
of management bias.

As disclosed in Notes 29 and 46 to the Group financial statements,

the eventual outcome of legal proceedings is dependent on the
outcome of future events and the position taken by the Group is
inherently judgemental. We found in the cantext of the Group financial
statements taken as a whole that the judgements made by management
were reasonable and the disclosures made in respect of these T
provisions and contingent liabilities were appropriate.
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How our audit eddressed the area of focus

Finance transformation

The Group continues to rationalise and simplify its finance
processes including the roll-oul of an enterprise-wide resource
planning system (ERP) and migrations of accounting services
to in-house business service centres (BSCs) and to third party
business process outsourcing locations (BPOs). In addition,
the Group migrated onto new platforms for consolidation and
for tracking intercampany inventory transfers and calculating
intra-group unrealised profit in inventory in 2016.

These changes represent a financial reporting risk while migrations
are happening as controls and processes that have been
established and embedded over a number of years are updated
and migrated into a new environment, There is an increased risk

of breakdown in intemal financial controls during the transition and
an increased risk of inaccurate or incomplete migration of financial
data, which would in tum increase risk of material misstatements
to the Group financial statements.

We centrally managed the work performed by component audit teams at
BPOs and BSCs, which consisted of controls and substantive tasting,
and we conducled oversight visits to key BSC and BPO shes in Group
audit scope (namely India, Malaysia, Romania, the US and the UK) to
direct the work performed.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of

key auvtomated and manual controls both before and after the migration
to the centralised processing environment, including IT general controls
and controls in respect of data migration between ERP systems.

We also substantively tested the accuracy and completeness of data
migration into the new ERP alang with the controls over this process
and we did not note any significant exceptions. Similar procedures were
performed far the migrations onlo the consolidation and intercompany
profit tracking systems. In respect of the latter, because of the
significance of the inter-company profit in inventory adjustment we
performed detailed testing of the calculation at a component and Group
level, supported by validation of key manual controls over this process.
We did not note any significant or unresolved exceptions in our testing.

Investigations into the Group’s commercial practices
Refer to Notes 3, 29 and 46 in the Group financial
statements.

The SEC-Dol investigation into the Group’s commercial practices
was concluded in September 2016, resutting in the Group paying
a penalty of $20 million. The Group remains subject to an ongoing
investigation by the SFQ in the UK, At 31 December 20186, the
Group concluded that it does not have sufficient clarity an the
tkely timing of the completion of this investigation nor is it able

to make a sufficiently refiable estimate of any fine or penalty

that the SFO might impose on the Group on completion of

its investigation. As a result, the Group has stated in Note 46

that it is unable to recognise a provision for its estimate of the
eventual outcome.

In addition, the Group cantinues ta carry out its own investigations
in a number markets to ascertain whether inappropriate
commercial practices may have taken place.

We focused on the following risks, which might have a matenial
impact on the Group's financial statements:

- That a fine and penalty might be forthcoming in respect of
ongoing investigation into the Group’s commercial practices
by the SFO, which could give rise to the need for a material
provision; and

~ That inappropriate activities have accumred, which could
also give rise to material tines or penalties or result in asset
impainment.

We met with the directors, management and in-house legal counsel

and spoke with the Group's extemal advisors to assess the risk of
occunence of inappropriate activities, the status of ongoing
investigations and the potential for further fines and penalties.

This included understanding and evaluating the Group's intemal
investigations prot , which ricke and allegations reported
through various channels including whistle-blowing hotlines. We also
evaluated the ongoing enhancements and changes that have been
made to other control processes and business practices in recent years.

Deploying our forensic specialists, we assessed the scope and findings
of the investigative work performed by the Group as well as the risk
assessment exercise that management has performed into third party
interaction and engagement more broadly. We used the oulput of this
assessment to instrugt ten companent teams (including certain markets
not otherwise included in Group audit scope) to undertake risk-focused
audit procedures to address the audit risk that the Group financial
statements might be materially misstated due to the potential financial
implications of alleged illegal acts.

In respect of the SEC-DoJ investigation, we verified the settiement
agreement and payment. In respect of the SFO investigation, we
independently circularised extemal legal counsel engaged by the Group
to obtain its views abaut the status of the investigation and to ascertain
the reasonableness of management's assertions in respect of the lkely ~
outcome. .
Based on these procedures, we were satisfied with the Group's
provisioning decisions at 31 December 2016 and with the adequacy

of the disclosures given the status of investigations.
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How we tallored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able lo give an apinion on the financial statements
as a whole, taking into account the geographic structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls and the industry in
which the Group operates.

The Group financial statements are a consolidation of aver 500
reporting components. We identified 15 reporting components that,
in our view, required an audit of their complete financiaf information
due to their size or risk characteristics. This excludes 13 central
adjustment entities audited at a Group level. Specific audit
procedures over significant balances and transactions were
performed at a further 45 reporting components to give appropriate’
coverage of all material balances. Where these reporting
components are supported by shared financial service centres,
these centres were also included in Group audit scope. None of
the reporting components not included in our Group audit scope
individually contributed more than 2% to consolidated revenus,
profit before tax or adjusted profit before tax. - ‘

Where the work was performed by component auditors, we
determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit
work at those reporting component units. As a result, 18 overseas
components were visited by senior members of the Group audit
team, including each of the Group's financially significant
components in the US (which are visited at least annually) as well
as Belgium, Japan, China, Switzerland, Germany, Ireland and lialy.
In addition, we visited four of the overseas shared service centres
supporting reporting components in Group audit scope. For those
components in Group audit scope where a site visit was not
undertaken, our involvement included regular dialogue with our
component teams, review of component auditor wark papers and
participation in certain component audit clearance mestings.

Further specific audit procedures over central functions, the Group
consolidation and areas of significant judgement {including taxation,
goodwil, intangible assets, treasury, post-retirement benefits and the
elimination of unrealised intercompany profit in inventory) were
directly led by the Group audit team. :

Taken together, the territories and functions where we performed our
audit work accounted for 71% of consolidated revenue, 71% of
consolidated profit before tax and 73% of adjusted profit before tax.
This was before considering the contribution to our audit evidence
from performing audit work at the divisional and Group levels,
including testing of monitosing controls and disaggregated analytical
review procedures, which covers a significant portian of the Group's
smaller and fower risk components that were not directly included in
our Group audit scope. In addition, we abtained indirect audit
evidence over certain out-of-scope components through the
procedures we undertook at the Group's shared service centres,
encompassing BPOs and BSCs, and over centralised IT
infrastructure where these processes are standardised.
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Report on the Group financial statements continued

Matenality .

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial
statements as a whole. '

Based on our professional judgement, we determined mateniality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall group materiality . . £260 million (2015 — £200 million).

How we determined it 4% of profit before tax adding back certain items, including the remeasurement charges
for Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare contingent consideration (£2,162 million) and Vaccines
contingent consideration (£64 million), the re-measurement charges for the Consumer *
Healthcare (£1,133 million) and ViiV Healthcare (£567 million) put options, major
restructuring costs (£974 million), legal costs (£162 milion) and impaimment of intangible
assets (£22 million) and deducting net income relating to the gain on disposal of assets
(£525 million).

Rationale for benchmark applied The Group's principal measure of eamings comprises core results, which adds back to
- statutory results a number of items of income and expenditure including those detailed
above. Management uses this measure as it believes that it eliminates the volatility inherent in
one-off items. We took this measure inta account in determining our materiality, except that
we did not adjust profit before tax to add back amortisation of intangible assets and certain
other smaller non-core items as in our view these are recurring items which do not introduce
volatility to the Group's eamings.

We agreed with the Audit & Risk Committee that we would report to it misstatements idantified during our audit above £10 miillion
(2015 — £10 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern As noted in the directors' statement, the directors have concluded

Under the Listing Rules, we are required to review the directors’ - thatitis appropriate to adopt the going concem basis in preparing
statement, set cut on page 148, in relation to going concern. the Group financial statements. The going concern basis presumes
Wae have nothing to report having performed our review. that the Group has adequate resources to remain in operation, and

that the directors intend it to do so, for at least one year from the date
the Group financial statements were signed. As part of our audit, we

have concluded that the directors' use of the going concem basis is

appropriate. .

" Under {SAs (UK & Ireland), we are also required to report to you i

we have anything material to add or to draw attention to in relation to

the directors' statement about whether they considered it appropriate

to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group financial

slatements. We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to. However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Other required reporting

Consistency of other information and compliance with | - the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been

applicable requirements prepared in accordance with applicable legaf requirements.
Companles Act 2006 reporting {n additian, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the and its environment ablained in the course of the audit, we are

audit: required to report if we have identilied any material misstatements in

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report. We have nothing to

- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ ey
report in this respect.

Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

ISAs (UK & lreland) reperting

Under ISAs (UK & breland), we are requised to report to you if, in aur opinion:

~ information in the Annual Report is: We have no exceptions
— matenally inconsistent with the information in the audited Group financial statements; or to report.

- apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the
course of performing our audit; or

- otherwise misleading.

- the statement given by the directars on page 148, in accordance with provision C.1.1 of the UK Corporate Govarnance We have no exceptions
Code (the ‘Code"), that they consider the Annual Repart taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable and to report.
provides the information necessary for members to assess the Group's position and perfermance, business model and
strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of pedforming our audit

- the section of the Annual Report on page 97, as required by pravision C.3.8 of the Code, describing the work of the Audit We have no exceptions
Cormmittes does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee. ta report.
The ctors’ ssment of the pr ', of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the Group

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required ta report to you if we have anything material to add or to draw attention to in relation to:

~ the directors’ confamation on page 108 of the Annual Repart, in accordance with provision C.2.1 of the Code, that they have W have nathing material to
carried oul a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business add o7 to draw attention to.
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. .

- the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated. Wa have nothing material to
add or to draw attention to.

- the directorg’ explanation an page 56 of the Annual Repart, in accordance with provision C.2.2 of the Code, as to how they Wa have nothing material to
have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what periad they have done so and why they consider that period to be add or to draw attention to.
pprop and their 1t as to whather they have a reasonabls expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
aperation and meet ite liabilities as they fal) due ovar the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any y qualifications or plions.

Under the Listing Rules, we are required to review the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group
and the directors’ statement in :elanon 10 the longer-term viability of the Group. Our review was substantially less in scope than an audit and only oonsnsled of
making enquiries and considering the directors’ p supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in alig t with the retevant p of
the Code; and considering whei.hev the statements are consistent with the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing our audit. We have nothing to
report having perormed aur review.

Adequacy of information and explanations received Corporate govemnance staternent

Under the Companies Act 2008, we are required to report to you Under the Listing Rules, we are required to review lhe part of the

if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and Corporate Govemance Statement relating to ten further provisions
explanations we require for our audit. We have na exceptians ta of the UK Corporate Governance Code. We have nothing to report
report arising from this responsibility. : . having performed our review.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you
if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made. We have ho exceptions ta report
arising from this responsibility.
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Responsibilities for the financial statements

and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ statement of responsibilities
set out on page 148, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view.

Qur responsibility is to audil and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK &
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
tor the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclasures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasanable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:

— whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed;

Co{"\poﬂc\) Vodber 32327792,

Strategic report
Govemance and remuneration
Financial stalements

{nvestor infarmation

— the reasonablensss of significant accounting estimates made
by the directars; and

— the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the
directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own
judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial
statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing
techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a
reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit
evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive
procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information

in the Annual Report to identify matenial inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently matenally incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent
with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies, we consider the implications for our report. With
respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Repart, we consider
whether those reports include the disclosures required by applicable
legal requirements.

Other matters

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of GlaxoSmithKline pic for the year ended 31 December
2016.

The parent company has passed a resolution in accordance with
section 506 of the Companies Act 2006 that the senior statutory
auditor's name should not be stated.

L)

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

13 March 2017

Notes:

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the GlaxoSmithKline plc
website is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out
by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters
and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred {o the financial stalements since
they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2014
£m £m
Turnover 23,923 23,006
Cost of sales (8.853) (72,323)
Gross profit 15,070 15,683
Seliing, general and administration (8.232) (8,246)
Research and development (3,560) (3,450)
Royalty income 329 310
Other operating income/{expense) . 7715 (700)
Operating profit 10,322 3597
Finance income 104, 88
Fina